
SUPPLEMENTAL 1979 MIDDLE EAST AID PACKAGE
FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

HEARINGS AND MARKUP
BEFORE THE

COMMITTEE ON
FOREIGN AFFAIRS

AND ITS

SUBCOMMITTEES ON INTERNATIONAL SECURITY
AND SCIENTIFIC AFFAIRS

AND ON

EUROPE AND THE MIDDLE EAST
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

NINETY-SIXTH CONGRESS

FIRST SESSION

APRIL 26; MAY 1, 2, 8, AND 9, 1979

Printed for the use of the Committee on Foreign Affairs

*
U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

WASHINGTON : 197947-699

A -J/



COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS

CLEMENT J. ZABLOCKI, Wisconsin, Ohairman

1 H. FOUNTAIN, North Carolina
DANTE B. FASCELL, Florida
CHARLES C. DIGGS, Ja., Michigan
BENJAMIN S. ROSENTHAL, New York
LEE H. HAMILTON, Indiana
LESTER L. WOLFF, New York
JONATHAN B. BINGHAM, New York
GUS YATRON, Pennsylvania
CARDISS COLLINS, Illinois
STEPHEN J. SOLARZ, New York
DON BONKER, Washington
GERRY E. STUDDS, Massachusetts
ANDY IRELAND, Florida
DONALD J. PEASE, Ohio
DAN MICA, Florida
MICHAEL D. BARNES, Maryland
WILLIAM H. GRAY III, Pennsylvania
TONY P. HALL, Ohio
HOWARD WOLPE, Michigan
DAVID R. BOWEN, Mississippi
FLOYD J. FITHIAN, Indiana

WILLIAM 8. BROOMFIELD, Michigan
EDWARD J. DERWINSKI, Illinois
PAUL FINDLEY, Illinois
JOHN H. BUCHANAN, Ja., Alabama
LARRY WINN, JR., Kansas
BENJAMIN A. OILMAN, New York
TENNYSON OUYER, Ohio
ROBERT J. LAGOMARSINO, California
WILLIAM F. GOODLING, Pennsylvania
JOEL PRITCHARD, Washington
MILLICENT FENWICK, New Jersey
DAN QUAYLE, Indiana

JOHN J. BRADY, Jr., Chief of Staf
ROBERT K. BOYER, Senior Staff Consultant

ROBERT T. HOBER, Staff Consultant
RoxANNE PERUGINO, Staff Assistant

SUBCOMMITTEE ON INTERNATIONAL SECURITY AND SCIENTIFIC AFFAIRS

CLEMENT J. ZABLOCKI, Wisconsin, Chairman
L. H. FOUNTAIN, North Carolina
LEE H. HAMILTON, Indiana
LESTER L. WOLFF, New York
JONATHAN B. BINGHAM, New York

WILLIAM S. BROOMFIELD, Michigan
LARRY WINN, JR., Kansas
DAN QUAYLE, Indiana

Ivo J. SPALATIN, Subcommittee Staf Director
WILLIAM H. FIT, Minority Staff Consultant

FORREST R. FRANK, Subcommittee Staff Associate
TONI J. GRANT, Subcommittee Staff Associate

SUBCOMMITTEE ON EUROPE AND THE MIDDLE EAST

LEE H. HAMILTON, Indiana, Chairman
BENJAMIN S. ROSENTHAL, New York PAUL FINDLEY, Illinois
DONALD J. PEASE, Ohio MILLICENT FENWICK, New Jersey
GERRY E. STUDDS, Massachusetts LARRY WINN, JR., Kansas
MICHAEL D. BARNES, Maryland
L. H. FOUNTAIN, North Carolina

MICHAEL H. VAN DUSEN, Subcommittee Staf Director
ALISON BRENNER, Minority Staff Consultant

RONALD L. SORIANO, Subcommittee Staff Associate
DAVID PAUL BARTON, Subcommittee Staff Associate

(II)

aVsa



CONTENTS

WITNESSES
Thursday, April 26, 1979: Page

Hon. Harold H. Saunders Assistant Secretary of State for Near East-
ern and South Asian Affairs ------------------------------ 1

Lt. Gen. Ernest Graves, U.S. Army, Director, Defense Security Assist-
ance Agency, Department of Defense ......-------------...... 7

Herbert Hansell Legal Adviser, Department of State.------------- 29
Ted A. Borek, Deputy Assistant Legal Adviser, Bureau of Politico-

Military Affairs, Department of State.------------------------- 43
Tuesday, May 1, 1979:

Lt. Gen. Ernest Graves, U.S. Army, Director, Defense Security Assist-
ance Agency, Department of Defense-------------------------- 55

Hon. Harold H. Saunders, Assistant Secretary of State for Near East-
ern and South Asian Affairs---------------------------------- 56

Herbert Hansell, Legal Adviser, Department of State-------------- 58
Hon. Joseph C. Wheeler, Assistant Administrator for Near East,

Agency for International Development------------ ------------ 66
Wednesday, May 2, 1979:

Morris Draper, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Near Eastern and
South Asian Affairs, Department of State---.......---- ... _-- . 89

Robert J. Murray, Deputy Assistant Secretary, Near Eastern, African,
and South Asian Affairs, Department of Defense----------_------ 89

Dan O'Donohue, Deputy Director, Bureau of Politico-Military Affairs,
Department of State ---------------------------------.---.. 92

Lt. Gen. Ernest Graves, U.S. Army Director, Defense Security Assist-
ance Agency, Department of Defense------------------.------. 95

Tuesday, May 8, 1979:
Full committee:

Hon. Cyrus R. Vance, Secretary of State------------- ---- 117
Hon. Harold Brown, Secretary of Defense---------------- 125

Subcommittee markup; no witnesses----------------------------- 165
Wednesday, May 9, 1979 (committee markup; no witnesses)------- ---- 171

MATERIAL SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD

Grant funds-estimated outlays for construction of airbases in Israel----- 18
Financial implications of repayments during the grace period on FMS

loans proposed for Israel and Egypt under the supplemental request... 19
U.S. food and live animal exports to the Arab world, 1978-.----------- 23
Cost of airbase construction--------------------------------------- 26
Estimate of number of violent deaths in the Israel/Lebanon area since the

signing of the Egyptian-Israeli Treaty of Peace, March 26, 1979.------ 27
Concessionary rates of interest on loans issued by the FFB and guaranteed

by DSAA--------------------------------------------------- 44
Costs of war in the Middle East----------------------------------- 46
Estimated redeployment cost breakout.....--------------... --------- 47
Status of the Egyptian-Israeli Peace Treaty----------- ----------- 50
Questions submitted by Representative Solarz to the Department of

State and responses thereto--------------------------------- 53
Baghdad payments to Syria-------------------------------------- 65
Supplemental questions submitted to Department of State by Representa-

tive Fenwick and responses thereto-------------------------------- 85
Statement by the Department of Defense concerning projection of power

in the Persian Gulf -----...--------------------.--..----------. 99
Statement by the Department of Defense concerning possible changes in

Defense Department procurement regulations required for Israeli com-
petitive bidding in the U.S. defense market------------------------- 108

Series of responses by the Department of Defense concerning future use of
Sinai field mission -...------------------------------.--------- . 108

Questions submitted by Representatives Broomfield and Fenwick to
Department of Defense and responses thereto--.------------------- 115

(III)



IV

APPENDIXES

1. Biographies of witnesses: -an
Ted A. Borek----.......---- ---------------------- 183
Hon. Harold Brown ---....---------------... -.---------- 183
Morris Draper...-------.--------------------.----- 183
Lt. Gen. Ernest Graves--. -----..------------------- ---- 184
Herbert J. Hansell ....---....---- . -------------..--- 184
Robert J. Murray----. -----------------..--------- 185
Daniel A. O'Donohue-----...----------------.-------- 185
Hon. Harold H. Saunders ......------------.------------ 185
Hon. Cyrus R. Vance.---------- ---------------------- 186
Hon. Joseph C. Wheeler--- --------------------- 186

2. Text of House Document 96-91, Special International Security Assist-
ance Act of 1979-..------------------.-------------- - 187

3. Text of Treaty of Peace Between the Arab Republic of Egypt and
the State of Israel-------------------------.... .----------- 191

4. Correspondence between Representative Lee H. Hamilton and the
Office of Management and Budget and Representative Robert
Giaimo. ------------- --------- ------------------- 224

5. Additional statements and communications submitted subsequent to
the hearing:

A. Statement of the National Association of Arab Americans----. 227
B. Statement submitted by George Bisharat, coordinator, Middle

East Resource Center --------- -------------------- 228
C. Statement by Morris J. Amitay, executive director, American

Israel Public Affairs Committee.---------------------- 231
D. Communication from Robert Dreyfuss, director, Mideast

intelligence, U.S. Labor Party --------------------- 233
6. Department of State letter on existing U.S. assurances to and agree-

ments with Israel--- ..-------------------------------- 239
7. Documents associated with peace treaty (memorandums of agreement

between Israel and the United States) ----------------------. 257
8. H.R. 4035 (clean bill as reported out of full Committee on Foreign

Affairs)..-----.---------------------------------------- 260



SUPPLEMENTAL 1979 MIDDLE EAST AID PACKAGE
FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

THURSDAY, APRIL 26, 1979

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMITrrEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,

SUBCOMMITTEES ON INTERNATIONAL
SECURITY AND SCIENTIFIC AFFAIRS

AND ON EUROPE AND THE MIDDLE EAST,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittees met jointly at 10:10 a.m., in room 2200, Raybun
House Office Building, Hon. Lee H. Hamilton (chairman of the Sub-
committee on Europe and the Middle East) presiding.

Mr. HAMILTON. The meeting of the subcommittees will come to order.
Today the Subcommittee on International Security and Scientifia

Affairs and the Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle East meet in
open session to discuss the recently concluded Egyptian-Israeli treaty,
its accompanying documents, the upcoming agenda for further Middle
East peace talks, and specifically the pending request for $4.8 billion
in economic and military aid for Israel and Egypt. The Egyptian-Is-
raeli treaty represents a key milestone on the road toward a compre-
hensive Middle East settlement. Crucial to its success is whether or
not we are able to build on it in the coming months and work with
skeptical friends in the Arab world who cannot or will not view the
treaty as part of a process but rather only see it as an end, indeed, a
dead end.

Today we meet to hear testimony from Assistant Secretary of State
for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs, Harold Saunders; Lt.
Gen. Ernest Graves, Director, Defense Security Assistance Agency,
Department of Defense; Herbert Hansell, Legal Adviser to the State
Department; and Joseph C. Wheeler, Assistant Administrator, Agency
for International Development.

Mr. Saunders and General Graves, I think you both have prepared
statements. Those statements will be entered'into the record in full,
and we have many questions for you. We would appreciate very much
a brief summary of your statements.

Mr. Saunders.

STATEMENT OF HON. HAROLD H. SAUNDERS, ASSISTANT SECRE-
TARY OF STATE FOR NEAR EASTERN AND SOUTH ASIAN
AFFAIRS

Mr. SAUNDERS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You have already discussed at some length the details of the treaty

itself with Ambassador Atherton. I will leave those aside for the ques-
(1)



2

tion period. I thought this morning I should concentrate on the asso-
ciated documents and commitments which are of operational concern
to the committee today.

Let me, though, as background for this, just put on the record our
common recognition, I believe, that the Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty
is a milestone of great significance in the history of the Middle East.
It is important in the context of a wide range of American interests,
as well as in the interest of people living in the Middle East.

It is also important, I think, because it responds both to a range of
American strategic political and economic interests and to a range of
American moral commitments to the people of the area.

Not less important is the fact that progress toward peace in the
Middle East is surely less costly to the United States than continua-
tion of the cycle of wars we have seen there over the last 30 years. I
would be the last to claim that one can calculate the cost of war even
in economic terms, because of its sweeping ramifications throughout the
economies of the world. But if you total up, as we have tried to do
recently, some of the immediately identifiable costs of wars in the Mid-
dle East, we get figures upwards from $50 billion to the United States
alone, and that does not take into account the loss of jobs which re-
sulted from the embargo of 1973 and 1974 and so on.

I do not want to pin much on any individual figure because it would
be misleading to do so. I simply want to make the point that war in
the Middle East is tremendously costly to America, as it is to the de-
veloping and other developed nations of the world, and it is against
that background that the administration is presenting to the Con-
gress the particular proposal for a $4.8 billion package following the
signiner of the Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty.

In discussing this package which is of specific concern to the com-
mittee this morning, I would simply stress three general points. First
of all is that the program itself is designed to stretch over 3 years in
the expenditure of the funds even though the appropriation of the
funds and their obligation is needed early so that the disbursements
can take place within that period, for reasons we can discuss in detail
later.

The second point is that the impact of this program on our budget
is considerably less than the total dollar value of the program itself.
This very simply, as committee members know, is the result of the fact
that in our foreign military sales program, it is necessary only to ap-
propriate some 10 percent of the value of the program in order to gen-
erate credit from private banks that will provide the necessary funds
for the rest of the program.

The third point that I would make. and I know this is of concern
to a number of us, in that the new debt burden which will result for
Egypt and Israel from the credits which would be extended under this
program, while substantial, will, we believe, be manageable, and we
will be prepared to discuss our assessments of the economies in that
connection as well.

I do not believe I need to review the numbers for this committee, so
I will not do so unless you would like me to later on. Let me simply
say that the rationale for the military program for Israel, besides
helping with the costly withdrawal from the Sinai within r, very lim-
ited 3-year period designated in the treaty, will enable Israel to con-



3

tinue the modernization of its military establishment against continu-
ing security threats from elsewhere in the area.

The $1.5 billion security program for Egypt will help it to replace
equipment in its military establishment, rendered obsolete by the So-
viet embargo. It will also, we expect, enable President Sadat to mod-
ernize and reduce the size of his forces as he has stated he intends to do.

In addition to the security assistance we have outlined, there is a
$300 million package of economic assistance over this 3-year period
to help President Sadat bring the benefit of peace to his people. Since
the first conversations that an American Secretary of State had with
President Sadat late in 1973, it has been clear to us that one of his pri-
mary purposes in pursuing peace with Israel has been to enable the
leaders of Egypt to turn their attention, energies, and resources to the
benefit of the people of Egypt. We have now reached that stage.

The Egyptian Government is turning its attention in that direction,
and this economic assistance package is an additional step on our part
to help with that process.

There are two other documents associated with the treaty, two
memoranda of agreement concluded between Israel and the United
States. The first of these was a memorandum of agreement between
the United States and Israel providing assurances of continued U.S.
interest that the terms of the treaty between the two countries be
scrupulously observed. It also provided that the United States would
consult in the event of a violation of the treaty.

We offered a similar memorandum of agreement to Egypt, but
Egypt declined this offer and Israel accepted. The memorandum
which was agreed to was designed primarily to convey significant
political reassurance to Israel as it undertook the momentous step of
signing the treaty and commencing a total withdrawal from the
Sinai.

We consulted with Members of Congress in the course of the nego-
tiation of that agreement, and I think we should record here our con-
viction that the document continues to recognize that the full freedom
of action, full judgment and discretion as to whether to act, in response
to a threatening situation, and what action to take, is reserved to the
United States.

Ultimately, of course, these assurances can only supplement the
efforts of the parties themselves, and we have every reason to believe
that the two parties are determined to fulfill the terms of the treaty
which they have signed scrupulously.

The second associated document is a memorandum of agreement
with Israel on the supply of oil. Essentially, in the context of the
peace treaty, the United States has given Israel emergency oil supply
commitments for 15 years, extending a period of time to which we
were committed under the Sinai II agreement. I think it is important
to say that it seems unlikely that the United States would have to pro-
vide significant amounts of American-produced oil for a protracted
period under this agreement, and that even if we did, the amounts
would be small, considerably less than 1 percent of our own domestic
consumption.

It is important to underscore the importance of this agreement with
Israel, as Israel undertook to withdraw from the oilfields in the
occupied Sinai. This is the context in which this concept of such a



4

commitment to Israel came up in 1975 in a more amended way. It came
up again in the context of the peace treaty, because Israel is with-
drawing from a sure supply of 80,000 to 35,000 barrels of oil per day,
plus or minus, from the oilfields it had occupied, and felt the need to
assure that with the cutoff of oil supply from Iran it would not suffer
a continuing deficit in the supply of oil that it needs.

Finally, I would simply say, Mr. Chairman, that this treaty, while
a significant milestone, is, as it states in its own preamble, one im-
portant move toward a comprehensive peace. The two parties have
committed themselves to continue the negotiation.

Now turning to the complex problems of the West Bank and Gaza,
those negotiations are scheduled to begin 1 month from yesterday. The
Israelis and Egyptians have begun putting together their negotiating
teams, and as you well know, President Carter announced the day be-
fore yesterday that Ambassador Robert Strauss would head the Ameri-
can side in those negotiations.

I believe that that appointment is one more demonstration of the
President's determination to continue this effort with all the vigor that
has been applied to the conclusion of the Egyptian-Israeli peace
treaty. The issues are complex. In many ways they are new issues for all
of us. It is not really possible at this stage of the game to talk in detail
about how those issues will be dealt with, but the negotiations will
begin in about 1 month's time.

I would just say one final word, Mr. Chairman, I think it is appro-
priate that this hearing be held, that this committee be meeting with
us in the executive branch on this day, which is the first full day of
peace between Egypt and Israel since the instruments of ratification of
the peace treaty were exchanged yesterday between Egyptian and
Israeli representatives in the Sinai. The treaty of peace came into effect
formally with that act, and today the sun has risen over the Middle
East for the first time in 30 years with Egypt and Israel at peace.

Thank you very much.
[Mr. Saunders' prepared statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ITON. HAROLD IT. SAUNDERS, ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF
STATE FOR NEAR EASTERN AND SOUTH ASIAN AFFAIRS

Mr. Chairman, since you have discussed the Egypt-Israel Peace Treaty in
detail with Ambassador Atherton, I propose to concentrate today on associated
agreements of operational concern to the Congress and to look ahead toward
the next stage of negotiations aimed at a comprehensive settlement for the
Middle East.

I am sure that you share my belief that the treaty between Egypt and Israel
is a milestone of great significance on the road toward an eventual complete and
just settlement of the Arab-Israeli conflict.

The treaty offers a true peace. It provides for the security and integrity of the
two nations; it opens new avenues for trade and communication, for economic,
scientific and social betterment, and for the enhancement of learning and cultural
exchange.

For Israel, the treaty is a major step forward in achieving the dream of the
Jewish people to live peacefully and normally within secure and recognized
borders in their modern state.

For Egyptian and Arab interests, the treaty package achieves restoration of
the exercise of Egyptian soverignty throughout the Sinai and begins progress
toward an honorable and comprehensive resolution of the Arab-Israeli conflict.
Importantly, it sets in motion in relation to the West Bank/Gaza a political
process which will advance significantly legitimate Arab objectives while assur-
ing Israel's security and right to live In peace with its neighbors.



5

This treaty and its associated documents is, therefore, an event of immense
importance for the Israeli and Arab peoples, It is of immense importance to
us as well.

U.S. sBEURITY AND ECONOMIC ASSISTANO

The United States' commitment to peace in the Middle East derives from im-
portant political, moral and economic interests. Americans have long-standing
friendships with the peoples of the Middle East, and a deep and permanent
moral commitment to the Idea that each of them should enjoy the fruits of peace.

Four Arab-Israeli wars have brought bloodshed and untold suffering to the
peoples of this region, and any step toward an end to the cycle of death and
destruction is surely worthy of our firm support.

What is more, even in purely economic terms peace is surely less costly to
our country than a continuation of the state of war. The U.S. and the rest of
the world have paid an incalculable economic price for war because of disrup-
tions caused to our economy and the economies of others. It has been estimated,
for example, that even a partial reckoning of the direct cost to U.S. taxpayers
of four Middle East wars totals something between $55 and $70 billion while the
price we have paid in inflation, unemployment and other adverse economic devel-
opments attributable at least in part to Middle East instability would add
billions more to this total. It is against these considerations that we are asking
Congress to consider our contribution to the nurturing of the immensely impor-
tant beginning that has been achieved. We believe the cost to the U.S. of what we
propose is small compared to the potential costs and dangers of further Middle
East hostilities.

In discussing the aid package for Israel and Egypt, I want to stress three
general points: (1) the program will stretch over three years; (2) the impact
on our budget its considerably less than the total amount of money to be
generated for the program because the use of U.S.-guaranteed loans from pri-
vate banks obviates the need for Congress to appropriate money for the entire
value of the FMS credits program; and then (3) the terms of our additional
assistance will not impose an unreasonable new debt burden on either Israel
or Egypt.

The bulk of the additional assistance we envisage for Israel and Egypt is
to help them meet their urgent security requirements. It totals about $4.5 billion
over three years-approximately $3 billion for Israel and $1.5 billion for Egypt.
Of the amount for Israel, $800 million will be in grant aid money for the con-
struction of two airfields in the Negev to replace those being given up in the
Sinai, thereby enabling Israel to withdraw in the allotted three years in condi-
tions of security. The remaining sum for Israel, and the full amount for Egypt,
are in the form of foreign miltiary sales credits.

The military program for Israel. besides helping the costly withdrawal from
the Sinai, will enable Israel to continue the modernization of its military estab-
lishment against continuing security threats in the area. The $1.5 billion military
program for Egypt will help it to replace equipment in its military establish-
ment rendered obsolete by the Soviet embargo.

In addition to the security assistance I have outlined, we plan an addi-
tional $300 million in economic assistance for Egypt over the three years to help
President Sadat bring the benefits of peace to his people.

Since Congress will need to appropriate only 10 percent of the total amount
to guarantee the credits, the actual budgetary impact of the $4.5 billion we con-
template requesting for military programs will amount to only $1.17 billion for
the American taxpayer. The total $4.8 billion security and economic program
will require $1.47 in appropriation. This assistance is in addition to our current
assistance programs to both countries, which involve $1.785 billion for military
and economic assistance to Israel, and almost $1 billion in economic aid to
Ecrvpt.

We have already begun to urge our friends and allies to contribute meaning-
fully to the reinforcement of peace. We hope that trade, investment, and
economic assistance flows will expand. The World Bank has a role to play also.
This is a matter we will pursue vigorously. The entire world will benefit from
Middle East peace.

ABILITY TO REPAY THE LOANS

Questions have been asked whether Israel, In particular, will be able to live
with the added debt burdens. We believe that both Egypt and Israel will be
able to cope. The ratio of debt service to export earnings in Israel has declined



6

from a high of almost 28 percent in 1975 to 23 percent in 1978. We anticipate
this favorable trend will continue for several years, even with the added burdens
of the new debts. Egypt's foreign exchange situation is improving and its for-
eign debt situation is being managed satisfactorily.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEEMNT

It would be appropriate to note at this point that the United States offered
to Egypt and Israel assurances of continued U.S. interest that the terms of the
treaty between the two countries be scrupulously observed and agreement to
consult In the event of violation of the treaty. Egypt declined the offer, but
Israel accepted. The memorandum subsequently agreed to was designed primari-
ly to convey significant political reassurance to Israel as it undertook the momen-
tous step of signing the treaty and commencing a total withdrawal from the
Sinai. The memorandum with Israel commits the United States to continue its
support of the peace process and to take appropriate measures to promote full
observance of the treaty of peace. The United States agreed to consult with the
parties if there has been any violation of the treaty and to take whatever
remedial measures it deems appropriate, subject to U.S. constitutional processes
and applicable law. It is important to recognize that full freedom of action, full
judgment and discretion as to whether to act and what action to take is reserved
to the United States.

Ultimately, these assurances can only supplement the efforts of the parties
themselves. The United States does not intend, and never intended, to play the
role of policeman. Egypt and Israel signed the treaty in good faith and committed
themselves to work in good faith for peace with Israel's other neighbors. We
believe they intend to carry out these commitments.

U.S. on, AGREEMENT WITH ISRAEL

In addition to our proposed economic and security assistance the United States
has also agreed to help Israel overcome uncertainties regarding future petroleum
requirements. In the context of the peace treaty, the United States has given
Israel an emergency oil supply commitment for 15 years. As with the prior
commitment, the United States would be called upon only if Israel cannot make
independent arrangements to meet its own domestic consumption requirements
through normal procedures.

The agreement envisions Israel's paying for any oil which might be provided
from the United States at rates comparable to world market prices current at
the time of transfer, and in any case Israel would reimburse the United States
for costs incurred by it in providing oil from whatever source.

In regard to the U.S. understanding on oil, I would like to emphasize two
points.

First, it seems unlikely that the United States would have to provide significant
amounts of American produced oil to Israel for a protracted period. The Israelis
so far have avoided having to call on our 1975 commitment and we believe they
will do everything possible to avoid calling on this one. If called upon to respond.
we would look first to using our good offices to help Israel procure oil from abroad
and only then turn to our own production as a last resort.

In any case, the total Israel domestic consumption requirement is so modest-
less than 1 percent of our own-the amount of oil we might be called upon to
provide, probably for short periods, would be relatively insignificant. Using the
Iran situation for example, the shortfall Induced by cutting off that 60 percent
of Israel's oil, could easily be accommodated using less than one-half of 1 percent
of U.S. daily consumption. And we would, of course, have access to the world
market to acquire the oil needed to make up that shortfall.

Second, the events in Iran highlight the crucial strategic importance of assured
long term oil supplies to Israel's security. It is impossible to overstate the impor-
tance of the oil supply commitments undertaken by both Egypt and the United
States in making it possible to conclude an agreement and sign the Peace Treaty.
This commitment does impose a potential additional burden on the United States,
but we feel it is relatively modest and well justified.

TOWARD A COMPREHENSIVE SETTLEMENT

The treaty of peace between Egypt and Israel is a reality which is now ratified
and firmly in place. There is, however, a long way to go before a comprehensive



7

settlement, which can be the only guarantee of Middle East peace, is achieved.
At Camp David, a framework for negotiations toward a comprehensive settle-

ment of all outstanding issues in the Arab-Israeli dispute, including the key
Palestinian issue, was agreed to. In the final days of negotiations for the Egyp-
tian-Israeli treaty, both President Sadat and Prime Minister Begin renewed
their commitment to the undertakings made at Camp David. Both leaders re-
affirmed that they do not want a separate peace between their two nations. These
commitments are of crucial importance to the prospect for a comprehensive peace.

Also of crucial importance is President Carter's promise, made before the
Egyptian People's Assembly March 10, and I quote:

I pledge to you today that I also remain personally committed to move on to
negotiations concerning the West Bank and the Gaza Strip and other issues of
concern to the Palestinians and also to future negotiations between Israel and
all her neighbors. I feel a personal obligation in this regard.

We are determined to see that every effort is made to maintain the momentum
we have so far achieved toward a just and durable settlement of the Arab-Israel
conflict in all its aspects. It is our profound hope that those who are directly
concerned but still uninvolved will be persuaded to join this process, and that all
nations that care for peace will lend their support to this treaty and to the
continuing effort ahead.

If progress is nrade on the West Bank/Gaza and basic Palestinian issues,
Arab doubts about the Egyptian-Israel treaty should begin to subside. We will
continue in our efforts to persuade Arab leaders that the treaty represents the
beginning of a new, realistic way to proceed, and that opposition to it will surely
damage the prospects for peace in the Middle East. The United States is deter-
mined to demonstrate that the negotiations dealing with the Palestinian issues
are serious and can produce results that will respect the legitimate rights and
just requirements of the Palestinian people while protecting Israel's security.

President Sadat and Prime Minister Begin have agreed to negotiate in good
faith, with a goal of completing those negotiations within one year, to reach an
agreement on the modalities for holding elections to a self-governing authority
for the West Bank and Gaza, and on the powers and responsibilities of that body.
As you know that is the beginning of a process agreed in the Camp David frame-
work involving further negotiations and enabling the Palestinians to participate,
as they have every right to do, in determining their own future. They can par-
ticipate in setting up their self-governing authority and in the subsequent nego-
tiations to determine the final status of the West Bank and Gaza, as well as in
the negotiations for an Israel-Jordan Peace Treaty.

The framework for peace established at Camp David and the achievement
of the Egypt-Israel treaty are parts of a process that has not been concluded.
They provide the indispensable foundation and the first effective step on the
road to a just and lasting peace. The challenges ahead are formidable and over-
coming them may at times tax our patience and our fortitude. But, for the first
time, a concrete beginning has been made toward peace in this troubled region,
and a real opportunity exists to complete the task.

Our intention is to help make this treaty the foundation for a wider and great-
er peace that all the Middle East may join and all the world support. We are
determined to remain steady on this course and to turn our intentions into a
reality.

Mr. ILfILrTox. Thank you, Mr. Saunders.
General Graves.

STATEMENT OF LT. GEN. ERNEST GRAVES, U.S. ARMY, DIREC.
TOR, DEFENSE SECURITY ASSISTANCE AGENCY, DEPARTMENT
OF DEFENSE

General GRAVES. Mr. Chairman, to summarize very briefly my state-
ment does outline the features of the security assistance effort which
the President has proposed in support of the peace treaty. Mr. Saun-
ders has already highlighted certain key features of the security
assistance package.

Let me simply emphasize that in the case of Israel, there is grant aid
for the United States to provide goods and services for the construe-



8

tion of two airfields in the Negev. There is credit for the purpose of
helping Israel with the relocation of other facilities in the Negev, and
also for equipment which Israel will need to assure its security under
the new territorial arrangements. And for Egypt there are credits for
equipment to replace Soviet equipment which is obsolete and which no
longer can be maintained in the absence of spare parts from the Soviet
Union. There is also economic aid.

Mr. Saunders mentioned that today is the first day of peace, and I
want to second our high feelings on that occasion. However, as some-
one responsible for carrying out these provisions, I am reminded now
that the clock is starting to tick and we have but 3 years to carry out a
massive effort in assisting Israel in its relocation. I can assure you that
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, which is charged with building
these two airfields, is very aware of this fact and they are most anx-
ious to receive the authority from Congress to proceed with this major
work they have to do in the Negev.

I will be glad to answer any questions, Mr. Chairman.
[General Graves' prepared statement follows:]

JOINT PREPARED STATEMENT OF LT. GEN. ERNEST GRAVES, U.S. ARMY, DIRECTOR,
DEFENSE SECURITY ASSISTANCE AGENCY AND ROBERT J. MURRAY, DEPUTY ASSIST-
ANT SECRETARY, NEAR EASTERN, AFRICAN, AND SOUTH ASIAN AFFAIRS,

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Commitee: It is a pleasure to he with you this
morning as the committee continues its consideration of the legislation proposed
by the President to help implement the Peace Treaty between Egypt and Israel.

Assistant Secretary Saunders has described for the Committee the importance
of the Peace Treaty to U.S. interests and how the proposed legislation would fur-
ther the peace process.

We will discuss in greater detail how the basic elements of the proposed legis-
lation will affect implementation of the treaty.

The President's proposal seeks $1.47 billion to fund $4.8 billion in special
financial aid for the two countries. Of the total, $3 billion would be made avail-
able to Israel for the following purposes:

$800 million in grant assistance to provide goods and services required to
relocate two Israeli airbases to the Negev; and

$2.2 billion in foreign military sales credit to help finance the costs of relocat-
ing other physical facilities from the Sinai and some equipment consistent with
the new territorial arangements. Repayment of the credit would extend over
80 years, with an initial grace period of 10 years on repayment of principal.

This assistance for Israel will meet much, but not all, of the costs of relocating
the forces that Israel is required to withdraw from the Sinai under the Peace
Treaty. It is not intended to provide for the modernization of Israeli forces, which
Is handled in the course of our normal assistance programs.

Egypt would receive $1.8 billion for the following purposes:
$1.5 billion in military sales credit financing, on the same terms offered to

Israel, to replace certain equipment of the Egyptian forces; and
$300 million in special economic aid loans.
Egypt receives other economic assistance under the regular assistance pro-

gram, but receives no other military sales credit financing.
The assistance for Israel will not meet all Israel's relocation costs. Similarly

the assistance for Egypt does not meet all of Egypt's equipment needs. As the
President has indicated, the financing package reflects a careful assessment of
the near term burdens of the treaty balanced against the military and economic
circumstances of each country. Future U.S. influence in the Middle East depends
on the desires of all affected countries that we not unfairly support any one
country. The levels of aid and the terms are the result of a careful balancing of
foreign policy needs and fiscal policy constraints, recognizing our current
budgetary restraints and the need to avoid imposing any unnecessary burden
on the U.S. taxpayer.



9

The programs for both countries can be carried out with $1.47 billion in
appropriations because much of the military financing will take the form of
guaranteed loans. Loans extended by the Federal Financing Bank, which will be
the case here, may be guaranteed by reserving 10 percent of the value of the
loan in appropriated funds. Hence, $370 million in appropriated funds makes
possible $3.7 billion in credits.

The proposed legislation is intended to help both parties implement the treaty
over a three year term, the period during which Israeli forces must withdraw
from the Sinai. To this end, the legislation seeks the full $1.47 billion this year.
The funds will be drawn down over a three-year period, but they must be avail-
able immediately.

It is particularly important that $800 million in grant funds be available this
year for the construction of the two airbases for the relocation of Israeli air
units. We must have the facilities required for initial operational capability
completed within three years of the exchange ( ratification instruments. To
meet this schedule we need full funding so that we can award contracts for the
entire scope of work as soon as Congress enacts the appropriation.

Construction will be handled by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, using three
prime contractors for design and construction work. In order to minimize the
inflationary impact of this very large project on the Israeli economy, as re-
quested by Israel, most of the equipment, construction supplies and personnel
will come from outside Israel. The details are still to be worked out, but much
of the material will come from U.S. sources, and from other sources to a lesser
extent. Israeli sources will be used only as agreed with Israeli officials.

The United States must move quickly-and with full funds in hand-if it is
to provide an Initial Operational Capability at both bases within the three-year
withdrawal period. The advance contingent of the U.S. management team is in
Israel now working with the Israeli Air Force to decline the full scope of the
work to be done and the schedule for its completion. The prime contractors must
then let contracts for the phased completion of the work. Some material will
have long lead time, but, more importantly, the construction at each base must
be viewed as an integrated whole. We do not expect to complete the entire con-
struction at the bases in three years, but they must be capable of handling sus-
tained combat flight operations by that time. We need to handle this project as
we do our own military construction program, with full funding at project
initiation.

Similarly, Israel must move quickly, and have funds available, if it is to re-
locate Israeli ground and naval forces from the Sinai within the prescribed
period. The new facilities will cost about $1.3-$1.5 billion. As in the case of the
air base, Israel could not meet the deadline for this facilities if it is dependent
on multiyear funding.

Israel also must move quickly to acquire certain equipment needed for improve-
ments in its force structure to compensate for the tactical advantages it now
has with forces deployed in the Sinai. This equipment will cost at least $750million and could cost as much as $1.1 billion. The equipment must be orderedwithin the near future if it is to be delivered and in place at the withdrawal
period.

Full funds are needed for Egypt this year as well. Egypt does not face the
same problem as Israel in relocating its forces. But it does have an immediate
problem in replacing aging equipment of Soviet origin. There is not only a prob-
lem of age, but the equipment is increasingly unsupportable since, with the break
in Egyptian-Soviet relations, Egypt no longer has a reliable source of supply.
We expect Egypt to decide shortly on the equipment that it wishes to purchase.
It must be in a position to place orders soon-and that will require available
financing-if it is to expect deliveries within the next 2 or 3 years.

These are the practical considerations that underlie the need for full funding
this year. There is another reason, equally important, why full funds should b'appropriated this year. In enacting a single peace package, the Congress woulddemonstrate that the United States is fully committed to the peace process. To
fail to appropriate the full sum would raise serious doubts about whether the
United States stands behind the courageous action taken by Egypt and Israel inconcluding the peace treaty.

The Committee was furnished earlier a listing of equipment that the United
States has agreed to sell Egypt and that equipment which is prepared to considerfavorably. The listing includes additional aircraft, air defense equipment,
armored personnel carriers, and frigates, among other things. We will be glad to



10

respond in a closed session to any questions that members of the committee mighthave regarding items on the list. In addition, the Congress would be notified in
accordance with section 36(b) of the Arms Export Control Act of proposed salesof items on the list.

I mentioned earlier that these items would replace existing equipment; theywould not provide for any expansion of Egyptian forces. In fact, proper amountsof new equipment would likely lead to a smaller Egyptian force structure.The equipment would help Egypt to maintain a modern military force and toplay a responsible role in promoting stability and modernization in the region.As a sovereign state, in a difficult strategic situation, Egypt must maintainmodern forces. It is bordered on one side by a country which is heavily armed
with modern Soviet equipment and which makes no bones about its dislike forthe course Egypt has followed in its relations with Israel. As a practical matter,we cannot and should not expect Egypt to forgo a modern force structure. Onthe positive side, Egyptian forces with modern equipment would serve as a sym-
bol to other moderate states in the area, and provide a counter to their percep-
tions of possible threats from outside the area.

The systems agreed for sale to Egypt are not aimed at making it a military
behemoth, able to intervene at will throughout the region. The United States does
not seek to establish Egypt as a regional policeman. The list at hand is modest.
It allows Egypt to make a start at maintaining a credible armed force for defen-
sive purposes, a capability for which every state has a legitimate requirement.

Israel has already decided to buy all of the items on the list furnished to the
committee. This equipment will be handled under our regular programs, which
normally have provided Israel with $1 billion in credit financing annually, with
one-half of the amount "forgiven" as a form of grant assistance.

The sale of equipment to Egypt should not affect the level of sales to Israel.
The Israeli list was developed after 2 years of continuous, careful discussions
with Israeli officials. The equipment on the list will enable Israel to maintain
the capability to guarantee its territorial integrity, while replacing large quanti-
ties of aging equipment. This ongoing process of equipment modernization is
especially important in the immediate posttreaty environment, when threats from
other Arab States and organizations are likely to intensify.

The proposed peace legislation and the equipment sales to Egypt and Israel
which will be supported by FMS credits are essential ingredients in the evolution
of a secure, stable region. The success of the peace treaty and the continuation
of the peace process will be greatly enhanced by expeditious congressional action
on this legislation.

This concludes our opening remarks, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. HAMILTON. Thank you very much. General Graves.
I turn to the chairman of the committee for opening questions.
Chairman Zablocki.

OTHER COUNTRIES ASKED TO HELP DEFRAY COST OF TREATY

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I would welcome our witnesses this morning. I appreciate being

called a bit out of order to ask questions first, but we are appearing be-
fore the Rules Committee on a very important issue of the Panama a

Canal legislation.
I think the bottom line question is whether there were attempts made

to have other countries assist in covering the costs of the Middle East
peace and not have the United States be the only supplier of the funds
and materials for that purpose. Have attempts been made, and if they
were not made, why not; if they were made, why were they not suc-
cessful?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes; attempts have been made and they continue. Mr.
Wheeler can provide more detail on this. There is a consultative group
under the auspices of the World Bank which has met over the last sev-
eral years to bring together those who provide assistance to Egypt.



11

That group will again meet in the fall. We have already been in touch
with members of that group about further assistance, and we have
reason to believe that some of them are contemplating an increase in
their assistance.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. That organization is comprised of what na-
tions?

Mr. WHEELER. It is members of the Development Assistance Com-
mittee group, as well as the Arab nations, the OPEC nations.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. You won't get much help from OPEC on this.
[Laughter.]

NO ASSISTANCE FROM ARAB COUNTRIES

Mr. WHEELER. We are not anticipating help from the Arab coun-
tries.

Chairman ZABLOCK. What European countries are expected to as-
sist. Germany, England ?

Mr. WHEELER. Germany and Japan, I think, are two countries which
have been singled out by President Sadat for special attention. Under
Secretary Cooper has been having discussions not only with those
two countries but also with representatives of the United Kingdom,
France, Italy, and Canada.

Chairman ZABLOCKT. Secretary Saunders, on page 9 of your pre-
pared statement, you say: "Both leaders reaffirmed that they do not
want a separate peace between their two nations." That is not quite
the perception some people have. Can you supply for the record or for
the committees just in what manner and at what time Prime Minister
Begin reaffirmed such a position ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. The primary records on that, Mr. Chairman, are the
Camp David accords and the treaty of peace themselves, which are,
of course, in the committee's files. In signing those documents, both
leaders committed themselves explicitly to a peace process designed to
begin with the treaty of peace between Egypt and Israel and then to go
on in a series of negotiations which are outlined in the framework
agreed at Camp David to the next round of negotiations, namely, on
the West Bank and Gaza, and beyond that, to a series of negotiations
which would lead to peace between Israel and all of its neighbors.

In signing the peace treaty here on March 26, Prime Minister Begin
and President Sadat also signed a joint letter to President Carter
which specifically committed them to begin negotiations on the
West Bank and Gaza within 1 month.

STATEMENTS OF PRIME MINISTER BEGIN

Chairman ZABLOCKL Mr. Secretary, certainly you know that both
leaders do not want a separate peace. However, I am getting mail
from my constituents which says that the statements of Prime Min-
ister Begin either must be discounted or he is not saying to us what
he has been saying to the Knesset and Israeli public.

Mr. SAUNDERS. We could supply a number of quotations from Prime
Minister Begin and a variety of statements before his Parliament,
and otherwise. Certainly privately on a number of occasions, he has re-
affirmed his commitment to us that there must be a comprehensive
peace; otherwise, Israel cannot consider itself to be at peace.



12

THE PRESIDENT'S PLEDGE

Chairman ZABLOCI. Mr. Secretary, in your testimony you quote
President Carter's promise before the Egyptian People's Assembly
on March 10. The latter part of it says: "Other issues of concern
to the Palestinians and also to further negotiations between Israel
and all her neighbors." He is pledging his support for progress in
negotiations.

Now, if this does not occur, is it the intention to go to a Geneva
conference if the Arab States do not cooperate? What is our next
step?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Our next step-
Chairman ZABLOCKI. How will the President carry out this pledge?
Mr. SAUNDERS. The first thing, of course, starts with the appoint-

ment of Ambassador Strauss the other day and the full participa-
tion of a U.S. delegation in the negotiations on the West Bank and
Gaza which will begin 1 month from now in Beersheba. That, of
course, will continue. And as we see it, the main effort in carrying
out the Camp David accords is to deal with the issues of that area
where Palestinian issues are most prominently brought to the fore.

Beyond that, of course, is an invitation to Syria and to Jordan to
join the negotiations. As long as they do not, of course we cannot
move to negotiations with those two countries. Our hope would be,
however, that demonstrating that this next round of negotiations is
serious and can produce results will gradually encourage some of the
Arab countries to see the wisdom of acquiescing in or even supporting
that negotiation.

FORMIDABLE CHALLENGES AHEAD

Chairman ZABLOCKI. If I could ask one final question for an ampli-
fication of the statement made on page 11 by Assistant Secretary
Saunders. We applaud the attempts on the part of the President. We,
of course, commend the principal parties in the negotiations. Never-
theless, we look skeptically to the future. We have our fingers crossed
so tightly they are becoming paralyzed.

The quote in your prepared statement for which I would like to have
amplification is in the first full paragraph, in the middle of it, and I
quote: "The challenges ahead are formidable, and overcoming them
may at times tax our patience and our fortitude." What are the formid-
able challenges and how far will they tax our patience ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I might say that sentence was written with some feel-
ing on the part of those of us who expect to be involved in this exercise.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. It doesn't sound very optimistic.

DIFFICULT TASK LIES AHEAD

Mr. SAUNDERS. We have no illusions about the difficulties of the job
which lies ahead, but I think there are several points to be made. First
of all, no one has proposed a workable alternative to proceeding the
way the President has designed, here in Camp David and following
with the cooperation of the Egyptians and Israelis. I underscore that
nobody has proposed a workable alternative way of proceeding. There-
fore, whatever the obstacles may be, I think we are better off in a nego-
tiating context working at issues which, if resolved, could achieve sig-



13

nificant progress toward peace between Israel and the Palestinian
people. We would rather be in this context than drifting.

I think we have a genuine opportunity to achieve results from these
negotiations. The obstacles are, of course, that most of the Arab
world-and, I might add, other friends around the world-disagree
with us that this is the way to proceed. I don't think we disagree-

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Some people in this country do, such as Mr.
Ball.

ARAB COMMENTS AT BAGHDAD CONFERENCE

Mr. SAUNDERS. But once again, the Arabs, for all of their comments
at the Baghdad conference and so on, have stated their opposition but
have not come forward with another way to proceed. When they do,
we certainly would listen with avid interest. But until they do, we feel
it is better to work at these issues in a negotiating context than it is to
sit back and allow to slip away the tremendous achievements that have
been made.

So our strategy is to go ahead and do what three parties have agreed
to do, to move into these negotiations. We will, after all, after 30 years,
be addressing issues of concern to the Palestinians for the first time. We
consider that a significant move toward peace and we are going to pro-
ceed and see if we cannot achieve some results despite the obstacles,
and perhaps win some further support if we can.

PUBLIC PRAISE OF PRESIDENT CARTER

Chairman ZABLOCKr. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr.
Secretary. Of course, I hope you take into consideration that the public
in the United States is commending the President. We certainly want
peace in the Middle East. But the nationaLsecurity of the United
States is likewise of importance, as is the security of other countries,
and until other people come to help us, I think the taxpayers are going
to rebel.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think that that is an understandable sentiment
because all of us are, of course, taxpayers. But being in the middle of
this, I can only say that I think our interests are better protected by
proceeding along the course the President has outlined rather than
losing control of the situation and allowing it to drift, difficult and
expensive as it might be.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I am sorry to have to leave. Thank you.
Mr. SAUNDERS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Broomfield.

DEBT SITUATION FOR EGYPT AND ISRAEL

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, I would like to ask you about the debt situation fac-

ing both Egypt and Israel. How do you evaluate that situation at the
present time ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. May I ask Mr. Wheeler to respond to that, please?
Mr. WHEELER. Both countries have total debt outstanding, foreign

debt outstanding in the neighborhood of $12 billion. In the case of
Israel, the annual amortization on that debt is now in the range of
$1.7 to $1.8 billion. Looked at in terms of Israel's ability to pay debt,

47-699-79-2



14

which is usually measured in terms of debt service/export ratio, the
debt service/export ratio for Israel 2 years ago was about 28 percent,
and that has been coming down.

We expect that in 1979 it will be in the neighborhood of 23 percent.
We think that with continued good management, Israel will be able
to see that ratio continue to improve marginally, even with this very
substantial additional burden. If these loans, this $2.2 billion, is made
available at about 9 percent interest, the annual interest payments
during the grace period, the first 10 years of the loans, will be about
$200 million. Israel goes into this period with a little bit more com-
fortable situation in terms of foreign exchange reserves. At the end
of March, they were about $3 billion by IMF definitions.

ISRAEL'S BALANCE OF PAYMENTS UNDER CONTROL

Now, that represents something between 3 and 4 months of im-
ports, certainly not at too high a level by any means, but more com-
fortable than the situation was in 1976 when they were down just
about $1 billion. Israel has basically got its balance of payments under
control during the past several years. It has been able to recover some
of its growth rate. After 1973 there were several years when the
growth rate was virtually stagnant.

In 1978, they got about 5 percent growth, and they are looking for
5 to 7 percent in 1979. So I think that on balance, what we are feeling
is that while this is not an easy burden for Israel to sustain, it is man-
ageable.

As far as Egypt is concerned, as you know, in 1977 they had in effect
a foreign exchange crisis. They were about $800 million behind in
paying their bills. That situation has turned around with the help of
very generous Arab aid in 1977 when the Arabs put in about $2 bil-
lion, and with the help of a real turnaround in terms of their own
foreign exchange earnings. In 1976. from remittances, from Suez
Canal revenues, from tourism, and from petroleum, they earned
about $2 billion. By 1978, that was up to $4 billion, and we are look-
ing for continued improvements in each of these accounts, although
the remittance account is one which could be affected by conditions
in the Middle East.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Mr. Wheeler, with respect to Egypt, they are
deriving around $2 billion a year from the Saudis, are they not?

Mr. WHEELER. No. They received from all the Arabs in 1977 about
$2 billion.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Let's assume-

EGYPT'S AID FROM THE ARABS IN 1977

Mr. WHEELER. Excuse me. We figured that the assistance in 1978
was about $800 million from the Arabs, and we were anticipating in
1979 about a half of a billion. That will be reduced as a result of the
Baghdad decisions. One is dealing in an area where we do not have
perfect knowledge.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Has this been taken into consideration in their
ability to repay

Mr. WHEELER. Yes; it has.



15

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Does the administration have any plans to change
what was agreed upon regarding the proposed loans to Israel? It is
my understanding there is some concern that this may result in too
heavy a debt burden for Israel, and that there is some talk about further
forgiveness of the loans which would be advanced.

Does the administration have any such plans, or are they sticking
to the original plan which has been presented to Congress?

Mr. WHEELER. We have no plans to change the original presentation
.to Congress.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

THE TOTAL ADDITIONAL BUDGET OUTLAY

Mr. HAMILTON. I would like to begin by just getting the arithmetic
Straight. What is the total additional budget outlay due to the Special
International Security Assistance Act?

Mr. SAUNDERS. The total additional budget outlay for the security
assistance-that is, just leaving aside the Egyptian economic assist-
ance-is $1.17 billion over 3 years.

Mr. HAMILTON. What are the components of that $1.17 billion?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Do you want to take that?

OUTLAYS FOR MILITARY AID

General GRAVEs. The actual outlays from the military assistance
program would be $800 million, Mr. Chairman. There would be an
additional appropriation of $370 million for the 10-percent guarantees
for the credit financing programs. However, as you may recall, these
guarantee appropriations go into a reserve fund in the Treasury and
,do not actually constitute outlays unless there is a default, when they
must be used to pay off the loan.

So discounting the $300 million in economic assistance, would it
be $800 million.

Mr. HAMILTON. For how many fiscal years ?
General GRAVES. That would be for 3 fiscal years.
The $800 million would be for the grant aid for the airfields. Al-

though we would obligate the entire amount this summer, the actual
outlays would be spread over the next 3 years. Depending upon
construction progress, we hope to have--

ECONOMIC SUPPORT FUND FOR EGYPT EXCLUDED

Mr. HAMILTON. The figure you have given me does not include the
economic support fund for Egypt.

General GRAVES. That is correct, sir.
Mr. HAMILTON. And that is $300 million.
General GRAVES. Yes, sir.
Mr. HAMILTON. And that is going to be $50 million in fiscal year

1979, $100 million in fiscal year 1980, and $150 million in fiscal year
1981. Is that right

General GRAVES. That is correct.
Mr. HAILTON. And then for Israel, you have the $800 million over

the 3-year period, is that correct?
General GRAVES. Yes.



16

Mr. HAMILTON. That is $299 million in fiscal year 1979, $216 mil-
lion in fiscal year 1980, $285 million in fiscal year 1981. Is that correct

General GRAVEs. That is correct, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. You have no budget outlay figure due to the FMS

financing in those 3 fiscal years.

FEDERAL FINANCING BANK OFFERS CREDITS

General GRAVES. NO, sir. Those credits are offered by the Federal
Financing Bank, which, of course, obtains money for those credits
on the bond market.

Mr. HAMILTON. That totals, then, $1.1 billion in budget outlays,
for the 3 fiscal years.

General GRAVES. Precisely, Mr. Chairman.

LOAN PROGRAMS EFFECT ON AMERICAN ECONOMY

Mr. HAMILTON. Is that the total cost to the American taxpayer of
the Special International Security Assistance Act of 1979?

General GRAVES. Yes, Mr. Chairman, unless you consider the eco-
nomic effect of the loans themselves. One could not say that the
loan program has no effect upon the American economy. Clearly the
floating of $3.7 billion in loans has its own economic effect. I would
not presume to testify on that. I am not an expert on that.

Mr. HAMILTON. The $3.7 billion you mentioned are-
General GRAVES. These are loans the Federal Financing Bank

would make. The source of that money is the American bond market.
Mr. HAMILTON. That $3.7 billion are the $1.5 billion for Egypt

and the $2.2 billion for Israel. Is that correct?
General GRAVES. Yes; and all I am saying is the floating of those

loans does have an effect upon the American bond market. We can-
not offer credit indefinitely of this type without affecting our economy.

Mr. HAMILTON. But the additional outlay of moneys from the
Federal budget will be $1.1 billion.

General GRAVES. Precisely, Mr. Chairman.

TERMS FOR FMS CREDITS FOR EGYPT AND ISRAEL

Mr. HAMuITON. What are the terms for the FMS credits for Egypt
and Israel

General GRAVEs. Mr. Chairman, they are 30-year loans but the
payment of principal is deferred until the 11th year. There will be
interest payments over the 30-year period, but the principal repay.
ments will not begin until the llth year.

Mr. HAMILTON. What is the interest rate?
General GRAVEs. It will be the going rate at the time the loan is

drawn down, that is, a floating rate. The loan will be not be drawn
down instantaneously. It will be drawn down over the next 3 years,
and at each draw down it will be the rate at that time. At the present
time, this is between 9 and 10 percent.

Mr. HAMILTON. That is a commercial rate of interest.
General GRAVES. Yes, sir, it is the rate of interest that the U.S

Government must pay for money it borrows at the time.



17

ECONOMIC SUPPORT FUND

Mr. HAMILTON. Is the $300 million economic aid to Egypt the
economic support fund all grant money

General GRAVES. No, sir; $200 million grant and $100 million in
credits.

Mr. HAMILON. $200 million in grants and $100 million in credits?
General GRAVES. That is right.
Mr. HAMILTON. And what credit provisions? The same?
Mr. WHEELER. The same as the regular program, Mr. Chairman,

which is a 40-year term with a 10-year grace period. During the grace
period, interest at 2 percent, and for the remaining 30 years, at 3
percent.

USE OF THE MONEY

Mr. HAMILTON. Is that money going to be used entirely for the
commodity import program?

Mr. WHEELER. We anticipate that about $250 million of that would
be used for commodity imports, program imports, and $50 million
would be used primarily for a major scholarship program for graduate
study in the United States in development areas by graduates of Egyp-
tian universities.

Mr. HAMILTON. IS any of it going to be used for the purchase of
agricultural commodities?

Mr. WHEELER. Yes, some of that may be used for corn. There is a
particular interest in Egypt at this time in doing something to increase
the production of chickens, and that would be used for that.

MONEY FOR RELOCATION OF SINAI AIRBASES

Mr. HAMILTON. The $800 million for Israel for the relocation of
the Sinai airbases is grant money?

General GRAVES. Yes, sir.
Mr. HAMILTON. The entire amount ?
General GRAVES. Yes, sir.
Mr. HAMILTON. What does it cover ?
General GRAVES. It would be used for the construction work, which

would include the labor for the construction work, the supply of
materials for the construction work, and the supply of equipment
incident to the construction of the airfield.

CONSTRUCTION OF AIRBASES

Mr. HAMILTON. Who is going to construct the bases?
General GRAVES. The bases will be constructed under the manage-

ment of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. There will be three
prime contractors, who will be American firms. They will have sub-
contractors. Some of the subcontractors will be American firms; some
of the subcontractors may be foreign firms. Particularly in labor
intensive areas, I would expect that there will be labor hired from other
countries.

Mr. HAMILTON. So when the construction is actually done, the major
contractors will be American contractors and the money will flow
to American contractors. Is that right ?



18

General GRAVEs. That is correct, Mr. Chair man.
Mr. HAMILTON. Is that a turnkey operation ?

REIMBURSABLE CONTRACTS

General GRAVES. That is a good way to characterize it, Mr. Chairman.
There will be reimbursable contracts that include both design and
construction. This is because of the time urgency of the project. It is
not possible to complete the design in advance and let competitive
bids. We have to do the work on a reimbursable basis, design and
construction going on concurrently.

Mr. IHAMILTON. It will be on a competitive bid basis?
General GRAVES. No, sir; it will not be. That is the point. There is

not time to definitize the project and let a competitive bid. We must
do it on a cost reimbursable basis. Now, I do not mean to say that some
of the individual packages of work may not be let competitively, but
the basic job will be on what we would call a cost reimbursable
contract.

BUDGETARY IMPLICATIONS OF REQUEST

Mr. HAMILTON. I think it would be helpful if you would suppIly
for the record, as clearly as you can, the budgetary implications of this
request. I think I have drawn out the major aspects of it in questions.
but perhaps you could do it in chart form showing the total budget
outlays, and making clear to us the terms of the FMS provisions. And
then, since the question of the one-half forgiveness has been raised, I
think it would also be helpful for you to spell out for us the budlgctai'y
implications of a one-half forgiveness should that come before us.

[The information follows:]

Grant funds-Estimated outlays for construction of airbases in Israel

Fiscal years: ' Thousandr
1979 - ------ -------------------------------------- $200
1980 ----.-------------------------------------- 00
1981 --- 3------------------------------------ 00

Total ----------. 0---- ----------------------- 800

FMS CREDIT TERMS

The credit arrangements with Israel (and Egypt) would provide for interest
rates at the cost of money to the U.S. Government (currently 91 percent) at the
time of each drawdown of principal.

Repayment would be over a 30 year period, with only interest payable in the
first 10 years. Principal, with interest, would be repaid over the next 20 years.

FORGIVENESS

Forgiveness of $1.1 billion, one-half of the credit for Israel, would require
appropriations of the full amount, or the $1.1 billion. Additionally, $110 million
in appropriated funds would be needed to provide a guarantee reserve for the
remaining $1.1 billion in credit for Israel, bringing the total amount of appropri-
ated funds to $1.21 billion. If equal treatment were accorded to Egypt, forgive-
ness of one half of Egypt's credit, $750 million, would require appropriations of
$750 million. Additionally, $75 million in appropriations would be needed as a
guarantee reserve for the remaining $750 million in credit, bringing total appro-
priations for the credit for Egypt to $825 million.

In sum, forgiveness of one half of the credits for Israel and Egypt would raise
the level of appropriated funds from the $370 million requested by the Adminis.
tration to $2.035 billion.



19

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Fountain.
Mr. SAUNDERS. Mr. Chairman, I might say, if you are interested in

hearing about that latter point now, we do have that information or
we could submit it for the record, either way.

Mr. HAMILTON. Let's have it now, if you have it.
Mr. WHEELER. Mr. Chairman, if the one-half forgiveness were ap-

plied to both Egypt and Israel, then that would have an annual budg-
etary significance of $168 million, and if there were a reduction in
addition to that of the interest rate from, say, 9 percent to, say, 3
percent, that would have an implication of $111 million annually, for a
total implication of $279 million.

Mr. HAMILTON. For each of the 3 years?
Mr. WIIEELER. That would be for each of the 10 years of the grace

period. In other words, this is an implication on an annual basis
through the entire payment period of the loans.

Mr. HAMILTON. I see. So it is $279 million for each year of the 10-
year period. Is that right ?

Mr. WIIEELER. Of the grace period, and it would actually go up
some for the repayment period.

Mr. HAMILTON. Do you have that totaled out anywhere?
Mr. SAUNDERS. There is a chart here.
General GRAVES. Mr. Chairman, I might -
Mr. HAMILTON. Why don't you supply that chart for the record so

we have it.
[The information follows:]

Financial Implications of Repayments During the Grace Period on FMS Loans
Proposed for Israel and Egypt under the Supplemental Request

Israel: 9 percent of $2.2 billion=$198 million annual repayments.
Egypt: 9 percent of $1.5 billion=$135 million annual repayments.
Total: $333 million annual repayments.
Annual cost to taxpayer if FMS loans were modified for both Israel and Egypt

programs to provide for 50 percent forgiveness and 3 percent interest on the
50 percent remainder:

Cost of forgiveness of 50 percent=$167 million annually.
Cost of reduction in interest on other 50 percent from 9 percent to 3 percent=

$111 million annually.
Total cost: $278 million annually.
Annual cost to taxpayer if FMS loans were modified for both Egypt and Israel

programs to reduce the interest rate from 9 percent to 3 percent: $222 million
annually.

TOTAL DIRECT BUDGET OUTLAY

Mr. HAMILTON. What is your total figure ?
Mr. WHEELER. I had not totaled it for the 30 years.
General GRAVES. Let me make the point that in the normal approach

to forgiveness which we adopt annually for Israel, the forgiven por-
tion of the credits is a direct appropriation. In other words, it is a full
appropriation for the entire amount of the forgiven portion. So that
if we were to follow that same approach to forgiveness in this legisla-
tion, whatever the amount that was forgiven would be a direct budget
outlay in that total amount.

Mr. HAMILTON. Does what you have said change Mr. Wheeler's
figures any

1 Percentage would actually be the cost of money to Treasury at the time of the front
drawdown and therefore could be higher than 9 percent



20

General GRAVES. That would change his point insofar as the an-
nualization of it. It might be possible to devise a new and different
approach to forgiveness.

Mr. HAMILTON. How does it change his annual figures?

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN BUDGETARY PROCEDURES AND ECONOMIC IMPACT

Mr. WHEELER. We are talking about a difference between budgetary
procedures and economic impact. I think in terms of budgetary pro-
cedures, General Graves is quite right that it would show as an outlay
in the annual budget for the next 3 years.

Mr. HAMTLTON. What shows? That is my point.
General GRAVEs. What shows is if there is a certain amount of for-

giveness, the Congress appropriates----
Mr. HAMILTON. That amount.
General GRAVES. An amount equal to that. At the time the loan is

drawn down, it becomes an outlay at that point. What Mr. Wheeler
has testified to is that the economic effect as far as the amount forgiven
would be spread and could be viewed from Israel's point of view as
reducing its payments over a-

IMPACT ON U.S. BUDGET

Mr. HAMILTON. What I am interested in is its impact on the budget
of the United States.

General GRAVES. Yes; I understand.
Mr. HAMILTON. Run these figures by me. I hear what you are saying

in principle, but I'm not sure I understand the specific figures.
General GRAVEs. Let me relate it to the $500 million of forgiveness

which is a feature of the annual credits to Israel. We extend annually
to Israel FMS credits of $1 billion, of which $500 million is by law
forgiven. The Congress appropriates each year $500 million for that
part of the loan to be forgiven and at the time Israel draws down the
loan, in order to pay for something, it is an outlay at that point in
time, a direct outlay.

Mr. HAMILTON. So you have $1.5 billion for Egypt and $2.2 billion
for Israel over a 3-year period. Over a 3-year period, if there is for-
giveness, then, the budget outlay for Egypt would be one-half of the
$1.5 million and $1.1 billion for Israel over the 3-year period.

General GRAVES. Precisely, Mr. Chairman; precisely. In addition
you would need appropriations equal to 10 percent of the remaining
loans to serve as a guarantee for the remainder.

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Fountain.

WORLD BANK OBLIGATION

Mr. FOUNTAIN. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, I think it would be good
for those of us didn't go very far in mathematics in college, who stayed
away from it as much as we could, for you to give us a simple thing
that we can all understand, precisely what have we committed our-
selves to do in dollars and cents potentially, actually in guaranteed
loans, and so forth, also, what is the obligation of the World Bank.
We need to know what our actual commitment is so that we can more
intelligently discuss it when the time comes.



21

It is going to be, as you know, an important issue. Now, suppose in
all these negotiations where the President has committed himself to be
a full partner, is that a full partner with Israel and Egypt, or is it a
full partner with all of the other parties who may become participants
in the negotiations?

Mr. SAUNDERS. It is a full partner in the negotiations.
Mr. FOUNTAIN. In all of the negotiations?
Mr. SAUNDERS. In all of the negotiations which may flow from the

Camp David agreements.

NEGOTIATIONS ON WEST BANK AND GAZA

Mr. FOUNTAIN. Suppose the PLO, Saudi Arabia, Jordan, and the
others show no interest, indicate no willingness to negotiate? Are the
United States, Egypt, and Israel still going to negotiate among them-
selves and come up with a plan for the West Bank, for the Gaza Strip,
and the other items involved, and say: This is going to be it; take it or
leave it? Just what will the situation be?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We have addressed ourselves so far only to the next
round of negotiations, those dealing with the West Bank and Gaza.
In the joint letter signed by President Sadat and Prime Minister Begin
to President Carter at the time the treaty was signed, they agreed that
if Jordan did not come forward to join the negotiations, if there were
no Palestinian representatives prepared to participate, these negotia-
tions would be held betwen Egypt and Israel with the participation
of the United States.

Therefore, we will begin 1 month hence in those negotiations with
those three parties. My view is that there is a lot of work that can be
usefully done in the early stages of these negotiations, even without
the other desirable partners. We will be looking at new issues and new
problems, how to provide full autonomy for the inhabitants of the
West Bank and Gaza, and these are issues which have not been ad-
dressed in detail by anyone to dat. Therefore, I think these three
parties could do a lot of useful work in negotiations to move toward
the formulation of an approach to the provision of autonomy of those
people.

We would hope that if we are able to reach agreement, that agree-
ment would demonstrate to others the seriousness of the agreement,
and we would either draw in participants as we go along in the nego-
tiations, or if not, at the end of the process there will be a design on
the table for a self-governing authority for the West Bank and Gaza.
There will be a design for elections that could be held there, and then
at that point, the inhabitants of those areas will have to make deci-
sions on whether they will stand for election under the design which
has been developed.

We would hope that as this goes on, the membership would widen.

U.S. COMMITMENTS TO EGYPT AND ISRAEL

Mr. FOUNTAIN. I would certainly hope so, too. And somehow I have a
feeling that some of the groups will show some interest, either behind
the scenes or publicly. But suppose they do not Do these commitments,.
these financial commitments, still stand ? Will we continue to spend the



22

same amount of money in support, economically, militarily, of Egypt
and Israel?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes. These commitments are made-
Mr. FOUNTAIN. Regardless of what happens with the so-called com-

prehensive peace achievement?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes. These commitments are geared to the imple-

mentation of the Egyptian-Israeli Treaty and the normalization of re-
lations between the two of them.

NORMALIZATION OF RELATIONS BETWEEN EOYPT AND ISRAEL

Mr. FOUNTAIN. Some observers have indicated that the real crunch in
this peace process will come toward the end of 1979 when normaliza-
tion of relations between Israel and Egypt occurs and little progress is
accorded in the West Bank-Gaza peace talks in many, many months, if
that should be the case. Let us hope it is not. Do you agree with that
general assessment?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That will be a period when the rest of the Arab world
will be looking again at Egypt as they did when the treaty was
signed, because it is at that point when, for instance, Ambassadors
would be exchanged between Egypt and Israel. So there will be another
moment of judgment in the Arab world on the progress that has been
made. Whether or not they will decide to take other actions at that
time, we will have to wait and see.

You are right; there is another moment of change in the situation
9 months from now.

REACTION OF OPEC NATIONS TO TREATY

Mr. FOUNTAIN. My time is about up or may be up, but I would like
to ask one more question. We all have so many questions we would like
to ask, and I guess we will just have to find the answers ourselves. Many
of them are self-explanatory.

It was noted in a news story recently that some of the Arab States,
including Saudi Arabia and others, have concluded, particularly in
view of the impact of the oil embargo upon us and the extent to which
we depend upon the import of oil that they are probably as powerful
economically, because of their oil, as we might be militarily.

Do you anticipate that the OPEC countries might use oil as a way
of blackmailing us into refraining from participating, or to encourage
us to back off or change our position, or to break down the negotiations
between Israel and Egypt and whoever else may be able to discuss it as
partners?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We do not have any indication that the Arab gov-
ernments have moved in that direction in their recent deliberations.
The idea was proposed but generally set aside. We, of course, could
not rule that out if there is a crisis at some point in the future.

I would like to point out that while there is no question of the im-
portance of the oil to the whole world, the industrialized and develop-
ment of the Middle East is also extremely important. After all, it is
American diplomacy which has moved this process to the point where
it is now. Many of those countries work closely with private Americans
using American technology and a whole variety of other imports



23

from the United States which are important to them. The relationship
between us and the Arab world is not a one-way street.

EXPORT OF FOOD AND RAIN TO ARAB WORI.-.

Mr. FOUNTAIN. You mentioned the question which I had in mind.
I was not going to take the time, but I will say: How much do we
export in terms of food, grain and so forth into the Arab world
annually

Mr. SAUNDERS. I will have to check the figures on that. We are, of
course, the primary exporter to that part of the world, but I would
have to get the figures for you later.

Mr. FOUNTAIN. Would you get those figures?
[The material follows:]

U.S. food and live animal exports to the Arab world in 1978 (including cereals
and cereal preparations) : $1,289,800,000.

COST OF TREATY TO U.S. TAXPAYER

Mr. FOUNTAIN. Would you also give us the breakdown of what you
say has been the cost to U.S. taxpayers of the four Middle East wars-
you say between $55 billion and $70 billion-so we might take a look
at that, as we study the cost of trying to bring about a comprehensive
peace settlement in the Middle East.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I will provide that. I will do so reiterating the caveat
that I did before, and that is that this is an illustrative figure. We do
not want to mislead anyone into thinking that anyone could calculate
one figure to represent the cost of the four wars in the Middle East.
It is literally incalculable because of the ramifications of it. But what
we have done is to develop a little paper which said these costs you can
identify, and these identifiable costs add up to a substantial figure just
by themselves. That is what we will be giving you."

CAUTION NEEDED IN FUTURE NEGOTIATIONS

Mr. FOUNTAIN. I would like to make one brief observation. I think
a miraculous feat has been accomplished in bringing Israel and Egypt
together, and the fact that the Egyptian people, by about 99.9 percent,
ratified what Mr. Sadat did, and the support which the Israeli people
gave to Mr. Begin reveals a deep-seated desire which has been there
for a long time. Many of us have seen it and heard-it as we have gone
there year after year-a desire for peace in that part of the world-
and yet I think we all realize that this, while a necessary step, is only
a first step, though it is a major one to the kind of comprehensive peace
which will bring about economic and political stability in that part
of the world. Even the two together, it seems to me, can accomplish
much. But if someone is out sniping and shooting and engaging in
guerrilla activities and murdering and doing all of that sort of thing
all at the same time, it is going to be difficult.

Now, I think the President has selected a very competent person
to engage in negotiations, in the person of Mr. Strauss; and yet I
have some reservations about how far we need to go in the future. I
do think there are those who feel like this has been an American-

SSee p. 40.



24

dictated peace between Israel and Egypt and that we have brought
some strategic pressures to bear on both of these nations.

Maybe we have. That is a part of the negotiating process. But I
would suggest a word or note of caution in the future-that in the
dealings we have and the part that Mr. Strauss plays, that we should
certainly be extremely careful in the negotiations with the other Arab
nations and in the part we play there, lest we do more damage than
good in the long run as we attempt to bring about a comprehensive
peace.

Mr. SAUNDERS. We will be acutely aware of the limitations on what
we can do. I think those of us who have been engaged in these nego-
tiations realize that this is in no way an American-dictated peace. The
impetus to the peace came, as you rightly said, from the people of the
area and from certain dramatic developments such as President
Sadat's initiative in going to Jerusalem and the quite substantial deci-
sions made by Prime Minister Begin in response. The negotiations
were between the two of them. We served as facilitators but the deci-
sions were theirs. And as we saw in the end, the political processes, as
you have rightly pointed out, that supported these were theirs. I think
our role is to be the facilitator, to try to help them produce the con-
crete achievements, the inclinations that they already have.

Mr. FOUNTAIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[Whereupon, the subcommittee proceeded to consider House Reso-

lution 106, urging the Government of the Federal Republic of Ger-
many to abolish the statute of limitations governing the prosecution
of war crimes.] 1

Mr. FINDLEY. We have a quorum in progress, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Yes, we do. We will take a break here and we will

resume after the vote.
Mr. FINDLEY. May I ask a parliamentary question, Mr. Chairman?

Mr. Saunders is here today and I think we are gratified by that. Can
we continue this after this morning? This is an enormous subject vital
to our national interest. If he cannot be here, could Mr. Atherton be
here?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I could be here, depending upon your timing, but
I am basically available.

Mr. HAMILTON. We will come right back and proceed.
Mr. FINDLEY. So you can stay on today, is that right?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes.
Mr. HAMILTON. The subcommittee stands in recess.
[There was a brief recess.]
Mr. HAMILTON. The subcommittee will resume its sitting.
Mr. Findley.

CONSTRUCTION OF NEW AIRBASES

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, the staff has helped to prepare some
excellent questions numbering 20 pages. I have a couple of additional
questions and I suspect that other members have a similar array of
questions. That is why I raised the question as to the availability of
Mr. Saunders or Mr. Atherton for a continuation 6f this after today,
assuming we do not get through the full copy. I hope the Chair will
give some thought to that possibility.

i The markup session is contained In a separate committee print.



25

I have a question, first of all, about the construction of the new air-
bases; and General Graves, you need not answer except in the record
on this first one. But I would like to know why the Corps of Engineers
is building airbases in the State of Israel. I am also troubled, though,
far more-and I am not troubled by the other, I am just perplexed-
but I am troubled by the lack of competitive bidding.

The Corps of Engineers surely engages in competitive bidding on
large-scale projects worldwide. Can you tell us how many days the
process of competitive bidding would stretch out the completion of
the projects

General GRAVES. About 1 additional year.
Mr. FINDLEY. One year to elicit bids?

COMPETITIVE BIDS NOT FEASIBLE

General GRAVEs. No, sir; because the design would have to be
finished before the bids could be let. We are starting construction
essentially with minimal design. We can take a cut at the configura-
tion of the runways and stat the earthwork before the runways are
designed. We can take a cut at the location of the aircraft shelters
and can start the earthwork before the aircraft shelters are designed,
and so forth. The entire project represents concurrent construction
and design. You cannot have a competitive bid unless the man knows
what he is bidding on, because he could not come up with a price.

Mr. FINDLEY. This sounds almost like wartime construction of an
airbase on Guam-

General GRAVES. It is.
Mr. FINDLEY [continuing]. In which I participated in a very modest

way.
ISRAF.L'8 OCCUPANCY OF AIRBASE8

General GRAVF. That is precisely what is required in order to get
fields like this ready in the available time. These fields must be built in
about 21 ears because we have to allow the Israeli Air Force time
for beneficial occupancy of those facilities to move over there. They
have to be totally moved into these bases and they want to be combat-
ready on these bases within 3 years.

Mr. FINDLrY. This whole thing carries the atmosphere of prepara-
tion for war and not for peace. We sign a peace treaty and immediately
start building airbases and putting a rush act on the construction of
airbases. I know those are policy questions.

PHASED WITHDRAWAL FROM NsAI

General GRAvr. Mr. Saunders could answer this better than I be-
cause of his intimate involvement, but a key feature of these negotia-
tions of the final agreements was a phased withdrawal from the Sinai
which would assure the security of both sides throughout the process.
ThecA two airfields are critical to the defense posture of Israel. and
Israel must be assured that these fields are ready when it must leave
the other two that are in the Sinai. That is the philosophy.

Let me say very briefly in answer to your first question-because I
think it is a key question-the basic reason why the Corps of Engineers



26

and U.S. contractors are building these fields as they are is to avoid a
massive impact on the Israeli economy. A construction job of this size
would have a major adverse effect on the Israeli construction industry
in terms of excessive demand and the inflationary impact it would
have on Israel. Therefore, what we are essentially going to do in this
job is characterized as an offshore operation. The impact on the Israeli
economy will be minimized by doing the project in this manner.

COST OF AIRBASE CONSTRUCTION

Mr. FINDLEY. Would you place in the record your best estimate of
the cost of the airbase construction, using the expected procedure in
contrast with a procedure involving competitive bidding

General GRAVES. Yes, sir, we will give you an estimate of that.
[The information follows:]

Within the limitations imposed by the extremely tight schedule agreed to In
the peace treaty, the Corps of Engineers evaluated a series of contracting options
and selected the cost plus type as most acceptable under these circumstances.
Competitive contracting was rejected on two counts:

(1) The sequential nature of the time line under this process would exceed the
three years available for the construction.

(2) With the uncertainties in the work definition created by the short schedule,
and compounded by the general risk of doing business in the Middle East, com-
petitive bidding would undoubtedly be very conservative. We estimate a tendency
for self protection with costs possibly 150 percent or more greater than the cost
plus approach.

If it were not for the three year time limit, the program could be managed
with competitive bidding. Unfortunately, the savings in contracting would prob-
ably be overcome by the inflationary factors associated with stretching the pro-
gram to an estimated 6 years.

PAUSE IN NEXT STEP OF NEGOTIATIONS

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Saunders, we seem to be almost at a pause, if not
a stalemate, in the next stage of the peace process. The non-Egyptian
Arab states seem to be somewhat more allied than they were. Many of
these states are not interested in cooperating with Egypt. There'is a
rising level of violence on both sides.

Yesterday, I understand, there were about seven flights of Israeli
fighter plans which passed over the capital of Lebanon. There are
other symptoms of the atmosphere of violence. We had reports that
American-provided antipersonnel ammunition had been used on U.N.
peacekeeping forces and also on Lebanese civilians.

Can you clarify the facts on that ? As I understand, Israel promised
in the wake of the fighting in southern Lebanon over 1 year ago, where
it had used these cluster bombs, that it would not do this anymore. Is
there a violation of that agreement?

Mr. SAUNDERS. There have been press reports saying that American
shells or bombs were used in that attack, but we so far have not found
any evidence that that is the case, and we have checked this to the
extent that it is possible, and I believe the United Nations has in-
dicated that it has not found any evidence of that kind. Of course,
we will continue to be alert to the possibility that there is such a viola-
tion, but at this point we have found none.



27

DID ISRAEL VIOLATE AGREEMENT

Mr. FINDLEY. If you verify that these cluster bombs were used by
Israeli forces, will you notify the Congress?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes; if they were American made and were there-
foFe a violation of the treaty, we would certainly.

Mr. FINDLEY. And would the notification be in an unclassified form?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes; I think so.
Mr. FINDLEY. Good.
It would help also, I feel, Mr. Secretary, if you would supply in

the record the form, the text and the dates of protests that our Gov-
ernment has made to both sides in respect to violence that has erupted.

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is an almost ongoing and daily proposition.

VIOLENT DEATHS IN ISRAEL

Mr. FINDLEY. We hear and we should hear a lot about the tragic
deaths of innocent people in Israel. Deaths occur on the other side,
too, and I hope that equally fervent protests are lodged with respect
to those deaths as well as with respect to the Israeli deaths. I think
it would help public opinion and understanding to have the texts of
those protests made available. It is also difficult to find out about
casualties, and I suspect that you encounter difficulties, too.

But if you can put in the record the best figures you have available
on violent deaths which have occurred in the wake of the consumma-
tion of the Egypt-Israeli treaty.

[The information follows:]

ESTIMATE OF NUMBER OF VIOLENT DEATHS IN THE ISRAEL/LEBANON AREA
SINCE THE SIGNING OF THE EGYPTIAN/ISRAELI TREATY OF PEACE, MARCH 26, 1979

It Is extremely difficult to estimate the number of violent deaths in this area.
Almost all have occurred in Lebanon either as a result of Israeli raids or In
shelling by Major Haddad of Palestinian positions. The Christian militia has
also been responsible for several deaths in the U.N. peacekeeping force. Counting
the Israel raids through May 7, we would hazard a very rough guess of at least
100 violent deaths since March 20.

BEGIN'S ANNOUNCEMENT OF SETTLEMENTS ON WEST BANK

Mr. FINDLEY. Could you also give us information about the admin-
istration's reaction to Prime Minister Begin's announcement of two
more settlements to be established on the West Bank? What concrete
steps has the administration taken to try to reverse these decisions?
In fact, could you comment on this question: Is there anything effective
that our administration can do to reverse these decisions?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I believe this issue will have to be addressed in the
context of the negotiations which are about to begin. I think that is the
best context in which to deal with them. At the same time, on the pub-
lic record we have stated our long-held position that settlements in
occupied territories are illegal. Two days ago on the record we also
stated our particular concern at the recent decision, which comes on the
evo of negotiations, dealing with the West Bank and Gaza because we
feel that the introduction of new settlements in the West Bank and
Gaza at this particular moment tends to prejudice the outcome of the
negotiations.



28

INVOLVING THE PLO IN NEGOTIATIONS

Mr. FINDLEY. Some Mideast observers believe that the PLO's rec-
ognition of Israel's territorial integrity and sovereignty will come
about only as a result of involvement of the PLO in some sort of a
dialog in the negotiating process. It will not occur as a precondition to
participation, according to this argument.

I am inclined to that view myself, and in support of that would cite
the greater strength that the non-Egypt cause seems to have, the
greater unity, the new prestige the PLO has gained in Iran, and as a
result of the Baghdad Conference. Why does the U.S. seem to reject
that argument

NO RECOGNITION OF PLO UNTIL IT RECOGNIZES RESOLUTION 242

Mr. SAUNDERS. The U.S. Government, as you know, has a commit-
ment which it made in 1975, not only to the Government of Israel but
in hearings before both Houses of the Congress, that it would not rec-
ognize or negotiate with the PLO.

Mr. FINDLEY. Yes, recognize or negotiate.
Mr. SAUNDERS. Until it recognizes Resolution 242 and Israel's right

to exist. We, of course, recognize the great importance of the Pales-
tinian issue in all of its aspects to a resolution of the current conflict
and the success of the next round of negotiations.

Mr. HAMILTON. Will the gentleman yield
Mr. FINDLEY. Sure.
Mr. HAMILTON. How do you reconcile your statement just a moment

ago about our commitment, referring back to the Sinai II agreements,
with what you say, on page 6 of your testimony this morning: "It is
important to recognize the full freedom of action, the full judgment
and discretion of whether to act and what action to take, is reserved
to the United States."

I am sorry to interrupt on the gentleman's time.
Mr. FINDLEY. Please proceed. It is the very theme I wanted to

pursue.
U.S. COMMITMENT IN SIGNING OF SINAI II AGREEMENTS

Mr. HAMILTON. You are insisting this morning that we have full
latitude to take whatever step is necessary to take, but at the same time,
you refer back to a commitment the United States made with respect
to the PLO in the Sinai II agreements. Can you clarify that for me

Mr. SAUNDERS. That commitment was a voluntary act and it remains
our position that we adhere to that commitment.

Mr. HAMILTON. And it can be changed any time, unilaterally ?
Mr. SAUNDERS. In theory that is true, but one changes commitments

one has made to the Congress and other governments only with a
great deal of thought.

MR. 81sCO0' TESTIMONY

Mr. HAMILTON. You see, I remember the Sinai II agreement, and I
can remember Mr. Sisco testifying precisely in these terms about full



29

freedom of action as a result of that agreement, and I can recall
since that time that we have this reference to the PLO. I wonder
about this full freedom of action.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I would like to ask Mr. IIansell to comment here in
a minute, but I also think there is another factor involved here, and
that is that the commonsense part of this commitment is very simple.
If you are going to have a negotiation and the parties are going to
participate in that negotiation, they must accept the purpose of the
negotiation or it is not useful for them to be included.

What we are simply trying to do here is to say that when all parties
to the negotiation accept the basic purposes of it, as in this case de-
fined in Resolution 242, then we will, at least for our part, have a
dialog with them.

Herb, do you want to speak to that

STATEMENT OF.HERBERT HANSELL, LEGAL ADVISER,
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

THE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

Mr. HANSELL. I note, Mr. Chairman, that Mfr. Saunders' comment
about our freedom of action was directed to the provisions of the
memorandum of agreement that was entered into with Israel in con-
nection with the peace package.

Mr. HAMILTON. Doesn't the memorandum of agreement include
reference to paragraph 8 of the Sinai II agreement?

Mr. HANSELL. Well, there is a provision-
Mr. HAMILTON. Excuse me. I misstated that. Paragraph 8 of the

memorandum of agreement refers to the Sinai II agreement. Now,
you say you have full freedom of action here. Then Mr. Saunders
testifies about a commitment on the basis of the Sinai II agreement.

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, if you would permit me. Can you alter
what you perceive to be that agreement without the concurrence of
the State of Israel

FULL CONSULTATION AND DISCUSSIONS

Mr. HANSELL. Mr. Findley, I think we would say that we have un-
dertaken solemn international assurances in these agreements. We are
not in the practice of unilaterally departing from or violating our
assurances without full justification and consultation and discussion.

Mr. FINDLEY. Without consultation.
Mr. HANSELL. And discussion with the other party. And the ques-

tion is not before us at the moment as to how we might proceed if at
any time we want to discuss any of our prior understandings. The
provision that exists in the new MOA, just to clairfy that for a mo-
ment, was that the treaty of peace did not alter or terminate the
prior existing assurances. So that whatever assurances were in exist-
ence prior to the execution of the new memorandum remain in effect.
Of those commitments that were previously made, many of them we
regard as binding international commitments, and of course we ad-
here to them.

47-699-79--- 3



30

DIALOG DIRECTLY WITH THE PLO

Mr. FINDLEY. But that is somewhat vague. Do you feel obligated to
get the concurrence of the State of Israel before entering into any
communication directly with the PLO?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We would certainly discuss this with them. It is in
the spirit of the relationship that we would discuss it with the Israelis
if there were to be any change in our position.

I would like to just share a perspective here for a moment. I do
not think we are talking about, perhaps, the governing issue here,
which is not a legal one.

Mr. FINDLEY. If you will permit me first, Mr. Saunders.
Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes.
Mr. FINDLEY. It is a very fundamental issue whether some sort of

dialog can be created with the PLO. I cannot think of anything more
fundamental than the need to enter into discussion. Earlier in your
testimony, you made a comment, and I think I have it correctly, that
you had not seen or heard anything from the PLO as to their course
of action to facilitate the peace process. Do we really know ? Have
we sent a letter or an envoy over there to discus their views? Have we?

THE PLO S POSITION

Mr. SAUNDERS. No, because of the position we have taken, but that
is the point I want to make, that our awareness of the PLO's position
does not come alone from our ability to have direct contact or not
to have direct contact. I think we know what the PLO position is.
But the point I wanted to make is that the problem here, I really
feel, is not just whether we are talking to the PLO or not. The ques-
tion is what the position of the PLO is and what position it will take
toward these negotiations.

Mr. FINDLEY. How do we know
Mr. SAUNDERS. I am afraid we are building for ourselves here a

tremendous disappointment, because I do not believe that the simple
act of communication with the PLO, whatever one's position might
be on the merits of that, will produce the kinds of decisions that would
be necessary to lead to an agreement.

U.S. COMMITMENTS

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Saunders, my question does not relate to that
at all. My question relates to U.S. commitments, what our obligations
are, and that was the question raised by Mr. Findley. It is the matter
of the U.S. commitment. What do you feel the U.S. commitments are
under Sinai II, the memorandum of agreement, and so forth? How
do you reconcile those commitments with the statement you have here
that we have full freedom of action, full judgment, full discretion?
That is the point I was bringing out.

Mrs. FENWICK. Will the gentleman yield
Mr. FINDLEY. Could I recast?
Mr. HAMILTON. It is Mr. Findley's time. I am sorry.



31

OBLIGATION FELT BY U.S. GOVERNMENT

Mr. FINDLEY. I know I have imposed upon the Chair's discretion.
Let me recast it this way, and tell me if this is an accurate description
of the obligation of our Government: That our Government feels obli-
gated to discuss and consult with Israel in advance of any decision
to begin any form of direct contact with the PLO, but that our Govern-
ment does not feel obligated to secure the concurrence of the Gov-
ernment of Israel before going ahead. Is that an accurate statement?
And if it is not, clarify it.

Mr. HANSELL. Let's be clear on the terms, first of all, of the 1975
agreement which dealt with this.

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Hansell, I am sorry to interrupt you at this
point. After we vote, we will start with your response to that question.
We do have a vote pending.

Mr. FINDLEY. I appreciate your indulgence, but I think this is a
very important topic.

Mr. HAMILTON. Yes, it is important. We will have the statement
restated, and Mr. Saunders will resume after the committee returns.

Mr. SOLAnz. May I ask permission that questions be permitted for
the record by Members who are not members of the subcommittee.1

Mr. HAMILTON. Absolutely, without question.
The subcommittee will stand recessed.
[There was a brief recess.]
Mr. HAMILTON. The subcommittee will come to order.
Mr. Findley.

CLARIFICATION OF U.S. COMMITMENTS

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, I think it is vitally important that we
get clarification of the obligation the U.S. Government has in respect
to communication, informal and otherwise, with the PLO. The Sinai
II agreement memorandum uses the words "recognition" and "nego-
tiation," which are rather precise terms of art.

Is it the position of the U.S. Government that communication short
of official recognition or official negotiation can occur between our
Government and the PLO without any reference to the State of
Israel?

Mr. HANSELL. Mr. Findley, the answer to this is yes; this is, that
there is no agreement, no inhibition on contact short of recognition or
negotiations.

Mr. FINDLEY. All right.
Now, in respect to recognition and negotiation, our Government

holds that it is obligated to consult and discuss with the State of
Israel before entering into negotiations or before extending recogni-
tion to the PLO. Is that correct?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We would consult as a matter of practice. It is the
normal way we do business.

I think the point that might be added to Mr. Hansell's earlier com-
ment is that of course this would be an act of significance, and we

SSee p. 53.



32

would feel that in the normal spirit of decency in the relationship,
we would want to discuss this whole issue with the Israelis.

Mr. FINDLEY. And finally-
Mr. HANSELL. Could I supplement that?
Mr. FINDLEY. Sure.
Mr. HANSELL. Only to say that of course when I said we would con-

sult, I wanted to be clear that with respect to recognition or nego-
tiation, that is the subject of the earlier agreement, so we have a
commitment not to recognize or negotiate. I want to be sure that was
clear.

Mr. FINDLEY. Yes.
Now, finally, is our Government obligated to secure the concurrence

of the State of Israel before entering into recognition of the PIO or
before entering into negotiations with the PLO?

Mr. HANSELL. We would be obligated by our earlier memorandum of
agreement not to do that as a matter of policy, so long as the PIX)
does not recognize Israel's right to exist and does not accept resolu-
tions 242 and 338.

CONSENT OF ISRAEL NEEDED BEFORE NEGOTIATING WITH OR RECOGNIZING
PLO

Mr. FINDLEY. That we are required to get the agreement of the
State of Israel before negotiating or recognizing the PLO. It is a very
important question.

Mr. HANSELL. I understand. We have given our assurance that we
will continue to adhere to that policy.

Mr. FINDLEY. We cannot unilaterally alter that. We must have the
concurrence of the State of Israel.

Mr. HANSELL. That is certainly the policy that has been taken by this
government, and that continues to be the position that has been articu-
lated by the U.S. Government.

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, I raised these questions because I have
learned that the PLO would welcome an emissary from the U.S. ad-
ministration to take up the question of the next stage of negotiations,
and it seems to me that the case is powerful for us to take that initia-
tive. And based upon what has been said to us today, our Government is
free to do that without any reference to the attitude of the State of
Israel. If it were to occur, I believe it would ease tensions at every
point of the compass in the Middle East, ease the problems of Israel,
ease the problems of Jordan, Syria, Lebanon.

PLO'S ACCEPTANCE OF U.N. RESOLUTION 242

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think it is worth simply recalling for the record
that the President has said that if the PLO accepts resolution 242
and Israel's right to exist, we will deal with the PLO.

Mr. FINDLEY. That, if course, is a gratifying position, but I am sure
you would recognize the difficulty the PLO would have embracing 242
unless it felt it received a similar recognition of its right to secure
national homeland.

Mr. SAUNDERS. When we were dealing with this problem 11/2 years
ago in discussions with some of the Arab governments, we made it



33

known that we would, of course, understand if the PLO felt it neces-
stary to state its view; that resolution 242 does not adequately address
the political dimensions of the Palestinian problem.

Now, we feel that at Camp David in the framework agreed there,
that significant progress was made in that regard. The Camp David
framework is built on resolution 242, of course, but it also provides for
a solution which recognizes the legitimate rights of the Palestinian
people and it provides a number of concrete ways in which they could
participate in the negotiations and in the determination of their own
future.

In our view, we have taken steps in our own acknowledgment that
242, while the base for all of this, can be built on to provide recognition
of the legitimate political objectives of the Palestinians.

Mr. FINDLEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Studds.

CONCERNS OF THE AMERICAN TAXPAYER

Mr. STUDDS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Gentlemen, I did an unusual thing last week. I went home. And I

am going to try to share with you some of the questions with which I
got bombarded in the course of last week. I do not purport to be doing
them scientifically or any other way, but this is the thrust of the con-
cerns expressed by people.

The American people, both in terms of my own contacts in my own
constituency and in terms of every national poll I have seen recently,
which has borne out the same thing, are pretty confused, pretty angry,
and pretty concerned, to put it mildly and politely, about their Govern-
ment in general and foreign policy and energy questions in particular.

Remember, all of those years through the conflict of Southeast Asia,
people looked forward to the end of the war so there would no longer
be such a need for tremendous funds for the Department of Defense.
The so-called peace dividend was looked forward to by people for
many years.

COSTS OF PEACE

As you know, when the war ended, defense spending jumped dra-
matically and has done so every year since then. A similar thing seems
to have happened with the advent of peace in the Middle East. I don't
think there is a soul in this country who did not skip a heartbeat or
two at the ceremonies at the White House and say a prayer and hope it
was there. But of course, it was only a matter of minutes before it
sunk in that this peace was going to require, among other things,
roughly $5 billion in military assistance in the next 3 years. And peo-
ple began to wonder whether we could afford it if peace broke out
anywhere else in the world, at this rate.

While everyone wishes well to U.S. negotiators involved on mis-
sions of peace, one really wonders what the costs are. And I must say to
you that I understand-at least I think that I do-the pressures and
the situation in which Israel and her people find themselves and Egypt
and her people find themselves. And I think I am fairly well-versed
in the complexities of what has to be as complex a region as any on
the face of the earth.



34

But I think all of us, especially people who spend a lot of their
time in this bizarre city here, need to face some of the less sophisti-
cated, if you will, questions, more straightforward and in a way, more
honest and more difficult to answer, of people who are not that versed
in all the nuances of the region and its history, and who ask questions
that are extremely difficult to answer, quite apart from the not alto-
gether academic question of how come peace costs so damn much in
military assistance, and if we really have peace, why do we have to
proceed promptly to rearm the two nations that have just negotiated
the peace?

OPEC'S CONTROL OF OIL PRICES

Mr. Findley made a reference to the power of OPEC in terms of
setting the world price of oil. One factor in the anger of the people that
I represent is the fact that this administration has now effectively
doubled OPEC's power by giving them the power to control not only
their own oil, but our oil in decontrolling the price of crude oil. OPEC's
decisions in the future will now set the price of American oil as well
as OPEC oil, which is an awesome power to have there.

Let's look at Egypt. I get asked a lot: Why does Egypt need a
$1.5 billion more of military assistance on top of what we are al-
ready giving them? I sat here throughout the last couple of years
and carefully listened to all of you explain why we necessarily had to
have that enormous sale to Egypt, Israel, and Saudi Arabia in the in-
terest of peace, of course, which is why we always sell arms anywhere
in the world; and now on top of that, we are being asked for a signif-
icant new sum of military assistance for Egypt.

What really, given the signing of this treaty, are the threats to
Egypt? Now, I would assume that the things we would be most con-
cerned about, that Mr. Spdat would be most concerned about, would be
his personal physical well-being, threats upon his person, and dis-
sent within Egypt. Does Egypt need $1.5 billion more worth of mili-
tary equipment, and if so, against whom?

FIRST COMMITMENT OF AMERICAN FUNDS FOR MILITARY EQUIPMENT

Mr. SAUNDFRS. First of all, this is the first substantial commitment
of American funds to the provision of military equipment to Egypt.

Mr. STUDDS. Don't forget the F-5's we went through last year.
Mr. SAUNDERS. We are not providing any funds for those.
Mr. STUDDS. That is my next question: Who is going to pay for it ?

EGYPT'S NEED FOR MILITARY EQUIPMENT

Mr. SAUNDERS. The second point is that F-5's last year were the first
significant American provision of military equipment to Egypt.
Egypt, as you know, has been without significant consistent sources of
military supplies for roughly 4 years. The purpose of this equipment is
to help the Egyptians replace equipment that has now become obsolete
or has gone into disrepair for want of spare parts over these years of
the Soviet embargo.

Fundamentally, it is the Egyptian shift from the Soviet Union to
Western sources of supply which is a part of the overall reorientation



35

of Egypt in the area. As Egypt reduces its military forces, it feels the
need to modernize and increase the effectiveness of the forces that will
continue to exist.

Now, what threat does Egypt face? I think it is apparent that
Egypt needs a defensive force against a variety of potential radical
adversaries in the area surrounding it. Egypt feels the need to be a
force for moderation in that surrounding area, and we welcome it as
such.

SAUDIS' OBLIGATION TO PAY FOR F-5'S

Mr. STUDDS. The Saudis, as I understand it, were to have paid for
the F-5's last year and presumably the Egyptians are to repay the-
what is it, $1.5 billion in credits we are now talking about for the next
3 years in Egypt?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is right.
Mr. STUDDS. And the Saudis are going to bear that burden too, are

they?
Mr. SAUNDERS. There is no decision along those lines at this point.
Mr. STUDDS. How in the world could a country such as Egypt sustain

a burden like that?
Mr. SAUNDERS. That will have to be worked out in the future.

EGYPT'S ECONOMY

Mr. STUDDS. How do we work it out? The country is desperately
poor. What its people need, presumably, is something a little more
pressing than tanks and aircrafts.

Mr. WHEELER. I think that when one looks at it in the total context of
their economy and the changes taking place in that economy, the bur-
den during the grace period will be about $135 million a year, and it is
a burden. It is a deduction, in a sense, from their total ability to fund
economic and social programs.

Mr. STUDDS. In other words, we don't know whether they can stand
it or not.

Mr. WHEELER. We have a judgment that basically the economy is
showing very important strength in terms of the improvement in its
balance of payments, and that particularly when looked at in a 30-year
time frame, that they should very well be able to service this kind of
debt.

FORGIVENESS OF CREDITS

Mr. STUDDS. I have a number of constituents who dared me to ask
someone if I ever got a chance: Would you be willing to bet at this
moment on the odds of this administration coming in here in a year
or two and asking us to forgive these credits, or a large part of them,
to both countries?

Mr. WHEELER. Yes; I don't think they are likely to come in and
ask for it.

Mr. STUDDS. You don't think so ? You sure had the math all ready
in case someone asked the question a little while ago.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think the point there, Mr. Congressman, is that not
the administration but others have already made that proposal.

Mr. STUDDS. In other words, you wouldn't be taken aback if the sug-
gestion came from the Congress.



36-

Mr. SAUNDERS. We have taken the position that the administration's
proposal should stand as presented.

SEVERED RELATIONS BETWEEN SAUDI ARABIA AND EGYPT

Mr. STUDDS. I understand. The Saudi Arabians have broken diplo-
matic relations with Egypt, whatever that means. Do we anticipate
they will continue to pay for the F-5's?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes.
Mr. STUDDS. We do ? Do we have reason to believe that or are we sort

of hoping?
Mr. SAUNDERS. We have reason to believe that.

UNITED STATES-SAUDI RELATIONS

Mr. STUDDS. We had reason to believe they were going to be extremely
helpful. Mrs. Benson wrote to me when we were agonizing, some of
us, over the joint arms sale last year. She said Saudi Arabia was, and
I quote:

A moderating influence in the area, and a country which has strongly sup-
ported President Carter's peace initiative. Saudi Arabia's contribution is based
foremost on its firm commitment to a negotiated settlement of the Arab-Israeli
conflict. The Saudi's have strongly opposed the outbreak of another war, which
they believe would put intolerable strain on their highly valued relationship
with the United States.

One of the reasons some of us had a great deal of difficulty making
up our minds on whether we should approve those arms sales, one of
the reasons we found compelling, was the assurance from the Depart-
ment of State that the Saudis were playing from behind the scenes
a helpful moderating role in the peace process.

Now, I assume we were all sort of disappointed that it didn't happen
that way. Is that fair to say?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We are disappointed in the present Saudi posture.
At the same time, I think there is no question that a moderate Saudi
Arabia is extremely important to the interests of the United States,
and while we may disagree on the present situation, not on the objective
of peace, but on how to proceed in this particular period, that we
would in the end find ourselves again working in cooperation with
Saudi Arabia toward this objective.

Mr. STUDDS. Except that their position with respect to Camp David,
the great American triumph, is indistinguishable from the other Arab'
countries, is it not ?

ARAB OBJECTIONS TO U.S. INVOLVEMENT

Mr. SAUNDERS. The entire Arab world objects to what we are doing.
As I said earlier, we must show results from this because it is the only
workable alternative. They have not proposed any, and if we can suc-
ceed in it, it seems to me that it will be very difficult for them to oppose
the various benefits for Palestinians and other governments that could
flow from this process. But it is a process of convincing them in a
situation in which they disagree and do not think we can produce the
results we would like.



37

Mr. STUDDS. I have heard it time and again said that a major ra-
tionale for aiding Egypt at this time is to put Sadat in a position
where he can demonstrate to his own people the benefits of peace
and of cooperating with the United States in this effort. We used to
send, as you will recall, a great many weapons to Iran. One of the
reasons, we now learn, the people of Iran revolted was precisely be-
cause of the stuffing into that nation of obscene levels of American
weaponry into a nation which needed other things.

Has any thought been given to the possible judgment of the Egyp-
tian people that they might think what they need most at this time
is something other than a couple of billion dollars worth of weapons
and that this might backfire on us in some of the same ways it did
in Iran

Mr. SAUNDERS. We are talking about totally different orders of
magnitude.

IRAN COMPARED TO EGYPT

Mr. STUDDS. I realize no one has ever talked about the order of
magnitude of the Shah, but it is still pretty big, given the poverty
of the country.

Mr. SAUNDERS. We are also talking about a military force which
has been without significant major modernization for 5 years. Any
nation has to provide for its own defense within reasonable limits.

Mr. STDDs. Especially in times of peace.
Mr. SAUNDERS. I would think the proportions we are talking about

here of $500 million worth of equipment a year, which does not rep-
resent a great deal of equipment in today's world, as you know, is not
a disproportionate effort by the Egyptian Government simply to up-
date and modernize forces that have never really recovered totally
from the 1973 war.

Mr. STUDDS. I suspect it is a disproportionate effort in comparision
to our economic aid program and compared to the Egyptian capacity
to deal with their own problems. As I understand it, Sadat's most
overwhelming problem is whether or not he can prove to his people
that they can literally survive, given the extent of poverty in that
country.

I guess all I am saying at this time is I hope someone is giving some
thought to that because there may come a time when the Egyptian
people ask themselves, as the Iranian people did, how understanding
of the true nature of their situation was the United States at this
time.

I am a little over, but I have not approached the gentleman from
Illinois yet. Let me see if I can sneak in one other line of questioning
just to balance this. I have to balance my assault here a little bit. I
have attacked the Government of the United States and the Gov-
ernment of Egypt, so it is Israel's turn, and then I will promptly
yield.

Let me just for the record ask you a couple of quickies. Is it the
position of this Government that the stipulations of the Fourth
Geneva Convention concerning the protection of the civilian popula-
tion under military occupation applies to Israel's Government of the
occupied territories

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes.



38

Mr. STUDDS. Does this prohibit the introduction of civilian settlers
from the occupied power into occupied territories?

Mr, SAUNDERS. Yes.

ISRAEL'S ESTABLISHMENT OF NONMILITARY SETTLEMENTS

Mr. STUDDS. Is it true that Israel has established over 70 nonmilitary
settlements in occupied territory of a total of some 8,000 people?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That sounds like about the right number. I am not
sure of the exact number.

Mr. STUDDS. I should alert you that is taken from the State Depart-
ment's own report on human rights.

Mr. SAUNDERS. Fine.
Mr. STUDDS. It was not meant to be a trick question. I am just trying

to establish the record.
Mr. SAUNDERS. That is about right.

ADDITIONAL SETTLEMENTS BEING PLANNED

Mr. STUDDS. Has this policy been halted or are additional settle-
ments planned, so far as we know, during the coming year?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We understand additional settlements are planned.
Mr. STUDDS. In a year in which the United States will be providing

a total of some $2 billion in military and economic aid to Israel?
Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct.
Mr. STUDDS. In your judgment, is this aspect of Israeli policy one

which detracts significantly from the prospect of a comprehensive
peace settlement in the region ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes. As we have said, particularly announcing the
decision to establish two new settlements on the eve of the negotiations
which are about to begin, we believe, tends to prejudice the outcome
of the negotiations.

MONEY SPENT ON SETTLEMENTS

Mr. STUDDS. One final question. I think we had testimony in the
subcommittee that Israel plans to spend something in the nature of
$35 million this coming year on new settlements. Whatever the precise
amount is, assuming that is approximately correct, what would be
the administration's position on a proposal to reduce the amount of
U.S. aid to Israel by the amount she nlans to spend on an activity
which this Government considers to be illegal and harmful to the peace
process?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think we would oppose that effort because the aid
that we have provided is designed to go to the core of several of Israel's
problems. One is providing for its own security: hence, the support for
military purchases, the relocation of the airfields and so on. A second
has to do, though, with the health of Israel's economy, which again
is nart of the very life of the country.

We also have provisions in our agreements, do we not, Joe, which
say that this money should not be used for projects in occupied
territories

Mr. WHEELER. That is right, in terms of our particular money.



39

Mr. SrTDns. Let me apologize to Mrs. Fenwick. I know what it feels
like to be down there.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I don't know whether I have any rights in continuing
my answer.

Mr. STUDDS. You do, but I reserve the last 10 seconds for myself.

THE COST OF PEACE

Mr. SAUNDERS. I want to go back to your constituent's question be-
cause I think it is one on all of our minds. We have grappled with the
question of why is peace so expensive, and I would simply point out
a couple of things. Five years ago, the Congress appropriated a grand
sum of $2.2 billion in the wake of the 1973 war simply to resupply
Israel and to meet its battlefield losses. That is more than the total
budget impact by one-third again as much of what we are talking
about here for peace. That is just one example of what peace in the
Middle East or war in the Middle East can cost.

So it seems to me that the United States, given the tremendous
other costs that flow from war in the Middle East, is in waging peace,
as the President says, perhaps spending its resources in ways which
square not just meeting military necessity but bring together our moral
commitments as well as our strategic economic-military-political
commitments.

Given what could happen-I hate to use this phrase-but it may
be cheap at the price.

Mr. STunDD. I understand your position. Let me just say I think
you have an extraordinary selling job to do. If the Congress were to
vote today on this proposal and were in some quixotic moment to be
generally representative of the American people, I suspect that the
proposal would lose. I think that the case has to be made and must
be made compellingly, both in terms of humanitarian concerns and
in terms of our own national self-interest. And I think that that case
has yet to be made to the people of this country.

THE MATHEMATICS OF TIE PACKAGE

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think a good part of it, though, is the arithmetic
of the situation. It is a very hard point to understand, not for you but
for people out there who do not understand.

Mr. STuDDS. Oh, for me, too. I am still trying to understand North
Yemen, never mind this. [Laughter.]

Mr. SAUNDERSF. A $4.8 billion program has a budgetary impact of
$1.4 billion divided by 3. which brings you down to--

Mr. STUDDS. I tried that. It does not work.
Mr. SAUNDERS. It happens to be true; that is the problem.
Mr. STUDDS. Thank you, and thank you for your patience, Mr.

Chairman.
Mr. ITAMTILTON. Mrs. Fenwick.

CHOOSING CONTRACTORS

Mrs. FENWICK. I will try to be brief. I would like to say first that
I find no difficulty in wondering why Mr. Sadat needs military equip-



40

ment. Ethiopia seems to have been moving troops into the Sudan,
which is a friend of Egypt, and Egypt might be called upon to help.
And Egypt has a very volatile neighbor to the west which, as you now
know, is involved in sending troops into Uganda and everywhere else.
So I think it quite obvious that Egypt needs some help and has had
no proper equipment for some time.

I think also that if the public does not understand the arithmetic,
it is up to us to make it clear. If they don't know, they will surely see
the difference between the billions you have described which were
spent at the time of war, as compared to the $1.7 billion which I under-
stand is the total budget outlay, as the chairman's question has elicited.
And if they don't understand it, it is our fault. It is a lack of commu-
nication on our part intelligently to convey the truth.

If that is the public view, then we are at fault as communicators
and Representatives. But I would like to ask the general how these
three contractors are going to be chosen. I believe you said three con-
tractors. Keep it brief, if you could. I have some other questions for
Mr. Saunders.

General GRAVES. Very simply, we have advertised in Business Daily
for the qualifications of the firms. The Corps of Engineers is reviewing
the qualifications.

Mrs. FENWICK. Who is gotig to make the choice ?
General GRAVES. The choice will be made by the Chief of Engineers

based upon the qualifications of the firms.
Mrs. FENWICK. Whether they have done similar work in the past,

and so on?
General GRAVES. Similar work in the past, overseas experience and

so forth.
LAWS GOVERNING TERRORIST ORGANIZATIONS

Mrs. FENWICK. Mr. Saunders. I must confess I take a different view
from some of my colleagues- don't think we should talk to the PLO
at all. It seems to me perfectly clear from their statements that they
are terrorists. For example, in the Voice of Palestine, Mr. Abnu yad,
who is a member of El Fatah, the arm of PLO, says quite clearly that
the PLO sees no benefit at present in opening a dialog with the United
States. "Furthermore, we feel such a dialog is a waste of time. Con-
fronting the Americans now is more important."

How are you going to sit down and propose a peace treaty with peo-
ple who talk like that ? It is perfectly clear that in the Arab newspaper,
Al Dustur, thev say the TT.S. President has backed down on his state-
ment: that as long as the United States insists on improving unac-
ceptable conditions such as recognition of Security Council Resolution
249. they see no benefit in such a dialog.

How can we sit down with people who will not even accept a resolu-
tion to which the United States subscribed. Resolution 242. which
is the basis of the treaty ? How can they be invited to come and speak?
Every time they are recognized, whenever Mr. El-Hout comes into
this country, in my opinion, we strengthen their hands.

We have a law, I believe, that terrorists are not allowed to come in.
IIe will not disavow terrorism. When he was asked, lie said, well, there
were war conditions or something. I have met Palestinians who are not



41

PLO's and with whom we should be talking. Why don't we talk to them
- instead of picking a group of which the official representatives say

quite openly that they do not want dialog with us; that if they have
to accept 242, that that is no kind of a basis. How do you get
peace when the people you are supposed to talk to are so completely
irreconciled to the existence of the nation which is one of the signa-
tories of the peace ?

In other Words, I don't really understand-and I wrote to the Sec-
retary about this at the time-how we can give visas to such people. I
am in favor of free speech and I am sworn to uphold the Constitution,
but we have a law that says we do not have to admit terrorists, and
I wish very much that we could be clear on that. Somewhere, it seems
to me, we ought to stand up for something.

NO DIALOG WITH PLO

Mr. SAUNDERS. There are several things which might be said in re-
sponse to your statement. First of all, since the PLO has not accepted
Resolution 242 as a basis for negotiation, the Camp David approach
focuses on the 1 million Palestinians-that is, one-third, roughly, of
the Palestinian people-who reside in the West Bank and Gaza. So
the focus of the next round of negotiations is to try to provide a self-
governing body for those people and to bring them into the negotia-
tions, and ultimately to see them participate in the major decisions
that will determine their own future.

That is where we have put our focus, simply because we have not
been able to find a basis on which to have a dialog with tihe PLO.

As far as Mr. El-Hout is concerned, we were faced with a situation
where he had received invitations from a number of highly respected
American universities which felt it would be beneficial for freedom
of academic inquiry to be able to meet with him. Although he is obvi-
ously a member of an organization wlich is responsible for terrorist
acts which we condemn, nevertheless lie is an individual, as we under-
stand his views, who is a relative moderate in the spectrum of PLO
views. And we felt, therefore, that we had no evidence that he per-
sonally engaged in terrorism, and in response to these invitations from
these American universities, we felt it justified to issue that visa for a
stated period of time and purpose.

TO WHOM SHOULD WE BE TALKING?

Mrs. FENWICK. Mr. Saunders, it is like picking one from a group
of gangsters because he says I don't kill on Sundays. It is only rela-
tive moderation when you are part of a group which is dedicated to
these activities. I don't think it is adequate, and I think you know in
the long run what is really going to be the outcome there. It is going
to be that we have to find some people who are reasonable, sober
Palestinians who are prepared to live in some kind of self-determina-
tion with the Israelis without hating them and bombing them and
thinking they have a right to.

That is what is so terrible in the long run. Peace is going to depend
'on those other people, not gangsters, isn't it? And we ought to be



42

talking to them, developing them, nurturing them, giving them rec-
ognition. Every time we do anything that gives the terrorists legiti-
macy, we endanger the final peace because the others may feel that
although the terrorists did throw all those bombs and kill all those
people in Munich and elsewhere, the terrorists are the only repre-
sentatives the people have. And as long as we continue this half-
hearted semirecognition, we delay the time when we are going to
discover the decent Palestinians who are prepared to live in peace.

I feel we would be so wise to go out into the villages and find
upstanding, decent people. There is a gentleman, an old retired
gentleman in Jerusalem whose name I cannot remember. You know
the one I mean.

Mr. SAUNDERS. Mr. Alami?
Mrs. FENWICK. Yes. People like that I would talk to who never

would join something like the PLO, people who have been standing
up for Arabs and for their rights but would find it displeasing to
join such an organization. That is what we want.

IMPORTANT TO SUCCEED IN NEGOTIATIONS

Mr. SAUNDERS. It seems to us it is exceedingly important to suc-
ceed in these negotiations so that those Palestinians who are pre-
pared to live at peace with Israel can join this process and take part
in it. We are confronted with the complicated situation that even
most of those to whom you talk in the West Bank and Gaza will
say that the PLO speaks for them.

Mrs. FENWICK. Oh, I know.
Mr. SAUNDERS. It is a complicating factor.
Mrs. FENWICK. But that old gentleman doesn't seem to. I would

build on him.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Before I turn to Mr. Solarz. I would like to say

that members of the subcommittee have talked to me and we would
like to, I think, have you gentlemen come back. This afternoon will
not be convenient for members of the subcommittee, and it is the
Chair's intent to go until about 1 o'clock here and then adjourn and
try to set another time for you to come back.

Do you think we can work that out?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Sure we can.
Mr. HAMILTON. We will do so.
Mr. Solarz.

FMS LOANS AT CONCESSIONAL RATES

Mr. SOLARZ. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Can any of you gentlemen let us know whether there is some way

in which we could provide these FMS loans to Israel and Egypt at
concessional rather than commercial rates, without increasing the
budgetary impact on our own fiscal situation above and beyond the
10 percent which we now have to put into the Federal Financing
Bank as a guarantee for those loans? Is there any other mechanism,
guarantees, or anything else which would enable us to provide these
loans at concessional rates without increasing the budgetary impact
here?



43

General GRAVES. Well, sir, you have put your finger on a very
difficult problem, because the guaranteed loan is basically a loan by
that person at the price of money to him, and the concessional loans
have always been, in the past, direct loans from the U.S. Govern-
ment, which therefore require the appropriation of funds by the
Congress.

So you are proposing something we have not been able to work in
the past.

Mr. SOLARZ. I understand my question, General. I am interested
in your answer.

General GRAVES. Our answer is we have not been able to find that
to date, but I think it would be better for us to offer a paper on this
since up till this t-ime on Thursday, we have not a way to do this.
But I think we should consider whether there is one and provide the
committee an answer if that is acceptable.

Mr. SOLAREZ. If you can do that before we mark it up in the full
committee, it would be helpful.

General GRAVES. I understand.

FEDERAL FINANCING BANK

Mr. SoLAnz. My understanding is the Federal Financing Bank is
prohibited by law from offering loans at concessional rates. Is that
correct?

General GRAVES. Let me ask Mr. Borek if he would address that,
please.

STATEMENT OF TED A. BOREK, DEPUTY ASSISTANT LEGAL AD.
VISER, BUREAU OF POLITICO/MILITARY AFFAIRS, DEPART-
MENT OF STATE

Mr. BOREK. My understanding is, Mr. Solarz, that while they may
have-I am not an expert on their requirements-but while they
may have some authority to vary their interest rates, they operate
on one policy consideration that they ought to operate at the cost
of money. That is something we support as we believe they should
maintain their purity.

Second, in the event they were to offer a 4-percent interest rate,
they would have to then, in order to get the funds to make the loan,
turn around and go to the bond market where they would be paying
9 percent. They have no authority and no money, and under the
FMS law as it is now, we could not make up that difference.

Mr. SoARz. Is there anything which prohibits the Federal Financing
Bank from offering these loans at concessional rates?

Mr. BOREK. I would have to provide that for the record, sir.

LEGISLATION REGARDING FEDERAL FINANCING BANK

Mr. SOLARZ. Could we, in theory, adopt language in this legislation
which would require the Federal Financing Bank to offer the loans at
concessional rates?

Mr. BOREK. In theory I think so.



44

General GRAVES. I think in theory, but I suspect that as a minimum,
a fundamental provision would have to be made to make them whole.
I think you would be getting into their whole financial structure if you
did not provide at the same time a method to make them whole on the
interest.

Mr. SOLARZ. When you do your paper, if you could look into ways
in which they could be made whole without increasing the amount of
the outlays in each of the years-

[Laughter.]
General GRAVES. We will do this, but let me say that as a minimum,

I think we would have to increase the outlays by the amount of interest.
Mr. SOLARZ. That is what I want you to figure out, General, how not

to increase the outlays.
General GRAVES. Sir, we will do our best but I predict we will not

succeed in that objective.
Mr. SOLARZ. I have faith, General, in you. I know your predecessor

was very creative in these accounting procedures, and if necessary, we
will recall General Fish to figure out how this can be done.

[The material follows:]

INFORMATION PAPER ON CONCESSIONARY RATES OF INTEREST ON LOANS ISSUED BY
TIE FFB AND GUARANTEED BY DSAA

Under the provisions of the Federal Financing Bank Act of 1973 (Public Law
93-224) the FFB issues loans to foreign governments for the purchase of defense-
articles and services. These loans are guaranteed against financial loss by the
Department of Defense. Section 6 of the FFB Act stipulates that loans must he.
repaid with interest at a rate not less than a rate determined by the Secretary
of Treasury which takes into consideration (1) the current average yield on
average yield on outstanding obligations of the Bank of comparable maturity
or (2) whenever the Bank's own obligations outstanding are sufficient, the current
average yield on outstanding obligation of the Bank of comparable maturity.
This provision is also included under Section IV, paragraph 4.7 of the "Defense
Security Assistance Agency-Federal Financing Bank Agreement with Respect to
the Foreign Military Sales Act," dated January 31, 1975. All loans to date have
been in accordance with the principle that the borrower must repay loans with
interest thereon at a rate not less than the cost of money to the U.S. Government.

An alternative would be to budget for a DOD Direct Loan and seek a Presi-
dential Determination under Section 23 AECA that it be repaid at a concessionary
rate of interest. Historically, there have been relatively few loans of this type.
The last was issued in fiscal year 1975. In the P.D., the President must certify
to the Congress that such an act is in the national interest, and a justification
for a lesser rate must he provided.

The payments on a loan at a concessionary rate are lower than on a loan at
the current rate. One way to produce the same effect is to forgive a portion of the
principal, so that the repayment of the remaining principal at the current rate
is financially equivalent to the repayment of the entire principal at the con-
cessionary rate.

For a 30-year loan with an initial grace period of 30 years on the repayment
of principal, the payment calculations for the first 10 years and the final 20 years
are different. Assuming a current interest rate of 91% percent when the loan was
drawn down, it would he necessary to forgive 56 percent of the principal for the
repayment schedule during the first 10 years to be the same as for a loan at a
concessionary rate of 4 percent. Alternatively, to make the repayment schedule
during the final 20 years the same as for a 4 percent loan, It would be necessary
to forgive 33 percent of the principal. To make the sum of all repayments of
principal and interest over the 30-year life of the loan the same as for a 4 percent
loan, it would he necessary to forgive 40 percent of the principal. In order toforgive a portion of the principal, that portion would have to be a direct loan
rather than a guaranteed loan, and Congress would have to authorize and appro-
priate the full amount to be forgiven.



45

There is no provision for concessionary interest rates or forgiveness of prin-
cipal for the FMS credits to be provided under the special International security
assistance legislation which the President has recommended to Congress in
support of the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel. The Administration is
opposed to either concessionary interest rates or forgiveness of principal in this
case because the levels of aid and the terms are the result of a careful balancing
of foreign policy needs and fiscal policy constraints, recognizing our current
budgetary restraints and the need to avoid imposing any unnecessary burden
on the U.S. taxpayer.

COST OF MIDDLE EAST WARS TO UNITED STATES

Mr. SOLARZ. Now, Mr. Saunders, you estimated that the cost of
four wars in the Middle East to our country has been somewhere, I
think, around $55 billion. Could you indicate how you arrived at this
calculation?

Mr. SAUNDERS. May I say again, I do not want to spend a lot of time
on a figure because any figure of this kind by its nature is-I under-
stand it is in here, and I will use it as an illustrative figure. I will tell
you how I got to it, but for goodness sake, let's not have a major dis-
cussion on this issue. What we did was simply-and I will be providing
this, as the chairman already asked-$2.2 billion in grant for the
battlefield costs of the 1973 war. Our economist totaled the cost of the
oil price increases to the American economy since 1973, and we just
said that if, for instance, you said that 10 percent of that could be
ascribed to a political act by the Arabs in the context of war, then
you would get a figure of so and so. We looked at the fact that the
military assistance level to Israel was under $100 million before the
1967 and 1973 wars ended; it is now up at $1 billion. You have to ascribe
some portion of that increased level to the fact that they engaged in a
war where they suffered setbacks at the outset and so on.

All we are saying is, if you look at the various elements that flow
from war in the Middle East, you will find figures like these. And any
look of skepticism has to come only from those who press me to go on
with this figure, because I don't have much feel for it.

COST OF WAR

Mr. SOLARZ. Have you developed any comparably "strangelovian"
scenarios with respect to what another war in the Middle East might
cost us ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. No, because it is a very difficult enterprise to get
economists to get into the ramifications.

Mr. SOLARZ. Could you engage in such an exercise for the record?
Mr. SAUNDERS. I have. We have at the request of the Senate Foreign

Relations Committee. What you will get is our response to that, and
I have been over this with economists for several weeks now. I really
think it is not a fruitful enterprise because it is misleading. All you can
do is just have illustrative figures to point up the dimensions of the
problems; that is all.

Mr. SOLARz. If you could give us such illustrative figures.
Mr. SAUNDERS. We will give you what we have already developed,

but that is about the best I think anyone can seriously do. It is im-
perfect.

47-609-70-4



46

Mr. SOLARz. I understand, but we live in an imperfect world, and
I think it would be helpful at least for us to look at.

[The material follows:]

CosTS OF WAR IN THE MIDDLE EAST

The almost immeasurable costs of war dwarf the costs of waging peace in
the Middle East. It is virtually impossible to capture in a single sum the total
cost to the United States of the four wars in the Middle East, however, since
the indirect costs of war spread out too widely. The problem of looking to the
future is even more difficult-one cannot begin to measure the potential costs
of a great power confrontation or the effects or disruption of oil production on
the United States and our major trading partners.

Nonetheless, one can get a sense of the burden the United States has shouldered
from the following illustrative figures.

-Immediately after the 1973 war, the U.S. Congress appropriated $2.2 billion
to replace Israeli battlefield losses. Because these were entirely grant funds,
the total budgetary impact of that appropriation was greater than that of
the package now being presented to Congress in the wake of the Egypt-
Israel peace treaty.

-Since the 1973 war, Israel has received over $5 billion in military equipment
from the United States. The war forced Israel into a massive military ex-
pansion and modernization program. Against the background of a U.S.
military supply program that peaked at $85 million following the 1967
war, the U.S. program has risen to $1 billion per year.

-The immediate cost to the U.S. economy of the 1973-74 oil embargo alone
has been estimated at $15 billion. The cumulative cost since then of higher
oil prices to the U.S. is probably in the neighborhood of $300 billion. 'ven
if only one-tenth or one-twentieth of these accelerated price increases could
be directly ascribed to the 1973 war and the embargo, it would reflect
another $15-$30 billion in war-related costs.

-Since nations always need the basic means of self-defense, not all U.S.
military assistance to Israel or other Middle Eastern countries is directly
caused by the Arab-Israeli wars. But the figure is clearly higher because
of the conflict. Over the last 30 years we have provided to Israel $9.9 billion
in military assistance, and to Jordan, $0.39 billion.

-To promote stability in this troubled region, the United States contributed
over $13 billion in direct economic assistance to the nations of the Middle
East, bringing the total of direct U.S. aid to the region to $25.479 billion.

-To help persons displaced by the Middle East wars, the United Nations
Refugee Works Agency has spent more than $1.6 billion, of which the United
States contributed $.8 billion.

-It has cost $0.8 billion to provide U.N. peacekeeping forces over the last 39
years, of which the United States contributed almost $.3 billion.

-Middle Eastern wars have also profoundly affected the economies of Europe,
Japan, and the developing world, as well as the international monetary
system. While we cannot accurately count the costs to the U.S. economy
stemming from these disruptions, they certainly influence our economy in
very important ways.

This is by no means an exhaustive list of the costs of the four Middle Eastern
wars to the United States, but the total of these items alone comes to something
between $55 billion and $70 billion.

FMS EQUIPMENT FOR ISRAEL

Mr. SOLARZ. General Graves, of the $2.2 billion in foreign military
sales equipment we are going to be providing Israel, could you indi-
cate how much of that is related to the additional or new defense re-
quirements incurred by Israel as a result of its obligation to relinquish
the strategic depth of the Sinai and how this money is going to be
spent?

General GRAVES. Basically, it corresponds with our minimum esti-
mate of the relocation cost. In other words, there is a range of possible



47

cost that can be ascribed to the relocation effort, and of that, about $1
billion is for the two airbases.

FUNDS FOR AIRBASES

Mr. SOLARZ. We are giving $800 million for the airbases. I am
talking about the $2.2 billion.

General GRAVES. Of the $2.2 billion, somewhere between $200 million
and $300 million will be for the costs of completing those airbases
to the full standards desired.
1 Mr. SOLAnz. And then the other $1.9?

General GRAVES. Well, sir, this divides primarily between other con-
struction for relocation in the Negev and efforts, equipment, and con-
struction to both improve and readjust Israel's warning system from
the conditions today.

Mr. SOLARZ. Can you give us a more precise breakdown of that for
the record ?

General GRAVES. I can but it possibly might be classified. Would
that be acceptable to you

Mr. SOLARZ. Sure.
General GRAVES. That is the problem in this area.
[The material follows:]

ESTIMATED REDEPLOYMENT COST BREAKOUT

The entire amount is related in some way to the cost of withdrawal. These
costs are estimated as follows: Millions of

1980 dollars

2 airbases -------------- --- ---------. ------------ 1, 000-1,100
Roads and utilities--------------------- ------------------- 350- 400
Communications ------------------------------------------- 200- 300
Other construction ---------------------------------- 450- 500
Early warning ---------------------------------- ------ _ 250- 450
Camps -------------------------------- --------- 200- 250
Other costs -------------- -------------------------- 600- 650

Total -------------------------------------- . - 3, 050-3, 650

The Israelis may, of course, elect to use the FMS credit to acquire needed
articles or services not included in the above costs, in which case other funds
available to Israel would be used to defray withdrawal costs. Such items
probably would be AIM-9L air-to-air missiles, AGM-65B air-to-ground missiles,
M60A3 Tanks, M-109 Howitzers, M113A2 armored personnel carriers, PHALANX
close-in weapons systems, and Encapsulated HARPOON weapon systems.

SAUDI ASSISTANCE TO EGYPT

Mr. SOLARZ. Right.
Mr. Saunders, could you give us any information as to whether

Saudi Arabia intends to keep providing bilateral economic assistance
to Egypt?

Mr. SAUNDERS. At this point we understand the Saudis will abide
by the decisions made in Baghdad and not provide further economic
assistance. I have already answered the question in connection with
the funding of the F-5's.

Mr. SoLARz. So it is our understanding that we are not intending
to provide either economic-either bilateral or multilateral economic
aid.

Mr. SAUNDERS. That would be our understanding for the moment.



48

UNITED STATES ASSISTANCE TO FAYPT

Mr. SoLAnz. I was under the impression that to some extent the
viability of this peace treaty will be a function of the extent to which
President Sadat can demonstrate that there are material benefits of
peace to the Egyptian people who really view the peace process, in a
way. as a kind of panacea for their problems. In those terms, might
not the $1.5 billion in military assistance we are providing Egypt be
better spent on additional economic assistance so that they can do a
better job in feeding their own people and beginning to rebuild their
society domestically ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Mr. Wheeler can speak in more detail to this. The
main problem at the moment in Egypt, as I understand it. is not the
lack of a major infusion of new money. It is, rather, the effort to use
to greater and more immediate effect the money that is already
coming into Egypt. Therefore, the problem is not a funding problem
even though there is a loss because of the loss of-

Mr. SOLARZ. You mean it is an absorption problem.
Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct.
Mr. SOLARZ. It is fairly clear, I gather, that this money is being

provided in the context of peace. which is to say that had there not
been a peace treaty between Israel and Egypt, we would not be pro-
viding the money. Is that the case?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes; I think so.

DISPOSITION OF FUNDS

Mr. SOLARz. If that is in fact the case, what happens if the treaty
should be repudiated by either or both of the parties at some point
over the course of the next few years before all of this money has been
distributed? Would it be your intention to go ahead and provide the
money anyway ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. In the first place, I think we would operate on the
assumption that the peace treaty is going to be carried out and
scrupulously observed.

Mr. SOLARZ. We certainly hope so.
Mr. SAUNDERS. And in the second case, you can never answer ques-

tions like that, really, without knowing what the situation is when
those conditions arise. I do not think it is possible to answer a question
like that with any degree of realism.

Mr. SOLARz. Would you object to a provision in the legislation which
would provide that if for any reason the terms of the treaty were not
being honored by the parties involved, that we would no longer proceed
to provide aid which had orir!inallv been given pursuant to the treaty
to the extent that neither side had in the interim incurred defensive
disadvantages which we had an obligation to make good for.

In other words, for example, take Israel. If the treaty fills nnart
before they withdraw from the two bases in the Sinai, presumably there
is no need for two new bases in the Negev. Would there be anv reason
for giving them the money to comnletp the two bases in the Negev if
thev still had the two bases in the Sinai ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. In Pnswer to your basic question, we would not wel-!
come legislation of that kind simply because our concern would he.



49

that we would end up without the kind of flexibility one needs to make
decisions in a situation like that. I just do not see how in writing the
law you can be any more precise than I can be in answering your ques-
tion here today. I just do not know what circumstances we would face
and I do not think the President or anyone would want to deprive the
President of the flexibility to make that kind of decision.

Mr. SOLARZ. I appreciate that answer and I am finished with my
questions, Mr. Chairman.

I just want to make one observation, and that is I think many of us
are willing to see this military assistance go to Egypt in the context
-of peace, where the threat which Egypt potentially poses to Israel has
been presumably significantly diminished, if not completely elimi-
nated. If the treaty has fallen apart and Egypt goes back into the
confrontation front, which, of course, we all hope and expect will not
happen, then it is a very different situation. I think there would be
some of us who are concerned that if that happened, we would continue
to provide military assistance to a country which at that point might
be militarily threatening to Israel.

Thank you very much.

U.S. COMMITMENTS

Mr. HAMILTON. Gentlemen, we have a series of questions about U.S.
commitments, assurances, and other undertakings, particularly this
memorandum of agreement, but I think I will put those off until our
next meeting.

I would like to take advantage of the remaining few minutes before
1 o'clock to get a clearer picture of the next steps in the implementa-
tion of the Egyptian-Israeli treaty. My understanding is that in early
May, Israel will start its pullback of troops from the Sinai. Is that
accurate?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct. And the first subphase of that will
end on May 26 and 27, by which time the Israelis will have cleared a

*corridor along the Mediterranean leading to Al Arish, and on the
26th, there will be a ceremony on the turnover of Al Arish which
Secretary Vance will attend. And then there are the subphases.

Mr. HAMILTON. Secretary Vance is going to attend that ?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes.
Mr. HAMILTON. That is when the Israelis vacate that corridor along

the Mediterranean ?
Mr. SAUNDERS. And particularly when Al Arish, the so-called capi-

tal of the Sinai, is turned over to Egypt.

NEGOTIATIONS ON WEST BANK AND GAZA WILL BEGIN IN MAY

Mr. HAMILTON. Will the negotiations relating to the West Bank and
'Gaza begin in May also?

Mr. SAUNDERS. The two sides have not given us an exact date, but
by their agreement they would begin 1 month from yesterday, which
would be the 25th of May, which would, coincidentally, be about the
same time as the date we were just discussing.

Mr. HAMILTON. Is it correct that by December the Israelis will have
withdrawn to a line from El Arish in the North to El-Tor in the South
along the Gulf of Suez ?



50

Mr. SAUNDERS. Actually to Ras Muhammed, which is the tip of the
Sinai Peninsula, and that would take place 9 months from yesterday,
which I think takes us into January, I believe.

Mr. HAMILTON. And that would include the return of one central
Sinai airbase and some oilfields to the Egyptians? Is that right?

Mr. SAUNDERS. All of the oilfields, and the airbase at Bir Gifgafa,
which is near the Sinai Pass.

Mr. HAMIroN. So, up to December of 1979, then, Israel is the one
which undertakes most of the required actions, is that not right?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is not entirely true because, for instance, as of
the date of effectiveness of the treaty, Israeli ships may pass through
the Suez Canal, and, of course, what is happening during this 9-month
period is not just the Israeli pullback but the putting in place of the
security regime which will exist during the remaining period of the
3-year limitation period.

EGYPTIAN STEPS TOWARD NORMALIZATION

Mr. HAMILTON. When does Egypt begin to take some of the steps
toward normalization, then ? Can you identify those ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. When the 9-month withdrawal to the interim line is
completed. Then there is a whole series of negotiations which would
begin in the 6 months following that. The exchange of ambassadors
would take place. We could provide a timetable of all of the events.

Mr. HAMILTON. Provide us a chart, if you would.
[The material follows:]

STATUS OF THE EGYPTIAN-ISRAELI PEACE TREATY

Exchange of instruments of ratification at the Sinai Field Mission April 25.
Israelis withdraw to El-Arish and turn El-Arish over to Egypt May 27.
Borders open May 28.
Israeli Defense Forces begin withdrawal from Zone II through Zone IV July 25

through November 25, 1979.
Israeli withdrawal to El-Arish-Ras Mohammed Line is complete January 25,

1980.
Exchange of Ambassadors, establishment of full relations February 25, 1980.
Israeli withdrawal to previous international border April 25, 1982.

WEST BANK/GAZA

Egyptian/Israeli/U.S. negotiations to begin not later than May 25, 1979.
Negotiations to be completed not later than May 24, 1980.
Five year autonomy period begins with the inauguration of the Self-Governing

Authority in the West Bank/Gaza.
Not later than three years into this period, negotiations begin on the final

status of the West Bank and Gnza.
At the end of the five year period, the status is determined.

EXCHANGE OF AMBASSADORS

Mr. HAMILTON. The exchange of ambassadors takes place in Janu-
ary 1980.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I guess it would be February, 1 month after the
9-month period is completed. And another very important aspect of
this is that the oil from the oilfields that the Israelis are leaving



51

behind may be sold to Israel at the point when the Israelis vacated,
and that will be 2 months before the 9-month period is expired. So
there are things that Egypt will do before the 9-month period.

Mr. HAMILTON. April 1980 remains the target date for the com-
pletion of the talks on the West Bank and Gaza?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct. It would be May, 12 months from
the day it was starting, not from today.

TROOP AND MILITARY WITHDRAWAL SET FOR 1982

Mr. HAMILTON. May of 1980. And April 1982 is the date by which
Israel will complete its troop and military withdrawal from Sinai, its
withdrawal of all settlements, and turn over its bases. Is that correct?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct, 3 years from the date of ratification.
Mr. HAMILTON. What actions have the Israelis agreed to undertake

in the coming months on the West Bank and Gaza as a gesture?
Mr. SAUNDERS. We have a letter here which we might refer to to be

precise.
Mr. HAMILTON. Include it in the record, if you like, if it sets it out.
Mr. SAUNDERS. We can do that.
Mr. HAM ILTON. Are any of those steps particularly significant?
Mr. SAUNDERS. I think it is the accumulation of steps which I think

is important rather than any one being of tremendous significance in
its own right, but there are such things as lifting restrictions on indi-
vidual movement, trying to reduce the visibility of the Israeli mili-
tary presence in certain places, and so on.

Mr. HAMILTON. We will have that letter submitted for the record.1

NEW SETTLEMENTS AND WEST BANK-GAZA NEGOTIATIONS

Do you consider, Mr. Saunders, Israel's permitting new settlements
on the West Bank or allowing the existing ones to be strengthened
as being against the spirit if not the letter of the treaty and the ('amp
David accords?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes.
Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Hansell.
Mr. HANSELL. Just a comment, Mr. Chairman.
In connection with your question as to whether or not it is contrary

to the terms of the treaty, the parties did not specifically focus on that
question in the context of the-

Mr. HAMILTON. I also said the Camp David accords.
Mr. SAUNDERS. And the treaty package includes the joint letter

which lays out the plans for the West Bank-Gaza negotiations.
Mr. HAMILTON. Is it your view that it is possible to carry on negotia-

tions regarding the West Bank and Gaza, as contemplated by the treaty
and the accords, if new settlements are being built and approved by the
cabinet?

Mr. SAUNDERS. It is possible, and we will begin.
Mr. HAMILTON. Are any efforts being made now to stop such new

settlements?

IThe Information referred to was not submitted to the subcommittees but is available
for members to read after a request to the State Department.



52

DISCUSSION WITIIISRAELIS REGARDING SETTLEMENTS

Mr. SAUNDERS. We have established a long record of discussion with
the Israelis on this subject, and most recently within the last very
few days after the decision to establish two new settlements, we have
put our views on the record. As I said before, my own view is the only
way to deal with this in practical terms is to get on with the negotia-
tion and start discussing exactly what will happen in the West Bank
and Gaza during this transitional period.

Mr. HAMILTON. It is my understanding, Mr. Saunders, that during
the recent negotiations between Israel and the United States that
preceded conclusion of the treaty, the subject of the Israeli settlements
did not come up. Is that correct?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Could you repeat that ?
Mr. HAMILTON. During the recent negotiations between Israel and

the United States that preceded the conclusion of the treaty, the sub-
ject of the settlements did not come up. Is that accurate?

Mr. SAUNDERS. No. We have discussed the settlement regularly
throughout this period. You may recall that they were the subject of
substantial discussion at Camp David, and since that time, every time
there has been a new decision or any time we have discussed the overall
problem, this has been a part of the discussion. So it is a continuing
issue.

ROLE OF U.N. EMERGENCY FORCES

Mr. HAMILTON. All right. What role will the United Nations
Emergency Force, the peacekeeping forces, play in the withdrawal
period ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. According to the annex which describes exactly what
happens on the ground during the Israeli pullback and the Egyptian
takeover in the Sinai, there is also a schedule of steps that the United
Nations force would take by the design of the treaty. including creat-
ing interim buffer zones while the troops move around, and so on. This
is all spelled out in the annex to the treaty.

Mr. HAMLTON. Will the U.S.S.R. make an effort to veto the role of
the forces?

Mr. SAUNDERS. They may very well. The point that is particularly
decisive is bv ,Tulv 24, the mandate of the current-the current man-
date of the U.N. force would expire and would have to be renewed by
the Security Council.

DIALOG WiTII SOVIETS REGARDING ROLE OF U.N. FORCES

Mr. HAhMITON. Have we been in touch with the Soviets about that ?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes. we have already on several occasions, at several

different levels, including an intensive briefing on exactly what would
b)e involved under the terms of the treaty, what would be asked of the
TT.N. Emergency Forces.

Mr. HAMILTON. And what kind of response have you had from the
Soviet TUnion?

Mr. SAxNDFRS. At this moment the Soviets continue to hold to the
position that they would consider vetoing.



53

Mr. HAMILTON. Are there any incentives that the Soviets have to
cooperate with the peace process?'

NORMALIZATION OF RELATIONS BETWEEN EGYPT AND ISRAEL

Mr. SAUNDERS. I guess it depends upon your perspective, Mr. Chair-
man. Answering your question as an American, I personally cannot
see why it is to anyone's advantage to try to inhibit a program which
carries out the provisions of resolution 242, which we have all sup-
ported; and indeed, the peace treaty certainly does that. Whatever one
may think about the shortcomings of the Camp David process,
those shortcomings do not include the total Israeli withdrawal from
the Sinai and the complete normalization of relations between Egypt
and Israel. Therefore, I would consider their position very difficult
to understand.

Mr. HAMILTON. I understand we are to vacate this room at 1 o'clock
for Mr. Solarz' subcommittee. I do want to ask one other question.

Mr. SOLARZ. You are welcome to stay, Mr. Chairman. [Laughter.]

PLO CONTACTS

Mr. HAMILTON. I appreciate your magnanimous gesture.
I would like to clarify a point with regard to your discussion with

Mr. Findley a moment ago about PX) contacts. I had some difficulty
following all of that. Is it correct to say that the United States can
have informal direct communication with the PLO and that to do so
it need not secure the approval of Israel before doing so?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I believe that is correct.
I might say that this memorandum of agreement was written as a

statement of American diplomatic policy and intent, and of course it
is within our control to decide how the words "recognition" and
"negotiation" will be interpreted. It is also true we have made a
solemn assurance to another government which we feel an obligation,
a moral commitment to honor. You have to put these two together in
order to understand our total position when we say that legally we
retain certain freedom of action that is a legal fact. When we say
politically we deal with our friends in a certain way and consult with
them, that is also an important part of the honorable way in which
we carry out our obligations.

Mr. HAMILTON. The subcommittee will stand in recess and will
reassemble, I hope, next week. I apologize to Mr. Solarz for extending
into his period.

[Whereupon, at 1 p.m., the joint subcommittees adjourned to re-
convene at 3:35 p.m., Tuesday, May 1, 1979.]

[Questions submitted in writing by Representative Solarz to the
Department of State and responses thereto follow:]

QUESTIONS SUBMn-TED IN WRITING BY REPRESENTATIVE SOLARZ TO TIE DEPARTMENT
OF STATE AND THEIR RESPONSES TIERETO

Question. What do you anticipate will be the major issues in the autonomy
negotiations scheduled to begin in May?

Answer. The major issues in the autonomy negotiations will be the powers
and responsibilities of the Self-governing Authority and the arrangements for



54

the elections. Since no one has negotiated on these issues before, we will have to
get into the negotiations before we can define what the most difficult issues will
be. The objective will be to provide full autonomy for the inhabitants of the
West Bank and Gaza. To do that, the negotiations will have to address such
issues as authority over land, water rights, and internal security.

Question. In General Graves' testimony, it was stated that it is of critical
importance to Israel that the two replacement airbases in the Negev be com-
pleted by the end of the 3-year withdrawal period from the Sinai, when Israel
will have to withdraw from the two Sinai airbases. What would the military
consequences be for Israel if the two bases were not available for Israeli use at
the end of the 3-year withdrawal period?

Answer. If the two replacement airbases for Israel in the Negev were not
available at the end of the 3-year withdrawal period, Israel would face a serious
gap in its basic defenses. We have promised to work with the Israelis to insure an
operational capability but we would have to determine at the appropriate time
exactly how to deal with the problem. However, we are confident the bases will
be ready on time.



SUPPLEMENTAL 1979 MIDDLE EAST AID PACKAGE
FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

TUESDAY, MAY 1, 1979

JIOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,

SUBCO1fMITTEES ON INTERNATIONAL
SECURITY AND SCIENTIFIC AFFAIRS

AND ON EUROPE AND THE MIDDLE EAST,
Vashington, D.C.

The subcommittees met at 3:35 p.m. in room H-236, the Capitol,
Lee H. Hamilton (chairman of the Subcommittee on Europe and the
Middle East) presiding.

NEW BASES SAME AS EXISTING BASES

Mir. HAMILTON. The subcommittees will resume their hearing.
Mr. Findley.
Mr. FINDLEY. General Graves, the two bases which we will build

will be precisely the same dimension and precisely the same facilities
as the existing airbase. Is that a correct statement ?

General GRAVES. No, sir.
Mr. FINDLEY. Could you outline that for us ?

STATEMENT OF LT. GEN. ERNEST GRAVES, U.S. ARMY, DIREC-
TOR, DEFENSE SECURITY ASSISTANCE AGENCY

General GRAVES. The basic scope will be the same. Namely, each will
be designed to handle operations by two squadrons, which is the devel-
opment of the two present fields. However, we have agreed with the
Government of Israel, and the agreement spells this out, that we will
work with the Israeli Air Force on what we call the criteria of the
facilities, and this would be such things as the sizes of the aprons, the
design of the aircraft shelters and things like this, to optimize the
design.

Now, the limitations on that are, first, the commitment of the United
States is to the $800 million in articles and services, and that only
amount over and above the $800 million will be provided by Israel, and
second, that any enlargement or change in the facilities will not inter-
fere with completing the airbases, at least for operation of the facili-
ties, within the 3-year time frame.

Mr. FINDLEY. Will the strips be longer ?
General GRAVES. No.
Mr. FINDLEY. Will they be wider

(55)



56

General GRAVEs. No. There is no plan to change the basic runway
dimensions that I am aware of.

Mr. FINDLEY. Will the square feet of the facilities be substantially
larger?

General GRAVES. It will be larger in some cases, smaller in others.

LINKAGE OF WITHDRAWAL OF ISRAELI FORCES TO BASES

Mr. FINDLEY. Secretary Saunders, could you tell us the extent to.
which withdrawal of Israeli forces from the Sinai is linked to the
completion of the bases Is there a linkage?

STATEMENT OF HON. HAROLD H. SAUNDERS, ASSISTANT SEC.
RETARY OF STATE FOR NEAR EASTERN AND SOUTH ASIAN
AFFAIRS

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes. In other words, it could go hand in hand. The
reason, as General Graves mentioned the other day, we are trying to
complete the airbases in 3 years is so the Israelis will have time to
move in and become operational to permit them to withdraw from
the Sinai within the prescribed 3 years.

I believe there was discussion of the fact that the Israelis will with-
draw within that time period, and therefore if for some reason the
airfields are not completely operational, we would discuss with them
ways of helping them handle their problems in the interim period
that might develop. Is that not correct?

COMPLETION OF FACILITIES

General GRAVEs. Well, we specifically provide in the agreement that
the initial plan for the field will be based upon completing the facil-
ities, and we will agree on a scope that can be completed in our best
estimate in the time.

Now, if delays occur or some change is necessary, then at each time
we will reevaluate and set the scope so that it can be completed, and if
necessary we will provide temporary facilities, whether it be extra
parking or something of this type, so that they can deploy within the
3 years.

It may be that not every single thing will be finished, but we have
no question in our mind about our ability to finish the runway, the
taxiways, and enough area to park the aircraft, so that we can again
redeplov if the airbase-

Mr. FINDLEY. Is the Government of Israel obligated to vacate the
Sinai, whether the two airbases are operational or not?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think the answer is yes, and to take care of con-
tingencies that might arise we have done what General Graves said,
in order to insure that they will continue to have an operational
capability.

TIIE AIRBASE AGREEMENT

Mr. FINDLEY. So the linkage is not a total. They are under obliga-
tion to vacate the Sinai in the next 3 years.

General GRAVES. I am very familiar with the airbase aPreement,
and there is nothing within the airbase agreement itself which says



57

that if the fields are not finished, this impacts on the provisions of the
peace treaty. The airbase agreement is put together to give us the
maximum chance of finishing, but it doesn't have any forgiveness in
it at all.

Just to illustrate, here we are talking about a case in which there
is delay, and there might be courses of action. Such possible courses
of action will include the provision of temporary facilities pending
completion of the permanent facility, and the determination by the
Ministry of Defense of Israel that the Israel Air Force does not require
certain facilities for accomplishment of initial operational capability.
So we are put in the position that it would be, in my opinion, very
difficult for the Government of Israel, assumingat at this project goes
forward with any degree of su-cess, to use noncompletion of airbase
facilities as an excuse for not moving, because we know we are going
to get some basic things like the runway and the taxiway finished,
even though some more sophisticated items, such as aircraft shelters,
may be only partially completed.

The Israelis are operating from these fields in the Sinai right now
and do not have aircraft shelters for all their aircraft. So it does not
seem to me, given the exposed condition of some of their aircraft now,
that they could ever claim that the lack of shelters on these new fields
will be a bar to redeploying.

Mr. SAUNDERS. The treaty documents are quite categorical in the
commitment to complete the withdrawal within 3 years. The solu-
tion to the problem would be found on the Negev side of the border.

VIOLATIONS OF THE TREATY

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, can I have time to pursue another line
of questioning? On March 26, Mr. Saunders, President Carter signed
a letter to both President Sadat and Prime Minister Begin, identical
texts, dealing with what we would be prepared to do in the event of
actual threat or violation of the treaty. On or about the same date, he
issued a memorandum of agreement to Israel which says much the
same things. Now, I understand that the same memorandum was
offered to Egypt, and Egypt was not interested. Then, later, Khalil
protested against the memorandum that was actually issued to Israel.

Can you tell us why this memorandum was issued ? It does seem on
a reading to deal with much the same subject matter and very similar
language as the letters.

MEANING OF MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

Mr. SAUNDERS. As you know, there have been previous memoranda
of agreement under each of the disengagement agreements of the past.
The Israelis felt it desirable to try to codify in one place the principal
elements of our relationship with regard to a treaty. They requested
this agreement.

Mr. FINDLEY. Who requested it Israel did
Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes, and we saw no reason not to respond.
Mr. FINDLEY. Could you state what is meant by "such other actions

as it may deem appropriate and helpful?" That is from the memo-
randum. What is the meaning of that? That sounds pretty broad.



58

STATEMENT OF HERBERT HANSELL, LEGAL ADVISER,
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Mr. HANSELL. When you say it is from the memorandum-
Mr. FINDLEY. NO, it is from the letter. Excuse me. What is meant by

that phrase?
Mr. HANSELL. The point of that phrase is that the United States

would at the time consider what options are open to it, what kinds of
diplomatic actions, what kind of representations, what kinds of politi-
cal persuasions that might at that point be helpful and appropriate to
achieve compliance with the treaty, and worth considering at that time.

Mr. FINDLEY. There is in the letters the phrase, "The United States
will * * * take such other action as it may deem appropriate and
helpful to achieve compliance with the Treaty." The language of the
memorandum: "The United States will take appropriate measures to
promote full observation of the Treaty of Peace"-struck me as con-
siderably stronger and permits the United States less discretion. Is
thnt the way you read it?

Mr. HANSELL. No, sir. The memorandum-
Mr. FINDLEY. Did the Israelis insist on this more precise language in

the memorandum?
Mr. TIANSELL. The Israelis were anxious to have somewhat more

specification on some of these issues than was contained in the letter.
As Secretary Saunders has said, it seemed to the United States appro-
priate to try to respond to that, so there is in the memorandum of
agreement perhaps somewhat more specification of what is set forth
in very summary terms in the letter. There is a good degree of overlap,
I think there is no question about that.

Mr. FINDLEY. Does our Government view those letters as being ex-
ecutive agreements?

Mr. HANSELL. Yes. They are binding in accordance with their terms.
Now, their terms, in fact-

Mr. FINDLEY. They differ from a treaty only in that a treaty would
be subject to the advice and consent of the Senate. Is that a fair state-
ment?

DIPLOMATIC ANTD POLITICAL NATURE OF AGREEMENTS

Mr. HANSELL. Well, different from a treaty in the sense also that this
kind of political assurance is not in U.S. practice the kind you would
find in a treaty. The essential point about both the letter and the mem-
orandum is that they do not commit the United States to act, whereas
conventionally in a treaty we are undertaking more formal obligations
and commitments to take particular kinds of action.

What is important about these is that they are largely of a diplomatic
and political nature. They are what we would in shorthand describe as
political assurances. The general nature is that we will consult, we will
consider, we will discuss. Our discretion, our judgment, would deter-
mine whether action should be taken.

Mr. FINDLEY. They do not permit-



59

Mr. HANSELrL. There are a couple of clauses that may involve vari-
ances, but as a general provision that is correct.

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Studds.

U.S. PURCHASE OF TWO SHIPS CANCELED BY IRAN

Mr. STUDDS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman, might I have your permission at least very briefly

to ask a question on a somewhat separate subject that happens to be in
discussion on the floor right now ? I beg your indulgence. I will be brief.

General Graves, we are debating the budget resolution on the floor
right now, and there is pending an amendment for the United States
to acquire two of the destroyers which were to be purchased by the Gov-
ernment of Iran. As I recall, several months ago you answered a ques-
tion in that regard before this subcommittee. I wonder if every briefly,
and I apologize to my colleagues for some of this is not exactly on the
subject, if you could refresh my memory. I think I recall your saying
at the time that the foreign military sales program had a trust fund
of sorts managed by the Department of Defense in which adequate
funds were maintained in the event that there were to be a cancellation
of a sale as a general proposition, and specifically with respect to the
Iranian weaponry in question, that there were adequate funds to meet
out-of-pocket costs already incurred by the contractor, and indeed to
cover cancellation costs should that be necessary. Is that correct?

General GRAVES. That is correct, but that was the situation that
existed on the 3d of February. Because of the need of the U.S. Navy
for these ships and the judgment that the Navy could provide a sub-
stantial increment toward its ship program at a very reduced cost,
the President decided that we should keep the contracts for these
ships alive, and we have done so.

We have also done that with respect to other parts of the pro-
gram, so that now the situation is not such that we can simply termi-
nate all of the contracts and not have difficulties with the trust fund
amounts.

Mr. STUDDS. Does that mean that for the past 3 months, roughly,
we have proceeded to make payment as if the contract had been
uninterrupted?

General GRAVEs. That is correct, with respect to these ships.
Mr. STUDDS. Does that not mean in effect that by the President

having made that decision it then sets up a decision at the moment,
if I understand you correctly, whereby the United States almost has
to go ahead and purchase these ships in order to avoid someone's
losing money, which was not the case 3 months ago.

IRAN'S OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE UNITED STATES FOR LOSSES

General GRAVEs. I think that the situation is approximately as you
describe it, but not precisely, because even if we had liquidated the
entire program 3 months ago, there would have been a difference. We
did estimate that we had enough funds at that time to liquidate



60

the entire program. We have now proceeded. We have made the con-
tract payments as you describe.

The reason I say that I don't know the answer to your question is
that our estimates of termination liability are only estimates. We
don't know if we terminate all these contacts what the full extent
of the contractor claims will be. I think our best estimate is that,
yes, there will he a loss of money.

Mr. STITDDS. If we were to terminate now, a loss to whom ?
General GRAVES. Well, we would seek to recover from Iran the

amount of any loss because they are obligated to pay, but the fact
is that, if we were unable to recover this money, then the contractor
would have a claim against the U.S. Government because his con-
tract is with our Government.

Mr. STUDDS. Yes, and in effect the last 3 months, if I have under-
stood it, we have proceeded to pay out what were essentially Iranian
funds.

U.S. AGREEMENT WITH IRAN

General GRAVEs. That is correct, because we had an agreement with
Iran that said that we could seek to dispose of the equipment.

Mr. STUDDS. With the new Government in Iran, the current
Government.

General GRAVEs. An agreement with the earlier Government.
Mr. STUDDS. The post-Shah Government.
General GRAVES. Yes. and the Bakhtiar Government. and the new

Government has not repudiated that agreement, and it has basically
accepted the fact that we are operating under that agreement.

Mr. STUDDS. I thought that was what the situation was. In other
words, no matter what the Iranians agree, had they not, they would
stand to lose most of their funds in their account for incurred costs
already and for termination costs. Now I assume if we go ahead and
if the Congress ratifies what the President has now presented us
with, which is essentially a fait accompli. The Iranians don't lose
a thing, and we pick up two destroyers which we may or may not
need, and I won't argue about that with you now, less expensively
to taxpayers presumably than they would have been otherwise.

General GRAVES. We will save '$200 million for each ship.
Mr. STUDDS. Assuming we need them, how much have we saved

Iran?
THE IRANIAN TRUST FUND

General GRAVES. The Iran trust funds will receive a reimbursement
of about $500 million.

Mr. STUDs. We have saved them $500 million by this. Is that right?
General GRAVES. I don't entirely agree with that statement.
Mr. STUDDS. Well, you made it.
General GRAVES. If we don't follow through on the agreement which

we made in the MOU and have to liquidate all of these accounts, and
there becomes a large deficit, I think Iran could legitimately say, look,
we had an agreement with you to try to try to liquidate this program
and these costs to Iran. The U.S. Government was unable to carry
through, and we don't necessarily feel because of that we should then
have to pick up the deficit.



61

Mr. STUDDS. Except that we have their money.
General GRAVEs. My point is that even after the $500 million is paid

into the trust fund, the ongoing liquidation of this program is going
to bring the balance in the trust fund well below that amount. At the
end of the fiscal year, we probably will only have about $200 million
left in the trust fund against liabilities of about that same amount.

So, Iran is not getting a big deal by our going ahead with this
liquidation.

Mr. STUDDS. They are being saved the potential loss of some mag-
nitude. Let's put it that way without arguing about how much. I agree
with you, if we desperately needed these vessels for the U.S. Navy,
we have a pretty good deal, but there is a good deal of disagreement
about that, as you well know.

General GRAVES. That was the basic disagreement.
Mr. STUDDS. Why hadn't the Navy asked for them before if they

needed them so much?
General GRAVES. They did have one in their supplemental request

that was before the Congress at the time.
Mr. STUDDS. I don't want to get off on that because that is not the

business of this committee, but let me ask you, at the time the
government of the Shah fell, we had some $7 bilion outstanding in
sales to Iran, $6 billion or $7 billion.

General GRAVES. The undelivered balance was $12 billion.
Mr. STUDDS. Now, what chance is there that we will find others of

these creeping up, suddenly being needed by our Armed Forces, like
the two destroyers?

General GRAVES. No; the actions we have taken have addressed all
the equipment items. You have to understand that that $12 billion
included many items that were not on contract, so there is no issue
for those at all.

Mr. STUDDS. That is sobering. Mr. Chairman, I thank you. I assume
I have used my time. I do have some other questions on the Israeli-
Egyptian matters later.

Mr. HAMILTON. We will return to that later.
Mr. Zablocki.

SERIOUS ECONOMIC PROBLEMS FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

Chairman ZABLOCKr. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to apologize. I find it very difficult to compete at the same time

with the meeting on the Export Administration Act. This noon we met
S with Dr. Bergland, the budget director of the State of Israel. The eco-

nomic impact of the peace treaty on Egypt and Israel and the cost o'f
the transfer, the relocation of the Sinai airfields, was part of the dis-
cussion. Of course, it is obvious that both of the economies of Egypt
and Israel have serious problems.

The specific problem, Mr. Saunders, that the Israelis want alleviated
is the agreement that the additional amounts of aid over and above the
assistance we are giving in the regular programs are under a different
formula on repayments of principal and interest. They supposedly did
not understand that the interest rates would be different. This causes
a serious economic problem.

Were they fully aware of all of the specifics, the interest rates
particularly?

47-699-70---5



62

AWARENESS OF DIFFERENT INTEREST KATES

Mr. SAUNDERS. I want Mr. Wheeler to address this in detail, but this
package was put together over a time period with a variety of dis-
cussions. I think the terms were made known to them shortly after
decisions were made, but the decisions were not made on the terms until
the middle of March.

So, as soon as they were informed, they were told what terms we had
in mind. Obviously, we could not tell them what the terms were until
the President made his decision. That did not take place until about the
20th of March.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Did you discuss the details with Secretary
Brown?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes; during that period, but there were those dis-
cussions, and after that the President made his decision. I think Secre-
tary Brown conveyed the decision or the initial decision during those
meetings. Then the Israelis came back and we had some further dis-
cussion, and there was a further decision at that time. We know about
when it was. I don't think it is the date of the Brown-Weizman letter.
We can provide you with the date.

DETERMINATION OF THE RATE OF INTEREST

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Determining the rate of interest is the princi-
pal purpose of the question. Were the Israelis aware of the terms of
the FMS credits containing an interest rate higher than they were
accustomed to ?

General GRAVEs. As I see it, and I was present in the last two meet-
ings which Secretary Brown had with Mr. Weizman, it was clear in
that meeting that there would be a grant portion and a loan portion,
and that the loan portion would be in accordance with the terms that
were involved for the annual program except there would be no for-
giveness, and the interest rate would be the same.

This session explained that the forgiveness that occurs in the annual
loan is mathematically equivalent to a lower interest rate. In other
words, if you borrow this money, and pay only half the interest rate.
your payments are. about half as big, or the other way of producing
this result is to forgive half the principle and pay the full interest
rate, and once again the payments are about half as big.

So, the annual forgiveness of half the principle is the mathematical
equivalent of giving Israel an interest rate of half the going rate.
Now, my recollection of the discussions associated with this was that
in terms of the payout period, it would be the 30-year period, but that
there would be no forgiveness, and that the interest rate would be the
normal interest rate, because the annual interest rate given to Israel
is not a concessionary rate.

IMPACT OF LOWER INTEREST RATES

Chairman ZABLOCK. I understand that, but would the desired con-
cessionary rate then have to be an amendment to law to provide such
a concessionary rate, lowering the interest rate from 9 or 5 or 2 or 3
percent? What impact would it have on the agreement that was made?

It is my understanding that President Carter advised the leadership
immediately after the signing of the treaty that we should stand fast



63

to the agreement, and that if there were any changes done in the legis-
lation, this might disrupt the peace process.

General GRAVES. My understanding of this problem is that at the
time the treaty was signed, it was clear in the Iminds of everyone that
there would not be a concessionary rate. I was aware of the fact that
the Government of Israel sought a concessionary rate. I am not aware
that any statement made by any representative of this Government
granted or offered any promise that a concessionary rate would be
granted.

COMMUNICATION ON CONCESSIONARY RATE

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I was told this noon that Prime Minister Begin
did not realize that. He was not aware of the fact that there would not
be a concessionary rate. Apparently Minister Weizman felt there was
a communication to that Government on this issue.

General GRAVES. I don't know the answer to that. The letter does
not specifically state that there would not be a concessionary rate. It
says, "In accordance with our agreement, $800 million of this rate
will be in the form of assistance or grants, and the other part will be
in the form of loans." There is nothing in the letter about forgiveness
or concessionary rates.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Then it is natural to assume that the agreement
was for a grant and loan and the loan portion would be made at the
going interest rate.

General GRAVES. I am sure that was well understood by all parties
at the time this was discussed.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Would it not have been preferable if it had been
spelled out in the letter?

General GRAVES. Possibly, sir.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. That is the problem we have with later dates,

when there are different interpretations of the parties that are
involved.

I yield.

COMMUNICATION EXPLAINING BUDGETARY EFFECTS OF NO FORGIVENESS

Mr. HAMILTON. I have from the Office of Management and Budget
a chart showing the comparison of the budgetary effects of no forgive-
ness versus 50-percent forgiveness on the Egyptian-Israeli FMS
credits. If you have no forgiveness, then the totals for the entire pack-
age in budget authority are $1.47 billion and for outlays $1.1 billion.
If you have a 50-percent forgiveness and the budgetary impact for
the entire package is $3.136 billion, $2.95 billion in outlays. I will ask
unanimous consent to submit this letter and the table that accompanies
it as part of the record at this point, and in addition, a letter from the
House Committee on the Budget which describes the same fortnula.*

General GRAVES. Mr. Chairman, I might add one point. The sentence
says: "In accordance with our agreement, $800 million of this total of
$3 billion will be in the form of grants, and the remaining will be in
the form of loans." We have always viewed the 50 percent forgiveness
as a grant, because in effect that is what it is. The minute the loan is
drawn down, the prescribed amount is forgiven.

1 See appendix 4, p. 224.



64

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I wish you had said that the first time this pro-
posal was made to the Congress. That is exactly what I had requested.
I said we are not calling a spade a spade. That is what should have been
presented in Congress. I do not fault you for your interpretation or
your view or position. It is not your fault; but in the first instance, that
is the way it should have been presented.

General GRAVES. Sir, I believe that forgiveness is not in the admin-
istration's bill, but is an annual legislative act of Congress.

ORIGINAL FORGIVENESS SOUGHT BY FORD ADMINISTRATION

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I understand, but I am referring to the legisla-
tive proposal. The first initiative for a forgiveness clause was sought by
the Ford administration. Secretary Kissinger, when he presented his
testimony, stated that it was a loan with the provision of one-half being
forgiveness, but he would not call it a grant. He refused to call it a
grant.

Mr. HAMILTON. In general, the forgiveness feature was in the ad-
ministration's request.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Yes; when we had the first request from the
administration it was.

General GRAVES. It is not in the supplemental. I remember in the
preparation of this sentence that the $800 million was to be the limit
of the money that was not to be treated as a loan.

Chairman ZABLOCKL Mr. Chairman, I would just ask a very rhetori-
cal and final question. The administration is standing fast to the afree-
ment, and does not want the Congress to bring in the forgiveness clause
or lower any interest other than what has been already agreed upon?

Mr. SA.NDERS. That is correct.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Derwinski.

MEMORANDUM OP AGREEMENT BETWEEN UNITED STATES AND ISRAEL

Mr. DERWINSKI. Can I return for a moment to the point Mr. Findley
raised about the memorandum of agreement between the, United States
and Israel, specifically, paragraph 7, which provides that the United
States will continue to propose restrictions on weapons supplied by
any country which prohibits unauthorized transfer to a third party ?
What items and what possible transfers is that intended to protect
against?

Mr. HTANSELL. What that is intended to do is to implement the pro-
visions that are already contained in the Arms Export Control Act. As
you know, we do impose restrictions-

Mr. DERWINSKT. I understand that.
Mr. SAUNDERS. That is what we are talking about.

ISRAELI CONCERNS

Mr. DERWINSKI. But now there obviously had to be some specific
reasons that such a condition would also be placed in a memorandum.
Or let me rephrase it: What are the Israeli concerns

Mr. HANSELL. This was a compromise provision. There were several
proposals, the exact nature of which I have forgotten but the records



65

are in the file, for broader restrictions on supply and on transfer of
weapons that we might supply to others that conceivably might have
some use against Israel. After the various discussions, what evolved
was this provision that'we would continue to impose restrictions that
are now imposed on transfers.

Mr. DERWINSKI. I think you would feel better if I discussed this
under another form. I will do that.

BAGHDAD CONFERENCE IN NOVEMBER 1978

I think, Mr. Secretary, you would be the one to have the handle on
this. There was what I would call the original Baghdad Conference
last November. It included an agreement, if I understand correctly,
by which Jordan and Syria were to receive certain funds for not par-
ticipating in our peace initiative process.

Do you know if any payments were made, and if so, to what amount ?
Mr. SAUNDERS. I don't know their size. Usually these transfers take

place in ways that do not immediately come to our attention. We have
to be able to identify them after the fact.

Mr. DERWINSKI. DO you have any details at all, any estimates?
Mr. SAUNDERS. I do not have it at my fingertips, but I will look into

this when we go back and supply you with what other information we
have on payments that have so far taken place.

[The material follows:]

BAGHDAD PAYMENTS TO SYRIA

Baghdad payments to Syria are estimated to be in the range of $250 to $350
million and to Jordan in the range of $100 to $150 million.

AGREEMENTS AT BAGHDAD CONFERENCE

Mr. DERWINSKI. In the subsequent conference which was held, I be-
lieve, about 6 weeks ago, was there any agreement as to the coordinated
attacks, terrorism, or military action against Egypt or Israel or
against U.S. interests in those countries

Mr. SAUNDERS. We are not aware of any agreement on attacks. As
far as we know, the only agreements reached were published. Those
were essentially agreements to suspend economic assistance to Egypt
and to break diplomatic relations with Egypt. I am not aware of any
agreement to coordinate any terrorist attacks.

Mr. DERWINSKI. What about U.S. installations? Do you have any
concern that they might be targeted ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I am concerned that American installations any-
where in the area could be targeted. I have no knowledge that a deci-
sion has been made to do that, but of course we are continually on the
alert to that possibility.

Mr. DERWINSKT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Bingham.
Mr. BINGHAM. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SAUNDERS. I would like to turn to the Baghdad Conference.

Would you say that Conference was a total disaster, from our point of
view?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That sounds like a fair characterization. [Laughter.]



66

Mr. BINGHAM. Was it anticipated that it would be?
Mr. SAUNDERS. I expected a negative outcome. I think what was not

expected was the harshness and the vehemence of the outcome.
By that, I specifically mean that I don't think we would have pre-

dicted the break in diplomatic relations between the countries and
.Egypt. The rest of it was not unexpected because it was foreshadowed
at the first Baghdad Conference in the fall. That was the suspension of
economic assistance.

JORDAN'S AND SAUDI ARABIA'S ROLE AT CONFERENCE

Mr. BINGHAM. Was there anything encouraging about the role
played in the conference by Jordan or Saudi Arabia

Mr. SAUNDERS. I would find very little that was encouraging. They
would argue that they resisted attempts to hurt the United States, and
also that by maintaining an Arab consensus they preserved a base for
more moderate Arab action later on.

I personally find their arguments difficult to follow.
Mr. BINOHAM. What do you anticipate at the present as far as cut-

off of funds to Egypt is concerned

EGYPT'S SITUATION FOLLOWING CONFERENCE

Mr. SAUNDERS. We have some numbers. Mr. Wheeler, who presented
this, can tell you exactly what the present situation looks like and what
the losses in the immediate situation might be. It is a little hard to pre-
dict beyond the immediate situations. Do you have those?

STATEMENT OF HON. JOSEPH C. WHEELER, ASSISTANT ADMIN-
ISTRATOR FOR NEAR EAST, AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Mr. WHEELER. Mr. Bingham, I think that we had anticipated new
commitments from the oil countries on the order of a half billion dol-
lars for fiscal 1979. This is a great deal lower than the earlier commit-
ments. You will recall that in 1977, through the Gulf Organization for
the Development of Egypt, they put forward $2 billion which was used
in a quick disbursing manner to help Egypt deal with their critical
foreign exchange situation.

For 1979, we expect the total payments from Arabs to now be on
the order of $150 million to $200 million; some of these having already
been made.

SAUDI ARABIA'S COMMITMENT TO PAY FOR F-5'8

Mr. BINGHAM. What about that point, for example, the understand-
ing that Saudi Arabia would pay for Egypt's purchase of 50 F-5
aircraft?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We understand that that agreement will be kept.
Mr. BINGHAM. Have payments already been made on that purchase
General GRAVES. No payments have yet been received for the Egyp-

tian F-5 purchase.



67

ASSISTANCE FOR JORDAN AND SYRIA UNDER BAGHDAD CONFERENCE

Mr. BINGHAM. Do you know what assistance Jordan and Syria may
have received under the provisions of the Baghdad Conference I They
have received roughly $1.2 billion and $1.5 billion respectively.

Mr. WHEELER. The amounts are $1.25 billion for Jordan and $1.85
billion for Syria.

Mr. BINGHAM And those are to be paid by whom?
Mr. WHEELER. Primarily by Saudi Arabia, Iraq, Kuwait, Libya, Al-

geria, Qatar, and the United Arab Emirates.
Mr. BINGHAM. Have any of those payments been made? Do you

know?
Mr. WHEELER. I am sorry, I should go on and answer that. As Mr.

Saunders indicated earlier, it is our understanding that certain pay-
ments have been made, but we do not really have the precise informa-
tion and the exact levels. I think we have some skepticism that all of
these payments will be made.

Mr. BINGHAM. What sort of payments of this type were given to
Syria before? Is this some new kind of assistance to Syria?

Mr. WHEELER. These take the place of the kinds of cash payments
which were envisioned in earlier conferences in Khartoum and Rabat.
I am not sure I have the levels. Of course. Khartoum and Rabat pay-
ments were at a much lower level than would be provided under the
Baghdad agreements. I would be glad to provide that for the record.

Mr. BINGHAM. Do you know what the justification was or what the
reason given was for Syria's need for this assistance?

Mr. SAUNDERS. It was twofold. I think the rationale behind the Arab
summit payments of previous conferences was simply that these were
not confrontation states that had borne the cost of the war on behalf
of what was called at those conferences the Arab cause. Therefore,
the other Arab countries worked together to provide a subsidy of
sorts.

OPEC PAYMENTS TO SYRIA AND JORDAN

Mr. WHEELER. Mr. Bingham. My information is that the OPEC
countries as a group provided Syria in 1976 about $450 million; in
1977, about $800 million; and in 1978, about a half billion dollars.
They provided Jordan in 1976, about $120 million; in 1977, about $380
million; and in 1978, about $350 million.

Mr. BINGHAM. Thank you.

CURRENT SITUATION IN SAUDI ARABIA

Mr. Saunders, what can you tell us about the current situation in
Saudia Arabia in terms of the stability of the regime?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We have no reason at this point to doubt the stabil-
ity of the regime in Saudi Arabia. What is going on, of course, are
discussions among the Saudi leadership about the nature of nossible
succession to the throne should the King abdicate for reasons of health,
and our understanding is that the royal family has arrived at these
conclusions in an orderly way which preserves the stability of the
regime.



68

ARMS SALES TO YEMEN

Mr. BINOHAM. What was the impact in Saudi Arabia of the Presi-
dent's decision to make emergency deliveries of large quantities of
military quipment to North Yemen?

Mr. SAUNDERS. The impact was quite strongly favorable. The Saudis
have looked to the United States for many years as their ultimate
source of security. The United States was the leader of the free world
with regard to Saudi Arabia as the nation to which the Saudis could
turn if they felt threatened.
- As-you know, over the years, a number of statements have been made
about the American interest in the stability in Saudi Arabia. The
Saudis regarded the incursion from South Yemen into North Yemen
as a potential threat to the security of Saudi Arabia. Therefore, the
American response along with Saudi Arabia to that incursion was
regarded as encouraging from their point of view.

Mr. BINGHAM. Were there any concrete steps taken toward that
response?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think there have been continuously in the sense
that we have over this period worked with them in a variety of ways
to help the Government of the Yemen Arab Republic to improve its
defenses, to better organize its armed forces, to absorb equipment that
is being provided to them through training in which our teams are
engaged, in which Saudi teams are engaged, in which the Jordanians
are engaged.

Therefore, the fact of a continuing collaboration, it seems to me, is
the best indication of their feeling that this is a useful enterprise that
we are engaged in together.

Mr. BINGHAM. Just one further question, Mr. Chairman. I would
like to ask this of you and General Graves. After the declaration of
emergency, as I understand it, a cease-fire was followed very quickly.
If there was an emergency within the meaning of the statute, that
would seem like the end of it.

Was there any consideration either by you or by DOD to then re-
examine the transaction in light of the requirements of 36B and in
light of the fact that the emergency had passed and the Congress at
that point had every reason to expect that it would be given an oppor-
tunity to react to its decision

Mr. SAUNDERS. From our perspective, the fact of the invasion and
the danger posed to the Yemen Arab Republic should that be repeated
demonstrated a continuing emergency, at least in the nontechnical
sense of the word. For once we had launched the effort and tried to
help the Yemenis strengthen their position, it seemed logical to us to go
through that as quickly as we could so that if the situation were re-
peated, it would not result in an unfavorable outcome--

Mr. BINGHAM. General Graves, has there been any second look as
to whether the sale was successful in terms of quality and sophistica-
tion of weapons and the capacity of the North Yemen Government to
absorb that?

General GRAVES. There has not been a second look in terms of the
total scope of the program. We had been planning this level of sup-
port in North Yemen for some time, and we were at the time of the
invasion at the point where we were going to notify Congress of this



69

precise level of support. It was the invasion which led to the Presi-
dent's decision to go ahead with the level that we already proposed to
recommend on an emergency basis.

The other military factor that should be mentioned is, the North
Yemenis did suffer substantial losses in terms of materiel and am-
munition expended and were in a weakened state. That was a further
motivation to go ahead with what we had been contemplating all along.
We are continuing to work on the basic problem of adequate training
of the Yemenis in the use of this equipment, the support of it with
spare parts, are the orderly introduction of it into their armed forces.
We have not reconsidered the level of support, the total scope of the
program.

Mr. BINGHAM. I am sure my time has expired. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

CONSEQUENCES OF BAGHDAD CONFERENCE

Mr. Secretary, are there any Arab countries now that have not
severed diplomatic relationships with Egypt?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes; there are. At least Oman has not. Sudan has
not. I believe there is one other. Somalia has not. There are three which
have not.

Mr. WINN. Early on after the signing of the peace treaty, some of
the Arab countries were saying one thing publicly, Morocco, Tunisia
are two that I remember-correct me if I am wrong on the coun-
tries. They didn't seem to say much of anything earlier, but at least
they sat on it for a while. Now, the last few days they have severed
diplomatic relationships with Egypt.

What I am trying to find out is, can you tell the committee in public
session or would you prefer under some other format to try to tell
the members of the committee what they are really saying, what is
for home town consumption and what should we know for the whole
country's consumption?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Almost all of the Arab governments after the
Baghdad Conference went along with the decisions that were made
there, including the decisions to break diplomatic relations. At the
same time, I believe, the more moderate governments support efforts
to achieve peace between Israel and its neighbors. Most of them are
skeptical about our ability to achieve final peace agreements by going
along the route that we are on.

If we were able to demonstrate continued progress by following the
procedures we began with, then I believe we would find that a number
of those other governments would gradually allow their positions
to evolve to a more positive position. A lot of them which adapted the
Baghdad positions have indicated privately to us their concern about
their annearing to be in open opposition to a course that the President
of the United States has pursued with such vigor.

I think there is ambivalence in the position of those governments,
but at the time they thought they needed to go along with the Arab
consenDsuS.

Mr. WINN. Again, right at first, when the treaty was announced, the
more outspoken Arab countries made their feelings quite well known



70
through international press. There was a reaction, in some cases may-
be'an overreaction on the part of the Members of Congress, particularly
on certain funding bills. There was a feeling of retaliation. Here were
countries we were working with, we were aiding by military or eco-
nomic grants or whatever it might be. Now, since Morocco and Tunisia,
that same feeling will prevail on those countries that were not quite
so outspoken.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I cannot, of course, speak for the Members of Con-
gress, but I would not expect such strong reaction, because-In the
case of Syria, there was a general question as to what Syria's position
was, or what was expected with regard to Jordanian support. There
is another factor here, too. With the passage of time, after the Bagh-
dad Conference, I think there is an increase in perception about what
the underlying purposes of the program are.

As I said earlier, when I testified on a portion of the program in
some of the countries like Syria, the program was conceived initially
in 1974, and we resumed relations with Syria as a means'of building
a relationship with that country in parts of their life that were im-
portant to their government, that is, bringing better lives to their
people.

The precise thought was, as time went on, there would be ups and
downs in the political arena, but if we could build a common interest
in some portion of our relationship, perhaps we could minimize the
downturns, so that the relationship would not become totally broken,
as it was in 1967.

Therefore, we would continue to have a relationship with which we
could work as the political opportunities opened up again. We don't
rule out in Syria's case its eventual participation in the peace process.
Therefore, I think it is wise that we preserve as much of the relation-
ship as we can against that date, because of course the effort to achieve
peace is something that is paramount to all of us. Preserving the re-
lationship is worth, I think, the investment we are making. Besides,
economic development is something that I think would primarily bene-
fit the people of the countries.

Therefore, it has a humanitarian aspect to it as well.
Mr. WINN. I understand that, but how does the average Member of

Congress expect to know how to differentiate between what we see on
TV and hear on the radio and what we read in the newspapers unless
you guys do a better job of getting the word to us?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I don't frankly know how a better job can be done.
We are available to each of you who wants to ask these questions. We
come to these hearings at your request when invited.

Mr. WINN. I am not talking about this group right here. This is a
small group. We are not talking about the Foreign Affairs Commit-
tee or the Armed Services Committee. I am talking about 435 Members
of the House and the 100 Members of the Senate. Your message is not
really getting up here. We don't really know how these other Arab
cou entries feel toward us and what relationships they expect.

I know, but what about all the rest of them
Mr. SAUNDERS. All I can say is, we are available to you when you

want us. and we can come when you ask us, in any form that you im-
pose,' either the informal that this subcommittee does so well, or the
formal. It is not an easy job to communicate with an organization that



71

has so many interests as the Members of this Congress have. It is quite
difficult, frankly, to find you in your offices when we are invited up to.
meet with you. We traipse back and forth around the campus here,
and find you between meetings, and spend 2 hours at it and never
succeed.

So, the relationship is not the easiest one to conduct, and probably,.
therefore, is not entirely successful.

Mr. WINN. I have met with several members of your staff, too.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SAUNDERS. We do want to get the word out. It is in our interest.
Mr. HAMLrTON. A vote is pending in the House on the Mattox

amendment. The subcommittees will stand in recess. When we return,
we will turn to Mrs. Fenwick.

Mrs. FENWICK. If we can adjourn, I have two short questions.
Mr. HAMILTON. I think they are ready for the second bell here.
Mrs. FENWICK. I just wondered if there was any reaction in theArab

countries to Libya's action with regard to Chad and Uganda, we can
hope for disenchantment on their part for those excursions. The sec-
ond one is, how are we doing with the plan to get other countries to
contribute to the difficulties that Egypt and Israel are having finan-
cially ? Are we going to get any-

Mr. SAUNDERS. On the second part., I think we are making steady
progress. There will be a meeting of the World Bank's consultative
group in the fall. We are talking to the other members of that, Ger-
mans and Japanese and other Europeans. I think we will see a steady
increase in their contributions.

Mrs. FENWICK. That is good. Yes, that is very good. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Mr. HAMILTON. The subcommittees stand in recess.
[Whereupon, a brief recess was taken.]

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM OTHER NATIONS

Mr. HAMILTON. The subcommittees will resume their sitting.
Mrs. Fenwick was asking about the contributions from other na-

tions to the Middle East package. I am not sure that I heard or under-
stood your response. You have efforts, do you, to try to get contribu-
tions from West European countries and Japan ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct. Let me ask Mr. Wheeler to respond
in more detail, since his side of the House represents us on that.

Mr. 7TWHEEjLER. Actually, Under Secretary Cooper has been given the
leadership for this. He has been talking to leaders of Japan, Germany,
Italy, Canada-

Mr. HAMILTON. Is there any hope? That is the question.
Mr. WHEELER. So far, what has happened is that the World Bank

has apparently agreed to increase its annual level of lending from
about $200 million to about $300 million. Already, before the peace
agreement, very serious considerations were being given by the Gov-
ernment to Germany and Japan to substantial increases in the level
of assistance which has been running about $100 million a year.

Mr. HAMILTON. Each or total?
Mr. WHEELER. Each country is now approaching $200 million a

year. Weo are hoping for continued increases in these levels in the years
ahead if the funds are needed.

Mr. HAMILTON. So, taking the most optimistic estimate, what would
you expect?



72

Mr. WHEELER. I am looking in calendar year 1980 for about $1.1
billion, $1.2 billion from non-Arab and non-American sources.

Mr. HAMILTON. IS it in the United States interest to include the
U.S.S.R. in further negotiations?

ROLE OF SOVIET UNION

Mr. SAUNDERS. At the moment I believe we have to continue on the
course in which we have embarked in the negotiations on the West
Bank and Gaza as agreed by Egypt and Israel. As the negotiations
later on come to include Syria and others, I certainly don't rule out
going to a different forum or format with the Soviet Union involved.

We recognize that the Soviet Union has interests in this situation,
and that it would be reasonable for them to be involved at some point.
However, I don't think they can usefully be involved in the exercise
which we are now in.

Mr. HAMILTON. On the West Bank I
Mr. SAUNDERS. On the West Bank and Gaza as agreed by Egypt and

Israel.
Mr. HAMILTON. DO we keep them fully informed on a regular and

frequent basis on the Middle East negotiations ?
Mr. SAUNDERS. We try to keep them informed periodically. I would

not use the word "frequent.'".When we get involved as extensively as
we were in the negotiations of the past few months, we cannot begin to
keep them up to date with all of the details, but we do keep them
informed of the general direction of the negotiations.

Mr. HAMILTON. Do you think they can prevent the process from
proceeding?

Mr. SAUNDERS. No, I don't think so. I believe that the forces at work
in the Middle Enst themselves were the predominant factor here, and
that the Soviet Union tends to exploit those forces or relate them-
selves to those forces rather than leading those forces themselves.

Mr. HAMILTON. Do they have the possibility, for example, of exer-
cising their veto power in the United Nations over the United Nations
Emergency Force?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes: they certainly do have that capacity.
Mr. HAMILTON. If that were to happen, what does that do to the

peace process ?
Mr. SAUNDERS. That would force us to try to put together a force

from other nations.
Mr. HAMILTON. Non-U.N.?
Mr. SAUNDERS. Under non-U.N. auspices as the force directly related

to the implementation of the treaty.
Mr. HAMILTON. Do you have any indication from the Soviet Union

whether or not they will exercise a veto?
Mr. SAUNDERS. If you ask them today what their position is, you

would find them saying that they are considering a veto, but that is not
necessarily the last word. It is a position which they have taken at this
point in the deliberations.

Mr. HAMILTOwN. If it becomes necessary to go to a non-U.N. force,
who would pay for it and would the U.S. participate?

Mr. SAUNDERS. All we have said so far is that we would make efforts
to assure that such a force could be put together. We have not talked



73

about who would pay for it or who would participate. I might say that
it is obvious that staying within the U.N. framework has many advan-
tages for a variety of reasons, the Syrian disengagement force, the U.N.
force in Lebanon, and so forth. There is every reason for trying to stay
within the U.N. framework. Our primary focus over the next weeks
will be directed at winning support for the mandate.

ASSURANCES, AGREEMENTS, AND COMMITMENTS ALL MADE PUBLIC

Mr. HAMILTON. All right. With the treaty, the memorandum of
agreement, the various understandings and assurances that have been
made public, are there any other agreements that have not been made
public Let me expand on that. Are there any other agreements, under-
standings, assurances, written or unwritten, that have not been made
public? Is everything on the record?

Mr. HANSELL. Everything that involves any commitments, under-
takings or assurances by the United States has been provided to the
committee, and, I believe, made public.

Mr. HAMILTON. The oil agreement has not been made public.
Mr. HANSELL. The memorandum of agreement between the United

States and Israel on oil has been made public.
Mr. HAMILTON. Now, wait a minute.
Mr. HANSELL. The possibility of communication between the parties,

confidential diplomatic communications between the parties as to
which we acted as conduit at their request, is I think the only type
of communication that would perhaps not have been either communi-
cated or made public, but there would be no U.S. commitments in-
volved. That is, these are diplomatic communications between them
in which we acted as the vehicle.

Mr. HAMILTON. So, there are no new U.S. commitments, under-
takings, assurances that have not been made public?

Mr. ITANSELL. That is correct, sir.
Mr. HAMILTON. I was under the impression that the final text of

the United States-Israel oil agreement had not yet been negotiated.
Mr. HANSELL. That is correct.
Mr. SAUNDERS. But there is an interim agreement which is the

one-
Mr. HANSELL. Which provides for negotiating a definitive agree-

ment. That negotiation process is underway.
Mr. HAMILTON. When do you expect that to be completed ?
Mr. HANSELL. The interim agreement provides that the definitive

agreement will be completed within 60 days from the time the treaty
comes into force which, as you know, was just a day or two ago, so
within the next 60 days that will be completed and it will be a public
document.1

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

Mr. HAMILTON. Why should we not consider the memorandum of
agreement between the United States and Israel as a treaty ?

Mr. HANSELL. No; for a series of reasons. The nature of the as-
surances and the undertakings are very different from those that
would customarily be reflected in a treaty.

Mr. HAMILTON. In what way?

I See appendix 7, p. 257.



74

Mr. HANSELL. In several ways, the principal one being the point
that we identified earlier, namely, that the language of the document
calls for consultation and consideration by the United States, but
imposes no obligation to take action. If you look at our conventional
mutual defense treaties, for example, they provide that the parties,
meaning the United States, will act to meet the common danger. That
is a typical formulation. There are some variations on that theme.

This document is not of that kind or order at all. It provides, as
you know, that we will consider-

Mr. HAMILTON. Paragraph 7 is very specific.
Mr. HANSELL. Paragraph 7 is a provision that we will continue to

act as our law now provides. I agree there is an undertaking there to
continue to apply those restrictions, but I am speaking in terms of
action of the kind that would be customary in a treaty, particularly
a security treaty, a defense treaty. That paragraph is basically affirm-
ing that we will carry out our law.

Mr. HAMILTON. What is the difference between commitments and
undertaking assurances?

Mr. HANSELL. I suppose those are loosely defined as synonyms for
one another. We have tended to use the term "assurance" when we
are referring to promises of a diplomatic or a political nature. They
are basically synonyms for one another; I can't say there are fine
distinctions between those terms.

Mr. HAMILTON. Why don't we call this a treaty
Mr. HANSELL. It is not a treaty because of the nature of the docu-

ment, and of the undertakings and assurances. They are not treaty
type provisions. There are no commitments to take action of a kind
that would be found in a treaty.

Mr. HAMILTON. et me ask you this. Is there any binding action that
this memorandum of agreement commits the United States to under-
take ?

Mr. H-ANSFLL. Yes, in the sense that we do, for example, in paragraph
2 agree to consult with the parties. If we were asked to consult in a
situation which is covered by that paragraph, of course, we would
do that. Under paragraph 5-

Mr. HAMILTON. Let me phrase the question this way. Are all of
the actions that the United States must undertake pursuant to this
document subject both to the President's judgment and our own con-
situtional process?

Mr. HANSELL. Yes, and applicable law as well.
Mr. HAMILTON. One of the criticisms that was made of this docu-

ment was that the United States takes on all the obligations and Israel
does not take on any of them. How do you respond to that

Mr. HANSELL. Tet me read a sentence from the testimony of Secretary
Vance which I think perhaps puts it as well as it can be put:

We therefore undertook to offer to the parties a buffer against potential and
unforeseen problems In implementing their treaty by assuring them that we
will remain a full partner In the implementation process, just as we had been
during the negotiating phase.

This document in essence is an assurance to the Israelis. As Mr.
Saunders has said, we were prepared to do the same for the Egyptians.
We do intend to stay with them as a partner in this process, not only
in the negotiation but in the implementation of the treaty.



75

Mr. HAMILTON. In your view, in spite of the document, has the
United States retained full flexibility to determine its actions and
policies in the Middle East as its national interests determine?

Mr. HANSELL. Yes, sir.
Mr. HAMILTON. Paragraph 8 says that existing agreements and

assurances between the United States and Israel are not terminated
or altered by the conclusion of the Treaty of Peace with certain excep-
tions. I would like to ask you to list those exceptions, list the agree-
ments, and the existing agreements and assurances between the United
States and Israel. I would not expect you to do that now, but I would
like to know what those are.

Is the United States-Israeli agreement of September 1975 now
declassified?

Mr. HANSELL. I am quite sure it has been.
Mr. HAMILTON. Now, the Egyptians, of course, objected to this docu-

ment rather strongly. Mr. Khalil said it was contrary to the spirit
existing between our two countries, and did not contribute to
strengthening relations. He said it was based upon alleged accusations
against Egypt.

I suppose it is fair to say that this document has complicated our
relationship with Egypt, has it not ?

SMr. SAUNDERS. I have the feeling that the Prime Minister reacted
more strongly than was warranted, partly, perhaps, because of a mis-
understanding of what was intended here. One of his main problems
with this document is that it was written against the possibility that
there might be a violation of the treaty, which in fact is an assump-
tion that Egypt might violate. When we offered a comparable docu-
ment to Egypt, we felt that we were making it clear that there was no
presumption that either side would violate the agreement.

Mr. HAMILTON. Is this something that Prime Minister Khalil took a
shot at after it was made public? Has it not been a further irritation
or is it a continuing irritation in the relationship?

Mr. SAUNDERS. There has not been further extensive discussion of it
since he departed Washington.

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Hansell, in reference to paragraph 8, when we
talk about existing agreements and assurances between the United
States and Israel, are any of those secret?

Mr. HANSELL. Mr. Chairman, I would have to--
Mr. HAMILTON. If you want to check that answer, that is fine.
I also want to know if any of them are unwritten.
Mr. STUDDS. Or unthought. [Laughter.]
Mr. HAMILTON. When you give us a listing of them, put the dates on

there, too, would you please?
I believe I will turn to Mr. Studds here.
Mr. Studds.

IRANIAN SALES

Mr. STUDDS. Thank you. Let me ask one more question, General
Graves, with respect to the Iranian dialog we had earlier. Even you
must admit that there is an arguable policy determination to be made
in this country with respect to the destroyers in question. Either we
need them or we don't need them. Presumably under our system that

I See appendix 6, p. 239.



76

is the determination to be made jointly by the President and the
Congress.

Maybe this is more of a rhetorical question. I would suggest to you
the way it has worked out, the President has effectively excluded the
Congress from that determination, and has essentially made it on his
own. For the purpose of argument, suppose we did not need those
vessels, just suppose we didn't. I would submit to you if that were the
case and the Congress were indeed to reach that conclusion, the U.S.
taxpayer has been had, but there are only two things we can do at this
point. One is, to buy the vessels which we do not need, assuming we do
not need them. but of course that will cost the taxpayers hundreds of
millions of dollars.

The other is to cancel the contract, which at this point, given what
the President has done on his own in the last 3 months, would also
cost the taxpayer hundreds of millions of dollars. Is that correct? *
They are stuck. The decision has been made by the President without
consulting the Congress.

General GRAVES. Let me give you some numbers which provide in-
sight to the question you have asked. As of last Friday, the balance
in the trust fund was $327 million.

Mr. STrnns. Is it more apropos to ask what it was as of February 3?
General GRAVES. I want to give one other number first before going

back. The cost of canceling the ships would be $200 million, so today
we could cancel the ships and we would be left with a balance in the
trust fund of $127 million.

Mr. STruns. I thought you iust told me you could not calculate how
much it would cost to cancel the ships.

General GRAVES. Our estimate of the claims that would result would
be $200 million.

Mr. STUDDS. If that is correct, we could cancel now and not lose
anything.

General GRAVES. That is correct. The reason I gave the answer I did
earlier was because there are other ongoing programs, and the cost
of canceling those, our current best estimate is in the neighborhood
of $200 million, which would exceed the residual amount in the trust
fund if we cancelled the ships.

Mr. Swrnns. Do you anticipate canceling those?
General GRAVES. We do not anticipate canceling all of these pro-

grams, because we are trying in all cases to work out diversions.
Mr. STrmDs. You mean sell them to somebody else?
General GRAVES. We have other customers. We are taking some items

into the U.S. inventory because they are items for which Congress
already authorized money. So if you are a purist, one would say today
termination costs of the entire program exceed the balance of the
trust fund. We believe we can work this out, but you are correct in
saying that a key feature of bringing this to a conclusion without the
trust fund going to zero is action by Congress to buy two ships.

Mr. STUDDS. OK, I congratulate you. If I were in your shoes-you
have won without our knowing there was a battle, which is wonderful.
You are worthy of your predecessor. [Laughter.]

That is the position we found ourselves in, and we have had it.
You have got the ships, and good luck to you with them. I hope
you need them. As I say, it was not with any decision of Congress



77

taking part in it, and it is at the expense, as usual, of the American
taxpayer.

Let me, if I may, go back to what we are supposed to be asking
questions about-I don't know whether this should be for Secretary
Saunders or yourself, General. The bases which we will be replacing
or removing or relocating from the Sinai, against what threats are
they intended to guard, the new bases

THREATS TO ISRAEL

General GRAVES. They are to provide security to Israel either from
the direction of Egypt or from the direction of Jordan and Saudi
Arabia, who lie to the east.

Mr. STUDDS. What did the Israelis rely on for the defense prior to
construction of the Sinai bases?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I can't cite particulars, but I think the answer would
be that before the 1967 war, they had a smaller air force based, of
course, within the 1967 borders of Israel.

Mr. STUDDS. And it worked, didn't it?
Mr. SAUNDERS. In the 1967 war, it worked magnificently. The forces

around them are quite different. The forces are larger. They are more
modern.

Mr. STUDDS. And they have mostly been equipped by us, haven't
they ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. The bulk of the forces are Soviet-supplied aircraft.
Mr. STUDDS. You mentioned Saudi Arabia, you mentioned Egypt.

The first two of those have surely largely been equipped by us.
Mr. SAUNDERS. I am thinking of the main combat forces in the 1973

war which were Syria and Egypt.
Mr. STUDDS. And of course it is the Egyptians whom we are now

arming, so that necessitates the new bases for the Israelis to protect
against.

Mr. SAUNDERS. Let's go back. This was a series of questions you
raised last time we were here. I think you have to start with the fact
that every sovereign government has a defense establishment which it
maintains for the security of its people. Israel, not unlike many others,
is going to maintain a military force to make sure that the country is
not defeated.

As we all know, the Israelis say they cannot afford to lose a battle.
Israel is maintaining a defensive force that it feels is essential in its
position to defend against any potential threat. Part of that is being
deployed at these bases. I think it can be said that nations do not arm
themselves only to make war; they arm themselves-we are a case in
point-we arm ourselves so we will be strong enough so that we don't
have to fight a war.

I think Israel is a country that wants peace, and they are arming
themselves to assure that they will not be defeated, but hopefully to
deter others from attacking them.

AID TO EGYPT

Mr. STUDDS. If you could hear what goes on, on the floor, you would
realize there are other reasons this country arms itself. You have hit on

47-699-79-6



78

one of them, that is for sure. We have been told that President Sadat
needs to be able to demonstrate to his own people the benefits of peace
and cooperating with the United States in this process. We now give
Egypt some $750 million a year in economic aid. Is that correct?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is true, and the Public Law 480 program brings
the total up to close to $1 billion.

Mr. STUDDS. The new bill that you request would add about $100
million more in each of 3 years in economic assistance, which is a
very slight increase in aid, which as I understand it is already backed
up in the pipeline all the way from Cairo to here. Is that correct?

Mr. ;WHEELER. Well, the expenditure rate under our program in
1979 is expected to be about $650 million.

Mr. STUDDS. We are not able to spend all that we have already au-
thorized in the program.

Mr. WHEELER. We expect to spend it as well as to spend those
amounts covered by new obligations next year.

Mr. STUDDS. In any event, even if we are able to spend it all, this is
about a 13-percent increase over the current levels.

Mr. WHEELER. Yes.
Mr. STUDDS. I am not sure how much of an impact this will have. I

doubt you can argue very seriously that this modest increase would
have a significant impact on the horrible situation economically in
Egypt. The weapons obviously would be pleasing-the weapons we
would be sending them, but I am not sure how we demonstrate the ben-
efits of peace to 180 million people in a very poor country.

As we calculated it, the combined effect of the new request the ad-
ministration has given us of the economic aid plus the FMS credits
is that it will require them to pay $35 million a year more in interest on
a weapons loan than we will be giving them in economic aid. Is that
not correct?

Mr. WHEELER. That is correct.
Mr. STUDDS. That is correct; so the rhetoric is, we are going to show

them that peace pays, and it pays to cooperate with the United States,
and we are going to give them some economic assistance. In fact, we
are charging them $35 million more for that for interest on weapons,
which they probably don't need anyway.

Mr. WHEELER. We are looking for a demonstrable economic impact
as rapidly as possible.

Mr. STUDDS. How is that going to help when this country cannot
afford to pay that interest, can it?

Mr. WHEELER. Additional items under the commodity import pro-
gram, we would hope, would provide a more ample supply of such
things as vegetable oil-

Mr. STUDDs. I am all for vegetable oil. It is the other stuff that both-
ers me.

Mr. WHEELER. In addition, we are making every effort we can to ac-
celerate the implementation of ongoing projects. What we are hoping
is that many of these projects which we have already well along in the
implementation process will begin to bear fruit and will show the
Egyptian people a better standard of living.

Mr. STUDDS. I appreciate what you are saying. I guess the only
point I am trying to make here is that the new program with respect



79

to Egypt surely cannot be considered much of an impact since it is
going to cost them more than it is going to give them.

Mr. WHEELER. I think the impact is marginal, yes.
Mr. SAUNDERS. I believe-correct me on this, Mr. Wheeler, if I am

wrong-the principal effort in the period immediately ahead now is
to concentrate the payoff so that it is going to have an impact sooner
to use the money that is going in more effectively.

This is the kind of thing that Under Secretary Cooper and Ambassa-
dor Strauss were talking to the Egyptians about. Also, it is going to
enhance the private investment of our private sector.

Mr. STUDDS. Again, I know I appear to be harassing you with every
single request that comes up, but the totality of the picture, if you
add up U.S. arms in that region over the last few years, is pretty
awesome. I don't know if you have ever tried the exercise. Some day
if peace breaks out somewhere that is when you get busy, but if you
add in U.S. military assistance to Israel and sales to Egypt and even
a little bit to Jordan and Syria in there, God knows, the amount
that you don't seem a bit embarrassed about to Yemen, nobody even
wants to remember how much to Iran, it is hard to add up that much,
and given the Saudi commitment, I can't imagine with their own FMS
sales program, with commitments on behalf of North Yemen and
Egypt to pick up that tab.

What in the world is Saudi Arabia buying per year in arms now
if you add up the Egyptian, the Yemenis, and their own contracts
Are they getting up to rival the Shah in annual expenditures?

ARMS SALES TO SAUDI ARABIA

General GRAVES. No; certainly not. [Laughter.]
Mr. STUDDS. Then you both share this steadfastness.
General GRAVES. The Saudis, in terms of annual sales, such as we

address in the ceiling management program, are past the peak of their
purchases.

Mr. STUDDS. They are declining. Is that what you mean?
General GRAVES. They will have lower sales because they have made

their purchase of modern aircraft.
Mr. STUDDs. When you say that, do you take into account their

obligation to pay for the Egyptian and Yemeni sales as well?
General GRAVEs. Yes. It depends whether you are talking about the

time when the sales were recorded, which is behind us, or you are
talking about the progress payments that they are making in the
future.

Mr. STUDDS. I will not play that game with you. God knows, you
carefully say, considering the-of the ceiling, you have included that
incredible Corps of Engineers program over there, which I think
about every time I try to get the harbor dedged in Cape Cod. What is
the most recent estimate of that blankety-blank corps program which
comes under FMS. the total? What is that? What did we hear once,
$18 billion, $19 billion?

General GRAVES. It was in the neighborhood of $20 billion, of which
$12 billion is covered by FMS sales agreements. Whether they will
ultimately have all of it built by the Corps of Engineers or will simply
go out on the market and have it built without the corps is another
question.



80

Mr. STUDDS. $20 billion on top of God knows what in weapons sales..
I just wonder. We totally obviously misread the situation in Iran,.
as we were quoting untold billions of dollars. It seems to me one can't
avoid asking just how good-how many people do we have in Iran?
If we didn't know what is going on in Iran, how do we know what is
going on anywhere? We were close to having a congressional district
in Iran, and we still didn't have any idea what was happening with
tens of thousands of Americans, public and private, official and unoffi-
cial, over there.

We had three advisors in North Yemen and we decided they needed
$300 million worth of arms. I don't think we can tell, frankly, much
about Yemen. I don't think frankly we can be sure what is going on
in Saudi Arabia. I don't think if I were an average Saudi Arabian,
whatever that is, how grateful I would be to the United States for
the incredible cities in the desert the Corps of Engineers seem to be
negotiating, and the weaponry and all the rest of it.

That is not a question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

AID TO EGYPT

Mr. SAUNDERS. May we go back to Egypt for a moment to put this
military program into some sort of perspective both financially and
historically? Twenty-three years ago, the Egyptians made a major
move in the direction of the Soviet Union, the Aswan Dam, the total
equipment of the Egyptian Armed Forces by Soviet forces.

In the last 5 years, there has been a shift in Egypt in terms of Ameri-
can diplomacy. There has been a shift in Egypt with the liberalization
of the economy, in terms of Western orientation in that sector, which
is important to the future of Egypt, and during that period, when
Soviet supplies were stopped, Egypt had no major source of supply,
and turned to some other European sources for other resupply, and
has not ever really caught up from the losses of the 1973 war.

Now, we are talking about a program of $1.5 billion over 3 years
which, compared with-if it is less than the Soviet resupply after
the war, they were talking about a modernization program 5 years
after the 1973 war. so we are talking about something that is of rela-
tively modest proportions, and it is part of a profound shift in Egypt's
orientation vis-a-vis the other major powers of the world.

In that context, I think you are talking about a rather significant
development at a relatively modest cost.

Mr. STunms. Fair enough. I would just add that I think the shift in
Egyptian focus and thrust is at least as much or probably more a result
of the failure of Soviet policy than the success of American policy.

Mr. SAUNDERS. You can make that judgment if you care to. As an
American, I personally, having participated in this thing-

Mr. STUDDS. I didn't want you to take that personally.
Mr. SAUNDERS. I think Americans have reason to be proud.
Mr. STUDDS. We blundered first and they blundered. God knows it is

our turn again, but I hope we will be more careful historically.
Mr. SAUNDERS. It depends on how you want to characterize Amer--

ican diplomacy.
Mr. STUDDS. Not charitably.



81

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think the peace treaty is the first such thing in 30
years-

Mr. STUDDS. I don't mean that. I was going back in time. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

OIL AGREEMENT

Mr. HAMILTON. Let me ask a question or two about this oil agree-
ment. Will any legislation be necessary pursuant to that agreement?

Mr. HANSELL. In order to be able to carry it out fully, we do under-
stand that some legislation will be needed.

Mr. HAMILTON. How long does it run? When does it expire?
Mr. HANSELL. What we have agreed on at the moment is that there

will be an oil supply arrangement for a total of 15 years. The precise
beginning date is to be agreed on in the discussions, but we anticipate
that that period would begin at about the time of the Israeli evacuation

-of the oilfields in the Sinai.
Mr. HAMILTON. And it will run 15 years from that time?
Mir. HANSELL. That is right.
Mr. HAMrILTON. Will that oil be provided to Israel under the agree-

ment at the going international market rate?
Mr. HANSELL. As you know, the provision would be a last resort ar-

rangement. The memorandum provides that the parties intend that
the prices paid by Israel for oil provided under it will be comparable
to world market price current at the time of transfer, and that in any
event the United States will be reimbursed for the costs incurred by
the United States in providing oil.

So, the answer to your question in general is, yes, the prices would
be comparable to world prices.

Mr. HAMILTON. Is there any element of aid involved in this agree-
ment? Is there any expenditure by the American taxpayer?

.Ir. HANSELL. There are not to be any because the United States is to
be reimbursed for all its costs.

Mr. HAMIITON. Including transportation
Mr. HANSELL. Including transportation.
Mr. HAMILTON. Will the agreement deviate in any way from the

commitment made in 1975?
Mr. HANSELL. Yes, at least we anticipate that it will. It is yet to be

negotiated, but the 1975 agreement was a floating arrangement. It was
a 5-year last resort commitment, but without a beginning date, so that
it was susceptible to being triggered when a request was made. Our
firm anticipation here is that the 15-year period will begin approxi-
mately currently. There is no price provision in the 1975 arrangement.
We will try to firm that up.

Mr. HAMILTON. How serious would Israel's shortfall in oil have to
be before we would have to export?

M.r. HANSELL. I can't answer that. I am not sure it is a question that
can be answered, because we anticipate a variety of ways in which we
could help Israel to obtain oil if it were not able to obtain oil through
its own resources. We obviously might well have access to world supply

:sources that would not be available to the Israelis, so that I think it
is not possible to answer that question.



82

SETTLEMENTS

Mr. HAMILTON. All right. Now, Mr. Saunders, would it be possible
in your judgment to get any support for the peace process from
the Jordanians or the Palestinians unless there is a freeze on the
settlements?

Mr. SAUNDERS. A freeze on the settlements is not the only achieve-
ment that could demonstrate that this is a serious process of negotia-
tion. Results in the negotiations on other issues and addressing the
settlements question in other ways through those negotiations could
equally demonstrate the results.

Mr. IHAILTON. So, it is possible to get results even if there is not a
freeze?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct, even though this is one of the most *
sensitive issues on the Arab side.

Mr. HAMILTON. Would you state for me your understanding of the
agreement between the President and Mr. Begin regarding the
settlements?

Mr. SAUNDERS. At this point there is no agreement.
Mr. HAMILTON. What did you think the agreement was
Mr. SAUNDERS. This goes back to the Camp David discussions and

the period immediately after that. I remember there is in the record
of our earlier testimony a rather extensive exchange on that.

Mr. HAMILTON. I am not unaware of that, Mr. Saunders.
Afr. SAUNDERS. At that time, we felt that there had been an under-

standing that there would be no new settlements during the period of
negotiation, and that period of negotiation was defined by the Israelis
and the United States. What they ultimately did was to say that they
would observe a stop in settlements during the period while the Blair
House talks were under way. Our understanding initially was a period
which would relate to the talks on the West Bank of Gaza, where the
settlements are at issue.

Mr. HAMILTON. We keep stating our policy on this settlements prob-
lem over and over again. The President did again yesterday afternoon
in his news conference, but it does not seem to have any impact as far
as the Israelis are concerned. Why is it best to let this problem ride
on and try to solve it later? Why isn't it better to try to solve it now ?
If it is such a large obstacle to the peace process, why do we not try to
resolve it now?
.- Mr. SAUNDERS. I believe at best it is most effective to address the
problem in its precise elements. The elements of the problem are, who
controls the land in the West Bank, who has the authority to transfer
the land, who has the authority to expropriate land for any purpose

It seems to me if one can address these snecific elements of the prob-
lem in very practical ways, one may get closer to a solution than one
does when one simply challenges the rights of Israelis to live on the
West Bank. Our present posture is to declare that the placement of
settlements in occupied territories is illegal under the Geneva Con-
vention. The position of the Israeli Government is, this is not illegal.
We end up in a standoff over that basic point, but if one can get down
to the practical elements of the problem, I think one might find
solutions that would meet the interests of the various parties. That
is the effort that we will make.



83

Mr. HAMILTON. While we keep repeating this over and over again,
the Arabs tend to see us as unable or unwilling to pot leverage on the
settlements problem, do they not ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct.
Mr. HAMILTON. In the legislation that is drafted and submitted to

us here entitled Special International Security Assistance Act of 1979,
section 3 (a), you say that in order to support the treaty between Egypt
and Israel, and related agreements, the Congress finds that the

national security interests of the United States are served, et cetera.
Why do we need the language in there, "and related agreements," and
what do we mean by that?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Mr. Hlansell may want to comment further on this,
but one of the principal related agreements is the joint letter signed
by Prime Minister Begin and President Sadat to President Carter
which lays out the scheme for the West Bank-Gaza negotiations. This
is essential to the continuation of the Camp David process. That
would be one example.

Mr. HAMILTON. Will all of these agreements be completed before we
are asked to take action on this? The oil agreement will not have
been negotiated

Mr. HANSELL. That is the only one that remains to be completed.
Everything else is in place.

Mr. HAMILTON. Does the PLO still have an office and representa-
tive in Cairo?

Mr. SAUNDERS. As of a few days ago, I was aware that it was there.
I have not heard anything more recently than that.

Mr. HAMILTON. Do you have any reason to think that the PLO
wants to keep the options open and not close the door on the Camp
David process?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I believe that is the case.
Mr. HAMILTON. Would you consider any delay on the part of Eyvpt

in taking the agreed-upon steps toward normalization of relations with
Israel designed to serve as leverage in stalled talks on the West Bank
and Gaza as violations of the terms of the treaty ?

Mr. SAUNDERS. We would have to look at that when it occurs, because
the treaty itself provides for a period of time within which the nego-
tiations are to begin. It does not necessarily define a date on which they
are to be concluded. I think one would have to judge the circumstances
of the negotiations, that is, whether both sides were negotiating earn-
estly and just having difficulty reaching an agreement, or whether it
was a clear-cut stalling.

BUDGET RESOLUTION

Mr. HAMILTON. Let me ask a question here that the Appropriations
Committee wants us to ask for the record. The third budget resolution
for fiscal year 1979 will soon be set by the Congress, which will prob-
ably leave the budget authority deficit of about $2 billion between the
ceiling of the budget authority and the actual budget request.

As is currently drafted, the Executive Office proposed appropria-
tions bills for the new assistance program would require that the entire
$1.47 billion budget authority requests be appropriated in fiscal year



84

1979, together with the other supplementals for the international
affairs function. The President's request could force the appropria-
tions committees to make some hard choices between the supplementals
for international affairs programs and domestic programs.

As a result, it has been suggested that the authorization bill provide
"no-year" authority for each of the appropriations requests in order
to permit the appropriations committee to provide the immediately
required budget authority in fiscal year 1979 and provide the remainder
later.

Would this formula be acceptable, or would it present problems?
Mr. Wheeler or Mr. Saunders.

Mr. SAUNDERS. I would defer to what these two gentlemen say.
General GRAVES. As far as the military paLrt of the program, Mr.

Chairman, it would present problems. We would obligate the entire
amount of the $800 million for these contracts with the Air Force
this year. We need to do that. Now, it is true the money is specified
to be no-year money, but this is because it is e, construction project. We
have also provided for adding into the same account the money from
Israel.

We will add an initial increment from Israel at the time we let these
contracts, so that the contracts will probably come to an amount of
approximately $1 billion, but we need to be able to add additional
Eums from Israel later on, and to manage the appropriation for this
construction in the normal manner, which is full funding at the begin-
ning, and then the ability to obligate additional funds later down-
stream. We expect the entire process to lat approximately 5 years, so
we have set up a construction project in th,3 normal way.

Therefore, as far as that part is concerned, we believe it is impor-
tant to have the entire amount this fiscal year.

Now, with respect to the credit guarantee funds which of course,
amount to $370 million, as far as Egypt is concerned, we would like
and we think it is sound practice to conclude the entire loan agree-
ment with Egypt this year, because we will be concluding a series of
letters of offer and acceptance with Egypt. We do not want to have
these letters of offer and acceptance which depend on credit, to be
signed before the credit funds are available.

Now, why must we have the letters of offer and acceptance as soon
as possible? Well. because of the long lead time involved in many of
these systems. It is perfectly true that the loan will be drawn down over
a period of some 3 to 4 years to make the progress payments, but the
procedure is, first, we have a loan agreement, then we consummate the
letters of offer and acceptance, then we let the contracts with the U.S.
suppliers, then the leadtime starts on production. They can't begin
production until this process has been completed.

Again, we have an obligation problem with respect to the money for
Egypt. With respect to Israel, it i, less certain. We do not have the de-
tailed plans of the Government of Israel. I am reluctant at this point,
however, to say, "There is no problem; we can spread out the Israeli
loan." I guess the thing that bothers me about the whole military por-
tion is that this money at the beginning is tied to the withdrawal
process, which is a key feature of this treaty, and I am hesitant to say
that the United States can spread its contribution because this 3 years
is a very tight period.



85

I would think it would be risky for the United States to hold back on
some of the funding for this treaty.

Mr. HAMILTON. How much of the request for the appropriation is
intended for obligation between enactment and October 1, 1979 ?

General GRAVES. We would obligate on the security side $1,170 bil-
lion. Mr. Wheeler can speak to the $300 million in the economic pro-
gram. We would intend to obligate the entire amount between now and
the 1st of October as far as the FMS credits and the grant are con-
cerned. The outlays will be distributed as you discussed in your earlier
hearing, Mr. Chairman. You went over those.

Mr. HAMILTON. Yes. Mr. Wheeler, do you want to comment on these
same questions?

Mr. TWHEELER. Yes, Mr. Chairman. As I understand the Appropria-
tions Committee proposal, the $300 million would be authorized now,
but then it would be appropriated over a period of 3 years. Am I cor-
rect, Mr. Chairman, in suggesting the first year of appropriation would
be fiscal year 1979 ?

Mr. HAMILTON. Yes.
Mr. WHEELER. It is our intention that this money be made available

to Egypt over 3 fiscal years, so that from a technical point of view it
would be possible for us to obligate it all in fiscal year 1979 or in 3
separate fiscal year installments. We are very anxious to keep this
special appropriation separate from the regular funding for Egypt.
We do not want it to create an expectation of a higher future level of
regular assistance.

Mr. HAMILTON. It is the intention of the executive branch to obligate
the entire $800 million requested for the Israeli bases by October 1,
1979?

General GRAVES. Yes, sir. As a practical matter, we would like to
have the money by the 15th of June.

Mr. HAMIrTON. Thank you very much.
The committee stands adjourned.
Whereupon, at 5:50 p.m., the hearing was concluded.
[Supplemental questions submitted to Department of State by Rep-

resentative Fenwick and responses thereto follow:]

SUPPLEMENTAL QUESTIONS SUBMITTED TO DEPARTMENT OF STATE BY
REPRESENTATIVE FENWICK AND RESPONSES THERETO

Question. What sl the current amount of the Egyptian foreign debt?
Answer. At the end of the first three quarters of 1978, total civilian external

debt stood at $9.17 billion. Although this represents a 50 percent increase from
the end of 1975, the terms of the debt, its structure, and the earnings have im-
proved. For example, in 1978 less than 20 percent of borrowings were on com-
mercial terms compared to over 30 percent in 1975. Total debt service amounts
of 29 percent of estimated current account receipts and if certain official deposits
owed to oil exporting nations are excluded debt service is only 10 percent of
current account receipts.

Question. What is Egypt's current debt service? What is the projected debt
service for the next five years, including that to the United States?

Answer. Based on data through the first three quarters of 1978, Egypt's 1979
debt service payments on public external debt obligations with maturities of
over one year are estimated at about $1 billion. This includes Egyptian govern-
ment obligations to the U.S. and other bilateral lenders as well as to interna-
tional organizations and private lenders. It does not include obligations of the
Egyptian private sector to foreign lenders where there is not Egyptian govern-
ment guarantee.

Based on the same data debt service, payments would be expected to decline
steadily through the next five years by about $100 million per year.



SUPPLEMENTAL 1979 MIDDLE EAST AID PACKAGE
FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

WEDNESDAY, MAY 2, 1979

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,

SUBCOMMITTEES ON INTERNATIONAL
SECURITY AND SCIENTIFIC AFFAIRS

AND ON EUROPE AND THE MIDDLE EAST,
Washington, D.O.

The joint subcommittees met at 3 p.m., in room H-236, the Capitol,
Hon. Clement J. Zablocki (chairman of the committee) presiding.

Chairman ZABLOCKr. The subcommittees will come to order.
We meet today to continue consideration of President Carter's

request for the Special International Security Assistance Act of 1979.
The proposed legislation is intended to do more than merely support
the most recent achievements. It is intended to give further impetus
to the search for a comprehensive peace settlement in the Middle East.

Today's hearing will focus primarily on the military and inter-
national security implications of the Assistance legislation requested
by the President. Particular attention will be paid to the review of
the most probable transfers of weapons from the United States to
Egypt as well as the requests by Israel for use of the special FMS
credits.

Testifying today will be: Dan O'Donohue, Deputy Director, Bu-
reau of Politico-Military Affairs, Department of State; Morris
Draper, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Near Eastern and South
Asian Affairs, Department of State; Lt. Gen. Ernest Graves, Director
of the Defense Security Assistance Agency; and Robert J. Murray,
Deputy Assistant Secretary, Near Eastern, African and South Asian
Affairs, Department of Defense.

In order that the two subcommittees can receive detailed answers
to a number of questions touching upon highly sensitive matters, the
chair would welcome a motion to go into executive session at this time,
so that we can proceed with the questioning of witnesses.

We are awaiting one more member and we will then entertain a
motion to go into executive session so that we can proceed with the
questioning of the witnesses. It is the chair's understanding there are
two or three other members coming. They are on their way.

Mr. WOLFF. If only one committee were meeting and the other
subcommittee were invited to participate you would not need that
many members, would you?

Chairman ZABLOCKI. The chair would have no qualms of beginning
the meeting or seeking an executive session without a quorum if it is
necessary to go into executive session. I understand one member
might question this action.

(87)



88

Mr. FINDLEY. I move we go into executive session, Mr. Chairman.,
Chairman ZABLOCKr. We have to have a rollcall vote.
Mr. BINGHAM. I don't think you have a majority of either sub-

committee.
Chairman ZABLOOKI. We have to have eight members. We don't have

a majority of either subcommittee.
The gentleman from Illinois moves that the joint subcommittees

go into executive session. All those in favor will signify by saying
"aye.

tChorus of "ayes."]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Those opposed, "no."
The clerk will call the roll.
Mr. VAN DusEN. Mr. Hamilton.
[No response.]
Mr. VAN DUSEN. Mr. Fountain.
[No response.]
Mr. VAN DUsEN. Mr. Pease.
Mr. PEASE. Aye.
Mr. VAN DUsEN. Mr. Barnes.
Mr. BARNES. Aye.
Mr. VAN DUSEN. Mr. Rosenthal.
[No response.]
Mr. VAN DUSEN. Mr. Findley.
Mr. FINDLEY. Aye.
Mr. VAN DUSEN. Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. Aye.
Mr. VAN DUSEN. Mrs. Fen wick.
Mrs. FENWICK. Aye.
Mr. VAN DrTTEN. By rollcall five "ayes."
Chairman ZABLCKI. The Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle

East can go into executive session.
T will say "aye" whether you recognize me or not.
The vote indicating that a majority has voted to go into executive

session is so ordered.
Are there any persons in the room not qualified to be here because-

they are not the Departments' representatives or staff without proper
clearance or guests ?

The clerk will call the roll.
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Hamilton.
Mr. HAMTLTON. Aye.
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Wolff.
Mr. WOLFF. Aye.
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Bingham.
Mr. BINGIHAM. Aye.
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Studds.
Mr. STUDDS. Aye.
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Barnes.
Mr. BARNES. Ave.
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Broomfield.
[No response.]
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Findley.
Mr. FINDLEY. Aye.
Mr. FRANK. Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. Aye.



89

Mr. FRANK. Mrs. Fenwick.
Mrs. FENWICK. Aye.
[The subcommittees went into executive session. The following

testimony was subsequently declassified for publication. The classified
material is retained in committee files.]

Chairman ZABLOCK. The Chair will recognize members who desire
to ask questions. The chairman of the Subcommittee on Europe and
the Middle East.

Mr. HAMILTON. No questions, Mr. Chairman.
The chairman of the Subcommittee on International Security and

S Scientific Affairs opened the meeting so Mr. Wolff if you do have
any questions ?

Mr. WoLFF. I reserve my time.
Chairman ZABLOCKT. Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. No questions.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Bingham.
Mr. BINGHAM. [Security deletion.]
[Security deletion.]

U.S. ACTIONS IN SAUDI POLITICAL DEVELOPMENT

Mr. BINGHAM. Is there anything we can do to be helpful either in
terms of helping to assure the stability of the present regime or pos-
sibly of developing potential contacts with some other regime?

STATEMENT OF MORRIS DRAPER, DEPUTY ASSISTANT SECRE.
TARY FOR NEAR EASTERN AND SOUTH ASIAN AFFAIRS,
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Mr. DRAPER. I think our policy aims at broadening the basic feel-
ing of support in Saudi Arabia for the association with the United
States and making it clear the alternatives are poor ones as far as the
Saudis are concerned. I think through the years, there has been a good
deal of success in this direction.

The King 'Abd al-'Aziz, met President Roosevelt in World War
II and at that time took a conscious decision to associate himself with
the United States as being the real power; these traditions in Saudi

S Arabia have some real significance. It is a task of our foreign policy
to reinforce those trends and, of course, part of this, I guess, includes
a very open and candid dialog with Saudis of all leadership levels,
specifically between Members of Congress and their government and
between the administration and their government.

Mr. BINGHAM. What about military contacts there: Do we have
formal or informal-perhaps informal contacts might be more im-
portant-with the military in Saudi Arabia so that we can sense their
moods?

STATEMENT OF ROBERT J. MURRAY, DEPUTY ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY, NEAR EASTERN, AFRICAN, AND SOUTH ASIAN AF-
FAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

Mr. MURRAY. We have a fair number of Americans in Saudi Arabia.
They are in touch with military people including young military
people. A lot of them come over here to school. [Security deletion.] I



90

think one of the difficulties in Iran was that in many ways we were
not intimately involved over the years in the substance of the policy
in advising the Shah. We were rather detached.

I think we should be in contact with the military and with others
in the society and we should do our best to maintain a broad level of
contacts and not confine them to officials.

CORRUPTION IN SAUDI ARABIA

Mr. BINOHAM. Do your people either in the military or on the ci-
vilian side report dissatisfaction with the degree of corruption in
Saudi Arabia?

Mr. MURRAY. I think corruption is one of the problems we hear
about. But there are things on the plus side, too, as Mr. Draper said. *
The Saudis do seem to be less imperial in their approach to people,
more open, in greater contact with people in the society. There are
more opportunities for people in the country who are young and
educated. They seem to share the wealth.

It seems to be a less complicated society in many respects and it is
not as big. There are not as many people as there were in Iran. So
there are a lot of dissimilarities as well as the presumption that Kings
have not done very well in this century and the last traditional socie-
ties have a difficult time coping with modernity.

It is something we have to be very careful and watch and see what
we can do to help as situations arise.

In any event, however, I don't think Americans can take responsi-
bility for the internal events in another country. We can give them
our best advice. We can help them as possibilities occur but in the end
we cannot control the internal workings of the society.

Mr. DRAPER. There is one safety feature in Saudi society. That is the
tradition of access to the highest levels of government, meaning that,
as in earlier days a very ordinary person could go into the palace to
see the king and present a petition. Even today, the halls of govern-
ment are filled with petitioners, people that want redress or are seek-
ing help or whatever and it is a fairly open society in that sense. It is
a means of keeping a finger on the pulse of potential discontent.

FUTURE SAUDI AID TO EGYPT

Mr. BINGIHAM. Are your figures for the special assistance based on
the assumption that Saudi Arabia will-let me rephrase that-on
what assumption with respect to Saudi Arabian assistance to Egypt
are your requests in this based ?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
For example, we did make some assumptions that certain past eco-

nomic, as opposed to military, assistance programs would be continued
in one form or another if not too much attention were paid to them.

The figures we came up with on the economic side were based on
those considerations. As far as the military program is concerned-T
am sure General Graves would want to contribute-we assumed the
Saudis will continue to pay for the F-5's.



91

Mr. BINIHAM. That was stated yesterday. Do you have anything to
add to that?

General GRAVES. No, sir. I think as far as the military program is
concerned, the only assumption was in the area of the F-5's.

Mr. BINGHAM. Thank, you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Findley.

SAUDI DISENCHANTMENT WITH THE UNITED STATES

Mr. FINDLEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Bingham brought up some fundamental questions about Saudi

policy. Would you venture, Mr. Draper, to assess the root cause of
Saudi disenchantment with the United States? I have heard it said
that there really is not an Israeli-Arab problem today so much as there
is an Israeli-Palestinian problem. Were it not for the Palestinian
problems, would our relationship with Saudi Arabia be intense, in
your opinion?

Mr. DRAPER. I believe that the Saudis have been somewhat unhappy
with our strategy as it came through in the Camp David Accords and
developed for two basic reasons. One was that the Saudis did not
believe the United States paid adequate attention to the Palestinian
issue, and second, that the Camp David Accords did not point to the
direction of, and clearly to, the final objective.

In the immediate post-Camp David period, they were not openly
critical but, as negotiations continued, I think that a growing feeling
developed in the Saudi establishment that Sadat was giving relatively
too much away, and had not adequately established linkage between
the Egyptian-Israeli treaty and the next stages and they were quite
alarmed at the prospect of a divided Arab world in the aftermath of
the treaty.

FUTURE UNITED STATES-SAUDI RELATIONS

Mr. FINDLEY. The next stage to which you refer is the stage involv-
ing the West Bank and Gaza which is the Palestinian issue, so I assume
from your answer the root cause is the Palestinian problem?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. MURRAY. Could I add something. I think there are three things

that are high on the Saudi-United States relationship agenda and
one is Palestinians and peace talks. Mr. Draper just explained the
second is oil where we are pressing them from time to time to produce
more than some Saudis would like or to have lower prices than some
Saudis believe are fair, and the third is security. The general area of
security, where up until recently they have felt we have responded
inadequately to the Soviet threat. That has been big on their agenda
for discussions with us. In early February at the President's direction,
Secretary Brown went out with Secretary Vance's approval and told
them we were going to be much more involved in security of the region,
we would pay much more substantive attention to it. We recognized
the vital interest we had there and following his visit we did respond
and the Yemeni-the way Mr. Draper said-that they received that
extraordinarily well.

The security side has been a plus for us in the last several months.



92

PROGRESS IN WEST BANK NEGOTIATIONS NEEDED

Mr. FINDLEY. If the United States, at this stage would state a posi-
tion in favor of self-determination for the West Bank and Gaza Strip,
how would the Saudis react to that new U.S. position ?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. FINDLEY. It was said they will have the right to participate in

the determination of their own future which is quite different from
self-determination.

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. FINDLEY. Does that mean self-determination?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. FINDLEY. But to help determine is quite different from the rather

trying notion of self-determination, would you agree on that?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. FINDLEY. But not to control the determination.
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. FINDLEY. Thank you Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCK r. Pease.
Mr. PEASE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

VIEWS OF U.S. AID

I am sorry I was not here for the hearing yesterday. I had to go back
to Ohio and I perhaps missed some of these elemental things, but do I
presume correctly that both Israel and Egypt are agreeable to the
amounts of aid we propose to give the other and the types of aid

Mr. DRAPER. They have made no objections in an official vein. I think
the leaders of each government recognize realistically that there are
needs on the other side. It was agreed by all three governments that
this was an essential ingredient of the peace treaty which has been of
benefit to Egypt as well as Israel.

Mr. PEASE. FMS sales to Egypt are for F-5's ?
Mr. DRAPER NO.

STATEMENT OF DAN O'DONOHUE, DEPUTY DIRECTOR, BUREAU
OF POLITICO-MILITARY AFFAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Mr. O'DONOHUE. In terms of the peace treaty, we have provided the
committee, I think a list of the items.

Mr. PEASE. Can you summarize that
Mr. O'DoNoHUE. [Security deletion.]

ISRAELI KNOWLEDGE OF EGYPTIAN ARMS REQUESTS

Mr. PEASE. Egypt has entered no objection to the list you outlined?
Israel, I mean. Is Israel aware of it

Mr. O'DONOHUE. I think they are.
Mr. MUaRAY. Israel is aware of it because the letters have been dis-

cussed in general terms with them. They are aware of approximately
what is on it and they have not objected to any of the items on there
including the F-4 aircraft which you can say is the most sophisticated
and capable item on the list.



93

Mr. O'DONOHUE. And the F-4 aircraft appeared in the press a month
or so ago.

Mr. PEASE. And this peace package includes $300 million additional
in economic aid for Egypt, is that correct ?

Mr. DRAPER. Yes.

USES OF ECONOMIC AID TO EGYPT

Mr. PEASE. What do we propose to use that for ?
Mr. DRAPER. We are in the process of deciding how that will be used

most effectively. It is $100 million a year in addition to our present
economic package which is a little short of $1 billion. The one thing
that has been agreed is to have some postgraduate fellowships for

S Egyptian students coming here to the United States. We are thinking
in terms of 1,500 fellowships over this period beginning this school year
in September.

Part of this will also be aimed at improving middle management
skills and the Egyptian system by extending our aid participant pro-
gram. The rest of the program we have not quite decided but we are
weighing some of the Egyptian priorities and some of their current
food needs which are quite considerable.

We are also probably going to adjust some elements of our present
planned program to, among other things, speed up certain projects,
make what we are doing a little more visible than it has been, and put
high priority on things like urban and rural health, sewage and water
systems.

VALUE OF PEACE TO EGYPTIAN PEOPLE

Mr. PEASE. The President's transmittal letter to Speaker O'Neill
says, "Supplemental assistance to Egypt as well as Israel clearly dem-
onstrates to the people of these two countries that we will help them
reap the advantages of peace."

It occurs to me that we are already providing over $800 million a
year in economic aid to Egypt, that an additional $100 million a year
is a drop in the bucket, hardly likely to demonstrate to the people of
Egypt, any more than we already are, the advantages of peace.

Mr. DRAPER. There are two parts in the answer. In the sense that we
are talking about a 3-year commitment, a sustained commitment to
Egypt, it is very, very important at this time as a vote of confidence.
It is accompanied by other ideas and concepts including the stationing
of an IBRD mission in Egypt itself to help attract other donor as-
sistance and involvement without having the United States out in
front.

Then, frankly, we looked at the improved balance-of-payments sit-
uation, the real growth in actual income which is over billionn in the
last 2 years and the medium term prospect. Egypt is not really doing
too badly and we did not think that we could realistically propose
anything more than this without an unbalancing of some of the
present progress being made by the Egyptians and perhaps sparking
a little bit too much inflation or upsetting this major idea of getting
an international program going under the IBRD.

So in our talks with other potential donors we talked about the
need for consistency and a multiperiod contribution so that the Egyp-

47-699-79----7



94

tian people will see over this period of the next few years that there
is some real international involvement. If we adjust our programs to
get programs moving more rapidly in areas which are high visibility-
health, water, sewage, and so forth-I think we will make that im-
pact and show the Egyptian people they have a real stake in peace.

U.S. VIEWS OF VALUE OF PEACE TO EGYPT

Mr. PEASE. It has been said on a number of occasions that Sadat is
in difficulty if the advantages of peace are not apparent to the people
of Egypt. Do we believe that? Is that just rhetoric or do we believe
that?

Mr. DRAPER. I think that is true. I accompanied Ambassador Strauss
on his mission to Egypt and to Israel where his objective was to pro-
mote a climate for increased trade and development and he was very
careful to put across the point that-I should not say put across the
point-we had to avoid raising expectations too high. He talks in
terms of "I am only opening the first few pages of a book that has to
be read." He was getting across the point that this is a long-term proc-
ess and, very interestingly, the Egyptian members of the private sec-
tor we met there said they were not expecting instant progress or with-
in a year and they recognized it was a political necessity not to raise
these expectations. But you can't deal with the real expectations of
the great mass of the poor Egyptians.

They are going to be expecting something and the time will probably
come in a year or so when we will have increased restlessness because
of that.

Mr. BINGHAM. Will the gentleman yield on that point ?
Mr. PEASE. I would be happy to.

IMPORTANCE OF ECONOMIC AID TO EGYPT

Mr. BINGHAM. Was any consideration given, in the light of that very
fact that it would help Egypt more to provide more economic assist-
ance and help persuade the people that this treaty was a good thing
for them, to perhaps giving less military and more economic
assistance?

Mr. DRAPER. What we presented to the Egyptians-we are talking
about a $1.1 billion program of economic assistance--is really huge by
any terms today.

Mr. BINGHAM. It has been huge but if you take into account the cut-
off of aid from Saudi Arabia and Kuwait it is not going to look so tre-
mendous to the Egyptians. It will mean a net decrease from what they
had the last couple of years.

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
You can see Egypt has improved its balance of payments. It is pay-

ing all its debts. Its canal revenues are going up. Its oil revenues will
go up significantly when they recover the Sinai and they may be going
toward a million barrels a day in the next 6 years. So they have a lot
of fairly good economic indicators there and a hardnosed analysis of
this would suggest the level we proposed is about the realistle one,
especially when they recognize the sense of continuity we are
projecting.



95

I think there is no question that President Sadat wants to put
the highest priority on economic and social development. The fact
we felt we had to put a military program in there of credits is because
the defense establishment basically is becoming increasingly obsoles-
cent since 1972. It is 1979, and a reasonable effort to recover and meet
their legitimate defense requirements seems indicated.

NEED FOR MILITARY AID TO EGYPT

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Will the gentleman yield
How would Egypt or other Arab States view an increase in economic

assistance and cutback on military assistance to Egypt when we can't
cut back on the massive military assistance to Israel ? Wouldn't they
perceive it as a failure on our part to keep Egypt militarily strong
enough to defend itself ?

Mr. DRAPER. I think your point is absolutely right. The Arabs would
be accusing-

Chairman ZABLOCKI. If we are looking for ways for the Saudis to
look upon this deal and this agreement as a credible one, I think we
must factor into that equation our military assistance to Egypt which
is needed.

EGYPTIAN ECONOMIC AID AND THE PEACE PROCESS

Mr. DRAPER. I agree witl you 100 percent, Mr. Chairman.
Absolutely.

Mr. PEASE. Mr. Chairman, I would like to make the point, closing
out this portion of my questioning, that we ought not to kid ourselves
if we are really concerned about the reaction of the average Egyptian
to a lack of material gain in the peace process, we ought not kid our-
selves that $100 million providing fellowships for 1,500 students com-
ing to the United States is going to do the job. I don't know how we do
it but some great attention needs to be paid to that if we are genuinely
concerned.

U.S. CONSTRUCTION OF ISRAELI AIRBASES

Was it covered yesterday ? Why we are constructing these airbases
in the Negev rather than letting Israelis do it?

STATEMENT OF LT. GEN. ERNEST GRAVES, U.S. ARMY, DIREC-
TOR, DEFENSE SECURITY ASSISTANCE AGENCY, DEPARTMENT
OF DEFENSE

General GRAVES. Briefly it is to minimize the impact on the Israeli
economy and to assist Israel in the management of the huge construc-
tion task that faces Israel because they not only have to relocate these
airbases but they have the task of relocating all the rest of the Israeli
forces in the Sinai and that will be a large management task.

Mr. PEAsE. The ownership will be entirely on the lands of the,
Israelis

General GRAVEs. It will be.

NUMBER OF U.S. MILITARY PERSONNEL FOR AIRBASE CONSTRUCTION

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I don't believe yesterday we had been advised
as to how many military Army engineer personnel will be involved in.
assisting the bases.



96

General GRAVES. Let me add that the military management is not
expected to exceed 30. There will be a U.S. Air Force contingent help-
ing with the determination of requirements and then there will be
some officers of the Army Corps of Engineers to oversee design and
construction. The total management force from the United States is
not expected to exceed 300. This will include quite a few civilian
engineers, civilian inspectors, civilian administrators, and finance
people managing the construction work.

POLITICAL CHANGE IN SAUDI ARABIA

Mr. PEASE. Finally, Mr. Chairman, this is a bit of a side issue but I
was really interested in the line of questioning of Mr. Bingham earlier
about Saudi Arabia and the future prospect for Saudi Arabia.

While admitting that Iran and Saudi Arabia are not alike in every
respect, there certainly does seem to be potential for revolution in
Saudi Arabia. I am curious to know if a revolution starts and it
appears to be a genuine indigenous revolution perhaps fostered by
some of those students who come to America and read the Declaration
of Independence and about our Revolutionary War, is the United
States going to be on the side of the King or the side of the people?

Mr. DRAPER. I think the one thing the United States is interested in,
when there is a revolution or change, is that the participants not be
unduly controlled or influenced by outsiders. I think that is one of our
compelling questions that we have to answer in these cases.

Mr. PEAsE. Assuming outsiders are not involved to any great degree.
Mr. DRAPER. I think it is too hypothetical for me to answer.
Mr. PEASE. Mr. Chairman, I would hope someone in the State De-

partment and the department of hypothetical thinking is looking at
that because we could be faced with that any time, and I think we
really need to be watching the basis for our policy toward Saudi
Arabia. In other words, are we going to continue the policy of assum-
ing that the royal family will be in charge and therefore'if we have
friendly relations with them our interests are taken care of, or are we
going to admit the possibility that the royal family may be out of
power and that for one reason or another we cannot build our energy
future and our foreign policy future on the royal family ?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. PEASE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Studds.
[No response.]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mrs. Fenwick.
Mrs. FENWICK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I wonder if you knew of any opposition, such as indigenous groups

forming-
Mr. iRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mrs. FENWICK. Nothing in the Army ?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

U.S. ADVICE TO SAUDI ARABIA

Mrs. FENWICK. Do you think we have been wise in the advice we
have given, the kind of development we have encouraged? Are you



97

satisfied that we have not led them down the garden path I What wor-
ries me are reports we have heard about projects encouraged by us
that don't fit into their lives at all. It may develop a feeling that a
great deal of their money has been spent on a lot of things they didn't
want and don't fit in with their lives.

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

EGYPrIAN ECONOMIC ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

Mrs. FENWICK. I was troubled by your statement we were concen-
trating on urban water systems and health not on agriculture and
population.

Mr. DRAPER. In Egypt.
Mrs. FENWIOK. Yes.
Mr. DRAPER. We have rural health programs in Egypt which are

doing very well.
Mrs. FENWICK. Does that include family planning
Mr. DRPER. It does not yet include family planning although we

are working with certain organizations there that would like to move
more rapidly in this direction. It is a social problem in states like
this. There was very strong resistance in the Nasser regime to any
efforts to conduct any kind of family planning, in part because some
of the Egyptian leadership felt they had to put the maximum of
population pressure in the scales in the struggle with Israel.

I think in a peace situation a new set of arguments might be devel-
oped. It is also a fact that the educated women in Egypt are in their
quiet way getting behind some of this movement, but right at the
moment we don't have anything.

As far as attention to agriculture is concerned I can assure you that
we are very much involved in expanding arable land in Egypt and
reclaiming lands. One important policy is trying to arrest the drift
of the movement of the rural population into the cities, which is a
gigantic problem, so as to give the people something in the rural area.

This is very much one of our concerns while improving irrigation
systems and other things. It is not just us, by the way, but the World
Bank also. We are very much involved in the agricultural area.

Mrs. FENWICK. What are these other countries Do they have pro.
grams for Egypt the way we have-is there an organized consortium
of donors?
* Mr. DRAPER. We don't call it a consortium. The Egyptians feel that
is a foul word, but we have a consultative group which includes Eu-
ropean states and Japan, and has included Arab States under the
World Bank. The Bank has agreed to take a stronger line and send a
permanent mission to Egypt, and that may bring in considerable
funds. We feel that there will be some expansion from European
sources, although some of the Arab States are putting pressure on the
donors not to involve themselves too deeply in Egypt.

Mrs. FENWICK. Who are the donors?
Mr. DRAPER. Belgium, the United Kingdom, Italy, Germany, Japan

are good examples.
Mrs. FENWICK. Thank you. Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Hamilton.



98

ISRAELI AIRFIELD REQUIREMENTS

Mr. HAMILTON. General Graves, why does Israel need two airbases
in the Negev instead of one

General GRAVES. Sir, it is a question of dispersing their forces against
attack. It is also a question of geographic coverage and vulnerability
of the field which is very close to Jordan. That one is within artillery
range of Jordan. It is also a question of the limitations of the sites in

Jerms of tile development that is possible.

U.S. CONTINGENCY FORCE PLANNING

Mr. IIAMILroN. Mr. Murray, there was a report in the New York
Times this past month about the United States devising contingency
plans to establish a force of troops, including combat soldiers, for use
in defense of American interests in the Middle East, particularly the
Persian Gulf. Is that proceeding?

Mr. MURRAY. The article I would say has elements of truth, Mr.
Chairman, but it is exaggerated. We customarily do contingency plans
and we are for the Middle East and have been for over a year con-
sidering the possibilities of American forces in various contingencies,
if we had to for instance evacuate Americans, if we had to resupply
third countries or if we had to get to the point of actually using
American forces. But we have not developed a special force in the way
the paper has indicated.

U.S. PROJECTION OF FORCE

Mr. HAIurLTON. Are we prepared to project power on the ground in
the Persian Gulf to protect the oilfields of Saudi Arabia

Mr. MURRAY. I would say we have the capability to do so.
Mr. HAMInTON. That kind of capability consists of what? How

many men and what kinds of units?
Mr. MURRAY. It would depend greatly on the circumstances and I

cannot give you a precise answer to that.
Mr. HAMILTON. 40,000 troops? Could we put 40,000 combat troops

*on the ground in the Persian Gulf in a period of time
Mr. MURRAY. Over time.
Mr. HAMILToN. In Saudi Arabia ? To protect the oilfields we could

tdo it; is that right?
-Mr. MuRRAY. Over time.
Mr. HAMILTON. What time?
Mr. MURRAY. I can't answer that. I can say that it depends on things

like lift, whether you use airlift or sealift. Whether you are willing to
take risks in other parts of the world. Is something going on in NATO
for instance. Then you might not want to put 100,000 there.

Mr. HAMILTON. Let us take the most extreme circumstance, the oil
fields are in jeopardy tomorrow. How many men could you get there
quickly

Mr. MURRAY. I can't answer that off the top of my head, Mr.
Chairman.

Mr. HAMILTON. Could you do it not off the top of your head, but
in a few days?



99

Mr. MURRAY. I could ask that question. I can't tell you how long.
Mr. HAMILTON. I would like to get an answer as accurately as you

can give it. I understand it is a difficult question.'
Mr. MURRAY. Can I give another example? In the situation in

Yemen where it was decided that Americans were out to play an
active role, including the possibility of a military role, we moved the
carrier Constellation in the Indiaii Ocean. We did that rapidly and
in that instance it established superiority.

Mr. HAMILTON. I am interested in the question of projecting Amer-
ican power on the ground in the Persian Gulf, principally Saudi
Arabia. That is what I am interested in. Not so much sea and airpower.
Do we have a greater capability today to project that power on the
ground than the Soviet Union would in the Persian Gulf area?

Mr. MURRAY. I believe so, sir, but I would like to add something
for the record if I may.

Mr. HAMILTON. Subsequently.
Mr. MURRAY. Yes.
[The Department of Defense response follows:]
The U.S. can now project air-and-sea forces to the Persian Gulf more effectively

than can the Soviets. Our advantages Include: superior long-range airlift, more
secure LOC's, and more operational experience. Soviet advantages include being
closer, and being potentially capable of moving substantial forces into or through
Iran by ground.

Mr. HAMILTON. Have we discussed with Saudi Arabia for example,
our contingency plans here? Do we involve them at all in the process?

Mr. MURRAY. We have discussed with Saudi Arabia their forces,
but we have not discussed with them our forces.

U.S. DEFENSE OF OILFIELDS

Chairman ZABLOCKI. What are the political aspects of putting our
military force for the purpose of defending the oilfields in Saudi
Arabia? Will Saudi Arabia agree?

Mr. DRAPER. I think it is very clear that the countries in the Middle
East do not want an American base, however friendly they are with us.
A permanent base. I think it is clear the countries out there in the
Middle East, including those most friendly with us, do not want an
American base.

Mr. WrNN. You didn't answer his question.
Mr. DRAPER. To go on, I think the Saudi's would want us to go all

out in their defense, if they were facing an external threat, for exam-
ple, to the oilfields, and they would expect us to bring every bit of
power we could to bear.

Mr. HAMILTON. Did you use the word "external threat"?
Mr. DRAPER. Yes.
Mr. HAMILTON. How about internal?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

IMPACT OF LOSS OF SAUDI OIL FIELDS

Mr. HAMILTON. What strikes me is that the American economy is in
immediate jeopardy if these oilfields go out. It does not matter

1 The response received from the Department of Defense was In a classified form and Is
retained In committee files.



100

whether the threat is external or internal. If you lose Saudi oil pro-
duction for a matter of days the American economy is in danger
of real jeopardy. Jobs would be lost. Plants would be closed. Every-
thing is affected. And the question then comes down to what extent
are we willing to project our power for whatever cause if the oilfields
are in jeopardy. And your answer is so far that we are prepared to do
it if the treat is external and you are not sure as I understand it if the
threat is internal.

Mr. DRAPF.R. [Security deletion.]
Mr. HAMILTON. But if it is that important we should have some idea

of what we can do, don't you think ? I understand the sensitivity of
the question. I appreciate that.

Mr. MURRAY. We would find the control of Saudi Arabia by some-
one hostile to the United States is an extraordinarily uncomfortable
thing and we would have to consider what actions to take up to and
including the use of force. And we have the forces but there are diffi-
culties in the forces, in the movement of the forces with speed to the
Middle East or to other distant parts. And that is why programs which
have for instance increased airlift are extraordinarily important.

Mr. BINGn A. Would the gentleman yield
Quoting Ambassador Akins. lHe said in his opinion there was no

way that we could militarily save the oilfields if they were taken over
by internal actions. There is no way we could militarily do anything
effective about it. Do you agree with that ?

Mr. MURRAY There is no simple answer because the range of scenar-
ios is enormous, and details matter. We could obviously help the
Saudi Government recover specific facilities or areas from terrorists
or small guerrilla groups, but even then we might find that the
facilities had been badly damaged.

SOVIET VETO OF U.N. EMERENCY FORCE

Mr. HAMILTON. Suppose you get a Soviet veto of U.N. peace-
keeping forces in Sinai, what happens? What could be the composi-
tion of such a multinational force? Who is going to pay for it? TWhat
are you going to do ?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. HAMILTON. They would pay for it? Or they would come back

and ask us to pay for it?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. HAMILTON. This question is coming to the fore fairly soon, isn't

it?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. HAMILTON. The peacekeeping mandate is running out when ?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. HAMIrTON. So we must be probing the Soviets now, are we not ?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. HAMILTON. Thus far, is their reaction negative?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. HAMILTON. So we anticipate a Soviet veto at the present time?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mrs. FENWICK. Will the gentleman yield I



101

Is it still as necessary now, as the peace treaty has been signed.
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. We are in the process of a vote. I know some

of the members still have questions. We will recess until 5:15 in order
to vote on the Solarz amendment to the Simon amendment.

We have a vote on $200 million in budget outlays with the Small
Business Administration, for small business loans.

We will recess until 5:15.
[A brief recess was taken.]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The subcommittee will please come to order.
Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

PAYMENT FOR PEACEKEEPING ACTIVITIES

Thank you for reserving my time. I would like to get back to the
peacekeeping question that Mr. Hamilton asked about. He asked you
who would pay for it and obviously you had not given much thought
to that. But, did you mention what other countries might join us if
the Soviets veto this?

Mr. DRAPER. I have not yet, sir.
Mr. WrwN. Would you?
Mr. DRAPER. This is almost pure guesswork so far.
Mr. WINN. But I think we are at a stage where we may have to be

guessing.
Mr. DR.PER. [Security deletion.]

OPTIONS IF TIJT-:(E IS NO U.N. PEACEKEEPING FORCE

Mr. WINN. What if those countries refuse and we are back to Presi-
dent Carter's letter to Sadat of March 26? He sent the same letter to
Begin, identical letters. The letter says, "If the Security Council fails
to establish and maintain the arrangements called for in the treaty, the
President will be prepared to take those steps necessary to insure the
establislminnt and maintenance of acceptable alternative multinational
force." Doesn't that mean that the U.S. troops would be involved?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. WINN. What if those other countries refuse?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. WINN. Have you had discussions with these countries about

that possibility?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. WINN. Would any of those countries that you mentioned in your

opinion not be acceptable to Israel or Egypt
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. WINN. Do you have any idea which countries might not support

the renewal of the mandate
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. WINN. Have the Soviets tried any linkage talks between that

and the SALT agreements ?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. WINN. Let me change the subject



102

Earlier this week before this committee, Mr. Saunders stated that
other countries have offered to assist the United States with the cost
of implementing this Middle East peace treaty. I wondered if you
were aware of any specific offer by any specific country that you could
tell us about at this time ?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mr. WINN. Is this aimed mainly at Egypt or also at Israel
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

STATUS OF ARAB ORGANIZATION FOR INDUSTRIALIZATION

Mr. WINN. What happened to the Arab organization for indus-
trialization since the peace treaty was signed?

Mr. DRAPER. I think the status of that organization is in limbo
because it was dependent upon investment from other Arab States, and
I think it is quite clear the Arab States are not going to put any
added money into this. The projects they had in mind, too, I think,
are in a temporary form of limbo.

Mr. WINN. There were no commitments made by anybody follow-
ing--

ir. DRAPER. That is the case. We don't expect any new commitments.
Mr. WINN. Would this type of organization, if it could be rekindled

under-would this type of consideration be constructive if we could
get it going?

Mr. DRAPER. Maybe Mr. O'Donohue would comment on that.
Mr. O'DNOHIIE. I think the organization itself has not posed a

major problem before. It is still fairly modest. Its accomplishments
were modest before the peace agreement. If they had or if they do
get the funding which has been indicated previously they would be
embarking on some coproduction schemes involving ALPHA jet
ground-air attack, trainer aircraft, helicopters, this sort of thing. As
Mr. Draper pointed out the whole question of funding is now very
dubious. We will have to see.

From our point of view we would not see this as the major source
for Egyptian or Middle East arms if it had developed even normally
at this time as you mentioned. The real question is until there is a
better fix on the Egyptian relations with Saudi Arabia and the other
participants we really can't make a prediction as to whether it will
get off the ground.

Mr. WINN. Is there anything else cooking in any type of organiza-
tion or are there any plans that this committee should know about or
that you are thinking about or talking about? Mr. Draper made the
point most of the support will come from private sources.

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

SAUDI SUPPORT FOR EGYPT

Chairman ZABLOCKI. If the Saudis have not made such payments,
does that make matters even worse as far as relation between the
Saudis and Egypt?

Mr. DRAPER. I am forced to agree that this is a bad moment in
Egyptian-Saudi relationships because President Sadat was caustic



103

in his references not only to the Saudis but to the Syrian leadership
and other Arabs, and King Hussein. The Saudis have to bear in mind,
however, that for their own security a moderate regime in Cairo is
important. How they will come down on this is hard to say. The
Saudis have been trying to create the impression with us to some
degree that, while they felt they had to go along with the Arab con-
census at Baghdad, they don't want to do anything that would really
affect the people of Egypt and they have left themselves a number
of loopholes in various ways. But I think, clearly, they are not going
to drive through those loopholes for awhile.

EGYPTIAN PAYMENT OF FMS SALES

Chairman ZABLOCKI. If the Saudis are not following through with
the payments, how will Egypt be in a position to pay for the FMS
sales?

Dr. DRAPER. We have not been informed of any change as far as I
know. In other words, we are assuming the Saudis are still going to
make the payments on the F-5's.

Chairman ZABLOCK. And if they do not ?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Do we have that much influence with themI
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

U.S. INFLUENCE WITH BAUDI ARABIA

Chairman ZABIOCKI. But the situation then was different. I don't
think we have too many blue chips with Saudi Arabia. Certainly after
a Member of the other body had made a statement about the Saudis
I think we are on the skids, myself.

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Do they want it that badly at the expense

of having problems with other Arab States?
Mr. MURRAY. There is another thing, that is to say, that although the

Saudis and President Sadat have their difficulties I don't think the
Saudis would like to see an unstable Egypt and on the whole they
would like Mr. Sadat, I think to survive. They recall that Mr.
Nasser was not very friendly with them and spent some time working
against them, so I think they have an interest as well as we in seeing
stability in Egypt, Mr. Chairman, so there is some incentive, despite
the arguments between them at the moment, for them to go forward
with the payments they have already promised and said they would
provide.

BALANCED U.S. POLICY IN THIE MIDDLE EAST

Chairman ZABLOOKT. Nevertheless is it not imperative that the
United States in its policy continue a balanced approach in the Middle
East in order to be influential with the Saudis and perhaps in the
future with other Arab States?

Mr. MURRAY. Yes. I think that is so.
Chairman ZABLOCKT. Could you give for illustrative purposes some

Steps the United States could take in this regard ?
Mr. MURRAY. To provide the F-5's ?



104

Chairman ZABsLod . Provide F-5's and on other policy positions
for political reasons in the area to give the Arab states, those par-
ticularly who are friendly to the United States who slipped away
from us including Jordan, some reasons to be more supportive of our
efforts?

Mr. MURRAY. I will let Mr. Draper answer that.
Mr. DRAPER. We simply have to keep an open dialog. I might add

that the Chief of the Jordanian Royal Court is coming here this
weekend and we will have talks at a high level with him. He is the
basic foreign policy advisor to King Hussein. We just have to have an
exchange with him as part of this ongoing dialog about current prob-
lems. The real success that could happen is if and when we show
some progress in the next stage of negotiations on the West Bank and
Gaza and the Palestinian issue. Then we will have added credibility
in the Middle East and the countries that are willing to give us the
benefit of the doubt will be encouraged by what is happening.

That is why it is so important to show that progress.
I think the dramt in the Middle East of the major evacuation by the

Israelis of half of Sinai in a short period of time, the giving up of
the oilfields in advance of when it was originally planned to do so,
the opening of El A'rish, the visits between the two chiefs of state,
President Sadat-plus Secretary Vance-and Prime Minister Begin,
will all show that movement is there. We will have to build on that
kind of momentum to show the doubters and skeptics that we are really
moving forward.

Chairman ZABLOCKi. Are you optimistic that all principal parties
,will be involved in the second stage of negotiations on the West Bank
and Gaza and the entire Palestinian question? To follow up my ques-
tion, do you believe the Israelis are fully cognizant of the fact that a
stable Egypt is also in Israel's best interest?

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]
Mrs. FENWICK. Will the gentleman yield

ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS

Don't you think perhaps the settlements on the West Bank are the
result of pressure from a group within their own party in the coun-
try itself rather than any determination on the part of the Govern-
ment? Don't you think it is that kind of pressure--

Mr. DRAPER. Definitely it is a domestic political problem for Prime
Minister Begin but the pressure there to settle is also quite genuine.

Mrs. FFENWICK. I saw a member of the opposition party over the
weekend and they are very much for some movement.

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

U.S. CONTACTS WITH WEST BANK RESIDENTS

Mrs. FENWICK. I wondered if there was any movement on our part
or any actions on our part to try to find some non-PLO Arabs on the
West Bank and talk to them, build them up and make them feel we
care about them. It seems to me awful to deal with terrorists, PX),
and yet we ought to be talking to some Arabs who aren't members. Can
you find any ? Are we trying

Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]



105

Chairman ZABLOCKI. This individual does not see any Israeli sin-
cere intentions on the West Bank and he made it very clear. And he
said, "I can't stick my neck out." No Arab will as long as the philos-
ophy of the Israeli Government will hinge on the West Bank issue.

Mr. DRAPE. [Security deletion.]
Chairman ZABLOCKr. I think we will have leaders in the West Bank

that will come to the forefront if there would be encouragement and
some indication that their efforts will not be in vain.

Mr. DRAPER. Yes. I agree.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. May I turn to another question?

ROLE OF EYIPT IN THE WORLD

In the recent DIA briefing it was alleged that the Egyptians have
come to view themselves as the policemen of North Africa and the Arab
World. Does the United States envision such a role for Egypt in the
future, bearing in mind the role of the Shah of Iran for the Persian
Gulf and do we intend to supply Egyptian military forces with equip-
ment necessary to deploy and sustain their armed forces far beyond
the borders of Egypt proper ? What is our position ?

Mr. MURRAY. If I may start on that, Mr. Chairman. I don't think
the Egyptians including President Sadat really see themselves as the
policemen of the area. They do see themselves as having an interest in
the area and what happens there and President Sadat has said things
that to let you, if you wish, believe that he had grand visions in mind.
In practice when you talk with him and with other Egyptians they
realize the difficult condition of their armed forces now, difficult con-
ditions of their economy and the great internal, therefore, problems
that they must overcome and all the equipment that we are selling
them will help to modernize a force that has been aging (a) by the
natural process of aging, things getting older and (b) because the
Soviet Union has not been supplying them with new items, spare parts,
nor have they had any other reliable foreign supplier.

So the equipment we are providing them will help-it certainly
won't in any sense complete the modernization of their forces-it will
not give them any really extended range operating capabilities. We
see very little signs that they actually have any visions of military
operations at far distant places. Now they can be'helpful to area states
through advisors or perhaps through spare parts supplies to some
people. They very, very much watch what happens in the Sudan for
instance and they coulc be helpful but that is on the whole not a very
significant endeavor.

It is not something they are gearing up for in a special way nor
does it come out of a Shah-like vision about a policeman role.

TRAINING OF EGYPTIAN MILITARY PERSONNEL

Chairman ZABLOCKr. Your response to my question leads me to
another. You said the Egyptians realize the difficult position of their
military forces. Would you comment on the general level of competence
of the typical Egyptian enlisted personnel, noncommissioned officer?
Did you mean in your response that they might not be sufficiently
trained to be able to absorb and properly utilize defense articles and
services that will be made available to them I



106

Mr. MuiRAY. I would like to ask General Graves to comment and I
would make one comment to begin with. I think the equipment we have
agreed to supply, subject to them deciding they wish to purchase it and
the Congress approving it, is equipment that we believe they can
absorb. It won't necessarily be easy in all cases as some things require
skill and they will have to work at it and they will have to work at
the training program.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. How many are being trained in the United
States at the present time

Mr. MURRAY. They are not being trained on the equipment we pro-
pose to sell them because we have not gotten to the point of actually
selling them things yet but there are some being trained.

Chairman ZABLOCKT. What training are we giving them?
General GRAVES. We did bring four Egyptian IP's, instructor pilots

here to transition into the F-5, precursor to--
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Four?
General GRAVES. This is their approach, which I think is an im-

portant element of the answer to your question. They are a profes-
sional military force. They have operated sophisticated equipment for
20 years. They acquitted themselves credibly in the 1973 War using
Soviet equipment. Their approach is to let us train a few people as
a cadre, and then they, in turn, train a much larger number of Egyp-
tians. They are not going, for example, for a massive training program
in English. They will not, as we have done in some other countries,
attempt to anglicize their entire force so they can have a one-on-one
with Americans.

They will have a nucleus that will of course have to know English
but they will take this skill, this knowledge and they in turn will train
their own people. So at this stage we are at an initial area. As you
know they have four services. They have an Army, a Navy, an Air
Force, and an Air Defense Service. Their Air Defense Service is
equipped with extensive Russian equipment. One of the proposals is
now to go to Hawk and they have people that know air defense
equipment.

There is no question because I have talked with them. They know
air defense. They know missiles and they know that they will have
to become familiar with our particular equipment, but we don't have
to ground the Egyptian Air Defense Force in the theory of modern
air defense. The same thing would apply to their Air Force. Tley
have been operating Mig aircraft. Now they have to transition to our
F-5's and our F-4's. But amain we are talking about people that are
highly skilled so I personally don't feel that it is different from the job
we do in our own forces when we introduce a new weapon system.

They have skilled pilots. They have to learn new aircraft. Their
Navy is very impressive in terms of its competence to operate their
ships.

COMPARISONS OF EGYPTIAN AND OTHER NATIONS' PERSONNEL

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Would you, in order to give us a better per-
spective, compare their performance to that of personnel from other
countries such as Morocco, Yemen, Jordan, and Saudi Arabia. How do
they compare with the Egyptians?



107

General GRAVEs. As far as Yemen is concerned, we know about tran-
sition training that is going on for the Yemen pilots with respect to
the F-5's and there is no question in my mind that the Egyptians are
showing a higher skill than the Yemenis in those terms. I would say
that they are doing as well as our experience with either the Pakistanis
or the Moroccans. They have a force which has professional qualities
in terms of military knowledge, technical aptitude and the like.

Mr. BINOHAM. Would the gentleman yield?
How would you compare them to the Iranians that have been under

training
General GRAVES. I believe they are as capable or more capable than

the Iranians. Of course their military tradition goes back. You have
to look at their involvement in World War II. The relationship they
had with Great Britain for many years. They have roots in that rela-
tionship. They also, quite interestingly, had extensive contact with
the Soviet Union and so I guess what I am saying is there has been
a longer history of contact with various Western powers, or European
powers, if you want to speak of where there is a high level of sophis-
tication in military science. From my own contact with the senior
people they are no backward Third World nation in terms of military
capability. Now I don't want to minimize what it is going to require
for them to shift from a variety of Soviet equipment to a variety of
American equipment. That would be a big job for our own forces but
I don't have reservations with respect to their professional competence.

I don't think there is any country in the world that brings to a
logistic situation the sophistication of the United States, so I think
their approach to logistics is one area in which we will hopefully be
giving them upgrading. That is the American system and we are better
at it than anybody in the world. That is one place we will probably
have to help.

UNITED STATES-ISRAELI DEFENSE COOPERATION

Chairman ZABLOCKI. If I may now ask a question on behalf of Mr.
Hamilton who is unable to be here. The question deals with our under-
standing of the proposal that the United States and Israel enter into
agreements for cooperative research and development and military
procurements. This proposal was made in a letter to the Israeli Defense
Minister from Secretary Brown. How would such cooperative projects
be different from or similar to cooperative projects involved in the
United States and their NATO partners? As you know the House
recently passed amendments to the Arms Export Control Act which
would insure the right of NATO members participating in cooperative
projects to procure the final products of such R. & D. efforts without
the threat of congressional veto.

Does the administration tend to seek similar guarantees of sales of
defense articles developed jointly by the United States and Israel?
And the third question in this respect is with regard to what changes
in DOD procurement regulations will be required if Israeli Industry
is to be able to fully participate in competitive bidding for the U.S.
defense market

You may want to provide this for the record.
Mr. MURRAY. I will be pleased to provide it for the record.
[The information follows:]



108

The Memorandum of Agreement speclfled that cooperative R&D projects will
be Identified and negotiated into a separate annex based on mutual interest and
clearly established benefits to the United States as well as to Israel. It is Im-
portant for the United States and its friends to make maximum use of very
finite resources for research and development as well as procurement to keep
our security strong. In our view, use of Israel's Innovative technological base
as an extension of our own would result in development, production, and repair
of selected equipment at lower costs. In that sense, the programs are likely to
be similar to those with NATO. We do not, however, envision the Israeli projects
as attaining the scope of our NATO efforts with respect to weapons standardiza-
tion and Interoperability. Israeli programs will not be considered which are
deemed to Ib incompatible with that broader goal. We will consider only those
programs which do not have an adverse effect on our broader NATO goals.

It would be premature at this point to seek similar guarantees of sales of
defense articles developed jointly by the United States and Israel. The AECA
amendment does not guarantee that any sales by a NATO participant in a
particular cooperative R&D project may be made on a non-participant In such
projects. It final products of such R&D efforts fall under the provisions of the
Arms Export Control Act, clearly Congressional notification will be required.
However, until we have a clearer idea of the precise nature of the cooperative
programs, we would prefer to continue on a case-by-case basis as currently
prescribed by law.

No change will be required for those products and services which both gov.
ernments mutually negotiate Into the annexes of the Memorandum of Agreement
(DOD competitive procurement will be limited to items identified in the annexes).

SINAI SUPPORT MISSION

Chairman Z.A~RIcKI. I understand that the President has requested
authority to transfer the physical plant of the Sinai Field Mission
to Egypt as excess to U.S. Government property. Is that true?

Mr. MR.RAYn. Yes.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. What other U.S. agencies or private voluntary

organizations might have use for that physical plant and has the U.S.
Government discussed with the Government of Israel the possibility
of using the Sinai Field Mission sites for some joint scientific or
technical activity? In the event no civilian use of Sinai Field Mis-
sion physical plant is found will the United States make the physical
plant available to the U.N. force for its use ?

IMr. MURRY. I will be pleased to answer the first st of questions
for the record that you asked and I think the second set of questions
are more properly in Mr. Draper's hands and if I may ask him to
do that.

Mr. DmRAPER. We will submit those for the record.
[The information follows:]

Question. What other U.S. Government agencies, U.N. agencies, or Private
Voluntary Organizations might have use for the physical plant?

Answer. We have been unable to identify any U.S. Government or U.N. agency
or any private voluntary organiation that might have use for the Sinai Field
Mission physical facilities following closure of the Mission next January. It is
located on a barren plateau above the Olddi Pass In western Sinai. a site selected
for its suitability as a headquarters for the U.S. early warning mission under
the Sinal II Agreement but not really suitable for other civilian purpose. The
IMrector of the USAID Mission to Egypt visited the SPM Headquarters in
March to determine whether it could be used as a base for development projects
in the Sinai following Implementation of the EgyptianTsraell Peace Treaty. The
RFM camp, however. Is not suitable for such purpose: it Is too large for the
kinds of operations that may be feasible, and the cost of the support and main-
tenance staff that would be required to make use of the Mbas would be pron
hibltlve. For the same reanons, the facilities are not suitable for any Private
Voluntary Organization that might contemplate activity in the Sinal,



109

The only use that the U.N. might make of SFM facilities in the Sinai would
be as a headquarters for a U.N. force monitoring implementation of Peace Treaty
arrangements. We understand, however, that suitable alternative arrangements
have been worked out to accommodate the U.N. forces now in the area for the
three-vear period preceding full implementation of the Peace Treaty.

Quation. Has the U.S. Government discussed with the Government of Egypt
the possibility of using the Sinai Field Mission sites for some joint scientific or
technical activity?

Answer. There has been some very informal and preliminary discussions of
such a possibility with Egypticn officials, but, to date, there has been no serious
proposal to use the 8FM facility in support of joint scientific or technical activity.

Question. In the event that no civilian use of the Sinai Field Mission physical
plant is found, will the U.S. Government make the physical plant available to
the United States force for its use?

Answer. The request for legislative authority to transfer the physical facili-
ties and related property of the SFM to the Government of Egypt is based on
the assumption that there will be no further U.S. Government need to use the
facilities once the Mission is terminated. If, on the other hand, a continuing need
for the facilities should develop for the U.S. to support arrangements for imple-
menting the terms of the Egyptian-Israeli Peace Treaty, we would propose to
use them for this purpose.

Question. What is the current plan for the disposition of the equipment includ-
ing sensors, computer terminals, vehicles, furnishings and assorted support items
for the Sinai Field Mission following the termination of that facility's activities
later this year?

Answer. All of the sensors, communications and related electronic and sur.
veillance equipment at SFM will be returned to the United States where there
is a continuing need for such equipment. Other items such as vehicles, furnish-
ings, equipment and supplies will be declared "excess" and offered to other U.S.
Government Missions in adjacent countries. Thereafter, in accordance with U.S.
laws and property management regulations, remaining "excess" property would
be offered to the United Nations and private American voluntary organizations
in the area. There are no computer terminals at the SFM headquarters.

Questions. What is the best current estimate of the value of the Sinai Feld
Mission physical plant that will be left in the Sinai? What will its estimated
value be when and if it is declared excess and transferred to Egypt?

Answer. We estimate that the original cost to the U.S. Government of the
buildings and ancillary equipment that we might turn over to Egypt, provided
there is no other U.S. Government requirement for them, was about $10 million.
The precise list of items to be included would be the subject of negotiations at
the time of transfer. In 1976 we estimated that it would cost about $8.3 million
to move and relocate these facilities to another site in the area. The cost today
of such a move would probably be in excess of $11 million.

Question. Would sale of the physical plant to Egypt be financed by the use of
the supplemented Economic Support Fund monies authorized by the Special Se-
curity Assistance Act of 1979?

Answer. We do not propose to sell the SFM physical plant to Egypt. If there
is no further U.S. Government need for the facilities, they would be transferred
at no cost to the Government of Egypt.

Chairman ZABLOCKr. Mr. Bingham.
Mr. BINOHAM. Thank you.

SURVEYS OF .EGYPTIAN MIITrARY REQUIREMENTS

I would like to pursue the question of Egyptian military require-
ments. Can you tell us in what order the specific tasks were assigned
to the three teams that I understand were dispatched there ?

General GRAVES. Yes, sir. The first group that went there was not
formally called a team. It was a group of navy personnel who went
there to discuss with the Egyptian Navy the interest of the Egyptian
Navy in obtaining U.S. ships and also to discuss with the Egyptian
Navy requests from the Egyptian Navy regarding any assistance in
maintaining their present ships, more specifically the pressure testing

47-699-79---8



110

of the hulls of some submarines that had been obtained from the Soviet
Union. Because of the age of the submarines they were not able to
assure their safety, and they wanted our help.

The second team is an air defense team, which is there today, and
that team is making a requirement survey of the Egyptian air defense
forces in relation to the proposal to furnish [security deletion] bat-
teries of improved Hawk which would replace a portion of the Soviet
air defense system which cannot be supported any longer in the absence
of Soviet logistic support.

The third team would be in the area of vehicles for the army. They
will look into the area of armored personnel carriers, recovery vehicles
and the like. They will conduct a requirement survey to determine
what the requirements of the Egyptian Army are in the vehicle area.

I should mention another team but this is an Egyptian team which
is in the United States now for the purpose of discussing with our
Air Force the acquisition of aircraft. The reason that it has come
this way is because undoubtedly most of the aircraft would be acquired
from our forces rather than from new procurement, more specifically
F-4 aircraft. The Egyptians came to look at these F-4 aircraft, to
find out about them, and to reach a decision as to whether they would
procure them. Their efforts do correspond to the four services of the
Egyptian forces.

PROSPECTIVE ARMS SALES TO EGYPT

Mr. BINGHAr. Do you recall how many Hawk batteries we were
talking about in the Jordan sale?

General GRAVEs. Thirteeen.
Mr. BINGHAM. [Security deletion.]
General GRAVES. [Security deletion.] In terms of the total air defense

region it is a smaller part. In other words the 13 batteries in Jordan
are deployed as a country defense. Jordan is a much smaller country
than Egypt.

Mr. BINGHAM. What is the status of the sale of remotely piloted
vehicles ?

General GRAVES. The FMS sale was processed, but Egypt declined
to sign the letter of offer. After we had notified Congress, we provided
a letter of offer, but Egypt, I think primarily for financial reasons,
was unable to proceed.

Mr. BTNGHAM. What type of craft were these, cruise missiles?
General GRAVES. No, sir, they were strictly remotely controlled re-

•connaissance vehicles. They go out and take photographs. Egypt is
now investigating and discussing with us the possibility of acquiring
some surplus or excess U.S. vehicles. We are reducing our own inven-
tory of this type of equipment because we are going more to other
reconnaissance means, and Egypt may acquire some of those instead.

Of course this would be a much reduced cost to them since they
would be excess to our requirements.

EGYPTIAN IMET TRAINING

Mr. BINoHAr, . Do you anticipate increasing IMET to Egypt?
General GRAVES. We have proposed $1 million in the 1980 budget

which, of course, would be an increase over what was provided previ-



111

ously. We think that amount is adequate but we are looking forward
to the advantage of IMET in terms of developing our interrelationship
with the Egyptian military.

Mr. MURRAY. Could I add something ? One of the points the Egyp-
tian Minister of Defense made to me when General Graves and I were
in Egypt was he very much wanted to emphasize this kind of training
with us because all his forces have been trained by the Soviets and he
wanted them to have associations with Western peoples particularly
with Americans. He put a very high premium on it.

May I also say, Mr. Bingham, that in all of this we are just at the
beginning of a relationship with the Egyptians so this list for Egypt
is not as tightly drawn if you will, as one for Israel for example.
The Egyptians themselves still need to understand our systems before
they make decisions.

Mrs. FENWICK. Will the gentleman yield ?

EGYPTIAN PURCHASE OF DESTROYERS

Just on the point of what they are buying. I understand they have
asked for destroyers rather than missile boats. On the other hand
missile boats are cheaper. Why did they ask for destroyers?

Mr. MURRAY. To replace old destroyers they have. They are discover-
ing our destroyers are also old destroyers. These are the ones we would
make available to them. They might like smaller patrol craft and
indeed they do want patrol craft. In fact we don't have any patrol
craft. If you want patrol craft you go to a shipyard and you order
them and you wait for years and eventually you get them. They were
looking for some shorter cuts.

Chairman ZABLOCKT. Would the gentleman yield?
If they wanted destroyers couldn't we have sold them the ones from

Iran?
General GRAVES. They couldn't afford those, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. They could have gotten them at a bargain.

We are telling our people now that the Navy is getting them at a bar-
gain.

Mr. BINGHAM. It is still $628 million.
Mr. MURRAY. A bargain to one man, Mr. Chairman, is not neces.

sarily a bargain to another.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. We could give them a wholesale right.
Mrs. FENWICK. A knocked down rate.

EGYPTIAN LOGISTICS AND SUPPORT

Mr. BINGHAM. I have a couple more questions. What about Egypt's
logistic support and maintenance efforts. Will they be requiring some
assistance from us? You mentioned training in this regard. Will they
also be requiring assistance?

General GRAVEs. We will provide logistic assistance with respect to
each system that we provide. We probably will not be at least initially
attempting some overall support efforts such as the peace log pro-
gram in Iran, because peace log was an effort to revamp or upgrade the
entire Air Force logistic system for Iran where we were heavily
.engaged.



112

In the case of Egypt we will provide support for the specific air.-
craft systems that we are providing, but we are not proposing to re-
organize the entire Egyptian logistic system.

Mr. BINGIHAM. That involves incentives to speed up deliveries to
them.

General GRAVES. In the case of Peace Log we got the contractor heav-
ily engaged and then we had the problem of providing incentives for
the contractor to bring this effort to a conclusion and turn it over to
the Iranians rather than becoming a permanent fixture in the Iranian
logistic system.

EGYPTIAN ANGER AT SAUDI ARABIA

Mr. BINGIHAM. Mr. Draper, why do you think President Sadat got.
teed off on the Saudis, the way he did ?

Mr. DRAPER. He was holding himself in.
Mr. BINGHAM. He was ?
Mr. DRAPER. [Security deletion.]

TRANSFER OF SENSITIVE WEAPONS TECHNbLOGY

Mr. BINGHAM. Finally General Graves could you comment on the
concern that some of us have about the transfer of technology in the
area comparable to concerns that were expressed about the transfer of
the AWACS to Iran, which fortunately never took place. To what
extent is that general consideration given priority in the thinking
about transfers in this area?

General GRAVES. Let me say that we do give careful scrutiny to each
weapon system. In the case of Egypt we do not believe that any of the
systems represent a new level of risk to the United States. We will be
providing the export version of the improved Hawk. We are pro-
viding improved Hawk worldwide. I don't mean to say we want to turn
over improved Hawk to the Soviet Union but I don't think supply of
this to Egypt when we have already supplied it to Jordan and Israel
and other places represents a higher level of risk.

The one weapons system in this entire array that might raise a
question would be the [security deletion] which is the latest model of
the [security deletion].

The technology for the production of the [security deletion].
Mr. BINoGAM. This is just Israel ?
General GRAVES. It is going with the [security deletion] because the

two are matched, if you will, in the capability. The [security deletion]
represent a comparable level of advanced technology and to provide
one and not the other would be not exploiting them. We are not pro-
viding [security deletion] to Egypt. So that is the single example that
needs to be made.

Let us say it has been thoroughly considered in the Pentagon and
people are comfortable with providing the [security deletion].

Mr. BINGHAM. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

DIVERSIONS OF IRANIAN ARMS

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I have a question on a list of diversions of
Iranian material. It seems like quite a shopping list here. Iran ap-
parently has really a vast amount of military materials that we are



113

now not going to send to them. I see that in the Middle East area Israel,
Jordan, Saudi Arabia, and Yemen are going to receive equipment
destined for Iran, but Egypt is not getting any of these diversions.

General GRAVES. That is a question of types and timing. Most of
the items on that list are types of equipment that we were supplying
to these other countries anyway and, in most cases, had already sup-
plied the same type. It fitted in with the timing of deliveries and their
requirements to fill their requirements with Iranian diversions.

At this stage we have not identified any items on the Iranian list
that would conveniently go to Egypt. However, let me make a point
that we are diverting improved Hawk missiles from Iran. Some will go
to Jordan and some will go to Israel, and depending upon the sale
of improved Hawk to Egypt it is conceivable some Iranian improved
Hawk missiles will go to Egypt.

They are not on your list, Mr. Chairman, because your list is of
those which are relatively firm, and none of the Egyptian programs
is at this stage sufficiently firm to qualify for the list you have.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I have some additional questions arising from
the list of diversions. For example, the Israelis are going to receive
the F-16 aircraft. These are not in addition to the 75 already ordered

General GRAVES. NO, sir. It is only advancing the delivery date.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. As far as all of these quantities of materiels

being diverted from Iranian orders to the list of countries I have
before me. These diversions are taking place only because they either
have the contract for or there may be a letter of offer to these countries
for these weapons or materiels ?

General GRAVES. I suspect there are very few, if any, instances on
that list where the sale had not already been notified to Congress last
year or the year before. The letter of offer and acceptance had already
been concluded, and we are simply using the Iranian items to make the
delivery, as in the case of Israel, earlier than we otherwise would.

There may be some special instances, but I can't think of any right
now, where it is a new sale. It is just supplying items on an old sale.

DIVERSIONS OF IRANIAN ARMS TO TURKEY

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I note that Turkey is not on this list. Is it be-
cause Turkey falls into the same category where you say they are not
prepared to receive it or haven't they asked? I understand the execu-
tive branch is going to ask for supplemental for some $50 million in
FMS for Turkey.

General GRAVES. I think that is just a matter of the items they are
requiring, Mr. Chairman. The main deliveries have been made to
Turkey now. F-4 aircraft, for example, which were not involved in
Iran. Various vehicles. I think it is a coincidence rather than a pattern.

COSTS OF DIVERTED MATERIELS

Chairman ZABLocKI. A very simple question, but diversions of
Iranian materiel are at cost, not at discount

General GRAVEa. No, sir, the policy on that is that they are diverted
at the cost, whatever they cost.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. The only advantage to the recipient country
of diverted materiel would be the time element ?



114

General GRAVES. There might be some cost advantages because of
inflation.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Have you been to the shopping centers lately.
If you are there in the morning you may be able to buy the item at
a much lesser amount than at 5 o'clock in the afternoon because they
took the inflationary cost and put the new sticker on it.

General GRAvES. That is my point.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. But you are going to sell it at the preinfla-

tionary price?
General GRAVES. We will sell it at the price we contracted it for Iran

a year or two or three ago and it is being delivered in the next year
or so. It might be significantly cheaper than if we were contracting
new for it now. This is the point in the case of the four ships going
to the United States.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. It is a good thing we are getting a bargain for
a change.

Mrs. FENWICK. If there are other questions, Mr. Chairman, may
we submit them for the record?

Chairman ZABLOCKI. There is a vote on the Symms amendment to
the Simon amendment to reduce funds for food stamps by $500 mil-
lion. We ought to show Mr. Symms the shopping list.

COST OF DIVERTED IRANIAN F-16 TO ISRAEL

Could we have for the record for example the cost of the F-16 air-
craft for Israel? They were contracted for at the same time.

General GRAVES. There wasn't any saving in cost because of learning
curve effects. The first aircraft cost more than the later aircraft but
inflation offsets that so they cost about the same, no matter which time
you buy them.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. We are not making any money with this
diversion?

General GRAVES. NO. As a matter of equity we did not. We thought
from an equity point of view we should not.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. You have to be a businessman.
General GRAVES. But the Arms Export Control Act is specific in

this regard. It says we shall neither make money nor lose money on
these sales. Congress has been very-

Chairman ZABLOCKr. The Arms Export Control Act prevents you
from making any money ?

General GRAVES. That is right, yes, sir. It is very specific on that.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. We better take a look at that. I am in full

agreement we don't lose money but I think if we have an opportunity,
if the country wants our military items and we have them available
and if we make a couple of bucks on it, I don't think that is
unreasonable.

General GRAVES. The act is so structured that we are supposed to
charge only actual costs and we spend a lot of time making sure that
is all we do.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I believe Congress did not foresee we would
have a diversion situation as we have here in Iranian materiel. You
should take a look at that act.



115

General GRAVES. Just one more sentence. In working out the
memorandum of understanding with Iran on the diversions we were
very careful to establish a procedure where we would reimburse the
Iranian trust funds for that part that Iran had spent for these
weapons that could be useful to another purchaser. The other pur-
chaser would pay only that exact amount so nobody would gain or
lose by these diversions.

Chairman ZAnLOCKI. Thank you very much, gentlemen.
Thl- committee stands adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 6:25 p.m. the joint subcommittees adjourned to

reconvene at 3 p.m., Tuesday, May 8, 1979.]
[Responses by General Graves to additional questions submitted

by Representatives Broomfield and Fenwick follow:]

RESPONSES BY GENERAL GRAVES TO ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY
REPRESENTATIVES BBOOMPIELD AND FENWICK

Question. One of the reasons used by U.S. Embassy officials in Cairo for selling
F-5's and other equipment to Egypt is that such sales and the related training,
operations would give the U.S. greater access to Egyptian officers. The Egyptian
government in the past had limited such contacts. Can Egyptian officers below
the rank of general now meet with U.S. officers without permission being granted
by higher authorities? The U.S. had an extensive sales and training program
with Iran, yet Iranian Air Force personnel were among the first military men
to come out against the Shah. Do arms sales programs thus really have much
of a beneficial impact when internal strains emerge in a society?

Answer. Equipment sales to the Government of Egypt (GOE) have greatly
increased U.S. access to Egyptian officers. U.S. Military personnel have access
to Egyptian officers at all levels. Survey teams returning from Egypt report
that they were allowed to talk to any military personnel they wished to. The
U.S. Office of Military Cooperation (OMC) has established excellent rapport
all levels in both the Egyptian Ministry of Defense and the services directly
involved in U.S. programs. While Egypt has continued the same rules as In the
past for personnel of the Defense Attache's Office (DAO), OMC personnel are
allowed to contact any Egyptian military personnel connected with U.S. pro-
grams. There is a real need for the Armed Forces in Egypt to modernize; they
have received little new equipment since the early seventies and much of the
Soviet origin equipment provided Egypt has long since gone beyond its expected
useful life. Modernizing the equipment of the Egyptian forces and establishing
close relationships between the U.S. and Egyptian military are part of the overall
fabric of improved U.S.-Egyptian relations. We look to these steps to enhance
Egypt's feeling of security and to provide the conditions under which Egypt
may improve economic and social conditions. This combination of measures is
aimed at strengthening Egypt's ability to deal with the internal strains that
inevitably accompany rapid development such as Egypt is attempting.

Question. Would there be any restrictions on the use of the Egyptian equip-
ment outside Egypt, for example, in the Sudan?

Answer. Yes. In accordance with sections 3(a)(2) and 3(d) of the Arms
Export Control Act, purchasers must agree not to transfer title to, or possession
of, any purchased defense item and not to use, or permit the use of, such item
for purposes other than those for which furnished without prior U.S. consent
and prior report to the Congress of any intent to grant such U.S. consent. These
statutory provisions are implemented in the Letter of Offer and Acceptance.

Under the terms of the 1952 mutual defense agreements with Egypt, such
reimbursable assistance may be used by Egypt "solely for Egypt's internal se-
curity and legitimate self-defense or as may be further mutually agreed" be-
tween the USG and Egypt "for the promotion of international peace and se-
curity within the framework of the Charter of the United Nations."

Therefore, any use of Egypt involving the deployment of these items in
Sudanese territory, pursuant to Egyptian participation in a regional or collec-
tive arrangement or measure consistent with the U.N. Charter, would require
Egypt to secure prior USG consent therefor. Failure by Egypt to secure such



116

prior USG consent could result In Egyptian ineligibility for future FMS credits
in accordance with section i(c) of the Arms Export Control Act.

Question. What is the statue of the proposal to sell F-4 phantom jets to Egypt?
How many would be involved?

Answer. Discussions are currently ongoing with the Egyptians for the pur-
-chase of an as yet undetermined number of F-4E aircraft from the U.S.

4

a



SUPPLEMENTAL 1979 MIDDLE EAST AID PACKAGE
FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

TUESDAY, MAY 8, 1979

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,

Washington, D.O.
The committee met at 10:37 a.m., in room 2172, Rayburn House

Office Building, Hon. Clement J. Zablocki (chairman) presiding.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The committee will please come to order.
We meet this morning to hear testimony from Hon. Cyrus Vance,

Secretary of State, and Hon. Harold Brown, Secretary of Defense,
oi the President's legislative proposal for additional assistance to
Egypt and Israel in support of the recent treaty signed by the two
countries.

PURPOSE OF LEGISLATION

Specifically, the President's requested legislation, a copy of which
is before each member, will provide assistance for the construction
of airbases in Israel to replace those to be given up in the Sinai, addi-
tional foreign military sales credits for both countries and it also pro-
vides economic support assistance for Egypt.

Subsequent to the submission of this request, the President has also
requested the authorization to transfer facilities of the U.S. Sinai
field mission to Egypt.

The proposed legislation would authorize fiscal year 1979 supple-
mental appropriations totaling $1.47 billion which in turn would
finance programs totaling $4.8 billion.

The Subcommittee on International Security and Scientific Affairs
and the Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle East have already
conducted joint hearings on the President's request as well as on the
peace treaty.

This afternoon, the two subcommittees will meet to consider recom-
mendations to the full committee on the'request for legislation. It is
the Chair's intention to bring the subcommittees' recommendations
before the full committee tomorrow following completion of the
markup of the Export Administration Act.

Secretary Vance, Secretary Brown, it is indeed a pleasure to welcome
you aain to the committee.'May I suggest that you present your pre-
pared statements or summarize them if you prefer and then the com-
mittee members will direct questions to you together as a team.

Secretary Vance, you may proceed, please.

STATEMENT OF HON. CYRUS R. VANCE, SECRETARY OF STATE

Mr. VANcr. Thnnk you very much, Mr. Chairman. It is indeed a
pleasure for me to be here and to meet with the committee again today.

(117)



118

NEW ERA OF PEACEFUL COOPERATION

Together with our Egyptian and Israeli colleagues, we have traveled
a long and. at times, a very difficult road during the past 17 months.
That journey has been rewarded by the conclusion of an agreement
which represents a watershed in the region. The Middle East has been
changed for the better and the world has moved a step closer to peace.

A few days ago at a site near the battlegrounds of the past, Israel
and Egypt exchanged the instruments of peace. The era of bloodshed
is over. A new era of peaceful cooperation can lie ahead.

It should be noted that the process leading to this event did not begin
with this administration. The negotiations and the agreements con-
cluded in the wake of the 1973 war laid the groundwork for further
progress. These were the disengagement agreement of January 1974
and the Sinai II agreement completed in September of 1975.

The members of this committee are already familiar with the main
provisions of the treaty. Let me simply note that the treaty applies
the essential equation of the Security Council Resolution 242 to th'e
Sinai Peninsula, Israeli withdrawal from the territory occupied during
the 1967 war and on the part of Egypt, acknowledgment of Israeli
sovereignty, territorial integrity and political independence, and Is-
rael's right to live in peace within secure and recognized borders.

The validity and value of Resolution 242 have been borne out by the
success of the negotiations between Egypt and Israel. It continues to
be the agreed basis for those remaining negotiations necessary to con-
clude a comprehensive peace in the Middle East.

CONGRESSIONAL ACTION ON THE PEACE AGREEMENTS

My particular purpose today is to concentrate on the agreements
reached which will involve congressional action. Let me turn to the
financial undertakings of the United States associated with the peace
process. All of these undertakings were agreed subject to appropriate
congressional action.

In evaluating these requirements, it is essential to keep in mind the
far greater potential cost of failing to make progress toward peace in
the Middle East. Four wars in that region have cost the U.S. tax-
payers several tens of billions of dollars in direct .osts alone. The cost
of peace is modest when compared with the cost of further war.

I want to stress three general points about the aid package for
Egypt and Israel we are seeking as an addition to the present basic
programs for both countries.

First, the proposed fiscal year 1979 supplemental assistance is a
coherent, interrelated package which requires urgent congressional
action. It is a careful balance between foreign policy and budgetary
requirements.

Second, the funds requested are to be available to finance programs
over a 3-year period.

Third, the impact on our budget is considerably lower than the
overall amount of money that will be generated for the loan. This is
because our foreign military sales loans will be provided by the Fed-
eral Financing Bank, guaranteed by the U.S. Government. Accord-
ingly, as you indicated, Mr. Chairman, Congress is being asked to



119

authorize and appropriate $1.47 billion over 3 years in order to finance
programs with a total value of $4.8 billion.

Secretary Brown will speak in greater detail about our military
assistance request. Let me make a few general observations about the
package as a whole.

The bulk of the additional assistance for Israel and Egypt is to help
them meet urgent security requirements. This totals about $4.5 billion,
approximately $3 billion for Israel and $1.5 billion for Egypt.

Of that amount for Israel, about $800 million will be in the form of
grant aid to help finance the construction of two fields which will be
moved from the Sinai to the Negev. This assistance will enable Israel
to withdraw in the 3 years agreed under the treaty in a manner
consistent with its security requirements. The remaining sum for
Israel and the entire military program for Egypt are in the form of
foreign military sales financing to be provided on favorable terms.

The military program for Israel will help defray the costs of with-
drawing forces from the Sinai and relocating them in the Negev. The
Government of Israel estimates that the direct costs of withdrawal
will be roughly $4 billion. This program will also enable Israel to
continue modernizing its military establishment in light of continuing
security threats in the area.

For Egypt, the $1.5 billion military program will help Egypt to
replace obsolete military equipment.

In addition to the security assistance, there is $300 million more in
economic assistance for Egypt over 3 years to help President Sadat
address the real human needs of his people and so that peace can be
translated into a better life for the people of that nation.

We have also urged our friends and allies to contribute economic
assistance in support of peace between Egypt and Israel.

A PRICE FOR PEACE?

It is fair to ask why there should be such a price for peace. At the
very least, why is the United States supplying additional military
equipment to countries who have just concluded peace with one
another?

The answer to both those questions derives from the fact that in
concluding this treaty both Egypt and Israel are taking steps into
the unknown. The unknown in an area as volatile as the Middle East
carries its own risks. In order for both governments to lead their people
through these uncharted waters, they must be confident that they can
deal effectively with the threats to their continued security.

In addition, as President Carter has said, both Egypt and Israel face
immediate economic problems as they enter the post-treaty era. The
financial cost to Israel of withdrawal from the Sinai will be substan-
tial. For its part, the Egyptian Government has an urgent and critical
need to demonstrate to its people the economic benefits of peace.

We will work to accelerate implementation of our program, the
proposed additional assistance will provide funds to move quickly to
meet these new requirements.

SMr. Chairman, I can also discuss, if you wish, the oil supply agree-
ment. I have discussed that before this committee so I would be
prepared to do so, depending upon what you choose for me to do.



120

U.S. OIL SUPPLY COMMITMENT TO ISRAEL

Chairman ZABTOCKI. Mr. Secretary, perhaps you will briefly sum-
marize the oil agreement. In view of the shortage of oil in this country,
it is a political issue.

Mr. VANCE. In the context of the peace treaty, the United States has
also revised and extended the 5-year emergency oil supply commitment
which arose from the Sinai II agreement to a total of 15 years.

As with the prior commitment, Israel would turn to the United
States only if Israel could not make independent arrangements to
meet its own domestic consumption requirements through normal
procedures.

Under the new agreement, Israel will pay for any oil which might
be provided from the United States at rates comparable to world
market prices at the time of transfer. Israel would reimburse the
United States for costs incurred by the United States in providing
oil from whatever source.

We have also agreed to negotiate a memorandum of agreement which
will reflect the principles which I have outlined to you. The negotia-
tions for that have started. They are to be completed within 60 days
of the exchange of documents of ratification which took place about
2 weeks ago and we expect to meet that date.

If any additional legislation is required after the agreement is com-
pleted, we will come to the Congress for that authorizing legislation.

FUTURE OF THE PEACE PROCESS

Now if I may turn to the future of the peace process, the peace and
stability that we seek can only be achieved ultimately by making this
treaty the cornerstone of peace between Israel and all Its neighbors.
For the United States, no less than for the parties in the region
directly involved, continued progress toward a comprehensive peace is
essential. It is for this reason that we intend to remain a full partner
in the negotiations.

In this connetiton, we are fortunate indeed that Ambassador Bob
Strauss has agreed to lead the U.S. delegation in these important
negotiations.

The Egyptian-Israeli Treaty has fulfilled one of the two framework
agreements worked out at Camp David. At that same time, the Gov-
ernments of Egypt and Israel also committed themselves to principles
and procedures for a series of negotiations leading to peace between
Israel and each of its Arab neighbors. The achievement of that peace
depends on the success in each negotiation and each new negotiation
builds on what has occurred.

RESOLUTION OF THE PALESTINIAN PROBLEM

In addition to the peace treaty, Prime Minister Begin and Presi-
dent Sadat signed a second document on March 26. In a joint letter
addressed to President Carter, they pledged to begin within 1 month
after the exchange of instruments of ratification, negotiations to im-
plement the process agreed upon at Camp David whose ultimate ob-



121

jective, in the words of the Camp David framework agreement, is
"the resolution of the Palestinian problem in all its aspects."

That process will start with negotiations on the establishment of
the self-governing authority in the West Bank and Gaza in order to
provide full autonomy to the inhabitants. These negotiations will soon
begin with full American participation. I anticipate, Mr. Chairman,
that these negotiations will probably begin the 24th or 25th of this
month and I shall go and head the U.S. delegation at those negotia-
tions. Bob Strauss has not yet been able to free himself from his cur-
rent responsibilities and therefore I will be there to head the dele-
gation.

The Egyptian-Israeli Treaty has permitted us for the first time in
more than three decades of conflict to turn our attention to the prac-
tical solution of a central issue of that conflict, the Palestinian issue.

It is evident that the issues involved in the Palestinian question are
far too complex to be dealt with all at once. Because of this, we have
long felt that the only realistic approach is to establish a transitional
period during which the decisions that need to be made can be dealt
with in a logical sequence. That approach was agreed to by Egypt
and Israel at Camp David, and they have invited other parties to the
Arab-Israeli conflict to support it and to join the negotiations.

In their joint letter to President Carter accompanying the treaty,
President Sadat and Prime Minister Begin have agreed to negotiate
continuously and in good faith, with a goal of completing those nego-
tiations within 1 year so that elections will be held as expeditiously as
possible after agreement between the parties has been reached.

Their goal is to reach agreement on arrangements for electing a self-
governing authority in the West Bank and Gaza, and on the powers
and responsibilities of that body.

Successful conclusion of the next phase of negotiations would thus
bring into being a self-governing authority in the West Bank and
Gaza for a 5-year transitional period, during which negotiations will
take place to determine the final status of these areas.

These negotiations provide a means-indeed, in my judgment, the
only practical means now available-by which Palestinians can par-
ticipate in determining their own future. They will be able to par-
ticipate throughout the process, from the establishment of the self.
governing authority to the final resolution of the status of the West
Bank and Gaza.

SECURITY OF ISRAEL

I also want to reiterate that in all future negotiations, as it has been
in the past, the United States will remain attentive to what we firmly
believe is an essential ingredient for long-term regional stability in the
Middle East, the security of Israel.

No one should underestimate the difficulty of the challenges that re-
main before a comprehensive peace in the Middle East becomes a real-
ity. Those challenges must be met. The United States must remain
actively involved in the peace process because the alternatives pose far
greater dangers to stability in the region, to the interests of the United
States, and to world peace.

We will continue this process regardless of the impediments we may
face. We invite others involved in the conflict to join us and urge all
nations concerned with peace to support our effort.



122

We see no workable alternative to the process that is now moving
ahead. The problems remaining are too complicated and too sensitive
to be solved all at once. With each problem resolved, it becomes all the
more possible to resolve the next; with each act of trust, the next act
requiring even greater trust becomes more possible.

In the end, the overall solution can emerge, as we put in place the
firm building blocks on which a comprehensive peace can stand.

In this endeavor, Mr. Chairman, we solicit the counsel of this com-
mittee and of any party in the Middle East who will share with us
our commitment to a comprehensive peace.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Thank you, Mr. Secretary, for your excellent
statement.

[Secretary Vance's prepared statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. CYRUS R. VANCE, SECRETARY OF STATE

I appreciate the opportunity this morning to discuss with the Committee ob-
ligations undertaken by the United States in connection with the Treaty of Peace
Between Egypt and Israel signed on March 26.

Together with our Egyptian and Israeli colleagues, we have traveled a long
and at times very difficult road during these last 17 months. That journey, how-
ever, has been rewarded by the conclusion of an agreement which represents a
watershed in the region, The Middle East has been changed for the better and
the world has moved a step closer to peace.

A few weeks ago, at a site near the battlegrounds of the past, Israel and Egypt
exchanged the instruments of peace. The era of bloodshed is over. A new era of
peaceful cooperation can lie ahead.

It should be noted that the process leading to this event did not begin with this
Administration. The negotiations and agreements concluded in the wake of the
1973 war laid the groundwork for further progress-the disengagement agree-
ment of January 1974 and the Sinai II agreement completed in September of 1975.

The Members of this Committee are already familiar with the main provisions
of the Treaty. Let me simply note that the treaty applies the essential equation
of Security Council Resolution 242 to the Sinai Peninsula-Israeli withdrawal
from territory occupied during the 1967 war and, on the part of Egypt, acknowl-
edgement of Israeli sovereignty, territorial integrity and political independence
and Israeli's right to live in peace within secure and recognized borders. The
validity and value of Resolution 242 have been borne out by the success of the
negotiations between Israel and Egypt. It continues to be the agreed basis for
those remaining negotiations necessary to conclude a comprehensive peace in
the Middle East.

ASSISTANCE PACKAGE

My particular purpose today is to concentrate on agreements reached which
will involve Congressional action. Let me turn to the financial undertakings by
the United States associated with the peace process. All of these undertakings
were agreed subject to appropriate Congressional action.

In evaluating these requirements, it is essential to keep in mind the far greater
potential cost of failing to make progress toward peace in the Middle East. Four
wars in that region have cost the U.S. taxpayers several tens of billions of dollars
in direct costs alone. The cost of peace is modest when compared with the cost
of further war.

I want to stress three general points about the aid package for Egypt and
Israel we are seeking as an addition to the present basic programs for both
countries:

First, the proposed FY 1979 supplemental assistance is a coherent inter-
related package which requires urgent Congressional action. It is a careful
balance between foreign policy and budgetary requirements.

Second, the funds requested are to be available to finance programs over a
three year period.

Third, the impact on our budget is considerably lower than the overall amount
of money that will be generated for the program. This is because our foreign
military sales loans will be provided by the Federal Financing Bank, guaranteed



/
/

123

by the U.S. Government. Accordingly, Congress is being asked to authorize and
appropriate $1.47 billion over three years in order to finance programs with a
total value of 4.8 billion.

Secretary Brown will speak in greater detail about our military assistance
requests. Let me make a few general observations about the package as a whole.

The bulk of the additional assistance for Israel and Egypt is to help them
meet urgent security requirements. This totals about $4.5 billion-approximately
$3 billion for Israel and $1.5 billion for Egypt. Of the amount for Israel, about
$800 million will be in the form of grant aid to help finance the construction of
two airfields which will be moved from the Sinai to the Negev. This assistance
will enable Israel to withdraw in the three years agreed under the Treaty in a
manner consistent with its security requirements. The remaining sum for Israel
and the entire military program for Egypt are in the form of foreign military
sales financing, to be provided on favorable terms.

The military program for Israel will help defray the costs of withdrawing
forces from the Sinai, and relocating them in the Negev. The Government of Israel
estimates that the direct costs of withdrawal will be roughly $4 billion. This
program will also enable Israel to continue modernizing its military establish-
ment in light of continuing security threats in the area. For Egypt, the $1.5 bil-
lion military program will help Egypt to replace obsolete military equipment.

In addition to the security assistance I have outlined, there is $300 million
more in economic assistance for Egypt over three years to help President Sadat
address the real human needs of his people and so that peace can be translated
into a better life for the people of that nation.

We have also urged our friends and allies to contribute economic assistance
in support of peace between Egypt and Israel.

It is fair to ask why there should be such a price for peace. At the very least,
why is the United States supplying additional military equipment to countries
who have just concluded peace with one another?

The answer to both those questions derives from the fact that in concluding
this Treaty both Egypt and Israel are taking a step into the unknown. The un-
known in an area as volatile as the Middle East carries its own risks. In order
for both governments to lead their people through these uncharted waters, they
must be confident that they can deal effectively with threats to their continued
security.

In addition, as President Carter has said, both Egypt and Israel face immedi-
ate economic problems as they enter the post-Treaty era. The financial cost to
Israel of withdrawal from the Sinai will be substantial. For its part, the Egyp-
tian government has an urgent and critical need to demonstrate to its people the
economic benefits of peace. We will work to accelerate implementation of our
current programs; the proposed additional assistance will provide funds to move
quickly to meet these new requirements.

OIL SUPPLY AGREEMENT

In the context of the peace treaty, the United States has also revised and
extended the five year emergency oil supply commitment arising from Sinai II
to a total of 15 years. As with the prior commitment, Israel would turn to the
U.S. only if Israel could not make independent arrangements to meet its own
domestic consumption requirements through normal procedures.

Assured long-term oil supplies are crucial to Israel's security. Oil supply com-
mitments were an integral part of the negotiating process. Viewed in that light,
we believe this commitment by the United States is worth the small potential
added responsibility that may be assumed.

Under the new agreement, Israel will pay for any oil which might be provided
from the US at rates comparable to world market prices at the time of transfer.
Israel would reimburse the US for costs incurred by us in providing oil from
whatever source.

Our undertaking provides for conclusion of a Memorandum of Agreement
between the US and Israel within 60 days after exchange of instruments of rati-
flcatiop of the Treaty. This Memorandum will deal with the specific details of the
arrangement. Israeli and US negotiating delegations have begun that task. Once
detailed agreement is reached, we will review it against existing legislative au-
thority and promptly seek from the Congress any new authority necessary for
its full implementation.



124

I want to emphasize three points in connection with this oil supply arrange-
ment:

First, both sides recognize that this undertaking is a legal commitment on the
US, subject to the necessary legislative authority.

Second, relatively small amounts of American produced oil are likely to be
involved. The Israelis have not had to call on our commitment since 1975, and
we are confident they will do everything possible to avoid that situation in the
future. If Israel requested U.S. assistance, however, we would first, help with
the procurement of oil from abroad and turn to our own production only as a
last resort

Finally, even should Israel at some point turn to us for its full oil recuire-
ments, it would require an amount equal to less than 1 percent of our consump-
tion-hardly noticeable to us.

FUTURE OF THE PEACE PROCESS

Before turning to Secretary Brown, let me say a few words about the future
of the Middle East peace process and the US role.

The peace and stability we seek can only be achieved ultimately by making
this Treaty the cornerstone of peace between Israel and all its neighbors. For
the United States, no less than for the parties in the region directly involved,
continued progress toward such a comprehensive peace is essential. It is for this
reason that we intend to remain a full partner in the negotiations.

In this connection, we are fortunate that Ambassador Bob Strauss has agreed
to lead the United States delegation in these important negotiations.

The Egyptian-Israeli Treaty has fulfilled one of the two framework agreements
worked out at Camp David. At that same time, the Governments of Egypt and
Israel also committed themselves to principles and procedures for a series 6f
negotiations leading to peace between Israel and each of its Arab neighbors.
The achievement of that peace depends on success in each negotiation, and each
new negotiation builds on what has occurred.

In addition to the Peace Treaty, Prime Minister Begin and President Sadat
signed a second document on March 26. In a joint letter addressed to President
Carter, they pledged to begin, within one month after the exchange of instru-
ments of ratifications, negotiations to implement the process agreed upon at
Camp David whose ultimate objective, in the words of the Camp David frame-
work agreement, is "the resolution of the Palestinian problem in all its aspects."

That process will start with negotiations on the establishment of the self-
governing authority in the West Bank and Gaza in order to provide full auton-
omy to the inhabitants. These negotiations will soon begin, with full American
participation. The Egyptian-Israeli Treaty has permitted us, for the first time in
more than three decades of conflict, to turn attention to the practical solution
of a central issue of that conflict-the Palestinian issue.

It is evident that the issues involved in the Palestinian question are far too
complex to be dealt with all at once. Because of this, we have long felt that the
only realistic approach is to establish a transitional period during which the
decisions that need to be made can be dealt with in a logical sequence. That
approach was agreed to by Egypt and Israel at Camp David, and they have
invited other parties to the Arab-Israeli conflict to support it and to join the
negotiations.

In their joint letter to President Ctrter accompanying the Treaty, President
Sadat and Prime Minister Begin have agreed to negotiate continuously and in
good faith, with a goal of completing those negotiations within one year so that
elections will be held as expeditiously as possible after agreement between the
parties has been reached. Their goal is to reach agreement on arrangements for
electing a self-governing authority in the West Bank and Gaza, and on the
powers and responsibilities of that body. Successful conclusion of the next phase
of negotiations would thus bring into being a self-governing authority in the
West Bank and Gaza for a five-year transitional period, during which negotia-
tions will take place to determine the final status of these areas.

These negotiations provide a means-indeed the only practical means now
available-by which Palestinians can participate in determining their own
future. They will be able to participate throughout the process, from the estab-
lishment of the self-governing authority to the final resolution of the status of
the West Bank and Gaza.

I also want to reiterate that in all future negotiations, as it has in the past,
the United States will remain attentive to what we firmly believe is an essential



125

ingredient for long-term regional stability in the Middle East-the security of
Israel.

No one should underestimate the difficulty of the challenges that remain before
a comprehensive peace in the Middle East becomPs a reality. But those chal-
lenges must be met. And the United States must remain actively Involved in the
peace process because the alternatives pose far greater dangers to stability in
the region, to the interests of the United States and to world peace.

We will continue this process regardless of the impediments we may face.
We invite others involved in the conflict to join us, and urge all nations con-
cerned with peace to support our effort. We see no workable alternative to the
process which is now moving ahead. The problems remaining are too complicated
and too sensitive to be solved all at once. But with each problem resolved, it
becomes all the more possible to resolve the next-with each act of trust, the
next act requiring even greater trust becomes more possible. In the end, the
overall solution can emerge, as we put in place the firm building blocks on which
a comprehensive peace can stand.

In this endeavor, we solicit the counsel of this Committee and of any party in
the Middle East who will share with us our commitment to a comprehensive
peace.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Secretary Brown, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF HON. HAROLD BROWN, SECRETARY OF DEFENSE

Mr. BRowN. Mr. Chairman, I would propose to read most but not
all of my statement. Perhaps the committee will bear with me if I skip
a few sentences here and there.

It is a privilege, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, to
appear before you today in support of President Carter's proposed
legislation to strengthen Middle East peace.

I believe that we as a nation should take considerable pride in the
major role played by the United States in facilitating the signing of
the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel. Certainly, great credit is
due to President Sadat, Prime Minister Begin, and President Carter,
and to my friend and colleague, the Secretary of State, Cy Vance.

The treaty brings to an end 30 years of war that has cost Egypt and
Israel so much in lives, in material substance, and in effort. The United
States also has spent a great deal of money on this war. Now we pro-
pose to spend a smaller amount on peace.

The treaty does more than serve the interests of Egypt and Israel.
It is intended to be the cornerstone of a comprehensive, just, long-
term peace with resulting stability for the entire region.

It is in the security interest of the United States that the region
evolve into a peaceful and stable one. Our oil access, for example,
would again be seriously threatened by regional conflict. Indeed, the
only major oil interruption we have experienced occurred in the con-
text of the 1973 Middle East war.

Resolution of the Arab-Israel conflict, which began with the Camp
David accords, and in fact, the resolution began even before with Presi-
dent Sadat's visit to Israel, and continues with this peace treaty, is a
vital factor in the protection of American interests.

The signing of the treaty is but the first step toward a durable peace
between the two states and the achievement of a comprehensive settle-
ment in this troubled part of the world. Further steps are needed.

REGIONAL SECURITY

One factor in this equation is regional security. The United States
encourages in the region strong friendly states able to defend them-

47-600-79- 9



126

selves from external aggression. Strong states are best able to assure
their territorial integrity without requiring direct U.S. involvement.
Without this defensive ability, any state is much more vulnerable and
subject to external destabilizing influences.

This legislation, reflecting the President's agreement to continue to
help Israel and to begin to help Egypt in the modernization of their
armed forces, will make a vital contribution to the defense posture of
both countries and hence to peace in the entire region.

As Secretary Vance has indicated, but it deserves repetition because
the facts have sometimes been misunderstood, the assistance included
in the legislative package of the administration as proposed for con-
gressional consideration needs to be restated.

This will be in the form of $800 million in grant aid for two Israeli
airbases, $2.2 billion in foreign military sales credits for Israel, $1.5
billion in FMS credits for Egypt, and $300 million in economic aid for
Egypt. The complete package will extend some $1.1 billion of grants
and $3.7 billion in loans to Israel and Egypt, and will require an ap-
propriation of $1.47 billion and a total package authorization of $4.8
billion.

The budgetary contribution of the United States to this peace treaty
is thus $1.47 billion rather than the $4.8 billion in total assistance that
has sometimes been taken to be the cost to the United States. The actual
cost is even less than the budgetary contribution because $370 million
of the budgetary contribution is actually a set-aside to take care of
failure to repay which has never happened in this program with coun-
tries to whom we extend FMS credits.

In other words, the appropriation is for more than the losses that we
have experienced in the past.

PRINCIPAL SECURITY ISSUES

Let me turn to the principal security issues involved.
Israel rightly needs to be certain of its security during and after

withdrawal from the Sinai. This matter of security was an important
element in the negotiations. The United States agrees that a continu-
ing strong Israeli defense capability is essential. The legislation we
are proposing and the other agreements we have made help to assure
such a capability by facilitating the withdrawal of Israeli forces into
new bases within the Negev and by continuing modernization of Israeli
defense forces.

Israel now maintains a large portion of its active military force
structure in the Sinai. In accordance with the peace treaty, within 3
years, "Israel will withdraw all its armed forces * * * behind the
international boundary * * * and Egypt will resume the exercise
of its full sovereignty over the Sinai." Relocation of Israeli forces in
the Sinai now has implications for Israeli security in three specific
areas: Airbase requirements, ground forces, and other redeployments
and early warning demands.

ISRAELI AIRBASES

Israel now has four airbases in the Sinai, two of which are forward
operating bases at Refidim and Ophir, and two of which are main op-
erating bases at Etam and Etzion. Within 9 months, Israel must



127

abandon Refidim and within 3 years, Israel must give up the remaining
three bases.

The bases at Etam and Etzion are of prime concern because they
normally house all the Israeli squadrons deployed in the Sinai. To
replace them, Israel requires two new main operating bases.

In order to enable Israel to complete its withdrawal within the time
allowed by the treaty, the President has agreed, subject to the ap-
proval of Congress, to assist in the construction of two airbases by
providing funding and management assistance.

The two proposed bases will be located at Ovda and Matred in
the Negev. These sites are the most suitable in terms of terrain, loca-
tion, availability, and construction cost. The U.S. Air Force will be
the project manager for this undertaking. The Corps of Engineers
will be the construction agent.

DOD ESTIMATED COST

The Defense Department's estimate of the cost of building the
airbases in the time allowed is about $1 billion in fiscal year 1980
dollars, exclusive of infrastructure costs for roads, utilities, and the
like. We propose that this amount be drawn from the $3 billion
total assistance package for Israel contained in the legislation. Of this
amount, $800 million is proposed to be made available through grants
for defense articles and services. '-rael will fund all airbase con-
struction costs beyond the $800 million, drawing on FMS credits as
appropriate.

The airbase requirement is a particularly challenging endeavor for
several reasons. First, as I mentioned, there is a definite time con-
straint. The peace treaty, in annex I, article I, requires Israel's com-
plete withdrawal of its armed forces and civilians from Sinai not
later than 3 years from the date of exchange of instruments of rati-
fication of the treaty.

The newly built airbases in the Negev should be sufficiently com-
pleted so that the Israeli Air Force can begin deploying to them fully
6 months prior to the abandonment of Etam and Etzion so that they
can provide continuity of air defense.

* Normally, construction of this nature would take more than 5 years.
Accelerating the pace means construction firms will have to work
virtually around the clock, 7 days a week. Much new equipment will
have to be acquired at the outset of the project in order to avoid
costly and time consuming breakdowns once construction has begun.
The equipment must be able to sustain long-term usage under con-
stant and difficult operating conditions.

OTHER COSTS TO ISRAEL

In addition to the airbase construction, there are other costs which
will be imposed on Israel as a result of the withdrawal. One of them
involves the ground forces.

Israel now maintains two active armored divisions in the Sinai.
These units, with their infrastructure, will have to be displaced from
their present Sinai locations to new facilities in Israel. That will
require significant construction.



128

Supporting infrastructure will also be needed, road networks, water
and powerlines and landline communications, in order to support
Army and Air Force redeployments.

Israel will have to move its Sharm-El-Sheikh and Et Tur Naval
facilities to Elat and its Mediterranean naval facility at Dafna to
Ashdod.

The loss of the Sinai will reduce Israel's early warning capability
3by forcing the closure of Israeli forward positioned early warning
:sites. These sites provide important early warning information and
new measures must be taken to insure, as a matter of prudence, Israel
has high confidence in its early warning. This will require new con-
struction and new procurement.

We estimate that the total cost of these withdrawal actions will be
between $3 billion and $4 billion. Israel's estimate is $4 to $5 billion
but it includes, for example, the possibility of a third airbase which
is not included in what we are talking about. This can only be a tenta-
tive estimate for considerable refinement remains to be done with
respect to the withdrawal and the relocation. We are helping to sup-
port the additional costs of construction and equipment by making
available $2.2 billion in FMS credits over and above the $800 million
grant.

Israel's Armed Forces need to remain a modern militarily effective
force. We are confident that for the immediate future, Israel is fully
able to defend itself against external attack. In the long run, moderni-
zation of Israel's Armed Forces must continue.

ADDITIONAL ARMS SUPPLIES FOR ISRAEL

The President, accordingly, has agreed to the sale of additional arms
supplies for Israel to be purchased over the next several years. The
committee has been provided with a classified list of this equipment and
proposed sales will be formally submitted to the Congress in the usual
way in accordance with the Arms Export Control Act.

Modernization of Israel's Armed Forces is desirable and should con-
tinue but the peace with Egypt has enabled Israel to make substantial
reductions in planned force expansion. As a result, Israel will have
smaller forces than had been expected under its prior Matmon C Force
Plan.

We believe Israel's security can best be assured by Israel itself. That
is why, from the point of view of U.S. national security, I recom-
mend this legislation which will facilitate a successful Israeli with-
drawal from Sinai and I also recommend continuing American assist-
ance in modernizing Israel's Armed Forces, so Israel will remain in a
satisfactory posture to defend itself.

This policy of helping Israel help itself does not absolve the U.S.
from maintaining a watchful attitude toward the security of Israel.
Indeed, the U.S. has agreed specifically for example in the improbable
event that violations of the treaty occur to "take appropriate measures
to promote full observance of the treaty of peace." We do not expect
that we would ever have to use U.S. Military Forces to insure Treaty
compliance.

I believe the U.S. must be continually concerned with the security of
all friendly regional states for vital American interests are at stake in
the Middle East,,



129

MILITARY AND ECONOIIO ASSISTANCE TO EGYPT

The proposed legislation includes funds for both military and eco-
nomic assistance to Egypt. The amount of money alloted in the form
of foreign military sales credits for military assistance, although
larger than the additional amount in this specific request for economic
assistance, is much less than the already existing and ongoing rate of
economic assistance to Egypt. That totals about $1 billion a year in-
cluding Public Law 480 and the military assistance is at the rate of
loans of $1.5 billion over 3 years.

There is no doubt in my mind that a sound economy is at least as im-
portant as a strong defense posture to the future of Egypt and to the
stability of the region. Indeed, I place fitt priority on economic de-
velopment and I know President Sadat and the Government of Egypt
do also. The future of Egypt will not turn primarily on the strength
of its armed forces.

Effective Egyptian Armed Forces are obviously necessary to the
defense of the country against possible aggression. Further, while we
do not intend and nor do we believe does President Sadat intend, that
Egypt will become a regional policeman. Egypt can play a positive
role in helping other states in Africa and the Middle East. It is im-
portant therefore, that the Egyptian Armed Forces have the appro-
priate military capability to carry out these tasks.

Since expelling Soviet advisers in 1972 and renouncing its bilateral
treaty with Moscow in 1975, Egypt has been without substantive ex-
ternal assistance in meeting its legitimate defense needs. Last year,
President Carter proposed and the Congress agreed to the supply of
F-5 aircraft to Egypt to help modernize the air force. Now, in the
context of peace between Egypt and Israel, the President proposes to
provide additional military assistance to Egypt.

Again, a classified listing of equipment approved by the President
has been provided to the committee. As you will note, it includes addi-
tional aircraft, air defense equipment, armored personnel carriers, and
frigates among other things. This list is substantially smaller than
what is required for full modernization of Egypt's Armed Forces, even
with reductions from the present size of those forces. It is nevertheless
a very respectable beginning to the modernization process.

In summary, what we are recommending as part of this initiative
for peace are programs or assistance amounting to $1.47 billion in
budget authority for Israel and Egypt to help the relocation of Israel's
Armed Forces as they withdraw from the Sinai and to help in the mod-
ernization of the armed forces of both countries.

This assistance is militarily justified by the circumstances. This
legislative proposal is for a substantial sum of money and it is a gen-
erous contribution to the peace. While peace is expensive, war is more
expensive.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, this legislation will
be. in my iudament and in the judgment of the Carter administration,
a maior American contribution to peace in the Middl East. to the
security of Egypt and Israel and to the long-term stability of the re-
gion.

I recommend its approval by this committee and the Congress
unequivocally.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.



130

(Secretary Brown's prepared statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. HAROLD BROWN, SECRETARY OF DEFENSE

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, it is a privilege to appear before
you today in support of President Carter's proposed legislation to strengthen
Middle East peace.

I think that we as a nation should take considerable pride in the major role
played by the United States in facilitating the signing of the peace treaty
between Egypt and Israel. Certainly, great credit is due to President Sadat,
Prime Minister Begin, and President Carter-and to my friend and colleague,
the Secretary of State, Cyrus Vance.

The treaty brings to an end 30 years of war that has cost Egypt and Israel
so much in lives, in material substance, and in effort. The United States, also,
has spent a great deal of money on this war. Now we propose to spend a
smaller amount on peace.

The treaty does more than serve the interests of Egypt and Israel; it is
intended to be the cornerstone of a comprehensive, just, long-term peace with
resulting stability for the entire region. It is in the security interest of the
United States that the region evolve into a peaceful and stable one. Our oil access,
for example, would be seriously threatened by regional conflict; Indeed, the only
major oil interruption we have experienced occurred in the context of the 1973
Middle East war. Resolution of the Arab-Israel conflict, which began with the
Camp David accords and continues with this peace treaty is a vital factor in
the protection of American interests.

The signing of the treaty is but the first step toward a durable peace between
the two states and the achievement of a comprehensive settlement in this
troubled part of the world. Further steps are needed. One factor in this equation
is regional security. The United States seeks a region with strong friendly states,
able to defend themselves from external aggression. Strong states are best able to
assure their territorial integrity without requiring direct U.S. involvement. With-
out tills defense ability, any state is much more vulnerable and subject to
external, destabilizing influences. This legislation, reflecting the President's
agreement to continue to help Israel and to begin to help Egypt in the modern-
Jiation of their armed forces, will make a vital contribution to the defense
posture of both countries, and, hence, to peace in the entire region.

Let me briefly review the legislative package the administration has proposed
for congressional consideration. This assistance will be in the form of $800
million in grant aid for two Israeli airbases, $2.2 billion in foreign military
-sales (FMS) credits for Israel, $1.5 billion in FMS credits for Egypt and $300
million in economic aid for Egypt. The complete package will extend some $1.1
'billion of grants and $3.7 billion in loans to Israel and Egypt and will require
Afn appropriation of $1.47 billion and a total program authorization of $4.8
billion. The budgetary contribution of the United States to this peace treaty is
thus $1.47 billion, rather than the $4.8 billion in total assistance that has
sometimes been taken to be the cost to the United States.

J would now like to turn to the principal security issues involved.

ISRAEL

Israel rightly needs to be certain of its security during and after withdrawal
from the Sinai. This matter of security was an important element in the nego-
tiations. The United States agrees that a continuing strong Israeli defense capa-
bility is essential. The legislation we are proposing, and the other agreements
we have made, help to assure such a capability by facilitating the withdrawal
of Israeli forces into new bases within the Negev and by continuing the mod-
ernization of Israeli defense forces.

Israel presently maintains a large portion of its active military force struc-
itre in the Sinai. In accordance with the peace treaty, within three years,

"Israel will withdraw all its armed forces * * * behind the international bound-
ary * * * and Egypt will resume the exercise of its full sovereignty over the
Sinai." Relocation of Israeli forces now in the Sinai has implications for Israeli
security in three specific areas: Airbase requirements, ground forces redeploy-
ments, and early warning demands.
Air bases

Israel now has four air bases in the Sinai, two of which are forward operating
bases at Refidim and Ophir, and two of which are main operating bases at Etam



131

and Etzion. Within 9 months, Israel .ust abandon Refldim and, within 8 years,
Israel must give up the remaining three bases. The bases at Etam and Etzion
are of prime concern because they normally house all the Israeli squadrons
deployed in the Sinai. Israel requires two new main operating bases to house the
squadrons now at Etam and Etzlon. These squadrons cannot be deployed to other
bases without imposing unacceptable risks to Israeli security through
overcrowding.

Construction of these facilities without U.S. assistance would be an extraor-
dinary burden on Israel in two respects: First, it would strain Israel's economy,
which is already experiencing severe inflationary difficulties; second, it would
overtax Israel's construction industry. In order to enable Israel to complete its
withdrawal within the time allowed by the treaty, the President has agreed, sub-
ject to the approval of Congress, to assist in the construction of two airbases by
providing funding and management assistance.

The two proposed bases will be located at Ovda and Matred, in the Negev.
These sites are the most suitable in terms of terrain, location, availability, and
construction cost. The U.S. Air Force will be the project manager for this
undertaking; The Corps of Engineers will be the construction agent. We will
work in partnership with Israel; both parties will share responsibility to assure
the completion of all construction necessary for initial operational capability
prior to the date agreed for final relocation of Israeli forces into the Negev.

The Defense Department's estimate of the cost of building the airbases in the
time allowed is about $1 billion in fiscal year 1980 dollars (the mid-point of con-
struction) exclusive of infrastructure costs for roads, utilities, and the like. We
propose that this amount be drawn from the $3 billion total assistance package
for Israel contained in the legislation. Of this amount, $800 million is proposed
to be made available through grants of defense articles and services. Israel will
fund all additional airbase construction costs, drawing on FMS credits as
appropriate.

The airbase requirement is a particularly challenging endeavor for several
reasons. First, as I mentioned, there is a definite time constraint. The peace
treaty, in annex I, article I, requires that "Israel will complete withdrawal of
all its armed forces and civilians from the Sinai not later than 3 years from the
date of exchange of instruments of ratification of this treaty." The newly built
air bases in the Negev should be sufficiently completed so that the Israeli Air
Force can begin deploying to them fully 6 months prior to the abandonment of
Etam and Etzion in order to provide continuity of air defense.

Normally, construction of this nature would take more than 5 years. Accelerat-
ing the pace means that the construction firms will have to work virtually
around the clock, 7 days a week. Much new equipment will have to be acquired
at the outset of the project in order to preclude costly and time-consuming
breakdowns once construction has begun. The equipment must be able to sustain
long-term usage under constant operating conditions.
,Ground forces relocation

In addition to the alrbase construction, there are other costs which will be
imposed on Israel as a result of the withdrawal. One such cost involves the
ground forces. Israel presently maintains two active armored divisions in the
Sinai. These units, with their supporting infrastructure, will have to be dis-
placed from their present Sinai locations to new facilities in Israel. This reloca-
tion will require significant construction.

Supporting infrastructure will also be required-road networks, water and
power lines, and landline communications-for Army and Air Force
redeployments.
Naval forces relocation

Israel will have to move its Sharm-El-Shelkh and Et Tur naval facilities to
Elat and its Mediterranean naval facility at Dafna to Ashdod.
Early-warning

The loss of the Sinai will reduce Israel's early warning capability by forcing
the closure of Israeli for ward positioned early warning sites. These sites provide
important early warning information, and new measures must be taken to
ensure, as a matter of prudence, Israel has high confidence in its early warning.
This will require new construction and new procurement.

We estimate that the total cost of these withdrawal actions will be between
$3 and $4 billion. This can only be a tentative estimate for considerable refine-



132

ment remains to be done with respect to the withdrawal and relocation. We
are helping support the additional costs by making available $2.2 billion in FMS
credits.
Military equipment modernization

It is important that Israel's Armed Forces remain a modern, militarily effec-
tive force. We are confident that, for the immediate future, Israel is fully able
to defend itself against external attack. To ensure that this is so over the longer
run, however, modernization of Israel's armed forces must continue. Accordingly,
the President has agreed to the sale of additional arms supplies for Israel to be
purchased over the next several years. A classified list of this equipment has
been provided to the committee, and proposed sales will be formally submitted
to the Congress in the usual way, in accordance with the Arms Export Control
Act.

While modernization of Israel's Armed Forces is desirable and should continue,
the peace with Egspt has enabled Israel to make substantial reductions in
planned force expansion. As a result of the peace, Israel will have smaller forces
than had been expected under its prior Matmon C Force plan.

We believe Israel's security can best be assured by Israel itself. This is why,
from the point of view of U.S. national security, I recommend this legislation,
which will facilitate a successful Israeli withdrawal from Sinai, and also rec-
ommend continuing American assistance in modernizing Israel's Armed Forces,
so that Israel will remain in a satisfactory posture to defend itself.

This policy of helping Israel help itself does not absolve the United States
from maintaining a watchful attitude toward the security of Israel. Indeed,
the United States has agreed specifically, for example, in the improbable event
that violations of the treaty occur, to "take appropriate measures to promote
full observance of the treaty of peace." We do not expect that we would ever have
to use United States military forces to insure treaty compliance. I do believe,
nevertheless, that the United States must be continually concerned with the
security of all friendly regional states, for vital American interests are at
stake in the Middle East.

EGYPT

The proposed legislation includes funds for both military and economic assist-
ance to Egypt. The amount of money allotted for military assistance is larger
than is allotted for economic assistance, (though much less than the already
existing rate of economic assistance). There is no doubt in my mind that a
sound economy is at least as important as a strong defense posture to the future
of Egypt and to the stability of the region. Indeed, I place first priority on
economic development, and I believe President Sadat and the Government of
Egypt do also. The future of Egypt will not turn primarily on the strength of
its armed forces.

Effective Egyptian Armed Forces are obviously necessary, however, to the
defense of the country against aggression. Further, while we do not intend-
nor, we believe, does President Sadat intend-that Egypt will become a regional
policeman, Egypt can play a positive role in helping other states in Africa and the
Middle East. It is important, therefore, that the Egyptian Armed Forces have
the appropriate military capability to carry out these tasks.

Since expelling Soviet advisors in 1972, and renouncing its bilateral treaty
with Moscow in 1975, Egypt has been without substantive external assistance
in meeting its legitimate defense needs. Last year President Carter proposed
and the Congress agreed to the supply of F-5 aircraft to Egypt to help modernize
the Air Force. Now, in the context of peace between Egypt and Israel, the
President proposes to provide additional military assistance to Egypt.

A classified listing of equipment approved by the President has been provided
to the committee. As you will note, it includes additional aircraft, air defense
equipment, armored personnel carriers, and frigates, among other things. This
list is substantially smaller than what is required for full modernization of
Egypt's Armed Forces. It is, nevertheless, a very respectable beginning to the
modernization process.

CONCLUSION

In summary, what we are recommending as part of this initiative for peace
are programs of assistance amounting to $1.47 billion in budget authority for
Israel and Egypt, to help in the relocation of Israel's Armed Forces as they
withdraw from the Sinai and to help in the modernization of the armed forces



133

of both countries. This assistance is militarily justified by the circumstances.
The legislative proposal is a substantial sum of money, and a generous contribu-
tion to the peace. But, while peace is expensive, war is more expensive.

Mr. Chairman and members, this legislation will be, in my judgment and in
the judgment of the Carter administration, a major American contribution to
peace in the Middle East, to the security of Egypt and Israel, and to the long-
term stability of the region. I unequivocally recommend its approval by this
committee and the Congress.

Thank you.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.
Secretary Vance, you have stated in your statement that the sup-

plemental assistance package is a coherent interrelated package, that
it is a careful balance between foreign policy and budgetary require-
ments.

CHANGES IN FUNDING REQUIREMENTS FOR ISRAEL

As you know, there may be amendments proposed to change the
funding formula for Israel. What effect would it have on the balance
you speak of ?

Mr. VANCE. Mr. Chairman, I feel to change the funding require-
ments is (a) not necessary and (b) would not help in terms of the
balance.

I believe, Mr. Chairman, the careful work that went into analyzing
the amounts that could be properly and necessarily expended to pro-
vide the security which we believe both of these nations need in the
post-Treaty period is one which has been carefully drawn.

I would say that we will of course review each year the situation
and will report to the Congress the results of our review.

FOSTERING BETTER SAUDI ATTITUDE TOWARD TIE PEACE PROCESS

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Secretary, you have also stated that "We
have urged our friends and allies to contribute economic assistance
and support of peace between Egypt and Israel." What allies are you
speaking of? Does it include Saudi Arabia? If so, what steps has the
executive branch considered to foster a better Saudi attitude toward
the peace process?

It is my understanding that Saudi Arabia in the past has been most
helpful economically to Egypt.

What allies are you speaking of in your statement ?
Mr. VANCE. I am speaking of a number of allies around the world

including our allies in Europe, our friends and allies in the Middle
East and our allies in the Pacific.

We have had discussions with many countries in this regard. I
firmly believe that we will see a positive response to the discussions
that we have had with respect to the need to provide economic assist-
ance to the nations as they move forward in the post-treaty period.

As far as Saudi Arabia is concerned, we have been in discussions
with Saudi Arabia as you well know, on a wide variety of subjects
covering both the peace process and in addition to that, tlhe questions
relating to the stability of the area. That is an ongoing process which
we will continue.

Saudi Arabia has been a staunch and good friend and ally for many
years and that relationship is of great importance to us. We will con-
tinue to work to strengthen that relationship.



134

One of the steps which we took in seeking to improve and strengthen
that relationship was the trip that'my colleague, Harold Brown, made
to that area. Others have also been there to meet with the Saudi lead-
ers and we remain in contact through our Ambassador and through
visits which various Saudi leaders have made to the United States.

U.S. COMMIITMENT TO ISRAELI SECURITY

Chairman Z.ABLCKI. Secretary Brown, you quoted from the memo-
randum of agreement between the United States and Israel on page 7
when you referred to the need for the United States to maintain a
watchful attitude toward the security of Israel. The memorandum of
agreement states, and I quote:

* * * provide support it deems appropriate for proper actions taken by Israel
in response to demonstrated violations of the treaty of peace.

It is my understanding further that the United States will be pre-
pared to consider, if a violation of the treaty of peace is deemed to
threaten the security of Israel and I quote from the memorandum of
agreement:

Such measures as the strengthening of the United States presence in the area,
the providing of emergency supplies to Israel and the exercise of maritime rights
in order to put an end to the violation of the Treaty of Peace.

Does that mean we would be using military force?
Mr. BROWN. There is, as you indicated from what you read at the

beginning, Mr. Chairman, a commitment to take appropriate measures
and that of course, would have to come under our own constitutional
and legal constraints. We do not anticipate having to use military
force.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. You do not rule it out?.
Mr. BnowN. I would not rule out the use of military force to defend

our vital interests in the area but what our vital interests are has to be
determined in the context of particular events.

Mr. VANCE. I would like very much to speak to this. I do not believe
that either of the parties to this treaty have any intention whatsoever
of violating the treaty and I want to make that very clear. I think we
must start from that premise.

I deeply believe this is the case. I have spent an awful lot of time
with the leaders of these countries and their advisors. I believe they
have entered into this commitment of the treaty solemnly and with the
intention of making it work.

Insofar as the treaty itself is concerned, it speaks for itself. On the
memorandum of agreement, it does not commit us to take specific action
other than to consult with the parties to consider certain steps and to
take such actions as we deem appropriate at that time. Those are the
commitments which are made in the memorandum of agreement.

What we were talking about when we made reference to strengthen-
ing U.S. presence in the area would be to put additional ships in the
area. for example, visits to the area by ships or planes. It provides also
for the providing of emergency supplies to Israel which is quite evident
and for the exercise of maritime rights in order to put an end to the
violation. Those are the kind of activities we are talking about.



135

Let me say, because it should be very clear, that we offered to the
Egyptians a memorandum of agreement which was identical to that
which we offered to and signed with the Israelis. The Egyptians chose
not to enter into such a memorandum of agreement but at any time
should they desire to do so, we are ready, willing, and able to do so.

Chairman ZABLOCKL. The Egyptians were fully aware of the type
of memorandum we had offered to Israel ?

Mr. VANCE. Yes.
Mr. BRowN. Mr. Chairman, I should note that the examples given

or almost all of them are things that were either contemplated or in
most cases done in past situations in the Middle East.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Thank you, Secretary Vance and Secretary
Brown.

Mr. Broomfield.

POLITICAL IMPACT OF MOA ON UNITED STATES-ARAB RELATIONS

Mr. BROO3 n ELD. I would like to follow up on the chairman's ques-
tion on this memorandum of agreement. How would you assess the
political impact of this agreement upon U.S. relations with Egypt
and the Arab world?

Mr. VANCE. I think insofar as the political impact on Egypt, it has
had no real adverse effect. There was criticism at the time of some of
the provisions of the agreement or some of the wording of the agree-
ment. I do not think there is any doubt in the minds of the Egyptians
as to our friendship and our desire to have a deep and close relation-
ship with them.

I do not think it has hurt our relationships with Egypt.
Mr. BRooMFIED. Did Israel insist upon a memorandum of agree-

ment for signing the peace treaty ?
Mr. VANCE. They had mentioned the signing of such a memorandum

of agreement several months before we concluded the peace treaty.
It cnme as no surprise when we got down to the final weeks of dis-
cussions that they said they did indeed want such a memorandum
of agreement.

UNITED STATES-SAUDI RELATIONSHIP

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Secretary Vance, what can you tell us about the
strained relationship that we apparently have with Saudi Arabia
right now?

Mr. VANCE. There is obviously no doubt that we have a different
view about the Camp David frameworks and the implementation of
those frameworks, including the signing of the treaty between Egypt
and Israel.

We have a very clear and sharp difference between us as to the effects
of the sirnmini of those various documents. It is our deep and sincere
conviction that these agreements and the treaty provide the best and
most practical framework and path for moving toward the resolution
of the roblems of the Middle East including the achievement of a
comprehensive settlement.

The signing and ratification of the Egyptian-Tsraeli treaty is as we
have said, the cornerstone of an edifice that will eventually be a com-
prehensive treaty. It is a necessary first step. It is a practical step, to
have done otherwise would have been to stand on the status quo.



136

Under the agreements which have been signed, for the first time,
we will be coming to grips with the Palestinian question and until
the Palestinian question is faced and resolved, there cannot be a last-
ing peace, in my judgment.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. I guess what bothers me is that the Saudis just do
not seem to be letting up in their opposition and there seems to be a
greater unity among the Arab States in opposition to completing the
peace process over there.

If the Saudis should cut off aid to Egypt, what impact would that
have on the peace process? My understanding is it is a substantial
amount of money and military commitment.

Mr. VANCE. They have provided various kinds of aid to Egypt.
They have provided economic assistance and they have provided as-
sistance for the purchase of military equipment. We have basically
two kinds of assistance.

We will continue to use our best efforts to urge them to continue as-
sistance to Egypt. They are a solvent nation. They will have to make
their own judgment as to whether or not, as the weeks and months
unfold, they are going to do that or not.

We certainly believe the continual providing of aid is necesary to
advance the peace process.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. We would certainly have to consider any short-
fall that might develop as a result of Saudi Arabia cutting off sup-
port for Egypt, is that not true?

Mr. VANCE. There are a number of others who also are interested
in the peace process around the world. We referred to them before
and the need for others to participate in providing economic assist-
ance. We hope and expect others will play their part and will par-
ticipate in providing economic assistance to make up any shortfall
that will come from the cutting off of economic assistance from the
Arab world.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. What are the next steps now in the peace process?

WEST BANK AND GAZA NEGOTIATIONS

Mr. VANCE. The next steps are to start the negotiations which will
deal with the West Bank and Gaza. As I indicated, those negotiations
will start in about 2 weeks in Beersheba. As the process goes forward,
the negotiations will alternate between Beersheba and El 'Arish.
- The negotiating team has already been announced for Israel, con-

sisting of five members of the Cabinet. The Egyptians have not yet
indicated who will be on their negotiating team but I believe it will
alno be a senior group with Ministers comparable to those on the
Israeli team. As you know, we will be represented by Bob Strauss
and his negotiating team as soon as Bob is able to relieve himself of
his other responsibilities aiid take over.

Mr. BROOMFIELD. Thank you.
Chairman ZAnLOCKT. Mr. Fascell.
Mr. FASCELT,. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Secretary Vance, recent press renorts state or allege that Prime

Minister Begin has submitted a document to a committee of 11
Ministers for the review of this committee with the recommenda-
tions that Israel will prevent the establishment of the Palestinian



137

state in the West Bank and Gaza and will claim sovereignty over those
areas at the end of the 5-year autonomy period.

Would you comment on that?
Mr. VANCE. Mr. Fascell, let me say that I think it would not be

appropriate for me to comment in detail on the reported suggestions
of Prime Minister Begin with respect to the two matters to which
you refer. Those suggestions which he has made on the autonomy
negotiations, the West Bank and Gaza negotiations, have not been
made public yet.

Let me say that I expect both parties prior to the negotiations are
going to stake out what I would call maximal positions. This is to be
expected in negotiations. I think you will probably see this on both
sides. I would hope and expect as negotiations go forward, we will see
flexibility appearing and positions which may be stated now will be
modified in the course of the negotiations.

Mr. FASCELL. Mr. Secretary, American people generally recognize
that war is more expensive than peace and that the United States
has a commitment in the Middle East peace process, both monetarily
and politically.

OTHER STEPS TO ACHIEVE PEACE

Other than the agreements already entered into and the agreement
to continue to negotiate constantly, continuously, and in good faith, I
think it would be very useful to identify, if possible, at least in broad
concept, the other monetary and political steps which the parties
themselves will be taking to achieve peace. There is a nagging feeling
reflected in the Congress and in the American people that the United
States is acting almost on its own to buy the peace.

Mr. VANCE. First, I believe that in the long run, you are going to
see a reduction in military expenditures. I think it is public knowl-
edge already that Egypt has been considering the possibility over a
period of time of reducing its military forces by approximately one-
third. I think a similar kind of consideration is going on in Israel
as well.

This is not going to happen overnight. I think this is what we can
foresee down the road.

In addition to that, according to our current statistics on the best
estimates we have, it would appear that even on the military side inso-
far as Israel is concerned, that they will become in about 1983 in a po-
sition to reduce the amount that they will require in terms of assist-
ance from us.

I have some tentative figures with respect to that. I would prefer
not to go into them in open session because they are tentative Israeli
figures and they should be the ones that would announce that.

I think that hopefully the same thing may be true with respect to
Egypt. The problems are going to be very difficult. They are going to
have to wrestle with extremely difficult economic problems in Egypt
and we are going to have to give them technical assistance along with
others to help cross the necessary bridges which will lead to a stronger
and more stable economy.

Mr. FASCELL. We can say in general that there will be substantial
monetary and political costs to both Israel and Egypt in order to
achieve peace in the Middle East ?



138

Mr. VANCE. Yes, I think so.
IMr. FASCELL. Mr. Secretary, other than the agreements and the nego-

tiations which you have described in your testimony today, are there
any other explicit, implicit, patent, latent, direct or indirect, written,
oral, present or future commitments which the United States has
agreed to?

Mr. VANCE. No.

U.S. PARTICIPATION IN THE NEGOTIATIONS

Mr. FASCELL. Mr. Secretary, in your testimony, you talked about
full American participation in one place and a full partner in the
negotiations for the resolution of the Palestinian problem and all its
aspects. Exactly what does that mean ?

Mr. VANCE. It means that we will participate in all of the negotia-
tions. We hope and expect that the parties themselves will take the lead
in putting forward their respective positions and in the discussions
of those respective positions, we will be a participant at the table and,
as in the past, if the time comes when they feel they want to ask us
to help by suggesting bridging devices if they find they cannot agree,
we would be willing to do so.

We are committed to seeing the peace process work and therefore,
we have pledged to both of them that we will work with them to make
the peace process work.

IMPACT OF EXPANSION OF SOVIET NAVAL CAPABILITY

Mr. FASCELL. Mr. Secretary, in the context of the negotiations which
are about to begin what does the expansion of the Soviet Naval
capability in the Indian Ocean mean? What impact does it have, if
any ?

Mfr. VANCE. Temporarily, both the Soviet Union and the United
States have increased their military forces in the Indian Ocean. We
will have to watch and see over time what will be in our national
interest. I would not like to speculate further.

Mr. FASCELL. Mr. Secretary, you have today issued a public invita-
tion once again to all other interested countries to participate in the
diplomatic efforts which are now underway and in the negotiations
and to become parties to the negotiating process.

I assume correctly, I hope, that full diplomatic efforts by the
United States and others have been undertaken to help secure response
favorably to that invitation.

Mr. VANCE. I can assure you of that without qualification.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Rosenthal.
Mr. ROSENTHAL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

DEBT BURDEN OF EGYPT AND ISRAEL

Secretary Vance, the Senate committee, in language reported out,
indicated at some time in the future, Congress might want to take a
look at the debt burden incurred by both Israel and Egypt under
the terms of the loan guaranteed with funds made pursuant to this
legislation and they also added a section saying:



139

The President shall transmit to the Speaker of the House and to the respective
committees a report concerning economic conditions prevailing in Israel and
Egypt which may affect the respective ability of those countries to meet their
obligations, to make payment under the financing authorized by this
legislation.

Do you find that language generally satisfactory?
Mr. VANCE. I do. I do not think it is going to be necessary to make

adjustments but I do not have any objection to the language.
Mr. ROSENTIAL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Derwinski.
Mr. DERWINSKI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

U.S. AS PRINCIPAL MILITARY SUPPLIER TO EGYPT

I think the speech writers for both of you distinguished Secretaries
should be complimented for rehashing all this old material.

I have a philosophical observation and then a question for Secretary
Brown. I noted in your statement, Mr. Secretary, to which the chair-
man referred, there is a phrase about the United States maintaining
"a watchful attitude toward the security of Israel." That is on page 7.

You go on and discuss the fact that nevertheless, the United States
must be continually concerned with the security of "all friendly
regional states." I assume you would even extend that to all friendly
regional states in all regions of the world.

I would feel better about such language if we were going ahead with
B-1 production, nuclear carrier development, neutron weapon de-
ployment and other practical military steps. I think we would do a
much better job of watchful attitude toward the security of friendly
states if we had more than rhetoric to back it up.

My question is, will the United States now become Egypt's prin-
cipal supplier of military equipment and will there be any restrictions
on the Egyptian deployment of any equipment they obtain from us?

Mr. BRowN. Let me answer your question, Mr. Derwinski, and then
if I may, comment on your comment.

We have said we would be a supplier of military equipment to
Egypt. We do not expect to be the only supplier among the Western
countries. Indeed, Egpt has procured equipment from France of sub-
stantial amounts and I would expect they would continue to do so.

I would say we would expect to be a major supplier, not the pre-
ponderant supplier, although we might in the end supply more than
anyone else. We have not imposed any restrictions as to where Egypt
deploys its equipment within Egypt. If it deploys equipment outside
of its own borders that we have supplied them, the usual restrictions
apply and the Secretary of State will have to make the usual findings
on that kind of issue.

With respect to U.S. military strength overall, I yield that in my
concern that it be sufficient. If I were an Egyptian or an Israeli, '
would not be greatly comforted to know that the United States had
neutron bombs or B-l's, simply because neither of those is of particular
utility in military terms in that region. They may have their place but
in the Middle East; conventional arms are what is important.

The United States needs, for its own security, to be able to deploy
military forces quickly in various parts of the world. I am determined



140

that we need to have that and we will continue to have and expand as
needed that capacity.

U.N. EMERGENCY FORCE

Mr. DERWINSKI. Secretary Vance, I have a thoughtful question for
you. The U.N. Emergency Force mandate expires in July. Your
friendly adversaries, the Soviets, have indicated they would veto any
extension. Their known leverage with Libya, Syria, and Iraq and their
major presence in Ethiopia all create geopolitical problems for you in
the Middle East.

Given the decision to veto the United Nations Force mandate, do you
foresee worse case possible situation where your Soviet friends would
be able to torpedo Middle East peace initiatives?

Mr. VANCE. The answer is no, if that worse case were to take place,
it would not. As you know, the United States in connection with the
signing of the Peace Treaty has indicated it would use its best efforts
if that case should arise, to help put together a force which could pro-
vide the peace-keeping function in lieu of the United Nations Forces.

Let me say further with respect to your thoughtful question that I
do not necessarily accept the fact that because it has been bruited
around in the corridors of the United Nations at this point, that there
will be a veto, that in the end, that will be the case. Obviously this is
the subject of importance and concern and a subject which we are dis-
cussing with many different nations.

Mr. DERWINSKI. Thank you.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Hamilton.
Mr. HAMILTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SAUDI FINANCING OF F-5'S TO EGYPT

Secretary Brown, when we had the arms sale package last year
of F-5 aircraft by Egypt, we were told the Saudis had agreed to
finance the purchase. I have heard recent reports that Northrop was
not given the money due to it.

Is that correct ?
Mr. BRowN. The F-5 purchase by Egypt is still under negotiation

as to the source of funds. The Saudis have been negotiating on the
question of how long a period those funds are to be delivered over and
those negotiations are not completed yet.

Mr. HAMILTON. Have any payments been made ?
Mr. BROWN. I think none have been made yet.
Mr. HA~ILTON. All payments are still due at this time?
Mr. BRowN. That is correct.
Mr. HAMILTON. What is the total cost of that package?
Mr. BROWN. $525 million is what the cost is that we had worked out

for the package. It depends on how much you include in the way of
support equipment. The flyaway cost of the aircraft is less than that.
depending upon how extensive a support base you want, the price could
run more. The $525 million will buy the number of aircraft the Egyp-
tians have been allotted.

Mr. HAMITrON. Is there any indication at this time that the Saudis
are trying to back out of that ?



141

Mr. VANCE. All I would say is at this point, the subject is still un-
der discussion.

Mr. HAMmrTON. In those discussions, are they trying to back out?
Mr. VANCE. I do not think I should go into the discussions.

STRATEGY TO BRING JORDAN AND THE PALESTINIANS
INTO THE PEACE PROCESS

Mr. HAMILTON. Secretary Vance, you have indicated in your state-
ment that we have to bring the Palestinians and the Jordaniaqs into
the peace process. I am interested to know what your strategy is to
bring that about? Presumably, the major focus of your attention will
be to succeed in the talks that are going on between Israel and Egypt
and if those talks succeed, that would bring them in. We all know
that is going to be a long, tough, and difficult road.

While that process is going on, what is your strategy to bring the
Palestinians and the Jordanians in ?

Mr. VANCE. I believe that we should continue our regular discus-
sions with Jordan. I had discussions yesterday with one of the senior
Jordanian officials who is here in the United States on a visit at this
time. I will be talking to him again.

Insofar as the Palestinians are concerned, I think informal con-
versations with Palestinians on the West Bank could prove helpful
in beginning to move toward hopefully ultimately active participation.

Mr. HAMILTON. Are you willing to talk to all sectors of the Pales-
tinian community?

Mr. VANCE. On the West Bank?
Mr. HAMILTON. On the problems of the West Bank, yes.
Mr. VANCE. Provided they live on the West Bank.
Mr. HAMILTON. In testimony before the subcommittee, Mr. Secre-

tary, the Assistant Secretary, Mr. Saunders, answered this question,
and I will read the question and identify the answer. The question
was, "Is it correct to say that the United States can have informal di-
rect communication with the PLO and that to do so did not secure the
approval of Israel before doing so?"

Mr. Saunders' responded, "In part, I believe that is correct."
Do you agree with your Assistant Secretary's observation ?
Mr. VANCE. Let me give you a full answer. As you know, we have

stated since the time in 1975 when we entered into the Sinai II under-
standing with the Israelis, that we would not recognize or negotiate
with the PLO until they recognized the right of Israel to exist and
accepted 242 and 338 as a basis for negotiations of a Middle East
settlement.

At the same time, it is clear that there may be cases where, for ex-
ample, in Lebanon, for security purposes, we may have to discuss
with the PLO things which could affect the security of our people in
the Embassy. We would have and have had such discussions from
time to time. That is different from recognizing or negotiating with
the PLO.

We are free under the understanding to do what is in the national
interest of the United States but in doing so, we would always con-
sult in advance with Israel as we promised to do.

47-699-79---10



142

Mr. H.\MILTON. Your Assistant Secretary, Mr. Secretary, said that
you could have informal direct communication with the PLO and to
do so, need not secure the approval of Israel. Do I take it you are af-
firming his answer?

Mr. VANCE. I am insofar as such things as the discussions which we
have on security problems which affect our people in Lebanon, for
example.

Mr. HAMILTON. What about insofar as the future of the West Bank
is concerned?

Mr. VANCE. I have said that insofar as the future of the West Bank,
we feel free to discuss with people who are residents on the West Bank,
for example, the mayors, matters relating to the peace negotiations
nnd without regard to what their politics may be, as long as they are
residents on the West Bank or in Gaza.

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Secretary, my question is, are you prepared to
have informal direct communication with the PLO ?

Mr. VANCE. I think I answered your question. I said if the people
are on the West Bank, resident on the West Bank, then we are pre-
pared to discuss with them things relating to the peace process regard-
less of their politics.

Mr. HAMILTON. Thank you. Mr. Secretary.
Chairman ZABLOCKr. Mr. Wolff.

PURPOSE OF EGYPTIAN AND ISRAELI BUILDUP

Mr. WOLFF. Mr. Secretary, you have indicated we are committed
to see the peace process work, and that you have no concern over fu-
ture military problems between Egypt and Israel.

I take it the buildup on both sides is to respond to an external
threat? Am I correct?

Mr. VANCE. Yes. It is both to modernize their forces and to give them
a defense capability which is sufficient to protect them against possible
threats.

Let's take Egypt, for example. As a result of the Peace Treaty, there
is or will be no threat with respect to their Eastern flank. There are
other African nations which present a possible threat and they have
to have the capability to defend themselves against any such threat.

I would want to emphasize and Harold would probably want to
expand on that, that the equipment which they will be getting will be
primarily to modernize their forces. As you know, in 1974 and 1975,
the Soviets, who were their principal supplier, cut off all arms supplies
to them except for a few spare parts. Because of that, they have to
replace their equipment.

Mr. WOLFF. I understand that. What I was trying to clarify is this:
The buildup is for "modernization," but modernization against what
threat?

Mr. VANCE. I told you in Egypt and I will now come to Israel if I
may. Would you like me to speak to Israel?

Mr. WorFF. I am somewhat concerned over the answer you gave to
Mr. Hamilton on the PLO because I do not think it was fully clarified.

You did indicate we would speak to people concerning our security
and also people who are on the West Bank. Is it correct to say that we
do not consider these people as representative of any particular
organization



143

Mr. VANCE. Yes; you may have somebody who is the mayor of a
West Bank city who may have PLO leanings.

Mr. WOLFF. But you will not negotiate with the PLO as such?
Mr. VANCE. No; not with the PLO as such.

ENTRY OF PLO SPOKESMEN TO THE UNITED STATES

Mr. WOLFF. How can we reconcile this statement with the fact that
the State Department has permitted a number of the PLO spokesmen
to come to this country with the objective of disturbing this peace
which we are attempting to maintain and support?

Mr. VANCE. I think the only members of the PLO who have come to
this country to my knowledge are those who are accredited to the
United Nations plus Mr. Al Hout who was recently here.

Mr. Al Hout was invited by four of our distinguished universities
to come to this country and to speak in those academic communities on
:the problems of the Middle East.

In light of our basic position with respect to the admission of people
,on visas for a limited period of time, to come to the United States, a
principle which we espoused very strongly at the Belgrade Conference
and which we believe reflects the commitments made at Helsinki, we
decided in that case and it will be done on a case-by-case basis-

Mr. WOLFF. What are your criteria for deciding such waivers? I
have been extremely interested in the whole Irish question. You have
denied various people of political parties from Ire and to come to the

iUnited States based on their connection with so-called terrorist
,organizations.

Is there a distinction between the terrorist organizations of the PLO
*and other terrorist organizations?

Mr. VANCE. Before recommending that there be a waiver to permit
him to come in for a limited period of time, in the case of Mr. Al Hiout,
I checked into what his position had been on terrorism. His position,
as a result of that study, turned out to be that he had been speaking
against the use of terrorism and that was one of the factors that en-
tered into my decision in that case in saying yes, let's give the waiver.

Mr. WOLFF. Thank you.
,Chairman ZABLOCKT. Mr. Findley.

INFORMAL TALKS WITH THE PLO

Mr. FINoLEY. Mr. Secretary, I listened intently to your exchange
with Mr. Hamilton. I found nothing in what you said in conflict with
what Mr. Saunders had said to the subcommittee.

As I heard your words, you said with respect to informal talks with
the PLO, we would be free to do what is in the national interest of the
United States but if we saw fit to have these informal talks, we would
of course consult in advance with Israel. Is that a correct reading?

Mr. VANCE. As a matter of law, that is correct. As a matter of the
form of the commitment, yes. I went on to spell out what I meant.

CYCLE OF VIOLENCE IN THE MIDEAST

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Secretary, it troubles me that at this juncture in
the peace process, you have made a major statement and Secretary



144

Brown has made a major statement and neither has made reference to
the rising level of violence in the Middle East. You are I ore testifying
on behalf of a peace treaty support bill and yet violence is rising.

It troubles me greatly. I would like to know what we are doing to
break this cycle of violence. I am troubled for a lot of reasons. I almost
see a feeling of provocation in some of the violence.

The real hope of peace is for Palestinians and Israelis to live side by
side in peace and they somehow have to achieve that status through
peaceful discussion.

The other day, Israeli airplanes struck 40 miles north of Beirut and
I guess in self defense or in retaliation of the terrorism. I deplore the
terrorism that has occurred and I am sure you do, too.

Mr. VANCE. I do.
Mr. FINDLEY. I think we have to acknowledge that in contrast with

the potential for terrorism which the PLO has, the terrorism in the
wake of the treaty and Camp David has really been moderate and if
this rising level of violence continues, we are going to get a lot more
terrorism. If that happens, how can we hope to begin talks with the
PLO and bring them into the peace process?

My question is, what is our Government doing at this juncture to
break this cycle of violence?

Mr. VANCE. Let me answer specifically with respect to Lebanon
which is apparently what you are talking about.

There are two sets of problems. The first is the problem with respect
to southern Lebanon and to the Christian enclaves in that part of the
country where there has been fighting between Major Haddad's forces
and the United Nations forces which are in the area.

We all felt it was a positive step when 500 members of the Lebanese
Army were moved down into south Lebanon for the first time in order
to begin to take over the responsibilities of the Lebanese Government
for restoring law and order in their country.

We deplored the fact that after that, there were shellings of the
United Nations forces by Major Haddad's forces.

We are trying first to deal with that problem. That is one of the
problems.

Mr. FINDLEY. What do we do? Just deplore it and that is the end of
it?

Mr. VANCE. It involves many parties. It involves the parties in Leba-
non. It involves the various elements within the Lebanese community,
the various factions within the Christian community and the other
political groupings. In addition, it affects Israel because of the actions
that Israel has taken.

We also have this second set of issues which results from the cycle of
terrorism and retaliatory violence which you and I both deplore. That
is another set of issues which is mounting in its severity.

We have to work with all of the parties to try and bring this to a
halt. It is not an easy job.

U.S. INFORMAL TALKS WITH TIE PLO

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Secretary, one of the parties in a sense, the central
party is the PLO. There is no likelihood the PLO is going to talk to
Israel, that Israel at this junction is going to talk to the PLO. We hold



145

the key, if our Government will begin informal talks with the PLO,
it would save lives, it would halt violence, it would relieve tensions.
I think it is the key to the peace process and would hopefully quickly
bring the Arab states back into a more cooperative attitude.

I cannot understand why our Government is not beginning informal
talks with the PLO in order to try to break this cycle.

Mr. VANCE. Let me add a point in what you have said, namely, that
insofar as the PLO and the Palestinians in Lebanon are concerned,
they are obviously in close touch with the Syrians. We are in touch
with the Syrians as well. They are in touch with the Lebanese Govern-
ment whom obviously we are in touch with. We know what the PLO
is saying. It is not as though that was a factor that was not known
to all of the individuals and parties involved who were trying to stop
this violence and the cycle of violence from continuing.

Mr. FINDLEY. Are not direct talks better than indirect communica-
tion? Do you not risk misunderstanding and exaggeration and bad
blood by going through third parties?

Mr. VANCE. Not necessarily.
Mr. FINDLEY. You are satisfied with your present relationship with

the PLO?
Mr. VANCE. I think that under the commitments we have made, that

we are doing the best that we can.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Studds.

PUBLIC SUPPORT OF COSTS OF PEACE AGREEMENTS

MIr. STUDDS. Mr. Secretary, as you know, the President has spoken
often of the need for a foreign policy which the American people un-
derstand and support and I believe he has said participate in. I have
never 'been entirely sure what he means by the last but certainly with
respect to the understanding and their support, I must tell you that in
this instance, at least as of now in my judgment, the American people
neither understand nor support the package which you are presenting
to us.

You have been asked and you responded in your testimony to some
of the questions which people are asking. I understand the extent to
which you are trying to convey to them that an outbreak of peace is
less expensive than an outbreak of war and that peace requires
presumably less money in weapons, although I am not sure about that,
than war does.

There are some questions which we all get bombarded with and.
frankly, I am not sure I know the answers to and let me try a few of
theml on you.

AID FOR EGYPT

Egypt is a desperately poor country. There are things that the people
of Egypt need infinitely more than they need more weapons at this
point.

The Saudis we thought-or at least I thought until I heard Mr.
Hamilton's questioning of you-had a commitment to pay for the air-
craft in last year's big round of sales.

With respect to the $1.5 billion in FMS credits in this package, do I
understand the Saudis are to pick up that as well?

Mr. VANCE. NO.



146

Mr. BROWN. No; that has never been our understanding.
AMr. VANCE. We do not count on that.
Mr. STUDDS. If the Saudis were to cut off the Egyptians in the last

round of sales, I cannot imagine how that country is going to come
up with the money to pay for that.

I would agree with you that it is critical that President Sadat
survive and as I think you have testified in the past, it is critical in
order to insure that lie would be able to demonstrate to his own people
that the policies lie has been following in the peace process would pay
off.

I am not sure arms are the way to convince the people of Egypt that
is the case. It certainly did not save the Shah of Iran. As I look at the
new package you have come to us with concerning Egypt, it is $100
million a year of economic aid and Secretary Saunders testified that is
$35 million a year less than the interest on the military loans which
we are giving to Egypt, onc e we get into the full process.

We will be getting $135 million in interest on the foreign military
credits which will not even be made up for by the economic aid we are
giving to Egypt.

I am wondering what kind of sense does that make
Mr. VANCE. Let me try to put this in proper context. You talk as

though we were not giving any economic assistance. We are giving
them $1 billion of economic assistance this year. We have indicated
we will give them $1 billion this next year. In addition to that we are
adding this additional sum so as to give them an additional increment.

If you compare the amount they are getting next year when this
legislation is passed, you will find they are getting $1.1 billion in
economic assistance and only $500 million will be the equivalent
amount in FMS loans for the military side.

Mr. STUDDS. I know that. I was talking about the incremental re-
quests that you have come to us with.

ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS

Let me express to you a similar reservation which we hear with
respect to Israel. The Fourth Geneva Convention, as you know, pro-
hibits the introduction of civilian settlers from an occupying power
into occupied territories. Israel has established over 70 nonmilitary
settlements in occupied territory with some 8.000 civilian settlers. We
understand additional settlements are being planned during the course
of the coming year. In that year, I believ e o are scheduled to give
Israel more than $2 billion in economic and military assistance.

In your judgment, is this aspect of Israeli policy one which de-
tracts significantly from the prospects for a comprehensive peace
settlement in the region ?

Mr. VANCE. We have stated for many years and I have reaffirmed
on countless occasions our position with respect to the question of the
building of settlements in occupied territories. We believe it to be con-
trary to international law. Second, we believe it to be an obstacle
to peace.

The building of new settlements or the authorizing of new settle-
ments at this time, iust as we are moving into the negotiations, I think.
is clearly unhelpful to the peace process.



147

Mr. STUDDS. Under those circumstances, Mr. Secretary, we heard
testimony that an estimate was the Israelis plan to spend some roughly
$35 million on settlements in the coming year. What would be the
position of the administration given what you have just said on an
amendment to subtract that $35 million or whatever it is we think
Israel is going to spend on settlements which we construe to be illegal
and severely harmful to the peace process from the package of aid to
Israel?

Mr. VANCE. I would have to reflect on that foran an nswer.

SAUDI ROLE IN SALE OF F-5 TO EGYPT

Mr. 2TUDDS. Thank you. Let me make another observation. I was
somewhat taken back by the colloquy between yourself and MrI. Ham-
ilton with respect to the Saudi role or questions about the Saudi role
in last year's sale.

I, as you will recall, was one of the many members of this committee
who spent a good deal of time agonizing over the wisdom or lack of
wisdom of that tripartite sale to Egypt, Israel, and Saudi Arabia.
One of the factors that finally made me decide you were correct, some-
what to my own astonishment, in asking us to support that sale, was
the testimony about how helpful the Saudis were being in the peace
process.

Mrs. Benson testified and I quote:
Saudi Arabia has been a moderating influence in the area of the country and

has strongly supported President Carter's peace initititive.

I notice she is not sitting behind you at the moment but she may
want to amend that.

Mr. VANCE. When that statement was made, that was an accurate
fact. That had been the case and was the case at that time. Since the
Baghdad Conferences, the declared position of the Saudis has
changed. It is a fact and nobody can or should gloss over that fact.

Mr. STUDDS. Thank you.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Hall.
Mr. HALL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

ISRAELI BASES

Secretary Brown, in your testimony, you talk about four airhases
and two or three naval bases that Israel will have to pull back from
that are in the Sinai.

My question is what happens to those bases once Israel leaves them ?'
Have these bases been negotiated with Egypt? Do the wind and the
desert take them over? What happens to them? Does Egypt pay
Israel for them ?

Obviously you are going to have airfields there and buildings that
are still going to be intact.

Mr. BROWN. The arrangement, Mr. Hall, is those airbases can be
used by the Egyptians for civil aircraft. They cannot be used as mili-
tary bases. There are some elements of those bases, aircraft shelters,
for example, that have no particular civil aircraft function and the



148

Israelis are going to have to decide how they leave those, whether they
leave them intact or whether they demolish them before leaving.

The Egyptians have agreed that there will not be military units at
those bases. They will be in an area that is to be demilitarized. There
is no payment by Egypt to Israel for these bases because they were
built on what is Egyptian territory.

APPROPRIATION OF FUNDS TO EGYPT

Mr. HALL. Secretary Vance, we are giving $300 million in economic
assistance to Egypt. In what way are we appropriating the funds?
Does it go directly to President Sadat or did he spell out how le is
going to spend those moneys?

Mr. VANCE. It goes directly to Egypt. We have been discussing with
them the priorities of the Government in the economic field. We have
indicated that we believe the agricultural side, the increase in necessary
housing and some limited infrastructure projects which would provide
more potable water are the kinds of projects we hope they would use
this money for and this is in the process of discussion with the
Egyptians.

Mr. HALL. There are no ties to the money ? We do not put demands
on it

Mr. VANCE. We will discuss it with him and we will probably reach
agreement on what we believe this ought to go to by the time the money
is actually turned over.

Mr. HALL. Thank you.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

U.N. MANDATE

Mr. Secretary, following up on the line of questioning by Mr.
Derwinski, in the event that the U.N.'s mandate is not extended, the
United States has pledged in identical March 26 letters to Prime
Minister Begin and President Sadat to "take those steps necessary to
ensure the establishment of an acceptable alternative multinational
force."

My questions are these: What other countries would participate in
such a force and have we approached them? Who would pay for such
a force? Would it be possible to ask Canada or Australia to provide
forces for this job without sending in U.S. forces? Would you come
to Congress for the approval of U.S. participation in such a case or
in such F. force prior to giving a commitment ?

Mr. VANCE. We have not discussed with other nations the nations
whom we would approach if that should be the case. There are
obviously a number of nations who have great expertise in peace-
keeping who would be the logical candidates to approach if that were
to be done. It is premature at this point for us to be discussing that
matter with other countries.

Insofar as U.S. forces are concerned, I believe it would be a mistake
for the United States to put U.S. forces into such a peacekeeping force.
It has been a wise decision in the past to not use the forces of the



149

so-called superpowers il peacekeeping operations. What we have
limited our assistance to in the past is logistical support, air transport,
and the like.

I think that is a sound principle. I think it is a principle that we
should follow in the future should we have to do so.

I believe there was one other question you asked.
Mr. WINN. Would you come to Congress before you made a commit-

ment on such a force?
Mr. VANCE. We would certainly consult with the Congress, yes.
Mr. WINN. Thank you very much.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The Chair would like to note that there is a

rollcall vote in the House. I would suggest we continue without in-
terruption. If the members would vote and hurry back, we can con-
tinue. There are 12 members remaining that would be subject to call for
questions. I would suggest those who have been at the beginning of
the session remain and others go to answer the rollcall and come back.

The Chair will call Mr. Fithian.
Mr. FITHIAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Secretaries, we are

happy to have you here today. I want to congratulate you and the
President on the tremendous efforts which you have made toward
peace in the Middle East.

CRITICISMS OF THE PEACE PROCESS

I would like a little help from you in answering some criticisms
of this policy. One of these that has been voiced by thoughtful citi-
zens in our area is that the United States in this process has in es-
sence consolidated the "have-nots" of the Middle East so far as oil
and natural resources are concerned and joined them while we also
have consolidated the "have" nations of the Middle East and alienated
them.

How would you suggest that we reply to that criticism? I think in
essence that criticism is that while we applaud the strides to peace,
we have in the long haul hurt our own national self-interest.

Mr. VANCE. In the Middle East, as a result of the Camp David nego-
tiations and the peace treaty, we have brought about an agreement
between two countries, one of which has no oil and the other of which
has oil and is finding increasing oil. As you know, Egypt is more
than self-sufficient and is developing more oil at the present time and
probably will continue to do so in the future. They are an oil ex-
porter.

If you are talking about some of the other nations who have sup-
ported the peace process, such as Sudan and Oman, they are continu-
ing to receive oil from the Arab states despite the fact that they have
been supportive of the peace process.

I would question the assumption underlying your question as a
starter. In addition to that, I think you have to take a look at what
the benefits are that have flowed from what has been done.

You now have peace between the largest Arab nation in the region
and Israel, the strongest country militarily in the region and a staunch
democracy.



150

The path has not been opened to begin to deal, as I indicated earlier,
with the Palestinian question, which is necessary if we are to achieve
a comprehensive peace. It is our belief that as the peace process goes
forward, we will find as was the case in the past, that if we can make
progress in the negotiations, others who are now on the sidelines or
who are being critical, will join the peace process.

If you look back at what happened at Rhodes, if you look back at
what happened in Sinai II, you will see when the actions were first
taken, it was Israel and Egypt alone but later other Arab nations
came in and joined. We hope that will be the case in the future.

Mr. FrrITHIAN. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.

EGYPTIAN HELP AGAINST SOVIET INFLUENCE IN THE HORN OF AFRICA

Secretary Brown, just a very quick question because I will have to
.depart very shortly, what help if any might Egypt give us down the
road should the United States find it necessary to stiffen our resist-
*ance to Soviet intrusion and influence in the Horn of Africa?

Mr. BRowN. The Egyptians themselves have a considerable concern
about possible threats to their security from that region because their
water supply, as you know, largely depends upon rivers that rise in
or flow through Ethiopia and Sudan. We do not, as I say, see the
Egyptians as a policeman in the area nor do they so see themselves.

Nevertheless, advice, support, military training which they might
offer to surrounding countries in the region could stabilize or could
help to stabilize the political military situation there.

Mr. FITHIAN. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. It appears we will have to recess for about

5 minutes.
The committee will stand in recess for 5 minutes.
[Whereupon, at 12:20 p.m., a short recess was taken.]
Mr. FASCELL. The Chair will now recognize the gentleman from

California, Mr. Lagomarsino.
Mr. LAGOMARSINo. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

PRICE OF WAR VERSUS PRICE OF PEACE

Secretary Vance, I do not know if my mail is typical of that of
other members of the committee or not, but I can tell you, in a some-
what sad way, that the vast majority of the mail I have received on
this issue has been very negative insofar as supplying additional
moneys, as we are being asked to do.

I respond by using many of the same arguments that you have this
morning, saying the price of war would be much more than the price
of peace, and so on, and also what might well happen with regard to
our very vital oil supplies.

On page 3 of your statement you say that four wars in that region
have cost the U.S. taxpayers several tens of billions of dollars in
direct costs alone.

Do you have that information with you today? Could you furnish
it to us?



151

Mr. VANCE. I do have it with me.
Mr. LAGOMARSINO. I think it would be very helpful to some of us at

least in responding to our mail to have that actual information.
AIr. VANCE. I would be very happy to give you a report which I sent

to Frank Church when I was testifying before the Senate Foreign
Relations Committee on this. It is awfully hard to do any sort of pre-
cise study on this, but we did the best estimate we could, trying to
take into account direct and indirect costs of the four wars.

Thli figure we came up with can be put in the range of between $55
ind $70 billion.
Mr. LAGOMARSINO. This is for all 4 wars?
Mr. VANCE. Yes.
Mr. LAcOMArUsiNO. What about the 1973 war itself ?
Mr. VANCE. The 1973 war. we immediately paid or had to expend

some $2.2 billion to replace the Israeli equipment which was lost dur-
ing that war. That is just one indication.

One thing that we should never forget in talking about the costs
is the costs in human lives that are lost in war.

Mr. LAGo ARSINO. Another point people make is, how come peace
costs more than when those to states were at war ?

MIr. VANCE. The answer I would give is there are initial costs that
are connected with peace such as the costs on Israel's part of with-
-drawing from the Sinai, which are substantial. Those are one-time
'costs that have to be incurred.

As I indicated earlier in answer to a question from one of the other
members of the committee, I think as one looks down the road in the
longer term, both on the military and economic side, we are, as a result
.of peace rather than war, going to be able to see a reduction in
.expenditures.

U.S. FOREIGN ASSISTANCE

Mr. LAGOMARSINO. Another point that constituents make and one
which I find much harder to answer because I tend to agree with them
is the one saying if we have to do this and let's assume we do, why not
reprioritize our other foreign aid programs and put off those things
'or eliminate those things that are not as vital and necessary as this?
In other words, why add this onto the top of everything else ?

Mr. VANCE. When you take a look at our foreign assistance pro-
grams, the actual real cost increase this year is only 4 percent, which
is less than the cost of inflation. We cut the foreign assistance pro-
grams to the bare bone this year.

I wish we could have an awful lot more for foreign assistance than
we do have. I think in many countries around the world, what we
expend in economic assistance is of inestimable value both to us and
to the Western and the free world in our relationships with the devel-
oping world. I wish we had more money rather than less.

ARAB SUPPORT FOR THE TREATY

Mr. LAGOOMARaINO. Can you tell us what leaders of which Arab
States support the treaty?



152

Mr. VANCE. The Sudanese and the Omani have publicly declared
their support of the efforts under the Camp David accords. Insofar
as publicly declared positions of other states, I think there are no
others at this point who have publicly declared their position. Some-
times there are public positions and private positions.

ACCELERATION OF F-16 DELIVERIES TO ISRAEL

Mr. LAcO ARSINO. Secretary Brown, why has the treaty necessi-
tated an acceleration of F-16 deliveries to Israel?

Mr. BRoWN. The Israelis have as your question indicates, Mr. Lago-
marsino, always contemplated having a certain number of F-16's.
They have always wanted them delivered as early as possible. In
fact, they had asked for earlier delivery a year ago.

What has happened is that the cancellation by the Iranians of their
F-16 purchase has made it feasible for us to accelerate those deliveries.
That has not caused any change in our military assistance to Israel. It
is merely a rearrangement of the delivery schedule and is not a con-
sequence of the peace treaty.

ROLE OF PRESIDENT SADAT

Mr. LAGOMARSINO. There are some other questions about this. There
has been some speculation that President Sadat envisions a broader
role for Egypt in the area over and above the maintenance of Egypt's
own territorial integrity.

To what extent if any are we interested in such a role for Presi-
dentSiiSadat in that area?

Mr. BROWN. We want him to help produce stability in the region to
the extent that Egypt can be of help. I see that not as a broad military
security responsibility but as a limited case-by-case opportunity, tak-
ing advantage of limited case-by-case-opportunities for Egypt to sup-
ply training or merely by its own military strength, to be able to sup-
port surrounding countries.

Mr. LAGO3ARSINO. Thank you. I have no further questions.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The Chair would like to remind the members

that under the so-called Findley rule, we call upon all of the members
who were here at the beginning of the session before we go back to
rotating questions from both sides.

There are three remaining members who were here at the beginning:
Mr. Goodling, Mr. Pritchard, and Mr. Findley. The Chair recognizes
Mr. Pritchard.

Mr. PRITCHARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I guess this is more of a comment than a question.

ROLF OF STRAUSS IN TIlE MIDEAST

Secretary Vance, I am somewhat distressed that the administra-
tion has called on Bob Strauss to take this role, almost as if he is the
only one that we have in this entire administration who can nego-
tiate. He has been playing a crucial role in foreign trade. We still have
trade problems. To reassign him abruptly into this area which has not



153

been his field of expertise and to bypass the State Department is not
very reassuring. Would you comment, please.

Mr. VANCE. I do have a comment. I think we are very fortunate to
have Bob take on this. Bob was going to leave the Government. Bob
had decided that as soon as he finished his work on the trade negotia-
tions, he was going to go back in the private practice of law.

When the President and I went through a series of names, many
names, because we felt it was critically important that we get some-
body who could devote their full time to the negotiations in light of
the importance of the negotiations, Bob was the best choice.

The President and I simply cannot continue to spend the amount of
time we have had to spend during the last year and a half on one sub-
ject-as important as it is. Therefore, we felt it was absolutely critical
that we get somebody who is a first class negotiator who has the total
confidence of the President and certainly my confidence, to take on
this Job.

Bob really made a great sacrifice in agreeing to come back into the
Government to take this on and we are lucky.

Mr. PRITCHARD. That is an excellent defense of the appointment. I
accept your reasoning.

U.S. ROLE IN STRENGTHENING EGYPTIAN ARMED FORCES

Secretary Brown, you were discussing our contribution to strength-
ening the foundation of the Egyptian Armed Forces. You said what
we were providing them would not bring them up to speed but repre-
sents a good first step. I assume that implies that we have quite a
number of other steps down the road, further contributions to main-
taining the Egyptian Armed Forces.

Mr. 3RowN. Mr. Pritchard, I do not think we can predict what is
going to happen after 3 years. In fact, I am not at all sure we can pre-
dict what is going to happen during those 3 years.

The foreign military sales credits and the corresponding list which
is actually a longer list than can be paid for by those credits, therefore
some prioritization will have to take place. It will make a substantial
difference both to Egyptian military capability and to their own confi-
dence in themselves and in us.

What happens beyond that depends upon Egyptian economic cir-
cumstances, depends upon how their plans to reduce the size of their
military forces proceed, depends on how well and how rapidly, because
I am sure they will be able to do it, they can absorb this change of
equipment which will be required because they are transitioning from
Soviet to various kinds of Western equipment, not only United States.
Most of all it will depend upon the evolution of the peace process.

I do not want to say that I foresee necessarily a growth or a con-
tinuation at the same rate for an indefinite period. I do not think we
have any way of knowing that.

EOYPT'S ECONOMIC PROBLEMS

Mfr. PRITCHARD. My observations in Egypt lead me to the conclu-
sion that Cairo desperately needs to reduce arms expenditures in order
to develop the neglected civilian economic sector, Egypt requires sub-



154

stantial credit to defray the enormous cost of this task. I just do not
see how Egypt, with its unrestrained, rapid growth in population, will
be able to cope with the inevitable economic problems in the future.

One of the things they have to do is reduce their military spending.
From that standpoint, this peace treaty is most encouraging.

Mr. BRowN. There is no doubt at all in my mind, Mr. Pritchard,
that reducing their arms expenditures is a necessary although not
sufficient condition for their economic prosperity. There is no way to
do that other than a successful prosecution of the peace process.

Mr. PRITCHARD. I have no further questions.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mrs. Fenwick.

0 PALESTINIAN ISSUE

Mrs. FENWICK. Mr. Secretary, good morning. I wrote this down be-
cause I think it is a matter of great importance. I think it would be a
matter of great concern to many of us if we felt our Government was
negotiating even informally with representatives of the terrorist group.
known as the PLO.

Would it be accurate, except as in the case of Lebanon where the
lives of U.S. citizens might be at stake, would it be accurate to say
that when our Government or any representative of our Government
speaks to the mayors and others on the West Bank, one speaks to
them not as representatives of PLO but as residents without inquiry
as to their persuasion or politics ?

Mr. VANCE. Exactly. We are sayin~ we will talk to anybody who
is in a position of influence in the West Bank and the Palestinian
community.

Mrs. FENWICK. The chief of police or whatever.
Mr. VANCE. Absolutely.
Mrs. FENWICK. They are representatives, they are not PLO in your

eyes? They are representatives of the residents of the district and not
of the PLO?

Mr. VANCE. That is correct.
Mrs. FENWICK. The other thing I did want to say in relation to Mr.

Al Hout, although unpleasing to the State Department, he did not
say this as I understand it, until he got here. He is a member of the
PLO, a terrorist group. We. have our principles of free speech and
responsibilities under the Helsinki Pact. I recognize that.

When he was questioned about terrorism, he responded, that is not
terrorism, that is armed struggle. It is pretty clear that he does not
disavow terrorism and considers it to be armed struggle.

Mr. VANCE. The statement he made when he was here to which you
referred goes further than statements which he had made since 1972
outside of this country.

Mrs. FENWICK. Thank you. Now, in relation to our friends and
allies helping out with some of these expensive and necessary peace
programs, have we assurances and pledges or have we only hopes
and expectations?

Mr. VANCE. A number of them have told us they will indeed make
contributions. It is up to them to announce how much and when they
intend to do this.

Mrs. FENWICK. It is clear that they will?
Mr. VANCE. Yes.



155

ISLAMIC CONFERENCE

Mrs. FENwICK. What can we expect from this forthcoming confer-
ence or meeting in Morocco ? More fireworks than talk

Mr. VANCE. I think there may well be an attempt to suspend Egypt
from the Islamic Conference.' We have made our views known to
those attending the Conference in the clearest terms that we think
that would be totally unfair, wrong, and harmful to the peace and
stability of the area.

Mrs. FENWICK. Is there any reason to believe that some of our more
moderate friends might agree to our position?

Mr. VANCE. Several of them do privately. It will remain to be see.,
what they do when they vote.

FOREIGN FORCES IN SOUTH YEMEN

Mrs. FENWICK. Secretary Brown, have we any estimate as to what
foreign forces might be in South Yemen

Mr. BRowN. We believe there are some advisers from other coun-
tries. I think I perhaps should not give numbers. It is well known
the arms of the South Yemenese and to some degree the arms of North
Yemenese have been provided to them by the Soviet Union and with
that, there are a number of military advisers. There is also some evi-
dence of a presence of Cubans although nothing like the size we have
seen in Africa. It is sometimes hard to distinguish military advisers
from internal security advisers.

SHIPMENT OF ARMS THROUGH SAUDI ARABIA

Mrs. FENWICK. I wonder if either of you could tell us a little bit
more than we read in the papers about the landing of Soviet subma-
chineguns and Bulgarian handguns in Saudia Arabia seized on the
docks?

Mr. BROWN. There have been or there is concern about a shipment
of arms which, after all, can be brought in over a long coastline. The
Saudi internal security apparatus is paying attention to these ques-
tions and to these problems.

I do not see it as having yet become a major security threat. It is
something I think we need to be concerned about.

Mrs. FENWICK. Do they know to whom they were being sent?
Mr. BROWN. Saudi Arabia remains substantially a tribal society.

In such a society, arms are a rather frequent item of commerce.
I would not rule out the existence of clandestine organizations that

might threaten internal security but I do not see yet signs of a major
change in that balance.

Mrs. FENWICK. It does not relate to the foreign workers who are
there in such large numbers?

Mr. BRowN. They are, as you say, Mrs. Fenwick, in very large num-
bers; in fact, probably more than half the Saudi work force is foreign.
They are kept reasonably close nrack of, especially near vital
installations.

Mfrs. FENWICK. Thank vou, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZAnLOCKI. Mr. Solarz.



156

Mr. SOLARZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Secretary Vance, I thought I detected a somewhat pained expression

on your face in some of the earlier questioning. I would like to sort of
serve out the real softball which you can knock right out of the park.

Mr. VANCE. Thank you.

CONSEQUENCES OF CONGRESSIONAL REJECTION OF THE LEGISLATION

Mr. SOLARZ. In your judgment, what would be the consequences
for the viability of the treaty, in general, and Israel's ability to carry
out the obligations which it incurs as a result of the treaty, in particu-
lar, if the Congress, in a budget-balancing mood, was to reject this
legislation and our resources were not made available to Israel and
Egypt for the purposes of carrying out their commitments under the
treaty?

Mr. VANCE. First, I think it would deal a body blow to the peace
process. We made statements and commitments at the time the peace
treaty was being signed about what we were prepared to do to help
support the peace process.

The failure to implement those commitments would, I think, be ex-
tremely damaging from the standpoint not only of Egypt and Israel
in their perception of the reliability of the United States but also the
perception in the region as to both our interest and our willingness
to really put our shoulder to the wheel to make the peace process work.

In addition to that, as a practical matter, the Israelis simply could
not, in my judgment, meet the deadline of removing their forces at
the end of the 3 years specified in the treaty. There is no way they
could do that unless the airfields are built and are in place and they
cannot do it without the help that we would provide both in the money
and in the technical assistance which we will give in the construction
process.

U.S. DISCUSSIONS WITH THE PLO

Mr. SOLARZ. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.
Just for the record, I would like to come back to the colloquy you

had with some of the other members on the question of American dis-
cussions with the PLO.

My question is this: Given the extent to which the PLO remains
publicly committed to the elimination of Israel and to its replacement
by a so-called secular democratic state, and given the extent to which
we entered into a solemn agreement with Israel at the time of the
Sinai II accords in which we said, "The United States will continue
to adhere to its present policy with respect to the Palestine Liberation
Organization whereby it will not recognize or negotiate with the PLO
so long as the PLO does not recognize Israel's right to exist and does
not accept Security Council Resolutions 242 and338," can this com-
mittee confidently expect that we have no intention in contravention
of those commitments of entering into discussions or negotiations with
the PLO concerning the political problems in the region?

Mr. VANCE. That is correct. As Mrs. Fenwick pointed out, that does
not mean if we talk to a West Bank mayor who happens to politically
have leanings toward the PLO, that we cannot talk to him.

This is understood with the Israelis.



157

SUPPLEMENTAL REQUEST IN RELATION TO THE TREATY

Mr. SOLAz. Secretary Brown, you indicated in your testimony that
this supplemental package was offered in the context of the treaty
between Israel and Egypt, particularly the additional military assist-
ance to Egypt.

Would it be fair to say if there had not been a treaty between Israel
and Egypt, the administration would not have come forward with
this supplemental request?

Mr. BROwN. Yes; as a practical political matter, I think that is
pretty clearly the case. Our relations with Egypt were evolving even
before the peace treaty was signed and there had been, as you know,
previous sales of military equipment to Egypt, but there had been no
extension of FMS credits. FMS credit extension is associated with the
treaty.

AID TO ISRAEL AND ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE TREATY

Mr. SOLARZ. We have had some conflicting testimony before the sub-
committee and now the full committee on the extent to which the aid
to Israel in this supplemental appropriation is specifically designed to
defray the costs which Israel expects to incur as a result of its obliga-
tions under the treaty and its new defensive requirements as a result
of the withdrawal from Sinai and the extent to which there may be
additional military assistance contained in this package for Israel
which is not specifically related to the treaty itself.

I wonder if you could clarify that? How much if any of the aid for
Israel in this package is unrelated to the problems Isail0il confront
as a result of its withdrawal from the Sinai ?

Mr. BROWN. All of it is related, the $800 million of grant aid is
specifically tied to the airfields and cannot be used for anything but
the airfields. The rest is $2.2 billion in FMS credits and can all be
absorbed in costs connected with the withdrawal, replacement of facil-
ities, additional warning equipment, and so forth.

We do not take it item by item, to the extent that Israel wants to face
things so that they use some of it for modernization which it would
have done anyway, that is all right. They have to then come up with
other money to pay for the withdrawal.

The amount and the nature of the aid are both tied closely to the
withdrawal costs.

COSTS OF MIDDLE EAST WAR TO THE UNITED STATES

Mr. SOLARZ. One final question, Secretary Vance. You have esti-
mated that the cost of war is infinitely greater than the cost of peace.
I think you indicated that over the course of the last few decades, the
cost of war in the Middle East to our own country was in the amount
of several tens of billions of dollars.

Without asking you to precisely quantify that, could you give us
some idea where your figures come from and on what your calculations
are based? That is a rather impressive and striking figure. I think it
would be helpful to know how you arrived at it.

lir. VANCE. It is made up of a large number of pieces starting with
the $2.2 billion appropriated to replace Israeli battlefield losses. Since

47-699-70--11



158

the 1973 war, we have made available to Israel $5 billion in military
equipment from the United States. When you figure in the cost to the
U.S. economy of the oil embargo alone, you get a figure that runs to
$15 billion.

There are a number of other items which run the gamut from help-
ing persons displaced by the Middle East wars to U.N. peacekeeping
forces. There are a large number of items that are included.

Mr. SOLARZ. Thank you.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Gray.

SYRIA' OPPOSITION TO THE TREATY

Mr. GRAY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, it is certainly good to have you here before the

committee. Let me congratulate you and the administration for your
tremendous efforts in bringing us to this point of a settlement.

One of the questions that I have which concerns me is the fact that
many of the nation's of the Arab world are not at this point supportive
of that peace process. The Syrians have been in the lead of those Arab
nations opposing the peace treaty.

In light of their position and their call for President Sadat's over-
throw, on what basis does the administration see Syria ever being
supportive of the peace process? Do you have any expectation that
they might become supportive

Mr. VANCE. Syria still supports a comprehensive settlement under
Resolutions 242 and 338. They have taken the position that the way
to accomplish that is not under the Camp David accords and the
actions we have taken to implement the Camp David accords.

They have not indicated in any way that they have foresworn their
previous position of trying to find a comprehensive peace.

They are an important factor in the area. They will eventually, if
there is to be a comprehensive peace, have to participate in the peace
process.

I would go back and say that you have to look at the history.
Historically, when the Rhodes negotiations started, they were not a
party to the Rhodes negotiation. As time went on, they came in and
participated in the Rhodes negotiations.

At the time of Sinai II, they violently opposed-or even the first
Sinai, they violently opposed the action taken by Egypt and they were
certainly as active in their rhetoric as they have been currently.

Subsequently, they came into the peace process and negotiated an
interim agreement with respect to the Golan Heights.

I do not rule out that they in the future will join the peace process. I
think it is important that we keep open our channels of communica-
tion with the Syrians and that we not throw up our hands at this point
and say, it is hopeless and therefore we should give up.

If we had done that so many times along the road during the last
17 months, we would have never gotten where we have now.

POSSIBLE ISRAELI-SYRIAN PEACE TREATY

Mr. GRAY. Foreign Minister Dayan recently said Israel should sign
a peace treaty with Syria and give them back the Golan Heights. Is



159

the United States encouraging this kind of a statement or that kind
of a position ?

Mr. VANCE. We did not know the statement was being made. The
question of a negotiation of the Golan Heights problem is an issue
which must be resolved by negotiations between Israel and Syria.

ROLE OF EGYPT IN THE MIDEAST AND AFRICA

Mr. GRAY. Secretary Brown, on page 8 of your testimony you
talk about Egypt and its need for increased armed forces and for the
defense of their own country but you also mentioned or implied that
Egypt might be seen as a policeman of the area and you go on to say
that Egypt can play a positive role in helping other states in Africa
and the Middle East.

I was wondering, could you expand on that statement and how
positive a role as a result of increased military capability would Egypt
have in terms of impacting on Africa and the Middle East ?

Mr. BROWN. Mr. Gray, as you know, having read my statement, I
mentioned Egypt as a regional policeman negatively, that is to say
neither we nor the Egyptians contemplate that role.

What the positive role that they can play has to do with their abil-
ity to train, to support, to cooperate with other countries in Africa to
create a stronger regional security situation that would inhibit outside
interference.

The Egyptians themselves undoubtedly feel and in fact I know they
feel some threat or possible threat from the west, from Libya, and some
potential threat, although it is not a present one, from the southeast,
should Sudan come under pressure.

They, I think, can play an important role in bolstering the Sudan
and assuring Sudanese military strength is sufficient at least to deter
adventures against the Sudan.

When it comes to activities further south in Africa, I do not see the
Egyptians as playing an expeditionary role in any way. They could,
for example, be useful if they decided it was in their interest and were
to cooperate with other states, in something of the sort that hap-
pened in Zaire 2 years ago where it was important to have some help
from outside to defend Zaire from an attack on the Shaba.

ISLAMIC MOVEMENT IN EGYPT

Mr. GRAY. Secretary Vance, are there any rumblings within Egypt
of an Islamic revolution similar to that which has occurred in Iran?
Are there any movements although minimal at this time, which seem
to be similar to that which happened in Iran, anti-Western, anti-
American?

Mr. VANCE. The answer is no; there are no situations or facts in
Egypt which indicate the kind of situation that led to the revolution
in Iran. There are fundamentalist Islamic sects, the Muslim Brother-
hood is one. I do not see any parallel really between the situation in
Egypt and that in Iran.

Mr. GRAY. Have there been increased demonstrations by that group
in the last year?

Mr. VANCE. They have been more active, not in any major way.



160

Mr. GRAY. Thank you, Mr. Secretaries.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Gilman.
Mr. GrIMAN. I, too, want to join my colleagues in commending Sec-

retary Vance, Secretary Brown, and the administration for their hard
work and success in bringing us to this point. I hope the Congress will
recognize the importance of their responsibility now in fulfilling some
of the recommendations.

ACTUAL COST TO THE UNITED STATES

In looking at the bottom line of what this will actually cost our
Nation, the actual outlay as you have stated is $1.47 billion with
part of that in the form of a loan. When the loans are repaid, the
actual outlay is going to cost our Nation just a little over $1 billion,
about $1.1 billion. Is that correct?

Mr. VANCE. That is correct.
Mr. GILMAN. That amount is spread over a 3-year period
Mr. VANCE. That is correct.
Mr. GILMAN. Essentially what we are talking about is approxi-

mately $465 million per year for a 3-year period t
Mr. VANCE. Yes, sir.
Mr. GILMAN. I would hope we could present that with a little more

emphasis on that outlay formula rather than the $4.8 billion that
has been bounced around a bit.

Mr. VANCE. I wholeheartedly agree with you on that.

LOANS TO ISRAEL

Mr. GILMAN. With regard to past loans to Israel, have any of those
been made at concessional rates or have they all been at market
rates?

Mr. VANCE. Yes; on the assistance in the past, approximately 50
percent has been forgiven.

Mr. GILMAN. I would assume that there may be some considera-
tion for that sort of an arrangement in this request?

Mr. VANCE. That was considered and not followed.
Mr. G)LMAN. Has there been any discussion about the interest

rates for these 'loans?
Mr. VANCE. Yes, sir. That was also considered and the interest

rates will be at the current market rates. I would point out that
these are concessional loans of 30 years, and in addition to that,
there is a grace period of 10 years before any of the principal is paid.
That means for the first 10 years, only interest is paid, and thereafter
during the remaining 20 years, you will have payments of both
principal and interest.

VALUE OF ISRAELI BASES IN THE SINAI

Mr. GILMAAN. With regard to the peace treaty, Israel will be turn-
ing over four airbases to Egypt in the Sinai. Is that correct?

Mr. VANCE. Turned back.
Mr. GIrLMAN. The value of those bases would exceed $1 billion,

based on the cost of replacing just one of those bases. Am I correct
in that estimate of value?



161

Mr. BROWN. That is not an unreasonable measure of their present
value as military bases. We would not want them to be used for that.
They are specifically forbidden to be used for that purpose in the
treaty. They do not have that value as commercial airbases.

Mr. GILMAN. For the benefit of Egypt, there will be four bases
or four airfields available to them as a result of this transfer?

Mr. BROWN. Four airfields; yes. Some of them may be plowed
under.

FUTURE DISPOSITION OF BASES

Mr. GILMAN. There has been no decision made with regard to their
future disposition and the manner in which they would be disposed,
is that correct?

Mr. VANCE. President Sadat has indicated that probably at most
two of them will be civilianized and the others will just be plowed
under and not used.

Mr. GILMAN. I note that in the legislation before us with regard
to the Sinai monitoring facilities, we intend to turn them over to
Egypt. Has some value been set on the mission facilities? We have
been shown photographs of the complex. They look like they are
quite extensive facilities, and there is some talk about Egypt utilizing
those as a military base.

Mr. BROWN. I believe they are in the demilitarized zone. They can-
not be used for military purposes. They could be used for warning
purposes which is what they were built for, but since Egypt will
have sovereignty over both the area to the west and the east of those
sites, their value for warning purposes is limited, not zero but
limited.

The facilities themselves had a base camp construction cost of
about $15 million. We have spent in terms of that plus equipment
and to the contractor, perhaps a total on the order of $40 or $50
million.

If my understanding is correct, it is still under consideration just
how much of that might be turned over to the Egyptians. We our-
selves would find use for some of the equipment and would probably
keep some of the equipment.

Mr. GILMAN. There is no restriction in turning these over to the
Egyptians who could then utilize them for barracks purposes for
their military personnel. Is that correct?

Mr. BRowN. They will get the fixed facilities, no equipment. They
can use them as barracks, but they cannot have military personnel
in at 'least some of these areas.

Mr. GILMAN. Does that apply to all of those facilities?
Mr. BROWN. It does as far as I know. I do not think there are any

of these that are in the area where Egypt can have military units
larger than a very small size. I forget what the size is.

Mr. VANCE. That is in an essentially demilitarized zone where
only police will be available.

SAUDI OBJECTION TO U.S. INTELLIGENCE PERSONNEL IN SAUDI ARABIA

Mr. GILMAN. There was an important press report yesterday about
the Saudis' objections to our intelligence people being in Saudi Arabia.
Is there any basis for that report I



162

Mr. VANCE. I have made it a practice never to comment on intelli-
gence matters in an open session.

Mr. GILMAN. Has any progress been made in convincing Jordan to
take a more active role in the discussions with regard to the West Bank I

Mr. VANCE. We are in conversations with them. As a matter of fact,
I had a good conversation yesterday, a useful conversation for me,
with their Minister of Court who is their senior adviser to the king in
foreign affairs. I will be meeting with him again tomorrow. I have
found the conversations helpful to me.

Mr. GOMANr. It seems like an optimistic view.
Mr. VANCE. No; I am not trying to be optimistic. I think it is im-

portant to keep the dialog open.
Mr. GILMAN. Thank you. I believe my time is up. Thank you, Mr.

Chairman. *
Chairman ZAnLOCKr. Mr. Wolpe.
Mr. WoLPE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

AMERICAN INTEREST IN THE MIDEAST

Secretary Vance, many Americans as a number of the members of
this committee have indicated, are obviously troubled by the cost of
the proposed economic and military assistance package. Much of the
concern is aggravated by a common perception that the aid that is
being extended is motivated to be of assistance to the parties in the
Middle East rather than be motivated out of the concern for our own
national self-interest.

Would you develop more fully the American self-interest in devel-
opments in the Middle East

Mr. VANCE. The Middle East is a critical region which because of its
resources, its geographical location and because of the roots and ties
that so many of our people have with various countries, are of great
importance to the United States.

It is my deep conviction that the maintenance of peace in the area
is on its face in our interest because a stable Middle East, a Middle
East in which oil can flow to other parts of the world from that region
obviously is of benefit.

In addition, a Middle East in which there is peace can lead to a more
stable economic set of relationships and benefits that flow from that
are also in our interest in my view.

I think there are basic benefits as I indicated which are demonstrated
in the fact that we are willing to work for peace and to work with
others in the region to help protect their stability. I think this has an
effect not only in the Middle East but on how our country is perceived
around the world. I think that is going to be of vital interest to us now
and in the years ahead.

Mr. WOLPE. Secretary Brown, could you respond to the same ques-
tion focusing particularly upon the strategic and military significance
that America has in the Middle East ?

Mr. BRowN. Certainly the access to oil cannot be overlooked in
examining its strategic and military importance to us and still more
to our allies, to the Western Europeans who depend even more than we



163

and the Japanese who spend even more than they, on a free flow of oil
from the Middle East.

Its geographical position is another very important strategic and
military feature. It is critical to the future security of Africa, of South
Asia and also of the southeastern flank of NATO, Greece, and Turkey.

For all of those reasons, its instability up until this time and the
lack of security that is felt by many nations in the region, not only
Israel, are of very great concern. I cannot say it is the most important
military focus. I would have to say strategic war is something we
clearly regard as even more serious and the central front in Europe is
the place where the United States and the Soviet Union face each other
across a potentially hostile border or hostile environment directly.

If you multiply together how important the area is and how likely
conflict is, especially in light of how often it has taken place up to now,
there is no place which we are more concerned about than the Middle
East.

SITUATION IN IRAN

Mr. WOLPE. Thank you for that response. I have a question on Iran.
Could you, Mr. Secretary, provide an assessment as to the development
of the situation in Iran as of this moment ?

Mr. VANCE. Yes; let me do it very briefly. The situation is a fragile
one at this point as is evident from our daily newspapers. The new
government is in the process of establishing itself and extending its
authority throughout the country. This is a very difficult task as is true
with any revolutionary situation.

There are differences that are apparent. I would say the Prime
Minister and his government are moving in what I think is a construc-
tive way to seize hold and govern the country under extremely difficult
circumstances. The Prime Minister is an extremly able man. All of us
wish him well in what he is doing.

Mr. WOLPE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.

EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT

Chairman ZABIOCKI. Thank you, Secretary Vance and Secretary
Brown for your generous allocation of time to this committee. I am
tempted to ask a question which is not relevant to the Middle East. We
will be meeting approximately at 1:30 p.m. to continue markup of the
Export Administration Act and we will in all likelihood be consider-
ing the so-called McKinney and Wolpe amendments to that act.

Very briefly, Mr. Secretary, would you care to share with us your
views on the effect that the McKinney and the Wolpe amendment con-
cerning the prohibition of export of Alaskan oil would have on our
international agreements including that of Israel's means of oil?

We will be marking up the bill this afternoon. With the consent of
the committee, we would welcome a comment.

Mr. VANCE. Mr. Chairman, I have not had sufficient time to study
that at this point.

Chairman ZABLOCKT. It is a very difficult issue.
Mr. VANCE. I would hesitate to comment at this point without hav-

ing a further chance to study the bill. I would be glad to try and



104

study it. I am having lunch with Congressman Long. After that, I
would be glad to examine it and call you.

Chairman ZABmocgr. It will be too late.
I will not press the issue. I just thought perhaps you would volun-

teer an off-the-cuff comment Thank you.
The committee stands adjourned.
[Whercupon, at 1:20 p.m., the committee adjourned.]

i



SUPPLEMENTAL 1979 MIDDLE EAST AID PACKAGE
FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

TUESDAY, MAY 8, 1979

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
CoBMMrrrEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,

SUBCOMMITTEES ON INTERNATIONAL
SECURITY AND SCIENTIFIC AFFAIRS

AND ON EUROPE AND TIIE MIDDLE EAST,
Washington, D.O.

The subcommittees met in open markup, at 3:40 p.m., in room H-236,
the Capitol, Hon. Lee H. Hamilton (chairman, Subcommittee on
Europe and the Middle East) presiding.

Mr. HAMILTON. The subcommittees will come to order. We meet
today to discuss recommendations to the full committee on the bill
to authorize supplemental international security assistance for the
year 1979 in support of the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel.

Members have before them a draft of a bill which has been pre-
pared by the staff, and it is open for discussion at this point.

As I understand it, there are some changes from the administra-
tion's bill. First of all, with regard to the organization of the bill,
the policy statements which were dispersed throughout the adminis-
tration's bill have been collected and put into section 2, so that the
statement of policy and findings is a unit in the front part of the bill.

Second, on page 6, subsections (d) (1) and (2), there is language
which was included, I believe, in the Senate committee version of the
bill, indicating simply that it may become necessary in future years
to modify the terms of the loans because of the financial burdens on
the two countries, and calling for an annual report regarding the
economic condition which prevail in Israel and Egypt.

In addition, I believe, there are certain changes in the bill required
by our budget process. It is my understanding that those changes are
not substantive. It does require the insertion on page 4, line 7, of
the words-I will read the entire line-"or in such amounts as are
provided in advance in appropriation acts"; the words "in advance"
are inserted.

All right, the bill is open for discussion at this point.
Mr. FINDLEY. And amendments?
Mr. HAMILTON. And amendments.
Mr. BINGIIAMr. Will the gentleman yield? What was the significance

of the change you first mentioned in the administration bill?
Mr. HAMTLTON. The policy statement was just brought together in

the front of the bill in section (2). In the administration bill there is
a policy statement preceding each of the sections. I do not think there
is any great substantive change.

(165)



166

I recognize Mr. Findley in support of his amendment.
Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, I assume each member has a copy

of the amendment. It is very similar to an amendment that the com-
mittee adopted when it approved the Sinai II implementing resolu-
tion of 1975. It is similar to an amendment adopted by the Senate
Foreign Relations Committee that, was offered by Mr. Biden.

I think it is important because it states that in authorizing these
funds the Congress is not giving its approval to any other agreement
made between the executive branch and the Governments of either
Egypt or Israel. It helps to define the role of Congress, since Congress
was not involved in negotiating any other agreements, if such exist,
and has not been asked to approve them. This amendment would make
it clear that the Congress is not by either implication or indirectly
approving any such agreement.

It may well be argued that this is unnecessary because no other
agreements exist. If so, there should not be any valid objection to
including this language. I think we have learned from experience
that sometimes agreements later pop up, and I think this is a worthy
protection of the role of Congress and I therefore offer this amendment

Mr. HAMILTON. Is there any further discussion, Mrs. Fenwick?
Mrs. FENWICK. It sounds a little suspicious, does it not [Laughter.]
Mr. FINDLEY. Well, no more suspicious than the Congress has been

in the past, and I think for good reason.
Mrs. FENWICK. Where would that go, at the foot of page 2, above

"construction"?
Mr. HA3MITON. It is a policy statement, so, it comes at the end of

section (2).
Mr. FINDLEY. At the end of section (2).
Mrs. FENWICK. That is on page 2.
Mr. HAMILTON. It would have to be redesignated.
Mr. STUDDS. I think it is better drafted than the Senate language.
Mr. FINDLEY. Th t is right.
Mr. HAMILTON. The question occurs on the amendment of the gen-

tleman from Illinois. All in favor say "aye."
FChorus of "ayes."]
Mr. HAMILTON. Opposed.
fNo response.]
Mr. HAMILTON. The ayes have it and the amendment is adopted.

Are there any other comments or discussion, or amendments ?
Mrs. FENWICK. I have an amendment, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTO. Mrs. Fenwick is recognized in support of her

amendment.
Mrs. FENWICK. It would appear at end of the bill. It is very modest

and. I hope, not necessary: but useful as a matter of policy. The head-
ing would be. "Contributions by Other Countries to Support Peace
in the Middle East", which would be section 7 of the bill.

As we heard this morning in testimony by the Secretary of State,
they are working with other countries now in order to encourage them
to take part in a fund to help secure the whole oil base and it simply
says:

It is the sense of the Congress that other countries, including those which are
members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, should



167

give favorable consideration in providing financial assistance to support peace
in the Middle East. Therefore, the Congress requests that the President consult
with other countries to develop a common program of assistance to, and invest-
ments in, Israel and Egypt and other countries in the region should they join in
the Middle East peace agreements.

In other words, we do not shut out any country in the area that would
be willing to join in the Middle East agreement if other countries
want to contribute.

It is a "good will" amendement, I suppose it could be called.
Mr. FINDLEY. Would you yield
Mrs. FENWICK. Yes.
Mr. FINDLEY. I am wondering why you mention OECD. It would

seem to me that mentioning that group of nations would tend to give
precedence to contributions from them and to make less of contribu-
tions from other nations, some of which have a lot of dollars.

Mrs. FENWICK. Such as Japan. I think it should not be exclusive, it
should be just broad. They have a lot of money.

Mr. IrAMILTON. Any further discussion ?
Mr. BINOHAM. Can I just ask a technical question? Maybe this

should be addressed to counsel. Is it usual in a "sense of Congress" pro-
vision to say, "The Congress requests that the President" ? Would it
not be better for them to say that it is the sense of Congress that the
President "should"

Mrs. FENWICK. Yes, I think so.
Mr. MOHRMAN. There are several different ways this sort of provi-

sion can be phrased. You could say the Congress urges the President or
it is the sense of the Congress that the President should, or--

Mr. BINOGAM. Can you say "requests"?
Mr. STUDDS. The Senate says "requests", so, it is probably wrong.

[Laughter.]
Mr. BINOHAM. If the gentlelady approves, I think the best form is, as

I said, "It is the sense of Congress that the President should".
Mrs. FENWICK. I like that.
Mr. BINGHAM. Do you ask unanimous consent
Mrs. FENWICK. I ask unanimous consent that the last sentence begin,

"Therefore, it is the sense of Congress that the President consult with
other countries to develop a common program of assistance."

Mr. HAMILTON. Is there objection? The Chair hears none. The
change is adopted. Is there any further discussion ?

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Chairman, has it been resolved whether the
word in the second line of Mrs. Fenwick's amendment, the word "in-
cluding" will remain, the particular countries?

Mrs. FENWICK. NO, just including. Not particularly, but including
those. Unless you would like to take it out, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I would tend to agree with the gentleman from
Illinois, Mr. Findley, that singling out the OECD countries might not
be wise.

Mrs. FENWICK. They have so much money, and I think they are
al]roIdv being worked with.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Well, then you ought to say, "particularly the
OFECD countries".

Mr. HAMnTON. Would the gentlewoman object if we just excluded
that phrase altogether ?



168

Mis. FENWICX. Just say "that other countries".
Mr. HAMIIroN. So, it would read, "It is the sense of the Congress

that other countries should give favorable consideration."
Mr. STUDDS. That will give us something to confer about because the

Senate says just OECD members.
Mr. HAMILTON. All right.
Mrs. FENWICK. I move the amendment.
Mr. HAMILTON. All those in favor of the amendment by the gentle-

woman from New Jersey say "aye."
FChorus of "ayes."]
Mr. HAMILTON. Opposed, "no."
FNo response.]
Mr. HAMILTON. The "ayes" have it and the amendment is adopted.

Any other discussion or amendments?
Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have an amendment

providing for a section 8, at the very end of the bill. I will read it and
then try to explain it.

It is the sense of the Congress that the United Nations Emergency Force in the
Sinai will play an essential role as Egypt resumes the exercise of its full sover-
eignty over the Sinai Peninsula. The Congress would, therefore, view with
grave concern any effort by any member of the United Nations Security Council
to block, contrary to the expressed desire of both Egypt and Israel, the con-
tinuation of the mandate of the United Nations Emergency Force.

I think this "sense of the Congress" would alert the Soviet Union
to congressional awareness of and our concern about Soviet indica-
tions that they may veto the continuation of the U.N. force present
in the Sinai. I think this is valuable because the Soviet Union is
sensitive--or should be-to congressional concerns as we approach
the SALT II ratification debate.

As many of you heard, the Secretary of State this morning was-
in my opinion-a little vague on his answer of what we would do if
we were called upon to put American or U.S. forces in there.

This amendment does not in any way threaten, Mr. Chairman. It is
merely an indication of congressional concern. I think it also puts the
United States in the position of having to organize a multinational
force. The U.S. would certainly be obligated to pay for this force,
although the Secretary of State did not acknowledge that this
morning.

Chairman ZABLOCKT. Afr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Zablocki.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Almost always I agree with my colleague,

Mr. Winn, although I do not have too much faith that "sense of
Congress" expressions are listened to, or complied with, whether it is
in the executive branch, the United Nations, or elsewhere.

I was just wondering whether this concern could be expressed in the
report, rather than in the law; whether that might not be preferable.
It might just rub the Soviets the wrong way, it may just be that by
highlighting to them that we are concerned they may veto.

As I recall, the Secretary of State did say that he does not expect
that the Soviet Union would exercise its veto. This may be just a bit of
an irritant which may cause them to do so.

So, I think the expression in the report would do the same thing,
Larry, without having it in the law. I think your amendment would



169

have the same effect in the report. If it is going to be put to a vote, I
will vote for it.

Mr. HAmrLTON. Any further comments, Mr. Bingham?
Mr. BINGHAM. I certainly agree with the intent of the amendment.

I share Chairman Zablocki's concern about its effect on the Soviet
Union. It might have just the opposite effect of what we intend.

There are some hopeful indications about the Soviets' behavior. I
do not know if you saw the article which indicated that some of the
Arab states were quite upset with the Soviet Union on a number of
counts. If that is true, I do not think we want to highlight the issue.
My guess would be that this would not help, and it might hurt.

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Winn.
Mr. WINN. I have no great objection to putting it into the report.

I am not sure that I understand how the gentleman from New York
would like to change the wording in any way in that if it is in the
report it would be less of an irritant to the Soviet Union than it would
be in the law.

Chairman ZABLOCKT. Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Zablocki.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. If we had it in the report, the report language

could be that we would express the hope that the Soviet Union, in the
interest of promoting peace in the Middle East, would not exercise
its veto in the United Nations; that we put it in a positive vein.

Mr. STUDDS. Yes, "hope" is probably better than "concern".
Mr. HAMILTON. Is the gentleman willing to include that in the

report?
Mr. WINN. I am willing to include that in the report, and I thank the

chairman for his suggestion.
Mr. HAMILTON. Are there any other amendments, Mr. Studds?
Mr. STUDDS. Mr. Chairman I hate to say this-the second bells

having called-but I have a subject I would like to raise, having to do
with the subject I asked the Secretary of State about this morning
with respect to the Israeli settlements.

Mr. HAMILTON. I know that topic, of course, and I think it will
need some discussion. Perhaps we had better return after the vote
on the floor, but it will not be possible for me to return because I have
to host a meeting with Ambassador Sharaf from Jordan.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Mr. Chairman, if the gentleman from Massa-
chusetts will yield. The joint subcommittees could report these recom-
mendations to the full committee and it would not preclude the gentle-
man from Massachusetts from offering an amendment when this
legislation, this bill, will be before the full committee.

Mr. STUDDS. I understand that. When is it scheduled, Mr. Chairman
Mr. HAMILTON. Tomorrow.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Therefore, it would not mean any length of

time that we would forget.
Mr. STUDDS. I will not forget it. If it is both chairmen's preference,

I will withhold it. Is tomorrow morning the full committee markup
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Immediately after we finish the Export Ad-

ministration Act.
Mr. STnDDS. I value the opinions of the subcommittee members. I

at least intend to raise the question of whether or not we ought to con-



170

sider reducing the amount of military assistance to Israel by the
amount they will expend on illegal settlements in the coming year.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. That would require a lot of discussion.
Mr. HAMILTON. Is it the opinion that we should recommend favor-

ably the bill as amended
Mrs. FENWICK. I would like to move that we do.
Mr. HAMILTON. It is moved. All in favor say "aye."
[Chorus of "ayes."]
Mr. HAMILTON. Opposed.
[No response.]
Mr. HAMIIroN. Carried.
[Whereupon, at 8:55 p.m., the subcommittees adjourned, to recon-

vene at the call of the Chair.]



SUPPLEMENTAL 1979 MIDDLE EAST AID PACKAGE
FOR ISRAEL AND EGYPT

WEDNESDAY, MAY 9, 1979

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
CO ITrrrEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,

Washington, D.C.
The committee met in open markup, at 4:45 p.m., in room 2172,

Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Clement J. Zablocki (chairman)
presiding.

Chairman ZABLOCKL The committee will please come to order. We
have a very important bill before us. It was reported out of the Sub-
committees on International Security and Scientific Affairs, and
Europe and the Middle East, supplemental security assistance legisla-
tion for Egypt and Israel in support of the peace treaty between those
two countries.

We could report this legislation out, and have a clean bill for fur-
ther action by the House. I think we would be able to do it within a
half hour if the members are willing to stay.

The gentleman from Illinois.

EXPORT ADMINISTRATION LEGISLATION

Mr. DERWINSKI. Referring back for a moment to 3783, there will be
necessary supplemental views to inspire the general membership to
action when this bill reaches the floor.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. As normally, the supplemental views, the mi-
nority views, will be incorporated and are welcome.

We have a draft bill before each member to authorize supplemental
international security assistance for the fiscal year 1979 in support of
the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel. The draft bill, as I stated,
is before each member, as well as a section-by-section analysis.

MAJOR PROVISIONS OF THE LEGISLATION

The major provisions of the draft bill are essentially the same as
those contained in the original executive branch request. Those major
provisions are as follows:

The sum of $800 million to be provided to Israel on a grant basis
for construction of airbases in Israel to replace airbases in the Sinai
that are to be evacuated in accordance with the provisions of the
Egyptian-Israeli Peace Treaty.

The sum of $220 million In foreign military sales (FMS) guar-
antees to finance FMS loans of $2.2 billion to Israel.

(171)



172

The sum of $150 million in FMS guarantees to finance loans of $1.5
billion to Egypt.

The sum of $300 million in economic support fund loans and grants
to Egypt.

All told, the bill as approved will authorize appropriations of $1.47
billion to finance programs totaling $4.8 billion.

The Subcommittees on International Security and Scientific Affairs,
and Europe and the Middle East made a number of minor drafting
changes, statements of policy, expressions of the sense of Congress.

At this time the Chair recognizes the chairman of the Subcommit-
tee on Europe and the Middle East, Mr. Hamilton, for his comments
on the subcommittee's recommendations.

Mr. HAMILTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Before the gentleman proceeds, may we have

order.
SUBCOMMIrTEE EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Mr. HAMILTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The Subcommittees on
International Security and Scientific Affairs, and Europe and the
Middle East held three lengthy hearings with executive branch wit-
nesses in which we covered most relevant political, economic, and se-
curity issues contained in or related to this special International Secu-
rity Act of 1979.

Members have before them now House Document No. 96-91 which
contains the legislation that the President transmitted to the Congress.1

Chairman ZABLOCKr. May we have order. I hope the caucuses we are
having, including the one the chairman had momentarily, will cease.

Chairman Hamilton.
Mr. HAMILTON. The committee print before members, which the two

subcommittees discussed yesterday and then recommended to put
before members today for their consideration and approval, differs
from the draft of the executive branch in several ways. Five of these
differences should be mentioned.

First, the subcommittee bill puts all of the policy language and gen-
eral authorities in one section at the front, section 2; whereas the execu-
tive branch proposal has policy language dispersed throughout the
bill. The subcommittee's draft is also more general in its language.

Second, the subcommittee has added a subsection (b) to section 2
which provides that the authorities contained in this act to implement
certain arrangements in support of the peace treaty between Egypt and
Tsrael do not signify approval by the Congress of any other agree-
ment, understanding, or commitment made by the executive branch.
This is similar to language that the committee approved in 1975 when
we considered legislation pursuant to the Sinai II accords.

Third, the subcommittee's draft makes a number of technical
changes so that the bill will conform to the requirements of the budget
process.

Fourth, on pages 6 and 7 of the committee print the subcommittee
has added a subsection (d) which basically expresses concern over the
burden that proposed credits may pose for Israel and Egypt and
asked for an annual report regarding economic conditions prevailing
in Israel and Egypt which may affect their respective abilities to meet
their obligations to make payments under the financing authorized by

1 See appendix 2, p. 187.



173

the bill. I understand that language is similar to language that has
been adopted by the Senate committee.

Fifth, the subcommittee has added a new section 7 at the end of the
bill expressing the sense of Congress that efforts be made to seek con-
tributions from other countries in support of the peace process.

DRAFT REPORT LANGUAGE

Mr. Chairman, finally, I would like to place before the members
some draft report language on two subjects which were discussed dur-
ing our hearings.

First, there is draft report language expressing the sense of the com-
mittee regarding the importance of maintaining the United Nations
Emergency Force in the Sinai in order to support the peace process
and the implementation of the Egyptian-Israeli Treaty. This lan-
guage was suggested by Congressman Winn.

Second, there is report language regarding the proposed use of some
of the economic aid money for Egypt for scholarships here in the
United States. Some concerns have been expressed about this use of
these funds in light of pressing economic problems in Egypt mentioned
yesterday by Secretary Vance.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my remarks and I join you in sup.
porting the amendments.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Will the gentleman yield I
Mr. HAMLTON. Yes; I yield.

ABILITY OF EGYPT AND ISRAEL TO MEET COMMITMENTS

Chairman ZABLOCKr Perhaps I did not hear the chairman. He may
have touched upon the provision that was included by the subcom-
mittees concerning review of the ability of both Israel and Egypt to
meet the commitments.

Mr. HAMILTON. Yes; I did mention that, Mr. Chairman. It is a
section of the bill at page 6, line 9, which simply mentions that both of
these countries have enormous economic problems and we find that as
a consequence of the impact of the debt burdens incurred by them it
may be necessary in future years to modify the terms of the loan's
guarantee.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. I thank the genttleman for repeating that
provision. There was so much confusion and I wanted the members to
know that provision was included.

Mr. FITHIAN. Will the gentleman yield to a question?
Mr. HAMILTON. Yes.
Mr. FITHIAN. I am concerned about the meaning of lines 14 through

17 on page 6, that provision that you were just addressing. I am not
sure whether we should interpret that as prospective cancellation
of obligations, alteration of those or what. It sounds like a blank
check to me. I would like to know what we are signing.

MODIFICATION OF FINANCING TERMS

Mr. HAMILTON. Well, it certainly is not intended as a blank check.
There is just simply a recognition that because of the extraordinarily
difficult economic circumstances both of these countries face we may

47-699 0 - 79 - 12



174

want, at a future time, to modify the terms of the financing. It does not
commit us in any way to make that modification. It simply says we
may want to do it.

Mr. FITHLAN. Are there any limits placed on the modifications such
as 10-year payback or 30 years?

Mr. HAILTON. We would have complete flexibility at a future time
to modify or not to modify, and, if we chose to modify, to modify it in
any way we would like.

Chairman ZABLOKI. If the gentleman would yield. Under the pres-
ent terms of the treaty, I might say to the gentleman from Indiana, the
repayment is within 30 years, with the first 10 years for forgiveness
of the repayment of the loan, and on the interest rates it would be
payable.

The provision that the Chair has asked the gentleman to repeat was
identical language accepted in the other body and great interest has
been demonstrated on the part of the members.

Mr. FITHIAN. My question, if the gentleman would yield further, is
I just want to make sure we are playing square with the American peo-
ple. If we at some time down the way under these provisions can
simply cancel the obligations of this loan or make them meaningless
then I think we ought to say that up front. That was my concern.

Mr. HAMILTON. think it is a legitimate concern and an understand-
able one, but I do not think that language would lead to that conclusion.

Mr. FASOELL. Will the gentleman from Indiana yield ?
Mr. FITHIAN. Yes.
Mr. FASCELL. Would not the language in the report make quite clear

the concern that the gentleman from Indiana has with respect to the
possible interpretation of that language without in any way destroy-
ing the original meaning of the language ?

Mr. FINDLEY. Will the gentleman yield ?
Mr. HAMILTON. Yes; I yield.
Mr. FINDLEY. Would the gentleman from Indiana agree with me

that in order for any change in the repayment terms to occur, there
would have to be legislation? The executive has no discretion over
the terms.

Mr. HAMILTON. That is correct. I certainly would agree with that.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Would the gentleman yield further ?
Mr. HAMILTON. Yes.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. If there would be any legislation to change the

repayment terms, it would have to be considered by the Congress and
could not be done by the executive branch alone. *

Mr. FINDLEY. Yes.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Are there any amendments?

READING OF THE BILL

The chief of staff will read the committee print.
Mr. BRADY [reading]:
A bill to authorize supplementary international security assistance for fiscal

year 1979 in support of the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel and for other
purposes being enacted by the Senate and the House of Representatives of the
United States of America.

Mr. ROSENTHAL. Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The gentleman from New York.



175

Mr. ROSENTHAL. I ask unanimous consent that the bill be considered
as read and open for amendment at any time.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. IS there objection? The Chair hears none. It
is so ordered.

Are there any aknendments The gentleman from Massachusetts.
Mr. STUDDS. I will yield since my amendment is not here yet.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The gentleman from Illinois.

AMENDMENT OFFERED BY MR. FINDLEY

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, I have an amendment to line 7 on
page 2. I have copies to be distributed.

Mr. ROSENTHAL. Will the gentleman yield?
Mr. FINDLEY. Yes.
Mr. ROSENTHAL. I ask unanimous consent that this very, very useful

amendment be considered as read and adopted unanimously.
Mr. DERWINSKI. Please, let us read it.
Mr. ROSENTHAL. Why would you want to read it
Chairman ZABLOCKI. We must spare some time until Mr. Studds'

amendment arrives. I did not think we would finish the Export
Administration Act in time to take up this bill. He has an amendment
and therefore we must protect the gentleman from Massachusetts,
so let us read the Findley amendment.

Mr. BRADY. The amendment offered by Mr. Findley [begins
reading]:

In section 2 of the bill insert the following on line 7 after March 26, 1979:
"It is a significant step toward a full and comprehensive peace in the Middle
East. The Congress urges the President to continue to exert every effort to bring
about a comprehensive peace and to seek an end by all parties to the violence
which could jeopardize this peace."

Chairman ZABLOCKI. The gentleman from Illinois.

EXPLANATION OF AMENDMENT

Mr. FINDLEY. Mr. Chairman, I offer this amendment because with-
out it the bill would take no note of the fact that the Egypt/Israel
treaty is a part of the peace process and not the end of the peace
process.

It also takes note of the great jeopardy to the peace process caused
by the rising level of violence on both sides in the Middle East. I think
it helps to give the President support for policies that he has already
publicly committed himself to and it puts the Congress behind the
President in these respects. I think it gives the bill better balance.

Mr. DERWINSKI. Will the gentleman yield ?
Mr. FINDLEY. Yes.
Mr. DERWINSKI. He says he would like to see an end to the violence

by all parties. Does that mean parties to the peace agreement or does
that mean including the PLO?

Mr. FINDLEY. Including the PLO.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The question occurs on the amendment

offered-
Mr. DERWINSKI. Wait, not so fast. I assume you also mean the

Russians who are, by their equipmeit and provocation, et cetera,
stirring up some of the violence



170

Mr. FINDLEY. All parties to the violence.
Mr. DERWINSKI. Thank you.

VOTE ON FINDLEY AMENDMENT

Chairman ZABLOCKI. The question occurs on the amendment offered
by the gentleman from Illinois. All those in favor signify by saying
"ae."

" horus of "ayes."]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Opposed, "no."
Mr. FASCELL. No.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The "ayes" have it. The amendment is agreed

to.

AMENDMENT OFFERED BY MR. STUDDS

Does the gentleman from Massachusetts desire to call up his
amendment?

Mr. STUDDS. Yes; I do, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The staff will distribute the amendment and the

chief of staff will begin reading the amendment.
Mr. BRADY. The amendment offered by Mr. Studds [begins reading]:
Add the following new sentence at the end of subsection (a) of proposed

section 562 of the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961: "The amount made available
for obligation or expenditure pursuant to this subsection may not exceed $800
million less the amount which Israel spends during the period beginning Octo-
ber 1, 1978, and ending Setpember 30, 1979, for civilian settlements on the West
Bank which the President finds to be in violation of international law."

Mr. STUDDs. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent that the amend-
ment be considered as read.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Without objection it is so ordered. The gentle-
man from Massachusetts is recognized in support of his amendment.

EXPLANATION OF AMENDMENT

Mr. STUDDS. Mr. Chairman, I regret the hour and I understand and
share the impatience of the members who have sat through one of the
committee's more interminable bills coming up to this. It was my
understanding that this would not come up until tomorrow so I am a
bit unprepared and we have some breathless staff who tried getting the
amendment here.

I think this is a subject that merits some very serious consideration
in spite of the hour and in spite of the exhaustion of the members and
I apologize for imposing this.

Mr. Chairman, it seems to me that two major themes have emerged
from the hearings which have been held in subcommittee and on Tues-
day in full committee on the package for Israel and Egypt.

First, is the need emphasized over and over again by the Prident
of the United States as he puts it, "to aggressively wage peace in the
Middle East." To accomplish this we must be willing to act rather
than merely talk in a manner which rewards those actions by other
nations which contribute to peace, while we must also be willing to
penalize those actions which create obstacles to peace.



177

This entire aid package, the latest in a seemingly endless series of
U.S. taxpayer financed efforts on behalf of nations in the Middle East
is justified as a reward for the courageous acts of President Sadat and
Prime Minister Begin in behalf of peace and I fully intend to vote
in favor of it.

I think it is both consistent and wise for us also to take into account
those policies which have been adopted which have created obstacles
to peace. During the past week I have questioned both Assistant Secre-
tary Saundors and Secretary Vance about the question of Israel's deci-
sion to continue building civilian settlements in the occupied territories,
and particularly the West Bank.

They have stated their view that Israel's settlement policy is in
violation of international law and that it creates a serious obstacle to
progress toward peace.

My amendment would make a modest reduction equal to probably
something in the neigborhood of 1 percent of the $3 billion aid package
we are authorizing for Israel should and only if Israel should follow
through with its stated intention of continuing to build settlements
in the West Bank while we, at the same time, are attempting to con-
vince the Palestinians the Jordanians, and the Saudis of Israel's intent
to negotiate in good faith on the West Bank and Gaza issues.

Should Israel decide to obey international law my amendment would
not subtract one penny from our aid package to them.

The second theme which I believe has emerged from the hearings is
somewhat related, although not directly, to this legislation before us.
I believe we need to make a major reassessment of our relationship
with Saudi Arabia and that we need to do so now.

I am aware of the vast differences which exist between the situation
in Saudi Arabia and that which existed in Iran but I also believe that
there are enough similarities, particularly with respect to the influence
of our military policies and our cultural attitudes on the societies
involved to merit some degree of comparison.

We used to see eye to eye with the Saudis in the pursuit of peace
in the Middle East. We do not now. We used to have a fairly com-
fortable military relationship. That is not true today. The Saudis used
to be somewhat proud of their friendship with the United States.
Today they go out of their way to spite us.

We need to take a look beyond the rhetoric and the emotion, and
see as well as we possibly can exactly what is going on in Saudi Arabia.
In the light of Iran, we have to raise the possibility that our massive
military presence and our constant effort to cultivate friendly per-
sonalities in the Saudi Government may backfire.

Saudi Arabia is a conservative and highly traditional kingdom with
a very modest history of military involvement. The United States is
in the process of selling the Saudis billions of dollars of the most
sophisticated weapons in the world, and the Army Corps of Engineers
has embarked on a $20 billion program of military construction-that
is $20 billion, Mr. Chairman-including the building of entirely new
military cities in the middle of the desert, cities lavishly constructed
and complete with air-conditioning, gymnasium, bakery, swimming
pool, indoor and outdoor firing ranges, riding stables, a stadium, and
a race track, all this in a currently uninhabited area with an average
rainfall of 3 inches a year.



178

Someday someone in Saudi Arabia is going to ask why.
It is my intention to offer a resolution of disapproval for every

proposed arms sale to Saudi Arabia which comes under section 36(b)
until the Congress and the administration have undertaken a reason-
able reexamination of United States/Saudi relations.

I say that, Mr. Chairman, only to indicate that the intention of the
author of this amendment is a balanced one. I am not attempting
to be critical of any one party. I do believe this Nation ought to look
honestly at the situation in the Middle East and ought to call shots
as we see them.

I think if there is to be any meaning whatsoever in the President's
often repeated phrase that," We intend to wage peace," we ought to
make it very clear to nations in that part of the world that we mean
precisely that

I am under no illusions that this is the most long awaited amend-
ment in the history of the week, but I do hope, Mr. Chairman, that
we can get some discussion of it. I think these are topics that ought
to be discussed.

I yield the balance of my time.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The Chair certainly agrees.
The Chair recognizes the gentleman from New York, Mr. Rosenthal.

DEBATE ON STUDD8 AMENDMENT

Mr. ROSENTHAL. Mr. Chairman, I do think it is useful, notwithstand-
ing the time, that we do have a discussion of the issue of settlements,
I myself have never been convinced that the settlements are illegal.

They are an area for negotiation between the principal parties in
that area. The argument of illegality is based exclusively upon article
49 of the fourth Geneva Convention of 1949.

This article entitled "Deportations, Transfers, and Evacuation" pro-hibits the transfer of parts of the civilian population of an occupying
state into occupied territory.

Let me say briefly the leading principle, legal authorities,which is Openheim-Lauderpact, indicates at least to me that
these settlements are not in violation of that provision that has a pro-
hibition intended to cover cases of the occupant bringing in its na-
tionals for the purpose of displacing the population of the occupied
territory.

In other words, these provisions of the Geneva Convention were
intended, such as happened in World War II, where large populations
were removed and displaced other populations.

In 99 percent of the cases, as we know it, settlements were moved
into barren land and did not displace people in that particular area.Thus, I myself have never been convinced of the illegality of thesituation.

Second, I think it would be retrogressive in terms of movementtoward peace to let this settlement issue escalate into what has been
a finely tuned financial package by the administration. I think that
would be a mistake,



179

The settlement issue that I know will be one that eventually will
have to be discussed and bargained among the parties. And I think it
would be counterproductive to bring that issue at this time into these
proceedings.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Will the gentleman from New York yield to
the gentleman from New York, Mr. Solarz

Mr. SOLAZn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I suppose that this is what
is known as an evenhanded amendment, although it seems to me that
the only thing which commends it is that both parts of it, the Saudi
part and the Israeli part, are equally mistaken.

This is a year in which we have witnessed great progress in the
search for peace in the Middle East. I think it probably fair to say
that we have taken a greater step down the road toward a compre-
hensive peace involving Israel and its Arab neighbors this year than
at any time in the last three decades.

One of the reasons we were able to make this tremendous progress
was precisely because the President and the administration resisted
the temptation to impose a settlement on either or both of the parties
to this agreement.

I would suggest to the gentleman from Massachusetts that to the
extent he believes continued Israeli settlements in the occupied terri-
tories are in fact an obstacle to the kind of comprehensive peace which
we all desire, the adoption of this amendment would do more to make
sure that settlement will continue than anything else, because were
we to adopt an amendment like this we would from a purely political
point of view put the Israeli Government in a position where it would
have to go ahead with settlements even if it did not want to in order
to demonstrate to its own people that it was not yielding to American
pressure.

Now, the question of the settlements is a matter for discussion in
the forthcoming autonomy negotiations. They will begin in a matter
of weeks, and there is no doubt that Egypt will be asking Israel to
agree not to go ahead with any new settlements, given all of the tre-
mendous concessions which Israel has made in the course of the last
year.

The agreement to withdraw from all of Sinai, even though Moshe
Dayan once said he would rather have Sharm el Sheik without peace
than peace without Sharm el Sheik, the agreement to withdraw each
and every one of the civilian settlements in the Sinai, even though
Prime Minister Begin once told the chairman of our committee and
his delegation in Jerusalem that he would rather resign as Prime
Minister than agree to withdrawing any of those settlements, indicated
to me that it would be a serious mistake to assume that Israel may not
be willing to make further concessions in the course of these autonomy
negotiations.

But adopt this amendment and put them on a political spot, you pre-
clude the very thing that you desire.

Chairman ZABL>cKI. Will the gentleman from New York yield to
the chairman of the Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle East?

Mr. HAMILTON. Mr. Chairman, let me just make a couple of very
quick points.



180

First of all, I agree with Mr. Studds' observation that the civilian
settlements are an obstacle to peace. I do not think there is any doubt
that they make more difficult the negotiations on the West Bank and
Gaza.

This amendment has a lot of ingenuity to it and it tries to deal with
a very real problem in the negotiations. Nonetheless, I do not think
this amendment should be adopted. It is not the right time to do it.
We should not confront Israel on this issue this directly right now.
This is a terribly sensitive matter for the Begin government.

The real issue is not the settlements anyway but it is the land and
water rights in the West Bank. It is a matter that is subject to nego-
tiation and this hind of an amendment would have a major impact
at a very sensitive time, and I would urge the gentleman from Massa-
chusetts, although I see a lot of merit in his amendment, I nonetheless
urge him to withdraw the amendment and not force us to vote on it,
because I think it would have unfortunate consequences even if it were
defeated but still had a substantial vote.

Mr. STUDDS. Would the gentleman yield ?
Mr. HAMILTON. Yes.

WITHDRAWAL OF STUDDS AMENDMENT

Mr. STUDDS. Under the circumstances I cannot figure out which
would be worse, to have it adopted or defeated. I have an enormous
respect for the gentleman. I sincerely regret the tiwe bind we are in.
My hope had been to have a far more substantial discussion of this
amendment and I think perhaps we could do that on the floor of the
House.

Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent under the circumstances
to withdraw the amendment.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. Without objection it is so ordered.
The gentleman from Illinois.

DRAFT REPORT LANGUAGE

Mr. DERWINSKI. If there are no other amendments I would like 80
seconds to discuss the draft report language in front of us. I would
hope if we had a clean bill that I could be one of the cosponsors but
this draft report language calling on $40 million to $800 million in aid
to Egypt to be for scholarships is just one of these nutty ideas that
Congress gets that ought to be left out of even the report.

To figure out a way between our educational institutions, the foggy-
bottom types, and everyone else that provides scholarships to worthy
young Egyptians, fine, but to go this route, especially in light of the
staggering economic aid to Egypt, it is a burden they have. That $40
million could probably be used to build a few dikes and dams and
really do something useful.

Senator Fulbright is now a lobbyist for the Arabs. He had an origi-
nal Fulbright Scholarship Program. Let him take care of all of these
would-be Egyptian students and give them scholarships.

I think our getting into this specific kind of petty recommendation
because somebody got the bright idea is just impractical.

Mr. FINDLEY. Would you yield f



181

Mr. DERWINSKI. I will yield to you.
Mr. FINDLEY. I think the gentleman misunderstands the report

language. The purpose of the language is to stop the program, not
to authorize it.

Mr. HAMILTON. We are opposed to it.
Mr. DERWINSKI. I see. OK.
In other words you are opposed to the scholarship program, is

that right ? Why did you not write a prohibition in the act instead of in
the report language ?

I do not want to delay anybody. I will take only 15 seconds for this
opinion of Congress that no United Nations Security Council member
should block the Uniced Nations Emergency Force. This means the
Soviets.

Why do you not just tell Secretary Vance to tell his friend Gromyko
that this is part of the linkage and that he is going to lose votes for
that SALT agreement if they veto the U.N. Emergency Force. Link-
age is a way of life pnd has more muscle than a congressional report.

Chairman ZABLOCKI. The gentleman from New York.

AMENDMENT OFFERED BY MR. 80SLAR

Mr. SOLARz. I offer an amendment which simply provides that all
future arms sales to Israel and Egypt authorized by this legislation
will come under 36(b) provisions requiring the notification to the
committee.

It has already been adopted by the Senate.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. IS there any objection to the amendment offered

by the gentleman from New York If not, it is so ordered.
The gentleman from Florida.
Mr. FASCELL. Mr. Chairman, I move that the committee print be

reported and that that chairman be instructed to introduce a clean bill.
Chairman ZABLOCKI. All those in favor signify by saying "aye."
[Chorus of "ayes."]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. Opposed,"no."
[No response.]
Chairman ZABLOCKI. The "ayes" have it.
Any members that desire to be cosponsors please advise the chief of

staff today.
The committee stands adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 6:05 p.m., the committee adjourned, subject to the

call of the Chair.]



APPENDIX 1

BIOGRAPHIES OF WITNESSES

TED A. BOBEK

Born May 10, 1947, at Chicago, Illinois. Education: Georgetown University,
B.S.F.S., 1969; Columbia University, J.D., 1972. Office of the Assistant Legal
Adviser for Inter-American Affairs, Department of State, 1972-1974; Office of
the Assistant Legal Adviser for Politico-Military Affairs, Department of State.
1974-present; Deputy Assistant Legal Adviser, 19'7-present. Resides in Arling-
ton, Virginia, with banjo, fiddle, and cat.

HON. HAROLD BROWN

Dr, Harold Brown, Secretary of Defense, nominated by President Jimmy
Carter, January 20, 1977; confirmed by the U.S. Senate the same day, took oath
of office January 21, 1977; born in New York City, September 19, 1927; attended
New York City public schools; A.B., Columbia University, 1945; A.M., 1946;
Ph. D., physics, 1949; received honorary degrees (D. Eng., LL.D., and Sc. D.),
Stevens Institute of Technology, Long Island University, Gettysburg College.
Occidental College, University of California, and University of Rochester;
lectured in physics, Columbia University and Stevens Institute of Technology,
1947-52; spent 1 year in post-doctoral research, Columbia; joined University of
California radiation laboratory at Berkeley as research scientist; staff member,
E. O. Lawrence Radiation Laboratory, 1952; director of the Lawrence Livermore
Laboratory, July 1960; member: Polaris Steering Committee, 1956-58; Air Force
Scientific Advisory Board, 1956-61; consultant to and member of the President's
Science Advisory Committee, 1958-61; senior science adviser at the Conference
on the Discontinuance of Nuclear Tests, 1958-59; delegate, Strategic Arms
Limitations Talks in Helsinki, Vienna, and Geneva, beginning in 1969;
director of Defense Research and Engineering, May 1961 to September 30,
1965; Secretary of Air Force, October 1965 to February 1960; president of the
California Institute of Technology, February 1969 until 1977; served as director
of Schroders, Ltd., IBM, Times-Mirror Corp., and Beckman Instruments;
awards: named one of the Ten Outstanding Young Men of the Year by U.S.
Junior Chamber of Commerce, 1961; Navy Distinguished Civilian Service Award,
1961; Columbia University Medal of Excellence, 1963; Air Force Exceptional
Civilian Service Award, 1969; Department of Defense Award for Exceptionally
Meritorious Service, 1969; member: National Academy of Engineering; National
Academy of Sciences; American Physical Society; American Academy of Arts and
Sciences; Phi Beta Kappa; Sigma Xi; married to the former Colene McDowell;
two daughters: Deborah, 23; Ellen, 21.

MoBals DBAPn
Morris Draper was born in California in 1928. He attended the University of

California (B.A. in Political Science, 1952-Phi Beta Kappa) and did post-
graduate work at the American University of Beirut, Lebanon, 1959-61. He
served in the U.S. Army from 1946-47.

Mr. Draper joined the U.S. Foreign Service in 1952. His diplomatic assignments
have included: Executive Secretariat, 1952-54; Political Officer, Singapore,

(183)



184

1955-56; Political Secretary attached to the Baghdad Pact Secretariat, Baghdad,
Iraq, 1957-59; Arabic language training, Beirut, Lebanon, 1959-61; Chief
Economic Section, Jidda, Saudi Arabia, 1961-64; Director, Foreign Service
Training Branch, Personnel Department. Department of State, 1964-66; Turkish
Desk Officer, 1966-68; Head, Cyprus Task Force, 1967; Political Counselor,
Amman, Jordan. 1968-70; Political Counselor, Ankara, Turkey, 1970-74; Special
Assistant in Charge of Special Projects, 1974-76; Country Director for Jordan,
Syria, Iraq and Lebanon, 1976-78. Mr. Draper was appointed to his present
position in August 1978.

Mr. Draper speaks Arabic and French, plus some Turkish and Spanish. He
received a Meritorious Honor Award in 1967.

LT. GEN. ERNEST GRAVES

Lieutenant General Ernest Graves is a graduate of West Point, holds a Ph. D.
in physics from MIT, and attended the Harvard Business School. He commanded
a combat engineer platoon in Europe in World War II, an engineer construction
battalion in Korea. and an engineer group in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam.

A substantial portion of his career has been devoted to the development of
military and peaceful uses of nuclear energy. His last job in the nuclear program
was Director of Military Application for the AEC and ERDA in 1974-75.

He served previously in Washington as Executive to the Secretary of the
Army, as Deputy Director of Military Construction in the Office of the Chiefs of
Engineers, and as President of the Air Defense Evaluation Board.

In the early ~0's General Graves was Division Engineer for the Army Corps
of Engineers on the Great Lakes and the Upper Mississippi River. He became
Director of Civil Works for the Corps in September 1975 and moved up to Deputy
Chief of Engineers in July 1977.

General Graves became the Director, Defense Security Assistance Agency, on
March 1, 1978. In this position he Is responsible for managing and administering
the multi-billion dollar security assistance programs carried out by the Depart-
ment of Defense.

HERBERT J. HANSELL

Mr. Hansell is the Legal Adviser in the U.S. Department of State. In that
capacity he serves as Secretary of State's legal counsel, and supervises the De-
partment's legal affairs. He was appointed to that position by President Carter
in February, 1977, and subsequently confirmed by the Senate.

Mr. Hansell was born November 16, 1925, in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. He
attended public schools in Salem, Ohio. He received a bachelor of science degree
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1946, and a bachelor of laws
degree from Yale Law School in 1949.

From 1953 until early 1977, he practiced law in Cleveland with the law firm of
Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue. Prior to joining that firm, he was associated with
the firm of Cravath, Swaine & Moore in New York for two years, and with the
National Science Foundation for two years as attorney and assistant general
counsel.

Mr. Hansell :s chairman of the Advisory Committee on Law and Technology
at MIT, and of the Committee on the Law School of the Yale University Council.
He has been president of the Shaker Heights, Ohio, Board of Education, the
Legal Aid Society of Cleveland, and Yale Law School Association. He has been
an officer or trustee of Cleveland Council on World Affairs, National Legal Aid
and Defender Association, Cleveland Bar Association, Lawyers Committee for
Civil Rights under Law and other civic organizations. He is a member of various
bar associations and professional societies, and has written and lectured on a
variety of legal topics.

Mr. Hansell is married to Jeanne Harris Hansell, who previously was director
of aftercare at Fairhill Mental Health Center in Cleveland and is now a practicing
therapist in Washington, D.C. They have three children: David, 24, a recent
graduate of Haverford College currently a Senatorial research assistant in
Washington, James, 22, a student at Amherst College, and Linda, 20, a student at
Williame College.



186

ROEBRT J. MURMAY

Robert J. Murray has been appointed Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense,
International Security Affairs, for Near Eastern, African and South Asian
Affairs.

His most recent Defense Department assignments, prior to his appointment
with ISA, were as Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense for Manpower and
Reserve Affairs from 1975 to 1977, and as Assistant to the Secretary and Deputy
Secretary of Defense from 1i73 to 1075.

Mr. Murray was the Political-Military Attache at the American Embassy in
London from 1969-1972. He had previously served in ISA as Deputy Director,
Near East, South Asia Region, and as a member of the Policy Planning Staff.

He is the recipient of two Distinguished Service Awards and a Meritorious
Service Award. He is a Fellow, National Institute of Public Affairs, and Member,
International Institute for Strategic Studies, London.

Mr. Murray is a graduate of Suffolk College and Harvard University. His mili-
tary service was with the U.S. Marine Corps.

He is married to the former Betty Evans. They have two daughters, Susan and
Victoria.

DANIEL A. O'DONOHUE

Born : October 27, 1931, Michigan.
Education: University of Detroit, BS, 1953; Wayne State University, MPA

1958.
Marital status: Married, 5 children; wife, Mary Miney.
Military Service: U.S. Army, 1953-55.
Experience: Budget Examiner, State government, 1956-57.
Government experience:

1957-F9--Consular Officer, Consulate General, Genoa.
1960-64--lPolitical Officer, American Embassy, Seoul.
1964- -International Relations Officer, Department of State.
1968-71-Political Section Chief American Embassy, Accra.
1971-72-Student, Army War College.
1972-74-Political Counselor, American Embassy, Seoul.
1974-76--Director, Office of Korean Affairs, Bureau of East Asian and

Pacific Affairs, Department of State.
1976-77--Executive Assistant to the Under Secretary for Political Affairs,

Department of State.
1977-78-Deputy Chief of Mission, American Embassy, Bangkok.
Nov. 1978 to present-Deputy Director, Bureau of Politico-Military Affairs,

Department of State.

HoN. HAROLD H. SAUNDEB8

Harold H. Saunders, of Pennsylvania, was sworn in today as Assistant Secre-
tary of State for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs. President Carter an-
nounced h's intention to nominate Mr. Saunders on March 3 and the United States
Senate confirmed his nomination on April 6.

Mr. Saunders was appointed Director of the Bureau of Intelligence and Re-
search in the State Department In December 1975. Previous to this appointment,
he served as Deputy Assistant Secretary for Near Eastern and South Asians
Affairs from July 1974 through November 1975, where his special area of respon-
sibility included the states of North Africa, the Arab states north of the Arabian
Peninsula and Israel. He came to the State Department from the National Secu-
rity Council Staff in the White House.

Mr. Saunders was born in Philadelphia in 1930 and grew up there. He received
his A.B. from Princeton in 1952 and a Ph.D. from Yale in 1956 in American
Studies. He served as an officer in the U.S. Air Force from 1958-59, was detailed
to the Central Intelligence Agency, and stayed on until 1961 as a civilian after
release from active duty. Between 1959 and 1965 he also taught evening classes
in American history in the College of General Studies of the George Washington
University.



186

Mr. Saunders joined the National Security Council Staff in 1961 working on
the Near East, South Asia, and North African areas, and became senior staff
member for that area in 1967. He has accompanied Secretaries Kissinger and
Vance on all of their Mid-East trips and participated In the Arab-Israeli negotia-
tions in 1973-75 as well as accompanying the Secretary or the President on trips
to Europe, South Asia, Moscow, Vladivostok, Peking, Africa, and Latin America
in the period of 1969-19i8.

Mr. Saunders is a widower with two children, Catherine and Mark.

HoN. CYRUS R. VANCE

Cyrus Roberts Vance, Secretary of State, appointed January 23, 1977; born
March 27, 1917, Clarksburg, W. Va.; attended Kent School; B.A., Yale Univer-
sity, 1939; LL.B., Yale University Law School, 1942; honorary degrees: Marshall
University, 1963; Trinity College 1966; Yale University, 1968; West Virginia
University, 1969; Brandels University, 1971; lieutenant (s.g.) USNR, 1942-46;
married Grace Elsie Sloane, February 15, 1947; children: Elsie Nicoll, Amy
Sloane, Grace Roberts, Mrs. James H. Higgins III, and Cyrus Roberts, Jr.; as-
sistant to President of the Mead Corp., 1946-57; admitted to New York Bar,
1947; associate and partner of Simpson, Thacher & Bartlett, 1 Battery Park
Plaza, New York, N.Y., 1947-60: special counsel, Preparedness Investigation
Subcommittee of the Senate Armed Services Committee, 1957-60; consulting
counsel, Special Committee on Space and Astronautics, U.S. Senate, 1958; General
Counsel, Department of Defense, 1961-62; Secretary of the Army, 1962-64;
Deputy Secretary of Defense, 1967; partner of Simpson, Thacher & Bartlett
from September 1, 1967 to January 1977; special representative of the President
in civil disturbance in Detroit, July and August 1967; special representative of
the President in the Cyprus crisis, November and December 1967; special repre-
sentative of the President in Korea, February 1968; one of two U.S. negotiators,
Paris Peace Conference on Vietnam, May 1968 to February 1969; awarded the
Medal of Freedom, January 1969; member of the Commission to investigate
alleged police corruption in New York City, May 1970 to August 1972; president
of the Association of the Bar of the City of New York, 1974-76; office: Depart-
ment of State, Washington, D.C.

HoN. JOSEPH C. WHEELER

Present position: 1977-Assistant Administrator, Bureau for Near East,
Agency for International Development, Washington, D.C.

Other experience:
1969-77-Director, United States Agency for International Development

Mission to Pakistan-Islamabad, Pakistan.
1967-69--Deputy Assistant Administrator, Bureau for Near East and South

Asia-A.I.D., Washington.
1965-67-Director, United States Agency for International Development Mis-

sion to Jordan, Amman, Jordan.
1963-65-Director, Office of Greece, Turkey, Iran, Cyprus and Central Treaty

Organization Affairs, A.I.D., Washington.
1961-63-Peace Corps Staff-Washington and New Delhi, India.
1960-61--Turkey Desk Officer-A.I.D., Washington.
1959-60-Greece Desk Officer-A.I.D., Washington.
1951-59-Junior level positions in AID's predecessor organizations.

Military service: 1945, Army Air Corps; private.
Education:

Public schools, Concord, Massachusetts.
1944-48-Bowdoin College, BA, 1948.
1948-49-Graduate Institute of International Studies, Geneva.
1949-51-Harvard Graduate School of Public Administration, M.P.A., 1950:

M.A., 1951.
Language: French; elementary.
Personal data:

Born: November 21, 1926 on Thoreau Farm, Concord, Massachusetts.
Marital Status: Married to Verona Farness Kane, 1970.
Home Address: 2400 North Lincoln St., Arlington, Virginia 22207.



APPENDIX 2

TEXT OF HOUSE DOCUMENT NO. 96-91, SPECIAL INTERNATIONAL
SECURITY ASSISTANCE ACT OF 1979

A BILL To authorize supplemental international security assistance for the fiscal year 1979
In support of the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel and related agreements, and for
other purposes

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States
of America in Congress assembled, That this Act may be cited as the "Special
International Security Assistance Act of 1979."

CONSTRUCTION OF AIR BASES IN ISRAEL

SEC. 2. Part II of the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961 is amended by adding
at the end thereof the following new chapter:

"CHAPTER 7-AIR BASE CONSTRUCTION IN ISRAEL

"SEC. 561. GENEBAL AUTHORITY.-It is the policy of the United States to support
the peace treaty concluded between the Government of Egypt and the Govern-
ment of Israel on March 26, 1979. In furtherance of that policy, the President
is authorized-

"(1) to construct, and to enter into contracts for the construction of, air
bases in Israel for the Government of Israel as may be agreed upon between
the Government of Israel and the Government of the United States, to re-
place the Israeli air bases located at Etzion and Etam on the Sinai peninsula
that are to be evacuated by the Government of Israel, and

"(2) to furnish as a grant to the Government of Israel, on such other
terms and conditions as he may determine, defense articles and defense
services, which he may acquire from any source, of a value not to exceed
the sum appropriated pursuant to section 562(a) of this chapter.

"SEc. 562. AUTHORIZATION AND UTILIZATION OF FUNDS.-
"(a) There Is authorized to be appropriated to the President to carry out

this chapter not to exceed $800,000,000, which may be made available until
expended.

"(b) Upon agreement by the Government of Israel to provide to the Gov-
ernment of the United States funds equal to the difference between the
amount required to complete the agreed construction work and the amount
appropriated pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, and to make such
funds available in such amounts and at such times as required by the Gov-
ernment of the United States to meet these costs incurred, in advance of the
time when payments are due, the President may incur obligations and enter
into contracts to the extent necessary to complete the agreed construction
work as provided in appropriation acts.

"(c) Funds made available by the Government of Israel pursuant to sub-
section (b) of this section may be credited to the appropriaiton account
established to carry out the purposes of this section for the payment of
obligations incurred and for refund to the Government of Israel if they are
unnecessary for this purpose, as determined by the President. Credits and
the proceeds of guaranteed loans made available to the Government of Israel
pursuant to the Arms Export Control Act, as well as any other source of
financing available to it, may be used by Israel to carry out its undertaking
to provide such additional funds.

"SEc, 568. WAIVER AuTHOBITIE.-(a) It is the sense of the Congress that the
President should take all necessary measures consistent with law to insure
the efficient and timely completion of the construction authorized by this chapter,
including the exercise of authority vested in him by section 688(a) of this Act.

(187)



188

"(b) The provisions of paragraph (8) of section 686(a) of this Act shall be
applicable to the use of funds available to carry out this chapter, except that no
more than sixty persons at any one time may be engaged under section 686(a) (8)
of this Act for the purposes of this chapter."

SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORIZATION O FOREIGN MILITARY SALES LOAN GUARANTIES FOR

EGYPT AND ISRAEL

SEC. 8. (a) In order to support the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel
and related agreements, the Congress finds that the national security interests
of the United States is served by the authorization and appropriation of addi-
tional funds to finance procurements by Egypt and Israel through the fiscal
year 1982 of defense articles and defense services for their respective security
requirements.

(b) In addition to amounts otherwise authorized by section 81(a) of the
Arms Export Control Act to be appropriated for the fiscal year 1979, there is
authorized to be appropriated to the President to carry out the Act $870,000,000
for the fiscal year 1979.

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 81(c) of the Arms Export Con-
trol Act, funds made available pursuant to subsection (b) of this section may be
used only for guaranties for Egypt and Israel pursuant to secton 24(a) of the
Arms Export Control Act, and the prinlcpal amount of loans guaranteed with
such funds shall not exceed $8,700,000,000 for the fiscal year 1979 of which
amount not less than $2,200,000,000 shrall be available only for Israel and not
less than $1,500,000,000 shall be available only for Egypt. The principal amount
of such guaranteed loans shall be in addition to the aggregate ceiling authorized
by section 81(b) of the Arms Export Control Act for the fiscal year 1979.

(d) Loans guaranteed with funds made available for the fiscal year 1979 under
subsection (b) of this section shall be on terms calling for repayment within a
period of not less than thirty years, including an initial grace period of ten years
on repayment of principal.

SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORIZATION OF ECONOMIC SUPPORT FOB EGYPT

SEC. 4. (a) It is hereby determined that the national interests of the United
States would be served by the authorization and appropriation of additional
funds for economic assistance for Egypt in order to promote the economic stabil-
ity and development of that country and to further support the peace process in
the Middle East

(b) Accordingly, there is authorized to be appropriated to the President to
carry out chapter 4 of part II of the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961, as amended,
$300,000,000 for the fiscal year 1979 for Egypt, in addition to amounts otherwise
authorized to be appropriated for such chapter for the fiscal year 1979.

(c) The amounts appropriated pursuant to this section may be made available
until expended.

SEOTION-BY-SECTION ANALYSIS OF THE PROPOSED SPECIAL INTERNATIONAL SECURITY

ASSISTANCE ACT OF 1979

I. INTRODUCTION

The proposed Special International Security Assistance Act of 1979 (herein-
after referred to as "the Bill") amends the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961
(hereinafter referred to as "the FAA") and contains free-standing provisions in
order to authorize supplemental international security assistance for the fiscal
year 1979 in support of the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel and related
governments.

II. PROVISIONS OF THE BILL
Section 1. Short title

This section provides that the Bill may be cited as the "Special International
Security Assistance Act of 1979."
Section 2. Construction of air bases in Israel

This section adds a new chapter 7 to part II of the FAA. The chapter consists
of three sections.

(a) Section 561 contains two subsections as follows:
(1) Subsection (a) declares that United States policy supports the peace

treaty concluded between Egypt and Israel on March 26, 1979. That treaty



189

requires Israeli evacuation of the Sinai within three years after the date
of the exchange of Instruments of ratification. In order to replace the Israeli
air bases located at Etzion and Etam on the Sinai peninsula that are to be
evacuated, this section authorizes the President to construct, and to enter
into contracts for the construction of air bases in Israel for the Israeli
Government. The extent of construction authorized by this section will be
as agreed between the. United States and Israeli Governments. This may
include secondary facilities and infrastructure involved in the construc-
tion of these air bases as may be agreed upon between the two governments
under the authority of chapter 7.

(2) Subsection (b) authorizes the provision of grant assistance to the
Government of Israel for purposes of chapter 7. Such assistance consists of
defense articles and defense services acquired from any source and provided
on such terms and conditions as the President may determine consistent with
grant assistance. The value of the grant assistance may not exceed the sum
appropriated pursuant to section 562(a).

(b) Section 562 contains three subsections as follows:
(1) Subsection (a) authorizes the appropriation of $800 million to the

President to carry out chapter 7. This sum represents the value of the as-
sistance granted to the Government of Israel. The funds appropriated are
authorized to be appropriated on a "no-year" basis, that Is, to remain avail-
able for obligation until expended; this will ensure that the construction
authorized by chapter 7 may be implemented as quickly as the work dictates,
without regard to fiscal periods of availability.

(2) Subsection (b) authorizes the President to incur obligations and to
enter into contracts in such amounts as may be necessary to complete the
construction work agreed pursuant to section 561 FAA. This authority is,
however, subject to the requirement that the Israeli Government agrees to
provide such additional funds, above and beyond the amounts appropriated
under subsection (a), to the United States Government in such amounts and
at such times as may be required by the United States Government to meet
those additional costs in advance of the time the payments are due.

(3) Subsection (c) provides that such funds provided by the Government
of Israel may be credited to the appropriation account established to carry
out the purpose of this section. Funds, consolidated in this account, will be
used in accordance with section 632(d) FAA and will be administered by the
United States Government in a manner which does not distinguish between
the appropriated funds and the funds provided by the Israeli Government.
The consolidated funds will remain available without fiscal year limitation
for the purposes of chapter 7 until expended. The funds provided by the
Government of Israel may be refunded by the United States Government only
to the extent, and when the President determines, that those funds are not
needed for the completion of the agreed work. The source of the funds re-
quired to be provided by Israel under this chapter is a matter for determi-
nation by the Government of Israel. Financing available to the Government
of Israel pursuant to the Arms Export Control Act and subject to the proce-
dures agreed with the United States Government for the use of such financing
may, but need not, be such a source.
(o) Section 568 contains two subsections as follows:

(1) Subsection (a) expresses the sense of Congress that the President
should take all measures consistent with law necessary to expedite the con-
struction of the air bases pursuant to chapter 7, including the exercise of his
waiver authority under section 63 (a) FAA. The requirement of construction
within the three-year period envisaged in the peace treaty between Egypt
and Israel and related agreements can only be met if certain provisions of
law regulating the making, performance, amendment, or modification of
contracts and the expenditure of funds of the United Statee Government are
so waived in accordance with existing statutory authority. The President has
exercised his authority under section 683(a) FAA by Executive Order No.
11223 of May 12, 1965. Additional provisions of law that may be waived for
purposes of chapter 7 include: 40 U.S.C. 541-544, 759; 31 U.S.C. 723a; and
50 U.S.O. App. 2168.

(2) Subsection (b) authorizes the provisions of section 636(a)(8) FAA
(which is currently applicable only to Part I FAA) to be used for the purpose
of chapter 7 of Part II FAA. This authority permits contracting with indi-
viduals for personal service abroad. Such individuals are not regarded as

47-699 0 - 79 - 13



190

United States Government employees. No more than sixty such individuals at
any one time may be engaged in the performance of personal services under
the provisions of section 563(b) FAA. This authority is needed to meet
start-up schedules expeditiously.

Section 3. Supplemental authorization of FM8 loan guaranties for Egypt and
Israel

This section is a free-standing provision of law, that is, it does not amend any
other law such as the Arms Export Control Act. The section contains four sub-
sections as follows:

(a) Subsection (a) is a finding by the United States Congress, in support
of the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel and related agreements, that
the supplemental authorization and appropriation of additional funds for
FMS financing under this section serves the national security interest of the
United States. These additional funds will finance procurements by Egypt
and Israel through the fiscal year 1982 of defense articles and defense serv-
ices for their respective security requirements.

(b) Subsection (b) authorizes the appropriation of $370 million to the
President for the fiscal year 1919 to carry out the Arms Export Control Act.
This authorization is in addition to the funds authorized by section 81(a) of
that Act.

(o) Subsection (c) authorizes the issuance of guaranties pursuant to sec-
tion 24(a) of the Arms Export Control Act for loans to Egypt of $1,500 mil-
lion and for loans to Israel of $2,200 million with the use of the funds author-
ized by section 3(b) of the Bill. Section 24(c) of the Arms Export Control Act
requires that 10 per centum of the principal amount of such guaranteed loans
must be obligated out of funds made available to carry out the Arms Export
Control Act and placed in a reserve account for the payment of claims under
guaranties issued pursuant to the Arms Export Control Act. An appropria-
tion of $370 million pursuant to section 8(b) of the Bill is sufficient to guar-
anty $3,700 million in aggregate loans to Egypt and Israel. These guaranteed
loans are in addition to the aggregate ceiling authorized by section 31(b) of
the Arms Export Control Act for the fiscal year 1979 and are not subject to
the provisions of section 81(c) of that Act, relating to terms under which
credits are extended to Israel.

(d) Subsection (d) establishes special terms under which guaranteed loans
authorized by the Bill will be extended to both Egypt and Israel. These terms
call for repayment of the $3,700 million within a period of not less than 30
years, which period shall include an initial 10 year grace period on the repay-
ment of principal. It is expected that the loans will be made by the Federal
Financing Bank in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Financing
Bank Act of 1978 (12 U.S.C. 2281 et seq.).

Section 4. Economic support for Egypt
This section consists of three subsections, as follows:

(a) This subsection states the determination of Congress that the national
interests of the United States would be served by the authorization and
appropriation of additional funds for economic assistance for Egypt The
provision of these additional funds is critical to promoting the economic
stability and development of Egypt, and is an essential part of the ongoing
Middle East peace process.

(b) This subsection authorizes the appropriation of 8300,000,000 for eco-
nomic support for Egypt pursuant to chapter 4 of Part II of the Foreign
Assistance Act, in addition to the amounts otherwise to be authorized and
appropriated for that chapter.

(o) This subsection provides that the amounts appropriated pursuant
to this section will remain available until expended. It is intended that
this additional amount will be obligated over the period through fiscal 1982.



APPENDIX 3

TEXT OF TREATY OF PEACE BETWEEN THE ARAB REPUBLIC OF EGYPT

AND THE STATE OF ISRAEL

The Government of the Ar.b Republic of Egypt and the Government of the State of Israel;

PREAMBLE

Convinced of the urgent necessity of the establishment of a just, comprehensive and lasting peace
in the Middle East in accordance with Security Council Resolutions 242 and 338;

Reaffirming their adherence to the "Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp
David." dated September 17, 1978;

Noting that the aforementioned Fratmework as appropriate is intended to constitute a basis for
peace not only between Egypt and Israel but also between Israel and each of its other Arab
neighbors which is prepared to negotiate peace with it on this basis;

Desiring to bring to an end the state of war between them and toestablish a peace in which every
state in the area can live in security;

Convinced that the conclusion ofa Treaty of Peace between Egypt and Israel isan important step
in the search for comprehensive peace in the area and tor the -ittainment of the settlement of the
Arab-Israeli conflict in all its aspect,;

Inviting the other Arab parties to this dispute to join the peace process with Israel guided by and
based on the principles of the aforementioned Framework;

Desiring as well to develop friendly relations and cooperation between themselves in accordance
with the United Nations Charter and the principles of international law governing international
relations in times of peace;

Agree to the following provisions in the free exercise of their sovereignty, in order to implement
the "Framework for the Conclusion of a Peace Treaty Between Egypt and Israel":

ARTICLE I

I. The state of war between the Parties will be
terminated and peace will be established between
them upon the exchange of instruments of ratifica-
tion of this Treaty.

2. Israel will withdraw all its armed forces and
civilians from the Sinai behind 'he international
boundary between Egypt and mandated Palestine.
as provided in the annexed protocol(Annex ). and
Egypt will resume the exercise of its full sovereignty
over the Sirai.

3. Upon completion of the interim withdrawal
provided for in Annex 1. the Parties will establish
normal and friendly relations, in accordance with
Articlkll (3).

ARTICLE II

The permanent boundary between Egypt and
Israel is the recognized international boundary
between Egypt and the former mandated territory
of Palestine, as shown on the map at Annex II.
without prejudice to the issue of the status of the
Gaa Strip. The Parties recognize this boundary as
inviolaole. Each will respect the territorial integrity
of the other, including their territorial waters and
airspace .

ARTICLE Ill

I. The Parties will apply between them the pro-
visions of the Charter of the United Nations and the

(101)



192

principles of international law governing relations
among slates in limes of peace. In particular:

a. They recognize and will respect each
other's sovereignty, territorial integrity
and political independence;
b. They recognize and will respect each
other's right to live in peace within their
secure and recognized boundaries;
c. They will refrain from the threat or use
of force, directly or indirectly, against each
other and will settle all disputes between
then by peaceful means.

2. Each Party undertakes to ensure that acts or
threats of belligerency, hostility, or violence do not
originate from and are not committed from within
its territory, or by any forces subject to its control or
by any other forces stationed on its territory.
against the population, citizens or property of the
other Party. Each Party also undertakes to refrain
from organizing, instigating, inciting, assisting or
participating in acts or threats of belligerency, hos-
tility, subversion or violence against the other
Party, anywhere, and undertakes to ensure that
perpetrators of such acts are brought to justice.

3. The Parties agree that the normal relationship
established between them will include full recogni-
ti.1n, diplomatic, economic and cultural relations.
termination of economic boycotts and discrimina-
tory barriers to the free movement of people and
goods, and will guarantee the mutual enjoyment by
citizens of the due process of law. The process by
which they undertake to achieve sucha relation-
ship parallel tothe implementation of other provi-
sions of this Treaty is set out in the annexed
protocol (Annex III).

ARTICLE IV

I. In order to provide maximum security for
both Parties on the basis of reciprocity, agreed
security arrangements will be established including
limited force zones in Egyptian and Israeli territory,
and United Nations forces and observers, described
in detail as to nature and timing in Annex I. and
other security arrangements the Parties may agree
upon.

2. The Parties agree to the stationing of United
Nations personnel in areas described in Annex 1.
The Parties agree not to request withdrawal of the
United Nations personnel and that these personnel
will not be removed unless such removal is

approved by the Security Council of the United
Nations, with the affirmative vote of the five Per-
manent Members, unless the Parties otherwise
agree.

3. A Joint Commission will be established to
facilitate the implementation of the Treaty, as pro-
vided for in Annex I.

4. The security arrangements provided for in
paragraphs Iand 2 of this Article may at the request
of either party be reviewed and amended by mutual
agreement of the Parties.

ARTICLE V

I. Ships of Israel, and cargoes destined for or
coming from Israel, shall enjoy the right of free
passage through the Suez Canal and itsapproaches
through the Gulf of Suez and the Mediterranean
Sea on the basis of the Constantinople Convention
of 1888, applying to all nations. Israeli nationals,
vessels and cargoes, as well as persons, vessels and
cargoes destined for or coming from Israel, shall be
accorded non-discriminatory treatment in all mat-
ters connected with usage of the canal.

2. The Parties consider the Strait of Tiran and
the Gulf of Aqaba to be international waterways
open to all nations for unimpeded and
non-suspendable freedom of navigation and over-
flight. The Parties will respect each other's right to
navigation and overflight for access to either coun-
try through the Strait of Tiran and the Gulf of
Aqaba.

ARTICLE VI

I. This Treaty does not affect and shall not be
interpreted as affecting in any way the rights and
obligations of the Parties under the Charter of the
United Nations.

2. The Parties undertake to fulfill in good faith
their obligations under this Treaty, without regard
to action or inaction of any other party and inde-
pendently ofany instrument external to this Treaty.

3. They further undertake to take all the neces-
sary measures for the application in their relations
of the provisions of the multilateral conwntions to
which they are parties, including the submission of
appropriate notification to the Secretary General of
the United Nations and other depositaries of such
conventions.

a



193

4. The Parties undertake not to enter into any
obligation in conflict with this Treaty.

5. Subject to Article 103 of the United Nations
Charter, in the event of a conflict between the obli-
gations of the Parties under the present Treaty and
any of their other obligations, the obligations under
this Treaty will be binding and implemented.

ARTICLE VlI

1. Disputes arising out of the application or
interpretation of this Treaty shall be resolved by
negotiations.

2. Any such disputes which cannot be settled by
negotiations shall be resolved by conciliation or
submitted to arbitration.

ARTICLE VIII

The Parties agree to establish a claims commis-
sion for the mutual settlmenl of all financial
claims.

ARTICLE IX

I. This Treaty shall enter into force upon
exchange of instruments of ratification.

2. This Treaty supersedes the Agreement
between Egypt and Israel of September, 1975.

3. All protocols, annexes. and maps attached to
this Treaty shall be regarded as an integral part
hereof.

4. The Treaty shall be communicated to the
Secretary General of the United Nations for regis-
tration in accordance with the provisions of Article
102 of the Charter of the United Nations.

DONE at Washington, D.C. this 26th day of March, 1979, in triplicate in the

English, Arabic, and Hebrew languages, each text being equally authentic. In case of any
divergence of interpretation, the English text shall prevail.

For the Government of the
Arab Republic of Egypt:

For the Government
of Israel:

Witnessed by:

Jimmy Carter, President
of the United States of America



194



195

ANNEX I

PROTOCOL CONCERNING ISRAELI
WITHDRAWAL AND SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS

Article 1
Concept of Withdrawal

I. Israel will complete withdrawal of all its
armed forces and civilians from the Sinai not later
than three years from the date of exchange'of
instruments of ratification of this Treaty.

2. To ensure the mutual security of the Parties,
the implementation of phased withdrawal will be
accompanied by the military measures and estab-
lishment of zones set out in this Annex and in Map
1. hereinafter referred to as "the Zones."

3. The withdrawal from the Sinai will be
accomplished in two phases:

a. The interim withdrawal behind the line
from east of El Arish to Ras Muhammed
as delineated on Map 2 within nine months
from the date of exchange of instruments
of ratification of this Treaty.
b. The final withdrawal from the Sinai
behind the international boundary not
later than three years from the date of
exchange of instruments of ratification of
this Treaty.

4. A Joint Commission will be formed imme-
diately after the exchange of instruments of ratifica-
tion of this Treaty in order to supervise and
coordinate movements and schedules during the
withdrawal, and to adjust plans and timetables as
necessary within the limits established by
paragraph 3, above. Details relating to the Joint
Commission are set out in Article IV of the attached
Appendix. The Joint Commission will be dissolved
upon completion of final Israeli withdrawal from
the Sinai.

Article II
Determination of Final Lines and Zones

I. In order to provide maximum security for
both Parties after the final withdrawal, the lines and
the Zones delineated on Map I are to be established
and organized as follows:

a. Zone A
(1) Zone A is bounded on the east by
line A (red line) and on the west by the
Suez Canal and the east coast of the
Gulf of Suez, as shown on Map I.
(2) An Egyptian armed force of one
mechanized infantry division and its
military installations, and field fortifi-
cations, will be in this Zone.
(3) The main elements of that Division
will consist of:

(a) Three mechanized infantry
brigades.

(b) One armored brigade.
(c) Seven field artillery battalions in-

cluding up to 126 artillery pieces.
(d) Seven anti-aircrait artillery

battalions including individual
surface-to-air missiles and upto 126
anti-aircraft guns of 37 mm and
above.

(e) Up to 230 tanks.
(f) Up to 480 armored personnel

vehicles of all types.
(g) Up to a total of twenty-two

thousand personnel.

b. Zone B
(1) Zone B is bounded by line B (green-
line) on the east and by line A (red line)
on the west, as shown on Map 1.
(2) Egyptian border units of four bat-
talions equipped with light weapons
and wheeled vehicles will provide
security and supplement the civil police
in maintaining order in Zone B. The
main elements of the four Border Bat-
talions will consist of up to a total of
four thousand personnel.
(3) Land based, short range, low
power, coastal warning points of the
border patrol units may be established
on the coast of this Zone.
(4) There will be in Zone B field fortifi-
cations and military installations for
the four border battalions.



196

c. Zone C
(1) Zone C is bounded byline B(green
line) on the west and the International
Boundary and the Gulf of Aqaba on
the east, as shown on Map I.
(2) Only United Nations forces and
Egyptian civil police will be stationed
in Zone C.
(3) The Egyptian civil police armed
with light weapons will perform nor-
mal police functions within this Zone.
(4) The United Nations Force will be
deployed within Zone C and perform
its functions as defined in Article VI of
this Annex.
(5) The United Nations Force will be
stationed mainly in camps located
within the following stationing areas
shown on Map I, and will establish its
precise locations after consultations
with Egypt:
(a) In that part of the area in the Sinai

lying within about 20 Km. of the
Mediterranean Sea and adjacent to
the International Boundary.

(b) In the Sharm el Sheikh area.

d. Zone D
(1) Zone D is bounded by line D (blue
line) on the east and the international
boundary on the west, as shown on
Map I.
(2) In this Zone there will be an Israeli
limited force of four infantry
battalions, their military installations,
and field fortifications, and United
Nations observers.
(3) The Israeli forces in Zone D will
not include tanks, artillery and anti-
aircraft missiles except individual
surface-to-air missiles.
(4) The main elements of the four
Israeli infantry battalions will consist
of up to ISOarmored personnel vehicles
of all types and up to a total of four
thousand personnel.

2. Access across the international boundary
shall only be permitted through entry check points
designated by each Party and under its controL
Such access shall be in accordance with laws and
regulations of each country.

3. Only those field fortifications, military instal-

nations, forces, and weapons specifically permitted
by this Annex shall be In the Zones.

Artlce III
Aerial Miitary Regime

I. Flights of combat aircraft and reconnalsance
flights of Egypt and Israel shall take placeonly over
Zones A and D, respectively.

2. Only unarmed, non-combat aircraft of Egypt
and Israel will be stationed in Zones A and D.
respectively.

3. Only Egyptian unarmed transport aircraft
will take off and land in Zone B and up to eight such
aircraft may maintained in Zone B. The Egyptian
border units may be equipped with unarmed heli-
copters to perform their functions in Zone B.

4. The Egyptian civil police may be equipped
with unarmed police helicopters to perform normal.
police functions in Zone C.

5. Only civilian airfields may be built in the
Zones.

6. Without prejudice to the provisions of this
Treaty, only those military aerial activities spe-
cifically permitted by this Annex shall be allowed in
the Zones and the airspace above their territorial
waters.

Article IV
Naval Regime

1. Egypt and Israel may base and operate naval
vessels along the coasts of Zones A and D. respec-
tively.

2. Egyptian coast guard boats, lightly armed,
may be stationed and operate in the territorial
waters of Zone B to assist the border units in per-
forming their functions in this Zone.

3. Egyptian civil police equipped with light
boats, lightly armed, shall perform normal police
functions within the territorial waters of Zone C.

4. Nothing in this Annex shall be considered as
derogating from the right of innocent passage: of the
naval vessels of either party.

3. Only civilian maritime ports and installations
may be built in the Zones.

*

it



197

6. Without prejudice to the provisions of this
Treaty, only those naval activity specifically per-
mitted by this Annex shall be allowed in the Zones
and in their territorial waters.

Artle V
Early Warning Systems

Egypt and Israel may establish and operate early
warning systems only in Zones A and D
respectively.

Artile VI
United Nations Operations

I. The Parties will request the United Nations to
provide forces and observers to supervise the imple-
mentation of this Annex and employ their best
efforts to prevent any violation of its terms.

2. With respect to these United Nations forces
and observers, as appropriate, the Parties agree to
request the following arrangements:

a. Operation of check points, reconnais-
sance patrols, and observation posts along
the international boundary and line B, and
within Zone C.
b. Periodic verification of the implemen-
tation of the provisions of this Annex will
be carried out not less than twice a month
unless otherwise agreed by the Parties.
c. Additional verificationswithin48 hours
after the receipt of a request from either
Party.
d. Ensuring the freedom of navigation
through the Strait of Tiran in accordance
with Article V of the Treaty of Peace.,

3. The arrangements described in this article for
each zone will be implemented in Zones A. B, and C
by the United Nations Force and in Zone D by the
United Nations Observers.

4. United Nations verification teams shall be
accompanied by liaison officers of the respective
Party.

5. The United Nations Force and observers will
report their findings to both Parties.

6. The United Nations Force and Observers
operating in the Zones will enjoy freedom of move-
ment and other facilities necessary for the perfor-
mance of their tasks.

7. The United Nations Poe and Oberwmr am
no empowered to authorie the croseln of the
international boundary,

8. The Parties shall agree on the nations from
which the United Nations Porce and Observers wil
be drawn. They will be drawn from nations other
than those which'are permanent members of the

.United Nations Security Council.
9. The Parties agree that the United Nations

should make those command arrangements that
will best assure the effective implementation of its
responsibilities.

Article VII
Liaison System

1I. Upon dissolution of the Joint Commission, a
liaison system between the Parties will be estab-
lished. This liaison system is intended to providean
effective method to assess progress in the imple-
mentation of obligations under the present Annex
and to resolve any problem that may arise in the
course of implementaion, and refer other
unresolved matters to the higher military authori-
ties of the two countries respectively for considera-
tion. It is also intended to prevent situations
resulting from errors or misinterpretation on the
part of either Party.

2. An Egyptian liaison office will be established
in the city of EI-Arish and an Israeli liaison office
will be established in the city of Beer-Sheba. Each
office will be headed by an officer of the respective
country, and assisted by a number of officers.

3. A direct telephone link between the two offi-
ces will be set up and also direct telephone lines with
the United Nations command will be maintained by
both offices.

Article VIII
Respect for War Memorial

Each Party undertakes to preserve in good condi-
tion the War Memorials erected in the memory of
soldiers of the other Party, namely those erected by
Israel in the Sinai and those to be erected by Egypt
in Israeland shallpermit access tosuch monuments.

Article IX
Interim Arrangements

The withdrawal of Israeli armed force and civili-
ans behind the interim withdrawal line, and the
conduct of the forces of the Parties and the United
Nations prior to the final withdrawal, will be gov.
ernedbythe attached Appendix and Maps2and 3.



,-.. ., ' * ' - ... ' *$ , ' d i " %' ... . I.. , ., '

198

f



I I

'r. i r;199

* le li Snlo-Pl Un** * Iafti sl*p-ha Us
-- Igyptle Sukb-Paw Un*

, U.N. k-fla.u kiffer Zen



200

APPENDIX TO ANNX 1

ORGANIZATION OF MOV8MINTS IN THB SINAI

AR'tCL ' I

Principles of Withdrawal

1. The withdrawal of Israeli armed forces and civilians
from the Sinai will be accomplished in two phases as
described in Article I of Annex I. The description and
timing of the.withdrawal are included in this Appendix.
The Joint Commission will develop and present to the Chief
Coordinator of the United Nations forces in the Middle
East the details of these phases not later than one month
before the initiation of each phase of withdrawal.

2. Both Parties agree on the following principles for
the sequence of military movements.

a. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article IX,
paragraph 2, of this Treaty, until Israeli armed
forces complete withdrawal from the current J and
H Lines established by the Egyptian-Israeli Agree-
ment of September 1975, hereinafter referred to as
the 1975 Agreement, up to the.interim withdrawal
line, all military arrangements existing under
that Agreement will remain in effect, except
those military arrangements otherwise provided for
in this Appendix.

b. As Israeli armed forces withdraw, United Nations
forces will immediately enter the evacuated areas to
establish interim and temporary buffer zones as shown
on Maps 2 and 3, respectively, for the purpose of
maintaining a separation of forces. United Nations
forces' deployment will precede the movement of any
other personnel into these areas.

c. Within a period of seven days after Israeli armed
forces have evacuated any area located in Zone A,
units of Egyptian armed forces shall deploy in
accordance with the provisions of Article II of this
Appendix.

C



201

d. Within a period of seven days after Israeli armed
forces have evacuated any area located in Zones A or B,
Egyptian border units shall deploy in accordance with
the provisions of Article II of this Appendix, and
will function in accordance with the provisions of
Article II of Annex I.

e. Egyptian civil police will enter evacuated areas
immediately after the United Nations forces to perform
normal police functions.

f. Egyptian naval units shall deploy in the Gulf of
Suez in accordance with the provisions of Article II
of this Appendix.

V g. Except those movements mentioned above, deploy-
ments of Egyptian armed forces and the activities
covered in Annex I will be effected in the evacuated
areas when Israeli armed forces have completed their
withdrawal behind the interim withdrawal line.

ARTICLE II

Subphases of the Withdrawal to the Interim Withdrawal Line

1. The withdrawal to the interim withdrawal line
will be accomplished in subphases as described in
this Article and as shown on Map 3. Each subphase
will be completed within the indicated number of
months from the date of the exchange of instruments'
of ratification of this Treaty.

a. First subphasei within two months, Israeli
armed forces will withdraw from the area of
El Arish, including the town of El Arish and
its airfield, shown as Area I on Map 3.

b. Second subphase: within three months,
Israeli armed forces will withdraw from the
area between line M of the 1975 Agreement
and line A, shown as Area II on Map 3.



2&2

o. Third subphases within five months,
Israeli armed forces will withdraw from the
areas east and south of Area II, shown as
Area III on Map 3.

d. Fourth subphase: within seven months,
Israeli armed forces will withdraw from the
area of B1 Tor - Ras El Kenisa, shown as
Area IV on Map 3.

e. Fifth subphaset Within nine months, Israeli
armed forces will withdraw from the remaining
areas west of the interim withdrawal line,
including the areas of Santa Katrina and the areas
east of the Giddi and Mitla passes, shown
as Area V on Map 3, thereby completing Israeli
withdrawal behind the interim withdrawal line.

2. Egyptian forces will deploy in the areas evacuated
by Israeli armed forces as follows:

a. Up to one-third of the Egyptian armed forces
in the Sinai in accordance with the 1975 Agreement
will deploy in the portions of Zone A lying within
Area I, until the completion of interim withdrawal.
Thereafter, Egyptian armed forces as described in
Article II of Annex I will be deployed in Zone A
up to the limits of the interim buffer zone.

b. The Egyptian naval activity in accordance
with Article IV of Annex I will commence along
the coasts of Areas II, III, and IV, upon comple-
tion of the- second, third, and fourth subphases,
respectively.

c. Of the Egyptian border units described in
Article II of Annex I, upon completion of the
first subphase one battalion will be deployed
in Area I. A second battalion will be deployed
in Area II upon completion of the second subphase.
A third battalion will be deployed in Area III
upon completion of the t'iird subphasa. The second
and third battalions mentioned above gay also be
deployed in any of the subsequently evacuated
areas of the southern Sinai.



203

3. United Nations forces in Buffer Zone I of the
1975 Agreement will redeploy to enable the deployment
of Egyptian forces described above upon the completion
of the first subphase, but will otherwise continue to
function in accordance with the provisions of that
Agreement in the remainder of that zone until the
completion of interim withdrawal, as indicated in
Article I of this Appendix.

4. Israeli convoys may use the roads south and east
S of the main road junction east of El Arish to evacuate

Israeli forces and equipment up to the completion of
interim withdrawal. These convoys will proceed in
daylight upon four hours notice to the Egyptian liaison
group and United Nations forces, will be escorted by
United Nations forces, and will be in accordance with
schedules coordinated by the Joint Commission. An
Egyptian liaison officer will accompany convoys to
assure uninterrupted movement. The Joint Commission
may approve other arrangements for convoys.

ARTICLE III

United Nations Forces

1. The Parties shall request that United Nations
forces be deployed as necessary to perform the
functions described in this Appendix up to the
time of completion of final Israeli withdrawal.
For that purpose, the Parties agree to the
redeployment of the United Nations Emergency
Force.

2. United Nations forces will supervise the imple-
mentation of this Appendix and will employ their
best efforts to prevent any violation of its terms.

3. When United Nations forces deploy in accordance
with the provisions of Articles I and II of this
Appendix, they will perform the functions of verifi-
cation in limited force zones in accordance with

* Article VI of Annex I, and will establish check
points, reconnaissance patrols, and observation
posts in the temporary buffer zones described in



204

Article II above. Other functions of the United
Nations forces which concern the interim buffer
zone are described in Article V of this Appendix.

ARTICLE IV

Joint Commission and Liaison

1. The Joint Commission referred to in Article IV of
this Treaty will function from the date of exchange of
instruments of ratification of this Treaty up to the date
of completion of final Israeli withdrawal from the Sinai.

2. The Joint Commission will be composed of representa-
tives of each Party headed by senior officers. This
Commission shall invite a representative of the United
Nations when discussing subjects concerning the United
Nations, or when either Party requests United Nations
presence. Decisions of the Joint Commission will be
reached by agreement of Egypt and Israel.

3. The Joint Commission will supervise the implementation
of the arrangements described in Annex I and this Appendix.
To this end, and by agreement of both Parties, it will:

a. coordinate military movements described in this
Appendix and supervise their implementation;

b. address and seek to resolve any problem arising out
of the implementation of Annex I and this
Appendix, and discuss any violations reported
by the United Nations Force and Observers and
refer to the Governments of Egypt and Israel any
unresolved problems;

c. assist the United Nations Force and Observers in
the execution of their mandates, and deal with
the timetables of the periodic verifications
when referred to it by the Parties as provided
for in Annex I and in this Appendixt

d. organize the demarcation of the international
boundary and all lines and zones described in
Annex I and this Appendixy

e. supervise the handing over of the main installa-
tions in the Sinai from Israel to Egypt;

M -



205

f. agree on necessary arrangements for finding
and returning missing bodies of Egyptian and
Israeli soldiers;

g. organize the setting up and operation of entry
check points along the E1 Arish - Ras Muhammed line
in accordance with the provisions of Article 4 of
Annex III;

h. conduct its operations through the use of joint
liaison teams consisting of one Israeli represent-
ative and one Egyptian representative, provided
from a standing Liaison Group, which will conduct
activities as directed by the Joint Commission;

i. provide liaison and coordination to the United
Nations command implementing provisions of the
Treaty, and, through the joint liaison teams,
maintain local coordination and cooperation with
the United Nations Force stationed in specific
areas or United Nations Observers monitoring
specific areas for any assistance as needed;

j. discuss any other matters which the Parties by
agreement may place before it.

4. Meetings of the Joint Commission shall be held at least
once a month. Xn the event that either Party or the Command of
the United Nations Force requests a special meeting, it will be
convened within 24 hours.

5. The Joint Commission will meet in the buffer zone until
the completion of the interim withdrawal and in El Arish
and Beer-Sheba alternately afterwards. The first meeting
will be held not later than two weeks after the entry into
force of this Treaty.

ARTICLE V

Definition of the Interim Buffer Zone and Its Activities

1. An interim buffer zone, by which the United Nations Force
will effect a separation of Egyptian and Israeli elements, will
be established west of and adjacent to the in'trim withdrawal
line as shown on Map 2 after implementation of Israeli with-
drawal and deployment behind the interim withdrawal line.
Egyptian civil police equipped with light weapons will perform
normal police functions within this zone.

47-699 0 - 79 - 14



206

2. The United Nations Force will operate check points, recon-
naissance patrols, and observation posts within the interim
buffer zone in order to ensure compliance with the terms of
this Article.

3. In accordance with arrangements agreed upon by both Parties
and to be coordinated by the Joint Commission, Israeli personnel
will operate military technical installations at four specific
locations shown on Map 2 and designated as T1 (map central
coordinate 57163940), T2 (map central coordinate 59351541),
T3 (map central coordinate 59331527), and T4 (map central
coordinate 61130979) under the following principless

a. The technical installations shall be manned by
technical and administrative personnel equipped
with small arms required for their protection
(revolvers, rifles, sub-machine guns, light machine
guns, hand grenades, and ammunition), as follows

T1 - up to 150 personnel
T2 and T3 - up to 350 personnel
T4 - up to 200 personnel.

b. Israeli personnel will not carry weapons outside the
sites, except officers who may carry personal weapons.

c. Only a third party agreed to by Egypt and Israel will
enter and conduct inspections within the perimeters of
technical installations in the buffer zone. The third
party will conduct inspections in a random manner at
least once a month. The inspections will verify the
nature of the operation of the installations and the
weapons and personnel therein. The third party will
immediately report to the Parties any divergence from
an installation's visual and electronic surveillance or
communications role.

d. Supply of the installations, visits for technical and
administrative purposes, and replacement of personnel
and equipment situated in the sites, may occur
uninterruptedly from the United Nations check points
to the perimeter 9f the technical installations, after
checking and being escorted by only the United Nations
forces.



207

e. Israel will be permitted to introduce into its
.technical installations items required for the
proper functioning of the installations and personnel.

f. As determined by the Joint Commission, Israel will
be permitted tot

(1) Maintain in its installations fire-fighting and
general maintenance equipment as well as.wheeled
administrative vehicles and mobile engineering
equipment necessary for the maintenance of the
sites. All vehicles shall be unarmed.

(2) within the sites and in the buffer zone, maintain
roads, water lines, and communications cables which
serve the sites. At each of the three installation
locations (Tl, T2 and T3, and T4), this maintenance
may be performed with up to two unarmed wheeled
vehicles and by up to twelve unarmed personnel with
only necessary equipment, including heavy engineering
equipment if needed. This maintenance may be performed
three times a week, except for special problems, and
only after giving the United Nations four hours notice.
The teams will be escorted by the United Nations.

g. Movement to and from the technical installations
will take place only during daylight hours. Access
to, and exit from, the technical installations shall
be as follows:

(1) T1: through a United Nations check point,
and via the road between Abu Aweigila and
the intersection of the Abu Aweigila road
and the Gebel Libni road (at Km. 161), as
shown on Map 2.

(2) T2 and T3: through a United Nations
checkpoint and via the road constructed
across the buffer zone to Gebel Katrina, as
shown on Map 2.

(3) T2, T3, and T4: via helicopters flying
within a corridor at the .times, and according
to a flight profile, agreed to by the Joint
Commission. The helicopters will be checked
by the United Nations Force at landing sites
outside the perimeter of the installations.



208

h. Israel will inform the United Nations Force at least
one hour in advance of each intended movement to and
from the installations.

i. Israel shall be entitled to evacuate sick and wounded
and summon medical experts and medical teams at any
time after giving immediate notice to the United Nations
Force.

4. The details of the above principles and all other matters
in this Article requiring coordination by the Parties will be
handled by the Joint Commission.

5. These technical installations will be withdrawn when
Israeli forces withdraw from the interim withdrawal line,
or at a time agreed by the parties.

ARTICLE VI

Disposition of Installations and Military Barriers

Disposition of installations and military barriers will
be determined by the Parties in accordance with the following
guidelines

1. Up to three weeks before Israeli withdrawal from
any area, the Joint Commission will arrange for Israeli
and Egyptian liaison and technical teams to conduct a
joint inspection of all appropriate installations to
agree upon condition of structures and articles which
will be-transferred to Egyptian control and to arrange
for such transfer. Israel will declare, at that time,
its plans for disposition of installations and articles
within the installations.

2. Israel undertakes to transfer to Egypt all agreed infra-
structure, utilities, and installations intact, inter alia,
airfields, roads, pumping stations, and ports. Israel will
present to Egypt the information necessary for the main-
tenance and operation of these facilities. Egyptian
technical teams will be permitted to observe and familiar-
ize themselves with the operation of these facilities
for a period of up to two weeks prior to transfer.



209

3. When Israel relinquishes Israeli military water
points near El Arish and El Tor, Egyptian technical
teams will assume control of those installations and
ancillary equipment in accordance with an orderly transfer
process arranged beforehand by the Joint Commission.
Egypt undertakes to continue to make available at all
water supply points the normal quantity of currently
available water up to the time-Israel withdraws behind
the international boundary, unless otherwise agreed in
the Joint Commission.

4. Israel will make its best effort to remove or destroy
all military barriers, including obstacles and minefields,
in the areas and adjacent waters from which it withdraws,
according to the following concept:

a. Military barriers will be cleared first from areas
near populations, roads, and major installations and
utilities.

b. For those obstacles and minefields which cannot be
removed or destroyed prior to Israeli withdrawal,
Israel will provide detailed maps to Egypt and the
United Nations through the Joint Commission not later
than 15 days before entry of United Nations forces
into the affected areas.

c. Egyptian military engineers will enter those
areas after United Nations forces enter to conduct
barrier clearance operations in accordance with
Egyptian plans to be submitted prior to implementation.

ARTICLE VII

Surveillance Activities

1. Aerial surveillance activities during the withdrawal
will be carried out as follows;

a. Both Parties request the United States to continue
airborne surveillance flights in accordance with
previous agreements until the completion of final
Israeli withdrawal.



210

b. Flight profiles will cover the Limited Forces
Zones to monitor the limitations on forces and armaments,
and to determine that Israeli armed forces have withdrawn
from the areas described in Article II of Annex I,
Article II of this Appendix, and Maps 2 and 3, and
that these forces thereafter remain behind their lines.
Special inspection flights may be flown at the request
of either Party or of the United Nations.

c. Only the main elements in the military organizations
of each Party, as described in Annex I and in this
Appendix, will be reported.

2. Both Parties request the United States operated Sinai Field
Mission to continue its operations in accordance with
previous agreements until completion of the Israeli withdrawal
from the area east of the Giddi and Mitla Passes. Thereafter,
the Mission will be terminated.

Article VIII

Exercise of Egyptian Sovereignty

Egypt will resume the exercise of its full sovereignty over
evacuated parts of the Sinai upon Israeli withdrawal as
provided for in Article I of this Treaty.



7J~
t

211

:i;~ ~b~ 'n
- I;.

~ljiSj
c :~



212

ANNEX III

PROTOCOL CONCERNING RELATIONS
OF THE PARTIES

Article I
Diplomatic and Consular Relations

The Parties agree to establish diplomatic and
consular relations and to exchange'ambassadors
upon completion of the interim withdrawal.

Article 2
Economy and Trade Relations

I. The Parties agree to remove all discriminatory
barriers to normal economic relations and to termi-
nate economic boycotts of each other upon comple-
tion of the interim withdrawal.

2. As soon as possible, and not later than six
months after the completion of the interim withdra-
wal, the Parties will enter negotiations with a view
to concluding an agreement on trade and commerce
for the purpose of promoting beneficial economic
relations.

Article 3
Cultural Relations

1. The Parties agree to establish normal cultural
relations following completion of the interim with-
drawal.

2. They agree on the desirability of cultural
exchanges in all fields, and shall, as soon as possible
and not later than six months after completion of
the interim withdrawal, enter into negotiations with
a view to concluding a cultural agreement for this
purpose.

Article 4
Freedom of Movement

I. Upon completion of the interim withdrawal,
each Party will permit the free movement of the
nationals and vehicles of the other into and within
its territory according to the general rules applica-
ble to nationals and vehicles of other states. Neither
Party will impose discriminatory restrictions on the

free movement of persons and vehicles from its
Territory to the territory of the other.

2. Mutual unimpeded access to places of reli-
gious and historical significance will be provided on
a nondiscriminatory basis.

Artkle 5
Cooperation for Development and

Good Neighborly Relations

I. The Parties recognize a mutuality of interest
in good neighborly relations and agree to consider
means to promote such relations.

2. The Parties will cooperate in promoting
peace, stability and development in their region.
Each agrees to consider proposals the other may
wish to make to this end.

3. The Parties shall seek to foster mutual under-
standinj and tolerance and will, accordingly,
abstain from hostile propaganda against each
other.

Article 6
Transportation and Telecommunications

I. The Parties recognize as applicable to each
other the rights, privileges and obligations provided
for by the aviation agreements to which they are
both party, particularly by the Convention on
International Civil Aviation, 1944 ("The Chicago
Convention") and the International Air Services
Transit Agreement, 1944.

2. Upon completion of the interim withdrawal
any declaration of national emergency,by a party
under Article 89 of the Chicago Convention will not
be applied to the other party on a discriminatory
basis.

3. Egypt agrees that the use of airfields left by
Israel near El Arish, Rafah, Ras El Nagb and
Sharm El Sheikh shall be forcivilian purposes only,
including possible commercial use by all nations.

I.ri)
))

1 .: ~ r~,.:ii.;
- - '

1

so



213

4. As soon as possible and not later than six
months after thecompletion of the interim withdra-
wal, the Parties shall enter into negotiations for the
purpose of concluding a civil aviation agreement.

5. The Parties will reopen and maintain roads
and railways between their countries and will con-
sider further road and rail links. The Parties further
agree that a highway will be constructed and main-
tained between Egypt. Israel and Jordan near Eilat
with guaranteed free and peaceful passage of per-

. sons, vehicles and goods between Egypt and Jor-
dan, without prejudice to their sovereignty over
that part of the highway which falls within their
respective territory.

6. Upon completion of the interim withdrawal,
normal postal, telephone, telex, data facsimile,
wireless and cable communications and television
relay services by cable, radio and satellite shall be
established between the two Parties in accordance
with all relevant international conventions and reg-
ulations.

7. Upon completion of the interim withdrawal.
each Party shall grant normal access to its portsfor
vessels and cargoes of the other, as well as vessels
and cargoes destined for or coming from the other.

Such access shall be granted on the same conditions
generally applicable to vessels and cargoes of other
nations. Article 5 of the Treaty of Peace will be
implemented upon the exchange of instruments of
ratification of the aforementioned treaty.

Article 7
Enjoyment of Human Rights

The Parties affirm their commitment to respect
and observe human rights and fundamental free-
doms for all, and they will promote these rights and
freedoms in accordance with the United Nations
Charter.

Article 8
Territorial Seas

Without prejudice to the provisions of Article 5
of the Treaty of Peace each Party recognizes the
right of the vessels of the other Party to innocent
passage through its territorial sea in accordance
with the rules of international law.

\,

.:C :". il'
.i'

:''

~.I . r~ i' :. ' )~ ..1 .- ti ' E
r ~ i .



214

AGREED MINUTES
S- TO ARTICLES ,t IV, V AAD VI AND ANNBXES I AND III

OP TREATY OP PEACE

ARTICLE I

Egypt's resumption of the exercise of full
sovereignty over the Sinai provided for in paragraph
2 of Article I shall occur with regard to each area
upon I~rael's withdrawal from that area.

ARTICLE IV

It is agreed between the parties that the
review provided for in Article IV(4) will be under-
taken when requested by either party, commencing
within three months of such a request, but that any
amendment can be made only with the mutual agreement
of both parties.

ARTICLE V

The second sentence of paragraph 2 of Article V
S shall not be construed as limiting the first sentence

of that paragraph. The foregoing is not to be con-
strued as contravening the second sentence of para-
graph 2 of Article V, which reads as followss

"The Parties will respect each other's
right to navigation and overflight for
access to either country through the Strait
of Tiran and the Gulf of Aqaba."

ARTICLE VI(2)

The provisions of Article VI shall not be
construed in contradiction to the provisions of the
framework for peace in the Middle East agreed at
Camp David. The foregoing is not to be construed
as contravening the provisions of Article VI(2) 
of the Treaty, which reads as follows:

"The Parties undertake to fulfill in
good faith their obligations under this
Treaty, without regard to action or inaction 4



' 216

of any other Party and independently of any
instrument external to this Treaty."

ARTICLE VI(5)

It is agreed by the Parties that there is no
assertion that this Treaty prevails over other Treaties
or agreements or that other Treaties or agreements pre-
vail over this Treaty. The foregoing i, not to be
construed as contravening the provisions of Article VI(5)
of the Treaty, which reads as follows:

"Subject to Article 103 of the United
Nations Charter, in the event of a conflict

: between the obligations of the Parties under
the present Treaty and any of their other
obligations, the obligations under this Treaty
will be binding and implemented."

ANNEX I

Article VI, Paragraph 8, of Annex I provides as
follows:

*The Parties shall agree on the nations
from which the United Nations force and ob-
servers will be drawn. They will be drawn
from nations other than those which are per-
manent members of the United Nations Security
Council."

The Parties have agreed as follows:

"With respect to the provisions of para-
graph 8, Article VI, of Annex I, if no agree-
ment is reached between the Parties, they will
accept or support a U.S. proposal concerning
the composition of the United Nations force

Sand observers."

ANNEX III

The Treaty of Peace and Annex III thereto provide
for establishing normal economic relations between the
Parties. In accordance therewith, it is agreed that
such relations will include normal commercial sales of
oil by Egypt to Israel, and that Israel shall be fully
entitled to make bids for Egyptian-origin oil not
needed for Egyptian domestic oil consumption, and
Egypt and its oil concessionaires will entertain bids



216

made by Israel, on the same basis and terms as apply to
other bidders for such oil.

For the Government of
Israel:

For the Government of the
Arab Republic of Egypt

s<.

Witnessed by:

Jimmy Carter, President
of the United States of America

Ut



, .< ' . s , .. .I ' . '

217

March 26, 1979

Dear Mr. Presidents

This letter confirms that Egypt and Israel have
agreed as follows:

The Governments of Egypt and Israel recall that
they concluded at Camp David and signed at the White
House on September 17,, 1978, the annexed documents
entitled "A Framework for Peace in the Middle East
Agreed at Camp David" and "Framework for the con-
clusion of a Peace Treaty between Egypt and Israel."

For the purpose of achieving a comprehensive
peace settlement in accordance with the above-mentioned
Frameworks, Egypt and Israel will proceed with the im-
plementation of those provisions relating to the West
Bank and the Gaza Strip. They have agreed to start
negotiations within a month after the exchange of the
instruments of ratification of the Peace Treaty. In
accordance with the "Framework for Peace in the Middle
East," the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan is invited to
join the negotiations. The Delegations of Egypt and
Jordan may include Palestinians from the West Bank and
Gaza Strip or other Palestinians as mutually agreed.
The purpose of the negotiation shall be to agree, prior
to the elections, :n the modalities for establishing
the elected self-gtverning authority (administrative
council), define its powers and responsibilities, and
agree upon other related issues. In the event Jordan
decides not to take part in the negotiations, the
negotiations will be held by Egypt and Israel.

The President,
The White House.



218

The two Governments agree to negotiate continuously
and in good faith to conclude these negotiations at the
earliest possible date. They also agree that the objec-
tive of the negotiations is the establishment of the
self-governing authority in the West Bank and Gaza in
order to provide full autonomy to the inhabitants.

Egypt and Israel set for themselves the goal of
completing the negotiations within one year so that
elections will be held as expeditiously as possible
after agreement has been reached between the parties.
The self-governing authority referred to in the
"Framework for Peace in the Middle East" will be
established and inaugurated within one month after
it has been elected, at which time the transitional
period of five years will begin. The Israeli mili-
tary government and its civilian administration will
be withdrawn, to be replaced by the self-governing
authority, as specified in the "Pramework for Peace
in the Middle East." A withdrawal of Israeli armed
forces will then take place and there will be a re-
deployment of.the remaining Israeli forces into
specified-r"curity locations.

This letter also confirms our understanding that
the United States Government will participate fully
in all stages of negotiations.

Sincerely yours,

For the Government of - For the Government of the
Israel: Arab Republic of Egypt:

Mohamed Anwar El-SadatMenachem Begin



219

March 26, 1979

* Dear Mr. Presidents

In response to your request, I can confirm that,
within one month after the completion of Israel's

v withdrawal to the interim line as provided for in
the Treaty of Peace between Egypt and Israel, Egypt
will send a resident ambassador to Israel and will
receive a resident Israeli ambassador in Egypt.

Sincerely,

Mohamed Anwar El-Sadat

The President,
The White House.



220

March 26, 1979

Dear Mr. Prime Minister:

I have received a letter from President Sadat
that, within one month after Israel completes its
withdrawal to the interim line in Sinai, as provided
for in the Treaty of Peace between Egypt and Israel,
Egypt will send a resident ambassador to Israel and
will receive in Egypt a resident Israeli ambassador.

I would be grateful if you will confirm that
this procedure will be agreeable to the Government
of Israel.

Sincerely,

Jimmy Carter

His Excellency
Menachem Begin,

Prime Minister of the
State of Israel.

U



221

March 26, 1979

Dear Mr. President:

I am pleased to be able to confirm that the
Government of Israel is agreeable to the procedure
set out in your letter of March 26, 1979 in which
you state:

"I have received a letter from
President Sadat that, within one month
aftet Israel completes its withdrawal
to the interim line in Sinai, as pro-
vided for in the Treaty of Peace be-
tween Egypt and Israel, Egypt will
send a resident ambassador to Israel
and will receive in Egypt a resident
Israeli ambassador."

Sincerely,

Menachem Begin

The President,
The White House.

47-699 0 - 79 - 15



222

March 26, 1979

Dear Mr. President:

I wish to confirm to you that subject to United
States Constitutional processes

In the event of an actual or threatened viola-
tion of the Treaty of Peace between Egypt and Israel,
the United States will, on request of one or both of
the Parties, consult with the Parties with respect
thereto and will take such other action as it may
deem appropriate and helpful to achieve compliance
with the Treaty.

The United States will conduct aerial monitor-
ing as requested by the Parties pursuant to Annex I
of the Treaty.

The United States believes the Treaty provision
for permanent stationing of United Nations personnel
in the designated limited force zone can and should
be implemented by the United Nations Security Council.
The United States will exert its utmost efforts to
obtain the requisite action by the Security Council.
If the Security Council fails to establish and main-
tain the arrangements called for in the Treaty, the
President will be prepared to take those steps nec-
essary to ensure the establishment and maintenance
of an acceptable alternative multinational force.

Sincerely,

Jimmy Carter

His Excellency
Mbhamed Anwir Ei-Sadat,

President of the Arab
Republic of Egypt.



223

March 26, 1979

Dear Mr. Prime Minister:

I wish to confirm to you that subject to United
States Constitutional processes:

In the event of an actual or threatened viola-
tion of the Treaty of Peace between Israel and Egypt,
the United States will, on request of one or both of
the Parties, consult with the Parties with respect
thereto and will take such other action as it may
deem appropriate and helpful to achieve compliance
with the Treaty.

The United States will conduct aerial monitor-
ing as requested by the Parties pursuant to Annex-I
of the Treaty.

The United States believes the Treaty provision
for permanent stationing of United Nations personnel
in the designated limited force zone can and should
be implemented by the United Nations Security Council.
The United States will exert its utmost efforts to
obtain the requisite action by the Security Council.
If the Security Council fails to establish and main-
tain the arrangements called for in the Treaty, the
President will be prepared to take those steps nec-
essary to ensure the establishment and maintenance
of an acceptable alternative multinational force.

Sincerely,

Jimmy Carter

His Excellency
Menachem Begin,

Prime Minister of the
State of Israel.

EXPLANATORY NOTE

President Carter, upon receIpt of the Joint Letter to him from President Sadat and
Prime Minister Begin, has added to the American and Israeli copies the notation:

"I have been informed that the expression 'West Bank' is understood by the
Government of Israel to mean 'Judea and Samaria'."

This notation is in accordance with similar procedures established at Camp David.



APPENDIX 4

CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN REPRESENTATIVE LEE H. HAMILTON AND
THE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET AND REPRESENTATIVE ROB-
ERT N. GIAIMO

EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT,
OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET,

Wash4ngton, D.C., April 27, 1979.
Hon. LEE H. HAMILTON,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle East, Committee on Foreign

Affairs, U.S. House of Representatives, Washington, D.C.
DEAR Ms. CHAIRMAN: The enclosed tables have been prepared in response to

your April 10, 1979, letter. Table #1 shows the budget authority and outlay
impact allowing 50 percent forgiveness of the $3.7 billion of foreign military sales
(FMS) financing that the Administration requested following the signing of the
Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty. It also shows the budgetary effects of the $800
million of assistance for the relocation of Israeli airfields and the $800 million
of economic support for Egypt.

All the supplemental budget authority will be added to the 1979 budget. The
outlays, on the other hand, will occur in the years in which the funds are spent.
Table #2 compares estimated FMS outlays between 1979 and 1983 on the basis
of no forgiveness (Administration's request) or 50 percent forgiveness. In order
to illustrate the full Impact of FMS forgiveness on the Mideast package, the out-
lays for airfield relocation and economic support are also included.

The Middle East security assistance supplemental is designed to balance the
need for budgetary restraint against the furtherance of peace in a region vital to
U.S. interests. The Administration has requested no waiver of the repayment of
the $3.7 billion of FMS financing requested for Egypt and Israel, because we do
not believe that concessionality beyond that already requested is required. The
economies of both countries are expected to be strong enough to repay the loans
over their thirty-year amortization periods, and both countries have agreed to
sign the peace treaty without any U.S. commitment to forgive repayment of any
portion of the FMS loans.

During this period of fiscal austerity, the Administration would object to in-
creasing grants to either country. In addition to the $800 million grant for the
relocation of two airfields, Israel is receiving $500 million of "forgiven" FMS
credits and $525 million of grant economic assistance in the regular 1979 security
assistance program. Egypt, in turn, Is receiving $500 million of economic grants
in the same security assistance program in addition to the $200 million of grant
economic support in the supplemental. We believe that these $2.5 billion of grants
are sufficient to meet the military and economic needs of both countries.

I hope that you find the above information useful.
Sincerely,

JAMES T. MCINTYRE, Jr., Director.
Enclosures.

(224)



225

COMPARISON OF BUDGETARY EFFECTS OF NO FORGIVENESS VERSUS 50-PERCENT FORGIVENESS OF EGYPTIAN.
ISRAELI FMS CREDITS

[In n.,llions of dollars)

Adminlstrtn request
(no for.veness) 50-pecent forgivness

Budget Budget
Program authority Outlays authority Outlays

FMS.................... ........ 3,700 370 .............. 2,035 1,850
Egypi. --------- _----_--Israept............................ 00) 10)........... ( (

Relocatlon of irfields (100 percent
ra8nt) ............................. 800 800 800 800 0Supporting assistance (66 percent grant). 300 300 300 300 300

Total......................... 4,800 , 470 , 100 3,136 2,950

COMPARISON OF ANNUAL OUTLAY IMPACT BETWEEN 0 AND 50-PERCENT FORGIVENESS IN EGYPTIAN AND
ISRAELI FMS PROGRAMS

IIn millions of dollars

1979 1980 1981 1982 1983 Total

0 50 0 5 5 0 50 0 50 0 50 0 50
per- per- per- per per- per per per. per- per per per-
cent cent cent cent cent cent cent cencenent cent cent cent

FMS........................... 80 ....... 550 ....... 595 ....... 490 ....... 135 ....... 1,850
Airfield reloction........ 299 299 216 216 285 285 ............................ 800 800
SSA.................... 50 50 100 100 150 150 ......................... . 300 300

Total............. 349 429 316 866 435 1,030 0 490 0 135 1,100 2,950

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON THE BUDmT,
Washington, D.C., April 2S, 1979.

Hon. LEE H. HAMILTON,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle East, U.S. House of Repre-

sentatives, Washington, D.C.
DEAB MB. CHAIRMAN: This is in reply to your letter of April 10 concerning

the President's proposed supplemental legislation to implement the peace treaty
between Egypt and Israel. You requested an assessment of the budgetary impact
of amending the President's proposal to allow for 50 percent forgiveness for the
credits provided in the proposed legislation.

As I understand it, such an amendment would extend to both Egypt and
Israel the forgiveness provisions now contained in Section 31(c) of the Arms
Export Control Act. Consequently, it would provide that each country "be released
from one-half of its contractual liability to repay the United States Govern-
ment with respect to defense articles and defense services. .. ."

Such an amendment, if adopted, would result in an increase over the Presi-
dent's request, and the amounts included In the budget resolution, by $1,665
million in budget authority and $80 million in outlays in fiscal year 1979, and by
$550 million in outlays in fiscal year 1980. The budget deficit would, of course,
also be increased in the same amount as the outlays.

It should be noted that any change in the budgetary treatment of the Presi-
dent's Middle East Peace package would also require a change in the budget
resolutions for fiscal years 1979 and 1980. As reported by the Committee on the
Budget on April 13, 1979, the amounts included in the budget resolution assumed
that the President's request would be approved as submitted. If the President's
request is to be modified in any way, the budget resolution, which is scheduled
for consideration by the House on May 1, would have to be amended to reflect
the appropriate increases in the budget authority, outlays, and the deficit. If
you anticipate that such an amendment will be offered. I would appreciate
being so advised as soon as possible.

If you need any further data on the budget impact of changes In this area,
Peter Storm of the Budget Committee staff (ext. 58506) is available to provide
your staff with additional data.

Sincerely yours,
ROBERT N. QIAIMO, Chairman.



i AaL 10, 197.
Mr. JAMES T. MOINTYRE, Jr.,
Director, Office of Management and Budget, Washington, D.C.

1DEA Ma. McINTYRE: I attach for your consideration a letter from the Presi-
dent regarding supplemental legislation he intends to submit providing addi-
tional economic and military assistance for Israel and Egypt. As you know,
this legislation follows the conclusion of the Egyptian-Israeli Peace Treaty.

I would like to have your assessment of the budgetary impact of a provision
which would seek to amend the President's proposal in order to allow for
50 percent forgiveness for the credits and loans provided in the proposed legis-
lation. Specifically, I want to have your estimates of the exact financial impact
of such an amendment and your assessment of the implications of such a
provision on overall budget plans.

Since the subcommittee Is likely to be considering this legislation the week
of April 23, 1979, I would appreciate receiving your assessment early that week.

If you have any questions regarding this request. Mike Van Dusen, Stalf
Director of the subcommittee, is available at 225-8845.

With best regards.
Sincerely yours,

LEE H. HAMILTON,
Chairman, Subcommittee mn Europe

and the Middle East.

4



APPENDIX 5

ADDITIONAL STATEMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS SUBMITTED
SUBSEQUENT TO THE HEARING

A. STATEMENT OF THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ARAB AMERICANS

MAY 15, 1979.
Representative LEE HAMILTON,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe and the Middl E ast, Foreign Affars Com-

mirtte, U.8. House of Representatves, Washington, D.O.
DEAB MB. HAMILTON: The National Association of Arab Americans (NAAA)

wishes to have its viers on the fiscal year 1979 supplemental aid package for
Egypt and Israel added to the record.

The Administration has requested $4.8 billion over three years for those two
nations in the wake of the bilateral treaty signed March 26 of this year. Of the
sum, Israel is to receive $8 billion as follows: $2.2 billion in long-tern loans for
military purchases and $800 million in grants for construction of new airfields in
the Negev. Egypt will receive $1.8 billion as follows: $1.5 billion in long-term
loans for military purchases and $300 million in grants for economic development.
In appearances before Congressional Committees Secretary of State Vance has
testified that the budgetary impact of the supplemental assistance will be less
than $2 billion, comprising the grants and carrying charges related to the loans.

NAAA is concerned about several aspect of the supplemental aid request:

(1) ASSISTANCE PRIORITIES

Of the requested $4.8 billion, $4.5 billion (or 94% of the total) is earmarked
for military purchases and construction. It is ificult to understand why it is
necessary to invest so much money in weapons in the wake of a treaty of peace.
One wonders if the treaty holds any reasonable expectation of a diminution of
tension and violence in the region.

(2) ACTUAL COSTS

It is likely that within a relatively short period of time Israeli and/or Egyptian
economic problems will result in requests to convert the loans into grants. Israeli
economists are already predicting "three-digit" inflation, up form the current
60% annual rate, and Egypt faces chronic balance of payments problems. An
amendment passed by the Senate Foreign Relations Committee has already
"softened the ground" for conversion of the loans into grants by directing the
President to report each year on Israel's and Egypt's ability to repay principal
and interest.

In the near term, it is likely that Congress will be asked for even more money
for Israel, since defense analysts report that the cost of military items promised
to Israel exceeds the supplemental appropriation.

(8) NEXT STEPS TOWARD PEACE

Most observers-American, Arab, and Israeli-acknowledge that the bilateral
treaty dealing with Israeli withdrawal from Sinai and normalization of Egyptian-
Israeli relations was the easiest part of the peace package, despite its own prob-
lems. The price tag for that treaty is about $5 billion without even broaching
the topic of Israeli withdrawal from the West Bank, Gaza Strip, and Golan
Heights in fulfillment of Security Council Resolution 242. Is the $5 billion Just
the tip of the iceberg? Or does its high price mean that the Administration has

(227)

' I
* * ' . '' I



a8

expended its best effort and will not exert leverage for Israeli withdrawal from
the other occupied territories?

(4) ISBAELI DIPLOMATIC STRATEGY

Israel has achieved a long-standing objective: splitting Egypt off from the rest
of the Arab World and neutralizing it militarily. Israel will in the process re-
linquish the Sinai Peninsula, not viewed as historically or strategically signifi-
cant by Israel's leaders. Not only will Israel be able to turn its full military might
to the East; it will also have two super-modern American-built airfields from
which to threaten Saudi Arabia and other oil-producing states in the Gulf region.
The new increment of military hardware, piled on top of what the United States
has provided Israel in recent years will make possible Israeli retention of the
West Bank, Gaza Strip, and Golan Heights in the face of pressures from any
source, including the United States government.

(5) COSTS OF WAR VEBSUS COSTS OF PEACE

Secretary of State Vance on April 23 provided Senator Frank Church, Chair-
man of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, with a State Department
study of "the total cost to the U.S. of four wars in the Middle East", estimated
at somewhere between $55 billion and $70 billion. The Administration cited
those figures in recent weeks in order to justify the comparatively low cost of
the current peace package. Taken at face value, the argument that "peace is
cheaper than war" is compelling-until one begins to analyze the $55-70 billion
figure. Then it becomes clear that it has two major components: aid to Israel
and estimated costs of the oil embargo and higher prices following the 1978 war.
In the first case, the United States has voluntarily made available the huge
outlays of military and economic assistance to Israel; we gave them the money
because they and their friends prevailed upon us to do so, not because we had
to. The oil embargo was a political response by Arab producers to what they
saw as unacceptable pro-Israeli bias by the United States. The point to keep
in mind is that in the wake of "peace", nothing has changed in the cost equation.
Israel is determined to retain occupied Arab lands and defy Palestinian aspira-
tions for self-determination, thus requiring permanent military assistance; the
Arab oil-producing states are more alienated than ever from the United States
since their reservations about the Camp David peace formula have been met
with a campaign of innuendo from the Administration in recent weeks. There
is little incentive for the Arabs to cooperate with the United States on oil issues
these days. In short, nothing seems to have changed, except that the Administra-
tion has developed a questionable new rationale for selling the supplemental aid
package.

NAAA and many other Americans are concerned that American Middle East
diplomacy may make achievement of comprehensive Middle East peace more,
rather than less, difficult. Already we are seeing evidence of alienation of impor-
tant Arab friends of the United States, including Saudi Arabia and other oil
producers. American national interests in the Middle East are intimately tied
to access to oil and balance of payments. It is the assessment of NAAA that
the costs of the recent treaty may well exceed the benefits that the Administra-
tion says it will bring.

Sincerely yours,
J. R. ABINADza, Executive Director.

B. STATEMENT SUBMITTED BY GEOROE BISHABAT, COORDINATOR OF THE MIDDLE
EAST RESOURCE CENTER

The Middle East Resource Center is the Washington office of Search for Jus-
tice and Equality in Palestine, a nationally-based organization whose constitu-
ents believe that peace and security for Israeli Jews and justice for Palestinian
Arabs are interdependent and not mutually exclusive. We are concerned that
our government, In its diverse relations with the countries of the Middle East,
foster the establishment of a just and therefore durable peace in that region.

We believe that the success or failure of any negotiated peace in the Middle
East will reflect the extent to which just resolutions to the problems of the



229

involved parties have been found. Justice aid the establishment of conditions
favorable to equal social and economic development are more effective guaran-
tees of peace and stability, and indirectly of our own national interests, than are
military commitments. Iran is a dramatic reminder of the futility of posing
military might against the aspirations of the overwhelming majority of a people.

The unmistakable aim of the overwhelming majority of the peoples of the
Middle East, and perhaps of a significant number of non-Middle Eastern peoples,
is the recognition and achievement of the aspirations of the Palestinian people
for national self-determination. These aspirations have been clearly articulated
by the sole legitimate representative body of the Palestinians, the Palestine
Liberation Organization. Realization of the national rights of the Palestinians,
who are central parties in the Middle East conflict, is the foundation upon which

) permanent peace in the Middle East may be built. Morality and pragmatism
both dictate that U.S. foreign policy seek peace through justice.

Meaningful "cost-benefit" analysis of the proposed supplemental aid to Egypt
and Israel involves not only careful scrutiny of its absolute financial costs to
American taxpayers, but more importantly a critical assessment of the value
of the "commodity" for which our tax dollars are being spent. The fundamental
issue is not whether or not proposed aid is more or less costly to Americans than
war in the Middle East, but whether in fact the Egyptian-Israeli treaty, and
American actions to support it, will establish the prerequisites for Just, lasting,
and comprehensive peace in the region. In other words, we can entertain the
question of the relative costs of peace and war when we are certain to have
created.the foundations of peace.

That the Egyptian-Israeli treaty is not in itself a just and comprehensive
solution to the multi-dimensional Middle East conflict is self-evident in the fol-
lowing:

1. No provision is made for the satisfaction of the legitimate aspira-
tions of the Palestinian people for national self-determination, including
their right to establish an independent state on their native soil.

2. No aspect of the treaty guarantees the fundamental human right of
Palestinian exiles to return to their homeland, and to live there as first
class citizens, free of all forms of religious, ethnic, or national discrimination.

3. The treaty fails to safeguard the Palestinians of the West Bank and
Gaza against continuing abuses of their human and civil rights at the
hands of the Israeli military government. These abuses, which are docu-
mented in the State Department Human Rights Report of 1979 as well as by
other independent agencies, include: a) detention without trial; b) use of
torture; c) use of collective punishment; d) summary deportations; e)
expropriation of vital land and water resources.

4. Taken together, the above reflect the continued denial of the uncon-
ditional right of the Palestinians to participate in negotiations regarding
their future, and specifically the exclusion from negotiations of the Pal-
estine Liberation Organization, the sole legitimate representative body of
the Palestinian people.

5. The treaty does not meaningfully resolve, or in some cases even ad-
dress outstanding territorial issues, such as a) final disposition of the
status of the West Bank and Gaza; b) Israeli withdrawal from Arab East
Jerusalem; and Israeli withdrawal from the Syrian Golan Heights.

The above points do not simply restate the obvious-that the Egyptian-Israeli
treaty has not brought just and comprehensive peace to the region. For the
character of the treaty also determines whether it will be the first step in the
direction of justice and durable peace, or whether it will render these even
more elusive.

Our reluctant judgment is that while the treaty temporarily precludes the out-
break of conventional warfare on the Egyptian-Israeli front, its failure to deal
substantively with the core issues of the Middle East conflict leads only to
accumulating frustration, political polarization, and the alienation of America's
Middle Eastern friends.

Proposals for Palestinian "autonomy" on the West Bank and Gaza are mean-
ingless in the face of the actions and statements of the Israeli government. Prime
Minister Begin has publicly declared on numerous occasions that the Israeli
government has no intention of surrendering legislative powers to the West Bank-
Gaza "self-governing" authority. The Israeli military will remain in the West
Bank and Gaza in locations and in numbers determined by the Israeli government.
Control over Palestinian lands and water will continue to be exercised by the
Israelis.



280

Despite its severe economic problems, Israel still finds monies to allocate for
expanding existing settlements and establishing new ones in the West Bank and
Gaa. Since the conclusion of the Camp David accords, lands of the Palestinian
villages of Abu Dis, Belt Sahur, Hebron, and others in Gaza have been expro-
priated by the Israeli government. The Knesset has approved a budget of IL
741 million for the construction of 820 new housing units and related expenses in
three settlements previously established in the West Bank (Jerusalem Post,
January 19, 1979). Prime Minister Begin has reportedly given a written com-
mitment to the National Religious Party to pursue a settlement program in
the West Bank which will establish 10 new sites there in the coming fiscal year
alone (Jerusalem Post, International Edition, March 28-31, 1979). Israel's
Jewish Agency will establish 20 new settlements In the Gaza Strip within the
next three years, 15 of them designed to replace existing settlements in the
Sinai which are being evacuated under the peace agreement with Egypt (Jeru-
salem Post, April 15, 1979). Israel has plainly stated its intention to reassert
its claims to the West Bank and Gaza at the termination of the five year transiti
tional" period.

These facts strongly suggest that Israel may be more interested in territorial
acquisition than in comprehensive peace. Furthermore, since the Camp David
accords provide only for negotiations for West Bank-Gaza autonomy and agree-
ment on the basis of "mutual consent," there is no leverage internal to the treaty
itself which inhibits Israel from further colonization of Palestinian lands. Since
the treaty effectively outrules the Arab military option (at least temporarily),
the only possible leverage which can be exerted on Israel is external, in other
words, political pressure from the international community.

In this context, the United States has a unique role, both as a global power
which has enjoyed the trust and confidence of protagonists on both sides of the
Middle East conflict, and as Israel's principal ally and source of economic and
military aid. We run the risk of seriously failing our responsibilities by allowing
Israel to entrench itself further in occupied Arab territories, and to further frus-
trate efforts for just and comprehensive peace.

Under the circumstances, it would be highly inconsistent to provide Israel with
massive unconditional aid. Why should we be obligated, in a legal or moral sense,
to subsidize Israeli policies which our own government and the international
community have recognized to be illegal and antiethical to peace?

Unfortunately, the Egyptian-Israeli agreement bears greater resemblance to a
military alliance than to a true peace treaty. American taxpayers are justifiably
skeptical of a "peace treaty" which commits our government to sending $4.5 bil-
lion (as an initial installment) of military assistance to a region of the world
which still grapples with basic problems of nutrition, housing, health care, and
education.

We would like to bring to the attention of the members of this committee the
results of a recent New York Times-CBS public opinion poll in which 38% of
the respondents opposed our sending additional military equipment to Egypt
and Israel, and 72% opposed our sending $5 billion over the next three years to
these countries. It Is not unreasonable to assume that the American public views
the current aid package as the "tip of the iceberg," the submerged portion of
which represents increasing American commitments of aid to the Middle East,
possibly escalating to the level of direct U.S. military involvement in future
Middle East wars.

This is not a view without basis In reality, as the Senate amendment to the
Special International Security Assistance Act leaves the door open to "forgive-
ness" for portions of the $8.7 billion in loans to Egypt and Israel. The Memoran-
dum of Agreement between the United States and Israel does not legally bind us
to anything greater than consultation and considering "appropriate measures" in
the event of Egyptian treaty violations. However, the creation of Israeli expecta-
tions of American intervention may add to a morally binding force which could
impel us in the direction of direct involvement against our better judgment and
will. And all of this for no more than a dubious "first step" toward peace.

We believe that without immediate and substantial movement in the direction
of Just solutions to the problems of Middle Eastern peoples, especially the Pales-
tinians, the peace treaty may in fact become the first step in a process of regional
destabilization and escalating violence leading to war. We may already witness
the beginnings of this in the hostility against the treaty expressed by America's
traditional friends in the Arab world, and in the dangerous spiral of violence
across the Lebanese-Israell border.



281

In short, it is quite possible that unconditional aid to Israel and Egypt will be
a wasted expenditure, which will serve as a temporary narcotic for a dangerously
infected region. Elected American officials neglect at their peril the potential
political repercussions of ill-considered allocations of funds.

It should also be mentioned in the case of Israel that U.S. aid may contribute
materially to the persistence of Israeli violations of Palestinians' human rights.
Consideration must be given to legal aspects of this situation, as the Foreign
Assistance Act and the International Security Assistance and Arms Export
Control Act call for the termination of economic and military assistance to
governments which engage in a consistent pattern of abuse of internationally
recognized human rights.

As a consequence, we invite the members of this committee to consider suspend-
ing aid to Egypt and Israel pending :

1. The initiation of negotiations involving all parties to the Middle East
conflict, including the Palestinians and their legal representatives, the Pales-
tine Liberation Organization.

2. The cessation of all plans for further Israeli settlement of occupied
Arab territories, and the rapid introduction of a plan for the withdrawal
of existing illegal Israeli settlements.

3. The recognition and achievement of the fundamental human right of
the Palestinians to return to their homeland and live there as first class
citizens.

This would be consistent with internationally recognized principles and U.S.
law. We consider that these are necessary first steps in the direction of true
peace, which will be founded upon mutual respect for the rights of all peoples
of the Middle East.

C. STATEMENT BY MORBIS J. AMITAY, EXECUTIVE DIBECTOB, AMERICAN ISRAEL
PUBLIC ATasIB COMMITTEE

The American Israel Public Affairs Committee appreciates having the oppor-
tunity to state our views on the special International Security Assistance Act
of 1979 to support the peace treaty between Israel and Egypt.

We also submit this statement on behalf of the Conference of Presidents of
Major American Jewish Organizations, the coordinating body for the activities
of 32 major American Jewish organizations as they relate to Israel.

The supplemental aid requested for Israel represents an important investment
in the peace process In the Middle East. The amounts requested--800 million
in grant assistance and $2.2 billion in Foreign Military Sales Credits-will enable
Israel to implement peace with Egypt while maintaining her own security and
promoting the stability of the entire region. Under the Israeli-Egyptian Peace
Treaty, Israel will withdraw totally from the Sinai Peninsula. In return, Egypt
agrees to full recognition of Israel, including diplomatic, economic and cultural
relations. The first stage of major withdrawal will be completed within nine
months, with total withdrawal within three years.

In doing so, Israel is relinquishing tangble strategic assets. The Sinai, more
than 20,000 square miles, most importantly afforded Israel strategic depth, but
also vital training space, natural defense positions and large quantities of oil.
In signing the peace treaty, President Sadat is making a major break in past
Egyptian policy. However, Egypt is a nation that has never had an orderly
elected transition of power, nor stable democratic institutions. Sadat has been
targeted for political attack and even assassination by other Arab nations and
groups who have rejected the peace negotiations. Egypt remains under intense
pressure from other Arab states, and given the volatility of the region the
future course of Egyptian-Israeli relations is not altogether certain.

Nonetheless Israel feels that peace with its neighbors is worth any reasonable
risk. The aid requested will strengthen the willingness of Israel to shoulder the
burdens and the risks necessary for peace.

BTRATEGIO COSTS AND CONSIDERATIONS

The withdrawal from the Sinai will profoundly affect Israel's military posture
and affect for years Israeli's ability to defend its people.

The Israeli air force will withdraw not only from two of the most modern
tactical airbases in the world-Eitam and Ettion-but also from eight additional
airfields in the Sinai. The Sinai also gave the air force large areas for training



282

which will be lost, diminishing the effectiveness of Israel's highly trained pilots-
always cited as the qualitative reason for Israeli air superiority. Simulator
training or training missions over the Mediterranean Sea cannot duplicate the
actual conditions the Israeli air force must prepare for.

Similarly, the Israeli ground forces will be handicapped by the loss of train-
ing areas in Sinai. The carrying out of coordinated armored maneuvers in the
more densely populated and much smaller Negev will be extremely difficult.

Israel will no longer have the same capability to patrol the Red Sea and Straits
of Tiran. The naval base at Sharm-el-oheikh gives the Israeli navy the ability
to guarantee free passage for its commerce to and from its southern port of
Ellat. These international waterways have been illegally blockaded twice by
the Arab states. After withdrawal, Israeli naval craft will have to operate from V
the congested Eilat civilian port-an area with less than five miles of coastline.

Israe, s ammunition dumps, logistic center, and military distribution Installa-
tions can no longer be dispersed over a large geographic region. Instead, they
will have to be concentrated in smaller numbers and area, increasing their
vulnerability.

Israeli positions and installations in the Sinai now give Israel accurate ad-
vanced-warning of actions on the western side of the Suez Canal and on the
eastern coast of the Red Sea and Gulf of Ellat. The early warning stations now
situated atop high ground cannot be duplicated in the Negev, which lacks such
topographical characteristics.

Finally, unlike the Arab states, Israel must rely heavily on its civilian reserve
forces. The Sinai withdrawal will increase the burden on Israel's relatively
small standing army and make its reserves' mobilization centers more vulner-
able to attack.

The aid requested for Israel will be used to provide Israel with essential
facilities necessary to assure Israel's security.

The $800 million in grant assistance will be used to help in the construction
of two major airLases in the Negev. These will only partially replace all of the
bases and airfields being left in the Sinai, and will be built by the U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers.

The $2.2 billion requested in military sales credits will enable Israel to replace
some of the most crucial elements of its defense system in the Sinai and for
essential purchases of military equipment. It should be noted however, that the
Israeli taxpayer will make a direct outlay over the next five years which will
considerably exceed the total aid now being requested.

Because of the topography of the Negev, Israel will not only have to construct
new early warning systems, but rely more heavily on costly airborne early-
warning, and increase its air defense capability.

New port facilities will have to be built to accommodate the Gulf of Ellat and
Red Sea naval patrols.

Entire new towns will have to be built to accommodate all of the extensive
services necessary to support the new airbases and army bases.

Thousands of miles of roads, hundreds of thousands of miles of electrical cable,
communications systems and pipe will be left for the Egyptians. The same In-
frastructure will have to be rebuilt elsewhere.

Israel will need to make these extraordinary efforts primarily because most
Arab states have refused to join the peace process. Israel is still acutely menaced
from the north, east and south from Lebanon, Syria, Iraq, Jordan and Saudi
Arabia. The recent Baghdad conference demonstrated that Israel will not be able
to lower its guard against another Arab attack anytime In the foreseeable future.
Syria and Iraq have called for the overthrow of President Sadat, and accused
him of "treason" for having the temerity to commit Egypt to live in peace with
Israel.

In the five years since the Yom Kippur War, Syria, Iraq, Jordan and Saudi
Arabia have purchased more than $22.5 billion worth of military hardware and
support systems. Syria has acquired at least 50 MIG-23 and -27 fighter bomb-
ers, hundreds of advanced T-62 main battle tanks and scores of surface-to-air
missile batteries.

Iraq's purchases, more than $5.5 billion worth, have included more than 80
MIG-23s and -27s, tanks, tank transporters, APCs, SAMs and helicopters. Both
Syria and Iraq have acquired large amounts of anti-tank missiles from European
manufacturers. Both have dramatically improved the mobility and mechaniza-
tion of their infantries. Both now possess batteries of SCUD long-range ground-
to-ground ballistic missiles supplied by the Soviet Union, capable of hitting al-
most any target in Israel.



233

The recent political rapprochement and military coordination between Syria
and Iraq is a source of deep concern. The New York Times reported on Feb. 18,
1970 that Iraq now has 2-3 armored divisions and 2-3 mechanized infantry
divisions ready to fight beside Syrian forces. Such an expeditionary force would
be comprised of 60,000 soldiers and up to 1300 tanks, three times the slze of the
Iraqi force which fought alongside Syrian units In 1978.

Syria's continued occupation of Lebanon enables her to use that country as a
possible new base of attack on Israel's north. It was reported last year that the
Syrian government had demanded from the Lebanese government the right to
use Lebanese territory for any eventuality in "the battle" against Israel.

At the same time, Jordan's army and air force are increasing their coopera-
tion and coordination efforts with their Syrian counterparts. In recent years,
the Jordanian army has enhanced its mobility, firepower, air defenses and air-
power. The negative stance adopted by King Hussein since the treaty signing
strongly suggests that Jordan would not stay out of any future Syrian-Iraqi at-
tack on Israel.

Saudi Arabia's refusal to support American diplomacy and President Sadat,
and its close identification with the Arab radicals' positions at the Baghdad
meeting make it more likely that Saudi Arabia would take part in any future
Arab attack on Israel. Saudi Arabia's recent large-scale purchases of advanced
offensive military equipment place her on Israel's strategic map and vastly in-
creases her military worth to the confrontation states on Israel's borders.

Many of the bases and defense in the eastern Sinai-were vital to defend.
Israel not against Egypt but from an eastern front attack by Syria, Iraq, Jordan
and Saudi Arabia. The recent rapprochement between Syria and Iraq poses new.
challenges for Israeli defense planners.

In addition, second line Arab states, especially Libya, Algeria and Kuwait,
could be expected to contribute massive amounts of equipment to support any
Arab attack on Israel. Libya alone has received dozens of advanced Soviet fight-
ers and hundreds of mobile SAMs and tanks-far beyond its own capability to
man. It must be viewed as a pre-positioned arsenal, ready to assist in any new
Arab aggression against Israel.

Israel also faces a much greater potential threat on its eastern front as a
result of the overthrow of the Shah. The Ayatollah Khomein has been outspoken
in his condemnation of Israel and in his public support of Yassir Arafat and
the PLO. It is now possible Iran might send some of its modern American weap-
ons to the Syrian and Iraqi forces. It is also possible that a large Iranian expedi-
tionary force might join in attacking Israel. The new Iranian government has
already announced its willingness to fight alongside the PLO.

Given its vulnerable borders and small population, Israel must plan its defense
on a worst-case scenario basis. It is unfortunate that even as a peace is being
implemented preparations must be made for assuring an adequate defense in a
future war. Nonetheless, this is the situation In which Israel finds itself as a
result of continuing Arab hostility and unwillingness to negotiate peace. Thus,
the aid requested will prevent war and in so doing, America's own national in-
terests, foremost of which is peace, will be strengthened.

Congressional approval of the amounts requested thus will reinforce the tradi-
tional bonds between the two countries and promote progress toward peace in
the entire region.

D. COMMUNICATION FROM ROBEBT DREYFUSS, DIRECTOB, MIDEAST INTELLIGENCE,
U.S. LABOR PARTY

WAsHINGTON, D.O., May 15, 1979.
Hon. LEE HAMILTON,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle East, House Foreign

Affairs Committee, Washington, D.O.
DEAR Ms. OHAIRMAN: On behalf of the U.S. Labor Party, I would like to express

our opposition to the legislation implementing the peace treaty between Egypt
and Israel, on the grounds that the treaty takes the region further from peace
than at any time in the post-war period, and in reality is nothing more than a
military pact. The attached articles provide ample documentation for our
position.

Thank you for your consideration.
Sincerely,

RoBErT Daerues, Director.



284
(From the sxatlve lat*lligace BROvtw Apr. 8-9. f9l9)

Tua CAMP DAVID TwaATY: WHAT IT REALLY SATe

(By Robert Dreyfuss)

It has often been stated since the publication of the Egyptian-lsraell treaty
that Egyptian President Anwar Sadat has "sold out" the Palestinian Arabs.
Many Arab leaders, Including Syrian President HIafez Assad, have described
Sadat as a "traitor" to the Arab cause. In the following section, we intend to
document-quoting from the treaty text itself and from its annexes and ap-
pended letter*-the exact extent of Sadat's capitulation to Israel in exchange
for the promised withdrawal from the Sinai Peninsula.

The core issue in the Palestine conflict is a resolution of the partition crisis
of 1947. At that time, an internationally accepted United Nations resolution called
for the establishment of two states, one Jewish and one Arab, in the territory of
historic Palestine. At the time, the Arab states-dominated by the British
Crown-refused to accept the UN resolution. In recent years, virtually every
Arab state has come to support a policy of making peace with Israel if the
Israelis accept the establishment of an Arab Palestinian state on the occupied
West Bank and atsa, both Palestinian territories occupied in 1967 by Israel.

Should Israel announce its willingness to accept the creation of a Palestinian
state and to withdraw its forces to the lines that prevailed before the June 1967
war, then the Arabs-especially including the Palestine Liberation Organiza-
tion-would be prepared to make peace with Israel in a comprehensive settlement

Not only does the current treaty not include any reference to the full withdrawal
of Israel to its former borders, but Sadat has fully legitimized the permanent
Israeli occupation of the West Bank and the Gaza area. In the treaty appendix,
in a letter from Begin and Sadat to Carter, the following is stated:

"Israel and Egypt set for themselves the goal of completing the negotiations
(for West Bank and Gaza autonomy) within one year so that elections will be
held as expeditiously as possible after agreement has been rea.,.z between the
parties. The self-governing. authority * * * will be established and inaugurated
within one month after it has been elected, at which time the transitional period
of five years will begin. The Israeli military government and its civilian ad-
ministration will be withdrawn, to be replaced by the self-governing authority,
as specified In the (Camp David) 'Framework.' * * * A withdrawal of Israel
armed forces will then take place and there will be a redeployment of the remain-
ing Israeli forces into specified security locations."

We must now consider the following points from this most important section
of the treaty documents:

(a) Nowhere does it state that the parties are bound to conclude an agree-
ment on autonomy within one year, only that it is a "goal" to do so. Thus, if
the Israelis object to the process, or if Arab Palestinians of the territories can-
not be found to serve as negotiators, then the autonomy process may break down
permanently. Should this happen-as it must, since the treaty does not even
try to resolve the fundamental issues at stake-then Sadat has no legal recourse.
During the negotiations, Sadat said that he would demand a fixed date for the
autonomy process; that demand was abandoned.

(b) Nowhere does it state when elections must be held, only that they will be
held "as expeditiously as possible." This vague phrase means that the period for
Implementing the treaty can be stretched indefinitely by the Israelis.

(c) The appendix mentions a "transitional period" of five years, but it does
not mention anything about what should happen after the five years. Israel'
government has stated officially that it plans to assert its sovereignty in-i.e.,
annex-the West Bank after the five-year period.

(d) The appendix states that "a withdrawal" will take place from the West
Bank and Gaza after the autonomy, but that the "remaining Israeli forces" will
be redeployed. In other words, the treaty itself conceives of a permanent Israeli
army occupation of the West Bank and Gasa, with no provision at all for total
Israeli withdrawal. Thus, Sadat has acquiesced in the fault accompli of the Israeli
West Bank annexation.

This above has been referred to as the famous "linkage" Issue. It Is clear that.
from the treaty text Itself, there is simply no linkage at all.

Into this plan the Israelis and Egyptians have invited Jordan to join. The
appendix letter states:



235

"The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan is invited to join the negotiations. The
delegations of Egypt and Jordan may include Palestinians from the West Bank
and Gaza * * * or other Palestinians as mutually agreed."

But the Jordanians and the Palestinians have both flatly rejected the offe"
to join the negotiations, since to Join means to acquiesce in the permanent Israeli
occupation of the lands from which Israel is supposed to withdraw.

The danger, of course, is that as Sadat becomes progressively Isolated from
the other Arabs, he will be compelled to strike a harder bargain with the Israelis.
But the Israelis, under the treaty's provisions, are not bound to Palestinian
autonomy. In that case, Sadat-or, if he is overthrown, a successor regime-
will be faced with the necessity of unilaterally breaking the treaty.

In regard to the second major treaty issue, the treaty states in Article VI:
"In the event of a conflict between the obligations of the parties under the

present treaty and any of their other obligations, the obligations of this treaty
will be binding and implemented."

This is the famous issue in which Egypt, until the last stage of the negotiations,
insisted that its Arab League treaty commitments held it responsible to come
to the aid of another Arab state-i.e., Syria, Lebanon, Jordan-should that Arab
state be attacked by the Israelis. But Article VI clearly relieves Egypt of that
commitment. This week, in fact, Egypt formally suspended its own membership
in the Arab League.

A third major complication in the treaty is that it states:
"The parties will request the United Nations to provide forces and observers

to supervise the implementation of this annex and employ their best efforts to
prevent any violation of its terms."

But the UN has formally declined to participate in the Egyptian-Israeli treaty.
Since an attached letter states that President Carter will ensure that Washington
"will exert its utmost efforts to obtain the requisite action by the Security
Council, and if the Security Council fails to establish and maintain the arrange-
ments called for in the treaty, the President will be prepared to take those steps
necessary to ensure the establishment of an acceptable alternative multinational
force * * *"

It is therefore clear that Washington is prepared to introduce U.S.-allied
military forces into the Sinai area over Soviet and Arab objections.

Concerning the issue of timetables, there is little doubt that the Israelis can
also retain their control over even the Sinai itself despite the commitment to
withdraw. According to the treaty accord, "Israel will complete withdrawal of
all its armed forces and civilians from the Sinai not later than three years from
the date of exchange of the instruments of ratification of this treaty (in a)
phased withdrawal * * *."

But the treaty, by allowing Israel to retain control over major portions of
the Sinai for years, means that Israel will not give up control over the Sinai
until long after the unresolvable issue of the Palestinians has wrecked the treaty
itself once and for all.

(From the Executive Intelligence Review, Apr. 3-9, 1979]

PEACE PACT EQUALS MASSIVE MILITARIZATION

The just-signed Egypt-Israeli peace treaty is a vehicle for a massive military
buildup in the Middle East which seems certain to provoke accelerated Arab-
Israeli conflict and threatens, as Arab spokesmen are publicly warning, to produce
direct U.S.-Soviet confrontation.

The basis for this assessment are both the content of the Camp David policy
package-which poses a direct (and unnecessary, from the standpoint of U.S.
interests) threat to both the Arab countries and the Soviets-and the fact that
the arms-laden U.S.-Egyptian-Israeli deal behind the treaty is aggravating a
series of hotspot situations which, individually or in combination, will propel the
U.S. and Soviets rapidly toward war.

The most alarming aspect of the arrangement is that it provides for an Ameri-
can nuclear umbrella over Israel.

Any dobuts about this were dispelled by a front-page banner-headline Wash.
ington Post article detailing the contents of the still not officially released U.S.
"memorandum of understanding" with Israel. This document, says the Post, ciar-
antees "an increased American presence in the Middle East and new emergency
aid for Israel" and special American "naval action to block a sea blockade andemergency military resupply efforts" to Israel should Egypt break the treaty.



236

And it contains a U.S. pledge to organize and maintain "an acceptable multi-
national force" of NATO-member countries to police the Sinai area if the United
Nations Security Council refuses, as is likely, to endorse the Camp David Pact
by providing a U.N. Security force for the area.

The dangerous content of the Camp David arrangement was further elaborated
in a precisely worded March 27 New York Times editorial entitled "Battle Plans
for Peace." Citing President Carter's affirmation that America must now "wage
peace," the Times noted that the U.S. "has become in all but name their ally
in a risky enterprise. * * * Americans should understand ... how deeply they
are now committed to the support of that process, diplomatically and economi-
cally. The enemies of the process stand to become enemies of the United
States. * * * The opportunities now opened are as risky as war itself." [Italics
supplied.]

The same day's Times ran a feature from its military correspondent, Drew
Middleton, entitled "Treaty Opens the Door to New Power Balance," which
detailed how the creation of a "new power structure in the Middle East" had
been created based on "Israel and a rearmed Egypt" and "supported by expanded
U.S. military involvement and arms deliveries."

This level of the militarization drive is to be accompanied by arms buildup
campaigns directed toward North Yemen, Oman, and Somalia and toward the
establishment of U.S.-NATO naval facilities at Haifa and Alexandria in the
Mediterranean and in several potential sites in the Indian Ocean-Arabian Gulf
area.

CRISIS ZONES

Regional crisis spots have heated up considerably in the wake of the treaty.
France's Le Figaro on March 27 reported a new offensive in southern Lebanon
by Christian forces against Palestinian and leftist forces. The leftists in turn
were put on high alert in anticipation of Israeli "'retaliatory raids"; two bloody
terrorist incidents inside Israel for which the Palestine Liberation Organization
claimed responsibility in Beirut were to be used by Israel as a pretext for the
Israeli move.

High-level Arab sources in Brussels, Belgium have indicated to this news
service that the Lebanese situation is to be the excuse for Israeli strikes against
both Syria and Iraq with the aim of destroying Iraq's oil supplies.

On March 27, Baltimore Sun Washington correspondent Charles Corddry re-
ported that "Washington intelligence sources" were circulating reports about
Libya "moving troops eastward" toward the Egyptian border to prepare for
"border harassment" against Egypt. Corddry's sources claimed that a Sovietgeneral and several Soviet officers were coordinating the operations. This could
in fact be the signal for a long-feared Egyptian strike against Libya similar tothe one that Sadat launched in July 1077.

THE GENDARMES

The crux of the Camp David treaty is the establishment of Egyptian and
Israeli military power as regional "strike forces" to move into oil-producingregioifs it the behest of NATO.

To achieve this, the two countries will be provided with massive arrays of
and military-directed financial aid.

Israel, already the most highly militarized country in the Middle East, isslated to receive $6 billion in Camp David Pact aid above and beyond the country's
years $2.975 billion allotment from the U.S., $1 billion of which goes forarmaments.

The additional $6 billion breaks down as follows:
Speeding up the sale and delivery of arms by 1980, including 75 F-16s

more tanks and armored personnel carriers and air-to-surface and air-to-airmissiles. Total: $3 billion.
Providing payment for the Israeli evacuation of the Sinai area, with the

money slated for military-related infrastructure projects and the building ofnew airbases. Total: $3 billion.
Combined with Israel's drastic austerity situation, the military focus of the aidwill lock Israel more than ever into a garrison-state, regional gendarmere role.
Egypt will receive close to $3 billion in military aid, according to Washington

sources. This is to be centered around the shipment of F--s, F-4 Phantoms, ar-mored personnel carriers, surface-to-air missiles, jeeps, trucks and other vehicles.



237

The crucial factor in Egypt is to be the transformation of that country's citizen-
republican army into a truncated force of two "elite" divisions comprising 5,000
men each, to be used as "strike force" intervention units into the region. Accord-
ing to one top Zionist lobby source with extensive Pentagon connections, "Egypt
does not need a big army, and there is no way anyway that the Egyptians can
logistically run any big military operations. At this point, the only useful thing
for us to think about is to create special divisions that can be used for roles in
Africa and in the Arabian Gulf."

The transformation of Egypt's army in the direction of a mercenary force is
the one potential major hole in the agreement. Will the mass base and junior
officers of the army tolerate such an operation? A columnist for the English-
language Baghdad Observer thinks not, and traces the reason back to the
original ways in which Henry Kissinger hoodwinked Egyptian President Sadat
into dismantling his own armed forces.

[From the Executive Intelligence Review, Apr. 8-9, 1979]

THE METO STRATEGY: TURN FROM GENEVA

(By Mary Jane Coates)

What looms behind Camp David's thin veneer of political respectability is a
geographical military fantasy known as the Middle East Treaty Organization
(METO).

Uniting Israel, Egypt, and the U.S., METO is slated to extend the role of
NATO throughout NATO's so-called southern tier, thereby acting as a buffer
against the Soviet Union.

The author of this cold-war military pact is Zionist lobby spokesman Edgar
Bronfman, the chairman of Seagrams, Inc., the U.S. end of the international
drug- and dirty-money linked Seagram's liquor empire. Working with National
Security Council head Zbigniew Brzezinski and Henry Kissinger, Bronfman has
orchestrated the entire Camp David "peace" project with the express purpose
of forcing the economic, political and military policies of London and Washington
financial interests upon the Arab world.

THE BACKGROUND

The Zionist lobby's main task in the autumn of 1977 was to stop at all costs
the momentum building within certain U.S., European, and Arab circles to
relaunch a Geneva conference. In October 1977, U.S. Secretary of State Cyrus
Vance and Soviet Foreign Minister Andrei Gromyko issued a joint statement
calling for a Geneva conference and for meeting the "legitimate rights of the
Palestinians."

It was at this time that Edgar Bronfman and other Zionist lobby forces sur-
faced. In 1978, Bronfman and Burton Josephs, then head of the Anti-Defamation
League, traveled to Washington to launch the METO operation. In conversations
with the White House staff in January 1978, Bronfman and Josephs called for
the creation of an anti-Soviet "Grand Alliance" in the area consisting of Israel,
Egypt and the United States.

Soon after this operation was launched, Senate Foreign Relations Committee
chairman Frank Church similarly called for the creation of a "Grand Alliance"
of the aforementioned countries to defend U.S. interests and to thwart Soviet
incursions in the area.

With the Zionist lobby mobilized in Congress, Bronfman called for a formal
METO alliance for the Mideast in a July 1978 New York Times op-ed.

Aiding him in this operation were Eugene Rostow, Rita Hauser, and Arthur
Goldberg. Rostow, who was a key pro-Israel State Department official during
the 1967 Arab-Israeli war, and New York City lawyer Rita Hauser are cur-
rently members of the confrontationist lobbying group, the Committee on the
Present Danger. In addition to being a top Zionist lobby strategist, Goldberg
helped author UN Resolution 242 while serving as U.S. ambassador to the
United Nations.

ENTER EGYPT

While the U.S. side of the Zionist lobby was softening up the Carter Admin-
istration for Camp David, Israeli networks, in coordination with certain circles
inside Egypt, Morocco, and Saudi Arabia, were laying the groundwork for the
eventual Egypt-Israel-U.S. deal.

47-699 0 - 79 - 16



238

In Morocco in 1978, a series of very important meetings took place which
brought together Egyptian counselor Hassan Tuhami, then Saudi Intelligence
head Kamal Adham, and Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan.

A recent feature in the Paris daily Le Monde indicates that Tuhami was one
of the chief stringpullers from the Arab side. According to reporter Eric Rouleau,
Tuhami's career was temporarily brought to an abrupt end by Gamel Abdel
Nasser because of his strong ties with the fundamentalist Muslim Brotherhood.
Forced to withdraw from active political life, Tuhami developed a strong dislike
for Nasser's progressive and pro-Soviet policies. Resurrected through Sadat's
ascension to power in 1971, Tuhami has been active in divesting Egypt of any
last vestiges of Nasserism.

In addition to his role in Camp David, Tuhami Is also responsible for the
1978 border war between Egypt and Libya. Tuhami's presence is clearly evident
today as Sadat once again threatens an invasion of Libya.

8TBIKE FORCES AND OENDABMES

In actuality, the Egyptian move into Libya was the first action of the develop-
ing METO alliance. Not surprisingly, U.S. Zionist lobby Senator Jacob Javits
was in Egypt at the time of invasion. Since that time, Javits' colleague in the
Senate, Henry "Scoop" Jackson, has found inspiration in Egypt's actions for the
issuance of a March 1979 proposal for Egypt and Israel to form "joint strike
forces" to "protect the oilflields" In the area, irrespective of whether the oil-
producing states request such "protection." Jackson's proposal was issued on the
eve of the recent visit by President Carter to Egypt and Israel to firm up the
tripartite Egypt-Israel-U.S. alliance, and Carter himself has committed favorably
on the use of Egypt's armed divisions for "regional stability" operations.

According to the Jackson-Javits-Bronfman designs, once states like Saudi
Arabia are blackmailed and destabilized to the point of accepting the tripartite
arrangement, they will come humbly under the U.S.-NATO blanket and begin to
put METO in place. With British client regimes like that of Oman joining in,
the stage is to be set for the establishment of the METO arrangement officially.



APPENDIX 6

DEPARTMENT OF STATE LETTER ON EXISTING U.S. ASSURANCES TO AND
AGREEMENTS WITH ISRAEL, ACCOMPANIED BY SECRET ATTACHMENT'

AvovsT 6, 1979.
Hon. LEE H. HAMILTON,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe and the Middle East.

DEA Ms. CHAIRMAN: During the Subcommittee's hearing on the Treaty of
Peace between Egypt and Israel and the related undertakings of the United
States to the parties, you requested a list of the commitments and assurances
of the United States to Israel which remain in force.

This request resulted from a discussion of paragraph eight of the Memorandum
of Agreement between the Governments of the United States and Israel, dated
March 26, 1979. That provision did not confirm the continued validity of all
prior United States agreements with and assurances to Israel, but specified
instead that, with the exception of the items listed, the agreements and assur-
ances in effect on March 26 were not terminated or altered by the conclusion of
the Treaty of Peace. This formulation was adopted in the place of more sweep-
Ing affirmations concerning the continued validity of all prior assurances so as,
among other purposes, to avoid inadvertently appearing to give enhanced or
renewed effect to undertakings which had already lapsed for other reasons, such
as changes of circumstance or full implementation. You will note also that para-
graph nine of the March 26 Memorandum of Agreement provides that It sets
forth the full understandings of the United States and Israel with regard to the
subject matters covered between them by that Memorandum of Agreement.

Any attempt at a definitive listing of U.S. commitments and assurances to
Israel is somewhat problematical. Nevertheless, in response to your request, we
have carefully reviewed the documentation reflecting what have in recent years
been considered to constitute United States commitments or assurances to Israel,
whether or not of a legally binding nature, and have prepared the attached classi-
fled list. We have carefully reviewed the classification of these documents and
downgraded them where possible, taking into account the effect disclosure might
have on our foreign relations interests, particularly the continuing Middle East
negotiations.

Sincerely,
HERBERT J. HANSELL,

a Legal Advser.
Attachment as stated.

SThose portions of the attachment that are classified are retained in committee fles.

(239)



240

UNITED STATES COMMITMENTS AND ASSURANCES
TO ISRAELJ

I. (U) Published Bilateral International Agreements

(U) The United States has entered into a wide
variety of international agreements with Israel concerning
agriculture, atomic energy, aviation, copyright, defense,
economic and technical cooperation, education, extradition,
information media, investment guarantees, scientific
cooperation, telecommunications, trade and commerce,
visas, and weather stations. Those in force as of
January 1, 1979 are listed in the attached excerpt from
the Department of State publication, Treaties in Force
(Tab A). We have added to the excerpt one commodities
agreement which entered into force since then.

II. (U) Recent Undertakings Related to Mid-East
Peace Process

(U) The agreements, assurances and commitments
undertaken by the United States in conjunction with the
Treaty of Peace between Egypt and Israel are described
in the letter of April 26, 1979, from Assistant Secretary
Bennet to Chairman Hamilton (Tab B) and are contained
in the following documents, which the Committee has
received:

--(U) Letter of March 26, 1979, from President
Carter to Prime Minister Begin;

--(U) Letter of March 19, 1979, from
Secretary Brown to Minister of Defense
Weizman, with SECRET attachment;

-- (U) Agreement concerning Airbase Construction,
of April 6, 1979;

1 Tabs C, D, E, F, I, and J, are classified and retained in committee files.



241

-- (U) Agreement concerning Airbase Construction
Financing, of April 6, 1979;

-- (U) Memorandum of Agreement concerning Assurances,
of March 26, 1979;

-- (U) Memorandum of Agreement concerning Oil,
of March 26, 1979;

(Security Deletion)

-- (U) Memorandum of Agreement concerning Oil, of
June 22, 1979.

(U) In addition, the United States assurance to Egypt
and Israel of its intention to be a full partner in the
negotiations concerning the West Bank and Gaza, is
reflected in the joint letter of March 26, 1979 from
President Sadat and Prime Minister Begin to President
Carter.

(U) Unrelated to the Treaty of Peace, but mentioned
in the Brown-Weizman letter of March 19, 1979, is an
agreement with Israel concerning military research and
development and procurement of March 19, 1979, which is
being transmitted to .the Congress separately.

III. (U) Undertakings Related to Prior Stages in the
Peace Process

(Security Deletion)

(Security Deletion)

IV. (U) Other Assurances

(U) In addition to the items listed above, there
have been, over the years, a series of public statements
and diplomatic exchanges which may be construed as a
political commitment to the security of Israel. The
following list constitutes a representative sampling:

-- (U) Address by President Carter before the
United Nations General Assembly, October 4,
1977:

"For Israel this means borders
that are recognized and secure.
Security arrangements are crucial
to a nation that has fought for its
survival in each of the last four
decades. The commitment of the
United States to Israel's security
is unquestionable."



242

-- (U) Statement issued by the White House during
Prime Minister Begin's visit, July 19, 1977:

"In the course of the talk this
morning on the diplomacy of peace,
the President [Carter] reaffirmed
the enduring American commitment to
the security and well-being of Israel.
He assured the Prime Minister that
any differences that may occur from
time to time should not be allowed to
obscure America's and his personal
dedication to this historic American
commitment. He asked the Prime Minister
to express to the people of Israel the
determination of the people of the United
States to help them find true peace.

(Security Deletion)

(Security Deletion)

-- (U) President Kennedy's News Conference,
May 8, 1963:

"This Government has been and
remains strongly opposed to the
use of force or the threat of force
in the Near East. In the event of
aggression or preparation for
aggression, whether direct or
indirect, we would support appropriate
measures in the United Nations,
other courses of action on our own
to prevent or to put a stop to such
aggression which, of course, has been
the policy which the United States
has followed for some time."



243

(Security Deletion)

--(U) Resolution to Promote Peace and Stability
in the Middle East, PL 85-7, approved March 9,
1957, as amended.

--(U) Aide-Memoire to Israeli Embassy from
Secretary of State Dulles, February 11, 1957:

"In the absence of some over-
riding decision to the contrary,
as by the International Court
of Justice, the United States, on
behalf of vessels of United States
registry, is prepared to exercise
the right of free and innocent
passage [with respect to the Gulf
of Aqaba and Straits of Tiran] and
to join with others to secure general
recognition of this'right."

--(U) Tripartite Declaration, May 25, 1950,
by the UK, France and the U.S.:

"The three Governments take this
opportunity of declaring their deep
interest in and their desire to
promote the establishment and
maintenance of peace and stability
in the area and their unalterable
opposition to the use of force or
threat of force between any of
the states in that area. The three
Governments, should they find that
any of these states was preparing
to violate frontiers or armistice
lines, would, consistently with
their obligations as members of the
United Nations, immediately take
action, both within and outside the
United Nations, to prevent such
violation."



244

TAB A7IAT1UZ IO3c11

IRELAND (Cont'd)

T EILSO I CA IIO Agricultrlal oompoditles
agrewent, with memorandhm of

agreement relating to the dIerlstndlng. l nid at
reciprocal granting of wa ushnton December , 392L
mthoristiona to permit licensed ntre lato force Deceabr
amateur radio operatote of either $H9.
country to operate their stations 11 OT 2 4i TIA Sini 4610 COT

a the other counr. ZIchange 11.
of nots at Obblit october It,
Itn9i entered Lto force Octobmr AmendmIast
1, 1960. December 30 and 3 I19t 3 (1I DST
19 Ot 1TSTI TINS 65618 690 eary 119Ti TAS 5496l I9 OD8 3)1).

103. Apr ITl 191611 tS s irtti nSt
June cis "wr isI). m

Jun 21, 1961 (1 on 11 1 rlU
TAM AND Oc3a C 5 9M3 515 DiTS 30i).

Jely . N14 1tS MT 39tll TIAS
Treaty of frimdabp, corerce $61 511 ISo 1, )

nd navigation, with protocol. l 0 Is and 1 I4 I9 o 7701
liId at Dublin Jm uary II, TAS IU 1 i lT 312S).
19Il1 catered Ito force Jnwe 32, 1916 (1 0s 7110 TIA
epUtecr IIr, 10s. $501 IS 1am 3SI).

I on? 731 TIAS I511i 3 6 rr r
269. Awreement providing agricltral

comoditlles 9w the improvement
and expanslon of the school

ISAS fding p rora I s travel, vith
amre. tisc e of notes at Tel

Agreement Ilating to the Al and JerusIle ebree r It
relution of via* requ lJents and parch It, )91 entered in'to
for Amrlcin citiene hearing force Mrch 31, I193.
Ireland ia the grantir Of I oP O*ll Tl7 4 ISlll 146 0NT
ratli non r lrgcant paM.ort 11.

viae to Irish cltlser antertng
the United tates. exchange of
notes at rublle Augest 1, 19491
enteredd Ito force Asgut to

63 OUt. 207| TIM 305;, 9
evan 61t; t2 WT1 37.

ISRAEL

Agricultural oomodties
agremnt, with lmemorand of
nSIrntAnding. ll1nd at
elbhinston n 3, t621 metered

Into force May 3, 192,.
13 UOS )132I l TIAS 5 3 442 oW

83.

Amendments
October 12 and I0, I19( ($3 onS

21701 TIAS 5190; 160 t 113).
January 21 and Flbruary t I 911

(1 CST 200 TIAS 12il 147
DOTi I3l).

Agreement relating to the close-
oat of th collection accounts of
the agricultural com odltles
agreeamnts of April 21, ls55

november 10, 1SS5, September It,
150, and loreaber 7, 1I57.

zEachnge of note at Tel Aviv
Jan II and JeruallMe August a1,
1912l entered Into forest August
29, 1962.
113 OIT 20OI TIAS $6211 0 W01T

317.

Agitlelteral co loditls
agaTfent with emchane of
notes. $ined at lashington
Deceaer n, 164i entered into

force DecWrber 12, 1911.
15 IT 23291 TIA STI72l 3))3 t

AgrI ltral c oiotloo es
a neatnt with exchange of noted.
siltnd at asslhinto June 6,

9t entroed Into tore Jose I,
196.
11 OPr 7127 TIAS 60112 $170 oIM

10.

agreement with ecnhge of note.
lined at Washll ton Jane 6,

19 i entered Lto force June 6,
17 DIT 1171 TIASI 60391 591 W

16 .

Agricultural comodities
agroe*ent with anem s. Signed
at Wshlington Augult I. 19671
cnter 4 Into forre August 4,
1007.
11 UST 16l4; TIAS 631:; «3 DOS

'I.

related agrecepntI:
March 29, 9oI (I19 V1 473i nTIS

000$ 15 wlS 1113.
Aegost II, 19tl (1 B T 5920

TIAS 657I 51) Oirt 111).
January 17, 191 (20 In 1; TAIM

6425I 711 OMI 1291.
ar 17T 1970 131 oT 11: IAS
073ta 705 OS 203).

August IT7, 1970 lit 0sT 1965

October 5, 1970 (l onS 21521

february , 1971 (12) ST 21i
TIAS Sl 792 DITs 99).

June 0, 1971 112 OST 176i TIAS
71T23 792 OTS 10ol).

A -nt I, 1971 (32 DST 1071 TIAS
11111 1792 0a 1131.
7200 19 017W1 102).January 13, 972 (23 UST 11; TIAS
7268 2* O$T 203).

July 1I, 1972 ) UST t21 TIAs
739).

October 13, 1912 (23 0T 21231;

Novtber 19. 1972 (39 ST 225ss
TIAS 7745).

Agrlcultural commoditi
agrment. signed at Washington
December 1, 19741 entered ito
force December 1I, 1974.
IS OST 3140; TIAs 1970.

Asndme nts
October It, 107 (2 aST 3926

TIAS l300).

Pelated ereemeantes
September 30, 1916 1127 IT 343;

TIAt 8312).
October 13, 117 (27 oWT S n$

TIA I8112).
Decaber 0, 1976 1(1 D00T 173T

TIAS S431.
Deeber 2, 11177 (TIA S 01).
January 16, 1979
AOAICULTMA

Agreement to establish tMh OWated
statse-lsrael Agrcllteral
Prserach and Development Fnd.

lwth appendl., loMed at
Jeruslee October 3S, 1itll
entered nto fore ovemDber 6,
111.
TIAS 9131.

ATOMIC WOeT
Agreewmnt providing for a irut
to the Government of lsire to
aselt In the cgiLtloi of
ctain 1e llar rL eearcll and
training equipment and materlt ll.
change of oates at Tel Atlo
October 19 and at Jersaleo
December I. 19411 entered inte
force Deceber 1t, 19(0.
11 D0T 2634 TIIU *SS1; **1 oa

195.

too



245

TMAT7U7S r1 Pct

ISRAEL (Cont'd)

Agretpent continuing In effect AgTpeeent relating to the
afeg yards and guarantee purchase of auloul goods from

pro*i ions of the agreed nt of Iherel for sale In United States
July 12, 1951 (t OST 21*1; TIAS Nmvy ehlp store overseas.
I3)1 , as amended, for Eschinge of notes at washngton

cooperation concerning civil I*es July 20 and 
2

6, 1(961 entered
of atomc energy. ZIchnge of Into force July 25, 195S.
notes at Vashington April 7 and 16 UST 911; TIAS I183; 1t9 tIT
o, 11771 entered into furce April t.
5, 1977.
28 UST 21071 TIAS W5 .

IA.RT VAKRIrWG BTSTET

Atrrcangent for the exchange of
technical Informalon and A greeent concerning the
cooperation in nuclear safety establllshent and operation of an
matters, with addenda. Signed *t *ealy Vrning) lytee in the
Iethede eand Tel Aviv may 9 and Sinal. Signed at JeruJsle
19, 1911; entered Into force May Septemser 1, 1171S entered into
19, 1111. force october 13, 1975.
T1 26 UST 2271: TIAS SIS.

AVIATION

Air transport agreement. Signed
at Tel Aviv Jane 13, 1950;
entered into force Jne 13, 1950.
3 uST 45923 TIS 2610; 212 OWMT

«9.

Apendments
February 29, 1951 (3I DST I2S

TIAS 2610o 212 Wi 9I3).
Agust 11, 1971 (TIAS 9002).

Agreement relating to the
reciprocal acceptance of
certificates of airworthiness for
imported aircraft. texcange of
notes tt lashington July 2),
196: entered into force July 23,
1961.
Is CST S54l TIAS 65t3i 6si) MIT8

tS9.

Amendsents
September 4, 1971 (25 DST 12451

TIAS 7926).

coPYeRIr (See also APPSenI)

Agreeanr t relating to reciprocal
copyright relations . Change of
notes at Washington Hay t, 1190;
entered into force gay I. 9901
operate lay 1s, it*1.
1 UST 615: TIAS 21211 122 rTS
lot.

DorR I (See also fPrOAL

Agreement relating to mutual
defense assistance. change cf
note at Tel AvIV July I and 22,
19512 entered into force July 23,
1912.
J lT 59ils1 t1. 2t71I 179 9Or1
139.

Agreement relating to general
procurennt arrrangeanmt for
goods and services. Exchange of
notes at Uashingtoa July 1 &nd
20, 1S51; eanteed Into force July
20. 191.
16 OST 91ll TIAS 51l9; Sll9 orrr

SS.

Xcoacic AoD TICUaCAL
COOPMTION

General agreent for techical
cooperntlon. Signed t Tel Aviv
Febrasry 

2
4, 19511 entered into

force February 2t, 15SI.
3 UDS 19 TIA 24011 137 OUTe

S7.

Amendments
June 

2 1
, IIIS 5 SOi 1401; TIAS

3010; I219 WS 3)1).

Agreement relating to econosIe
assistance for specific refugee
relief and resettlesent project
under eec. 205 of the Mutual
Security Act of 1915. Exchange
of note at Tel Aviv February 27,
19121 entered Ito force February
27, 1952.
3 DST 3703; TIAS 2971 177 UWTS

122.

Amendents
August 12, 1IS2 (0 DST 4171g TI
2672t 1719 UTS 361).

Ageesn t retlting to emergency
economic aseist.anct. Ixcthang of
notes at Washington Kay 1, 19152
entered into force Kay 1 19S2.
3 DST 42I6: TIAS 271) 177 orr

I9.

Joint fand progret eagreeent.
Signed at Tel AVI ,eay 9, 19511
entered into orce may 5t 1192.
) Q0T *I5l; TIAS 21701 I7 DOTS

23.

Amendlento
August 11 19S? 2 097 5011; TAs

267 11 0 rI It ).
March 11. 1511 (II ST 1L11 TIA

2781; 20 ieNTS 351).
Jane 21, 11i (IS SrT 1S| T1U

20S:; 219 TrS 366).
June 29, 15 (S UST 16t1 TIUA

3015; 211 orTS 3721).
Jane It and July 21, 1195 (9 0ST

iSSOi TIAS 4117; 311 uOS 342).
June 2 nd Seteebuz 2, 1(19

(10 097 1704; TIAS *i3; 34S
OTS 3601.

Agreement relltinr to economic
assi lane. Signed at Tel Aviv
HaIy 9, 191; entered into force
1ay 9, 1912.
3 ST? 017; TIAS 25611 177 ONtS

269.

Agreement relating to special
economic assistance. EsChange of
note& at 71l Aviv and Jeru lem
November 35, 1153. entered Into
force Povaeber 21, 119).
* UST 2310: TIAS 1it;* 219 UtW

205.

KAendments
January 31, 11S5 (6 07 511 TIAS

31i19 241 orIS 520).
Joint ettepent of the U.S.-
Israel Joint romittee for
Investment and Trade relating to
expansion of economic
cooperation. Signed at
Wuihington May 93, 1971; entered
Into force Kay 13, 19I1.
26 DST S67l1 tIAS 1127.

Agreesnt estakllshing the
Isreel-Unite* State S Bnational
Industrial research and
Development Foundation, vlth
annexes. signed at Jerusalem
march 3, 19176 entered into force
may 11, 1977.
20 US? 11291; TA *Si15.

Agency for Internatlonl
Development
June 271, 197 (26 0sT 1873; TIAS

ilt).
September 12, 1976 (21 UST 97I9;
September 21, 1976 (I2 DST 5 IS

TzAS 855l).
September 2, 1976. (21 S03 5835;

TIAS 66II).November 21, 1976 128 OST 1t33;
Tils i661).
TIAS 0111).

Movember 21, 1916 (20 031 S71197;fOVtb 2) 11. (1 T 1TIAS 04S).
December 15 1977 {TIAS 902i).
December S, 1977 (TIEAS 959).
December S, 1971 1TIAS 9097).
December S, 197117 9AS 9098).

IDOCATICM

Agreement for finanrcin certain
educational exchange roreas,
vith emorandum of underetending.
Exchange of noteS at Tel Aviv and
Jert ale June 11 an 22, 1921;
entered into force June 22, 1H1.
13 UST 136i3; T1S 1099; Il mlt

AOmndentl
IPrch 21 end 23, 1967 111 S01

3e;: tIAS 6240; 430 CTS 404).

Ierorandm of aderstanding on
education, with nAex. Signed It
Jerusalem Noveeber IS, 11711
entered into force Novrba IS,
1978.
TI1AS

Conventilr relating to
extradition. signe4 at
Washigton December 10, 19231
entered into force Deceber S,1 Ti).
11 UST 17017 T1AS Sl76; 411 I SC

211.



246

TATtIrS C30 PrCE101

ISRAEL (Cont'd)

Undlrl:tndina rin rdin certain TLECO UlcinATO MATO S ATIOWS
errors In th tusl:ltion of the
Irbrev telt o thte ertri tion Agre ernt relatiln to radli Agrement relatng to a
Conrntlon of December 10,1 t90 coMA ication feltliee at or' ooperative leeorologlcal
ftAS 5rn). trchare of otel neIr EnMity cites ton proyas In a:Fport of the
at JIeruilem end Tnl Avlv April I tranrlillion of official ravnrond abervatilon Station It
and 

11
, I() ; entered into force nasiges. trchang of notes at Set agan. Exchange of note at

April 11, 117. Tel Aviv end Jerule Uay 10 and li Aviv and Jerusalem April 2
1sel 1 Jit tlU 1631. 1, 191l entered into force May end May 22. 19I6i entered into

21, t. force ey r2, 196i effective .
S T T 566; 11A 1391 el t? UNS J nusy 1 I 0.

INP.WMATOIAL I IA GOAIAiTIS 31. II UST 110: h1A$S 6101 it3 UH'S

Agreement relating to the Agreeent relating to radlo
inloreatioral edial guaranty conileications betveen 8outlr
pFograr pursuant to $C. station on behall of tinr
11 1 (b) l of the Econoale parties. Iechanri or notes at
Cooperation Art of 1111, I laslhinglton July 7, 19651 entered
aiendet. techRnge of notel at into force lAugut 9, 1196. TTAL
tel Aviv June 9. 19S21 entered 16t DS I8; tTIAS S9271 ISI UWTS I
into force Jane 9, t192. 111.
3 OST *391i; TIi PSI$. tiI WtTI

217. Aprleent relatilg to the
reciprocal granting of
aVotoriutias to permit licensed AlIC tlTORAL C TOO1lTI: T

IIvaSM GCOANIImr amtaeur rado op operators of either
country to operate their statilons Apreent relating to the usI of

S Areemnat relating to the in the other country. t9rchange llr: equivalent for the purehuas
indetrial investment guaranty of not at Washington Ju 15. of agricultural coeoditiel
program pursant to sc. 19(i1 entered into force Jne 15, allocated to Italy pureuant to
Ilt (b) 1i) of the Economic 19iL. the Muttll Security Act of 151,
Cooperation Act of 0199. as 17 US? 760; TAS to0)l: S811 oTS a Anmended. tlcbhang of letters

maneded. Exchange of notes at S. t rose may 1151 entered
Tel Aviv Autgat 7 and . 19 *2 into force My 19, 19S1.
entered into lorce Aoegut , * OST 3711:; TEAS ))91 29 U51S
Iet2. TRADS AD COM(tCi I).
I DST 5011 TIA 5i: 11 1NT8

17.

Anenient;
July 31 and Algust 11, 1911 (O

VST 1110; IAS 31192; 219 UWi
11).

February S and 20I, 19i (10 DST
)11 71 Tl SIll *7e UtTS 312).

MUTUAL 55C05I1

Agreement reltin toa rrane
and economic asstlance as
authorized In the mutual Security
ACt of 1151. Exchange of notes
at Washington December 1, 1)S11
entered into force Decesber 

1
,

Treaty of friendship, coreerce,
and neigation, with protocol and
exchange of note. Signed at
iarhington August 23, lot1:

entered Into force April 3, 195«.
5 USt i501 TIA5 12ts0 210 uArT
237.

Interim agretent purlant to
art. XXXIII of the GCnmere
Aree nt oa Tarlns and Trade
vth schedule*. CLgnrd at Cnevs
tarch S, 1921 entered Into force

Karch 5, 1962.
I1 00T 00 TAl 5020 *91 01U 5
29-

ATOMIC Z. or

Agreement for cooperation on ses
of &tolic energy for mutual
defend purpose. Signed at lose
Dctrnber I, 1601; entered into
force aIy 14. 19l1.
17 OST t1gi TIAS *T7t« l16 UT

3.

Arrangement for the exhnge of
technical inforatUon and
cooperation In aflaty resrch
and dvelIopment and development
of etandlrds. signed at Iethada
May 29, 10l1 entered into forte
MAy 29, i75.

1151. VISAS 27 DST 72171 TIAS I3)6.
SCOST 2 ; TUAS 2el2: S17 m1

$3. Agreement relating to the loSe
by the United States of vie AVIATION
without charge to authored crew

IP'LICATIONS imebers of aircraft operated by Ar navigation arrangement.*
lIr Cerrlers dlnated by erlel Srhnge of not* at Washington

Agreement relating to the In consideration of the October 13 end 14. 19311 entered
exchane of official .continuation by Israel of its into force October )2, 1931.
pblilctlons. exchange of notes pr aot ce of not requiring visa 47 Stat 2611; EAS 1t; 9 lean
at Tel Avli rFbreary 13 and 

1 9
, of authorized crew Peere of 1671 1y lttT 209.

1150; entered into force February aircraft operated by air carriers
10. l15. deigna dt4 by the united l tel. Agreelent relating to isr service
1 CST 912 TIA 21(93 121 ciT irchange of notta at Tel Aeiv fac llltl In taly. change of

117. March 21 Iand June 1, 1951 notes at lose June , 1Ilt
entered into force Jnly 1, 1951. entered into force June 9. 1967.
1 CT 4799; TAS 23685 212 ol 612 Stat. n07e3 TIAS 2 127 101

cInWriC COOPERATIOI 121. DeTe 157.

Agreement on the COlted Statue- Agreeent providing for the Air transport agreement lwth
Israel binational ifence reciprocal waiver of noniomirnnt morandu eand echne of no t.
foorndatlon with exchange of passport vise fee. rxcharne of SignJ st Noie June 22, 11701
letters. signed at Pn York notes at Jerusaloe n6d Tel Aviv entered into force provisionally
September 31. 1912; entered Into February It and 28 and March 2 Juane 22, 1901 definitively
force Spterber 27, 1972. 111; entered into force March 2. August 0. 91I.23 CSl 2161; TXA5 7460. 1955. 20 CST 2099 TjS 91S7; itt 1717

7 DST 21251 TLIAS 2(61| 220 omi 11.
Il.

ft

C



247

STAB B
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

W.hinlo. DC 2020

April 26, 1979

Dear Mr. Chairman:

A number of the questions contained in your
letter of March 20 have now been answered through
testimony and communications received by the
Committee, and further answers will, of course,
be provided in today's session. I thought it
might be useful, however, to describe briefly the
agreements and commitments undertaken by the United
States in connection with the Treaty of Peace between
Egypt and Israel. Documents expressing all such
agreements and commitments have now been received
by the Committee.

The principal undertakings may be summarized
as follows:

First, in direct connection with the Peace Treaty
package, the United States has made the following
commitments to both Egypt and Israel:

-- We have assured them of our readiness to
participate fully in all stages of the
West Bank and Gaza negotiations;

-- In the event of an actual or threatened
treaty violation, we will, on request of
one or both parties, consult with the
parties and take such other action as
we may deem appropriate and helpful to
achieve compliance with the Treaty.

-- The United States will perform aerial
monitoring of the Sinai arrangements during
the withdrawal period as requested by
the parties; and

The Honorable
Lee H. Hamilton, Chairman

Subcommittee on Europe and
the Middle East



248

--We will try to arrange through the UN for
the permanent stationing of the international
personnel called for under the Treaty, but,
should this fail, the President will be
prepared to take those steps necessary to
ensure an acceptable alternative multinational
force.

The assurance concerning United States participation
in the West Bank and Gaza negotiations is reflected
in the joint letter from President Sadat and Prime
Minister Begin to President Carter. The other
commitments mentioned above are set out in President
Carter's March 26 letter to both leaders.

Second, in addition to the foregoing assurances
made to both parties, we have entered into certain
bilateral undertakings with each of them, subject
of course to substantive and procedural requirements
of the United States laws.-

Israel

The bilateral undertakings with Israel are set
out in Secretary Brown's letter to Minister of Defense
Weizman, the Memorandum of Agreement concerning
assurances, and the Memorandum of Agreement concerning
oil. The principal undertakings set out in Secretary
Brown's letter are the following:

--We will provide managerial, technical and
financial assistance in the construction
of two airbases in the Negev for Israel,
including a grant of $800 million. This
undertaking is elaborated through two
implementing agreements relating to the
construction project and its financing;

--We will provide $2.2 billion in loans to
meet other military relocation costs or
equipment purchases over a three year
period; and



249

--We are prepared to approve the sale of
substantial quantities of equipment for
the modernization of Israeli armed forces
and to accelerate the F-16 aircraft delivery
schedule.

The first Memorandum of Agreement with Israel
is to a substantial extent an elaboration of the
United States' assurance to the parties, described
above, undertaking in the event of an actual or
threatened violation of the Treaty of Peace to
consult with the parties and to take such other
actions as we deem appropriate. Our principal
undertakings under that memorandum can be summarized
as follows:

--We will take appropriate measures to
promote full observance of the Treaty of
Peace;

--We will consult with the parties and
take such remedial measures as we deem
appropriate in the event of actual or
threatened Treaty violation;

--We will provide support we deem appropriate
for Israeli responses to Peace Treaty
violations and will, in cases threatening
Israel's security, be prepared urgently
to consider special measures;

--We will support the Peace Treaty regime
for navigation 'and overflight of the
Strait of Tiran and Gulf of Aqaba;

--We will oppose UN actions we judge to
affect the Peace Treaty adversely;

--We will try to be responsive to Israel's
military and economic assistance require-
ments; and

--We will take steps to prevent transfer
of U.S. supplied weapons to third parties
for use in armed attack against Israel.



250

The Memorandum of Agreement also confirms that
existing U.S. agreements with and assurances to
Israel are not affected by the conclusion of the
Treaty of Peace, with enumerated exceptions.

In the Memorandum of Agreement with Israel
concerning oil, the United States and Israel agree
to conclude an agreement providing, in essence,
that the United States will assure that Israel
obtains oil to meet its needs, should Israel be
unable to secure it oil needs through normal
procedures, for a period of 15 years, including
the existing five year oil supply arrangement. All
costs incurred by the United States will be
reimbursed by Israel.

Egypt

Our bilateral assurances to Egypt are reflected
in Secretary Brown's letter to Defense Minister Ali
relating to military assistance, which provides
that:

--We are prepared to expand our sales to
- Egypt of military equipment and services
and to finance at least a portion of those
sales;

--The President is prepared to recommend
sale of $1.5 billion in such equipment and
services during the next three years,
with FMS financing at specified terms; and

--We are prepared in general to sell military
items listed in the classified attachment
to the Brown letter.

In addition, while we have made no specific commitment
to Egypt on economic aid levels, we did make clear
our intent to seek $300 million in economic support
fund assistance for Egypt to supplement our existing
aid.

All of the undertakings and assurances described
above have been concluded in the form of Memoranda
of Agreement and letters. They are not mutual security



251

or mutual defense treaties or security guarantees.
They do not commit the United States to take any
particular action in response to treaty violations
or other events.

The undertakings in the President's letters
to President Sadat and Prime Minister Begin are made
expressly subject to United States constitutional
processes. The undertakings in the Memorandum of
Agreement concerning assurances are, in essence,
to consult, to consider a variety of responses
to a demonstrated violation of the Peace Treaty,
and to take such remedial measures as the United
States alone deems appropriate. While the
language of the Memorandum is far short of security
guarantee language, the Memorandum nonetheless also
contains an express qualifier subjecting it to
United States constitutional processes and laws.

Paragraph 5 of the Memorandum deals with
our diplomatic posture in the United Nations and
reserves to the United States the judgment whether
a proposed action or resolution might adversely affect
the Treaty of Peace. Paragraph 6 relating to economic
and military assistance is a general statement of
intent expressly subject to Congressional authorization
and appropriation processes. Paragraph 7 reflects
existing requirements under the Arms Export Control
Act, requirements we would wish to meet even were
they not legislatively mandated.

The substance and form of the commitments in
the Memorandum of Agreement concerning assurances
thus are of the nature traditionally concluded in
executive understandings and agreements.

The United States assurance to Israel on oil
is expressly subject to an undertaking to seek such
additional statutory authorization as may be necessary.
It reflects an understanding that those implementing
actions involving U.S. crude, rather than U.S. good
offices or efforts to arrange Israeli access to
foreign crude, are dependent upon U.S. statutes.

These United States commitments and undertakings
have played an important role in assisting both
Egypt and Israel to accept the risks of the momentous
step they have taken. We have tried to draw these
documents carefully to meet the important practical,
political and psychological requirements of the
situation while avoiding excessive commitments by
the United States. We have also endeavored to
assure that the undertakings of the United States
were made subject to Congressional action and
oversight.

Sincerely,

Douglas J. Bennet, Jr.
Assistant Secretary for
Congressional Relations



262

TAB G

Memorandum of Agreement between the Governments of
Israel and the United States concerning the Geneva
Peace Conference, dated September 1, 1975

1. The Geneva Peace Conference will be reconvened

at a time coordinated between the United States and

Israel.

2. The United States will continue to adhere to

its present policy with respect to the Palestine Liberation

Organization, whereby it will not recognize or negotiate

with the Palestine Liberation Organization so long as

the Palestine Liberation Organization does not recognize

Israel's right to exist and does not accept Security

Council Resolutions 242 and 338. The United States

Government will consult fully and seek to concert its

position and strategy at the Geneva Peace Conference on

this issue with the Government of Israel. Similarly,

the United States will consult fully and seek to concert

its position and strategy with Israel with regard to

the participation of any other additional states. It

is understood that the participation at a subsequent

phase of the Conference of any possible additional

state, group or organization will require the agreement

of all the initial participants.



253

3. The United States will make every effort

to ensure at the Conference that all the substantive

negotiations will be on a bilateral basis.

4. The United States will oppose and, if

necessary, vote against any initiative in the Security

Council to alter adversely the terms of reference of

the Geneva Peace Conference or to change Resolutions 242

and 338 in ways which are incompatible with their

original purpose.

5. The United States will seek to ensure that

the role of the cosponsors will be consistent with what

was agreed in the Memorandum of Understanding between

the United States Government and the Government of

Israel of December 20, 1973.

6. The United States and Israel will concert

action to assure that..the Conference will be conducted

in a manner consonant with the objectives of this

document and with the declared purpose of the Conference,

namely the advancement of a negotiated peace between

Israel and each one of its neighbors.

47-699 0 - 79 - 17



254

TAB H

Memorandum of Agreement between the United States and
Israel of September 1, 1975

3. Israel will make its own independent arrangements

for oil supply to meet its requirements through normal

procedures. In the event Israel is unable to secure

its needs in this way, the United States Government,

upon notification of this fact by the Government of

Israel, will act as follows for five years, at the end

of which period either side can terminate this arrangement

on one-year's notice.

(a) If the oil Israel needs to meet all

its normal requirements for domestic consumption

is unavailable for purchase in circumstances where

no quantitative restrictions exist on the ability

of the United States to procure oil to meet its

normal requirements, the United States Government

will promptly make oil available for purchase by

Israel to meet all of the aforementioned normal

requirements of Israel. If Israel is unable to

secure the necessary means to transport such oil



255

to Israel, the.United States Government will

make every effort to help Israel secure the

necessary means of transport.

(b) If the oil Israel needs to meet all

of its normal requirements for domestic consumption

is unavailable for purchase in circumstances

where quantitative restrictions through embargo

or otherwise also prevent the United States from

procuring oil to meets its normal requirements,

the United States Government will promptly make

oil available for purchase by Israel in

accordance with the International Energy Agency

conservation and allocation formula as applied

by the United States Government, in order to

meet Israel's essential requirements. If

Israel is unable to secure the necessary means

to transport such oil to Israel, the United

States Government will make every effort to

help Israel secure the necessary means of

transport.

Israeli and United States experts will

meet annually or more frequently at the request

of either party, to review Israel's continuing

oil requirement.

* * *



256

9. The United States Government will not

join in and will seek to prevent efforts by others to

bring about consideration of proposals which it

and Israel agree are detrimental to the interests

of Israel.

10. In view of the longstanding United States

commitment to the survival and security of Israel the

United States Government will view with particular

gravity threats to Israel's security or sovereignty

by a world power. In support of this objective, the

United States Government will in the event of such

threat consult promptly with the Government of Israel

with respect to what support, diplomatic or otherwise,

or assistance it can lend to Israel in accordance with.

its constitutional practices.

13. The United States Government shares the

Israeli position that under existing political circumstances

negotiations with Jordan will be directed toward an

overall peace settlement.

14. In accordance with the principle of freedom of

navigation on the high seas and free and unimpeded passage

through and over straits connecting international waters,

the United States Government regards the Straits of Bab el-

Mandeb and the Strait of Gibraltar as international waterways.

It will support Israel's right to free and unimpeded passage

through such straits. Similarly, the United States Government

recognizes Israel's right to freedom of flights over the Red

Sea and such straits and will support diplomatically the

exercise of that right.

* * *



APPENDIX 7

DOCUMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PEACE TREATY

MEMORANDUMS OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF THE UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA AND THE STATE OF ISRAEL

Recognizing the significance of the conclusion of the Treaty of Peace between
Israel and Egypt and considering the importance of full implementation of the
Treaty of Peace to Israel's security interests and the contribution of the conclu-
sion of the Treaty of Peace to the security and development of Israel as well as
its significance to peace and stability in the region and to the maintenance of
international peace and security; and

Recognizing that the withdrawal from Sinai imposes additional heavy security,
military and economic burdens on Israel;

The Governments of the United States of America and of the State of Israel,
subject to their constitutional processes and applicable law, confirm as follows:

1. In the light of the role of the United States in achieving the Treaty of
Peace and the parties desire that the United States continue its supportive
efforts, the United States will take appropriate measures to promote full
observance of the Treaty of Peace.

2. Should it be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the United States that
there has been a violation or threat of violation of the Treaty of Peace, the
United States will consult with the parties with regard to measures to halt
or prevent the violation, ensure observance of the Treaty of Peace, enhance
friendly and peaceful relations between the parties and promote peace in the
region, and will take such remedial measures as it deems appropriate, which may
include diplomatic, economic and military measures as described below.

3. The United States will provide support it deems appropriate for proper
actions taken by Israel in response to such demonstrated violations of the Treaty
of Peace. In particular, if a violation of the Treaty of Peace is deemed to
threaten the security of Israel, including, inter alia, a blockade of Israel's use
of international waterways, a violation of the provisions of the Treaty of Peace
concerning limitation of forces or an armed attack against Israel, the United
States will be prepared to consider, on an urgent basis, such measures as the
strengthening of the United States presence in the area, the providing of emer-
gency supplies to Israel, and the exercise of maritime rights in order to put an end
to the violation.

4. The United States will support the parties' rights to navigation and over-
flight for access to either country through and over the Strait of Tiran and the
Gulf of Aqaba pursuant to the Treaty of Peace.

5. The United States will oppose and, If necessary, vote against any action
or resolution in the United Nations which in its Judgment adversely affects the
Treaty of Peace.

6. Subject to Congressional authorization and appropriation, the United
States will endeavor to take into account and will endeavor to be responsive to
military and economic assistance requirements of Israel.

7. The United States will continue to impose restrictions on weapons supplied
by It to any country which prohibit their unauthorized transfer to any third
party. The United States will not supply or authorize transfer of such weapons
for use in an armed attack against Israel, and will take steps to prevent such
unauthorized transfer.

8. Existing agreements and assurances between the United States and Israel
are not terminated or altered by the conclusion of the Treaty of Peace, except
for those contained in Articles 5, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 15, and 16 of the Memorandum
of Agreement between the Government of the United States and the Government
of Israel (United States-Israeli Assurances) of September 1, 1975.

(257)



268

9. This Memorandum of Agreement sets forth the full understandings of the
United States and Israel with regard to the subject matters covered between
them hereby, and shall be carried out in accordance with its terms.

OCYRs I. VANot,
(For the Government of the United States of Amercoa.)

M. DATAN,
(For the Government of Israel.)

March 26, 1979.
MABOH 26, 1979.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTS OF
THE UNITED STATES AND ISRAEL

The oil supply arrangement of September 1, 1975, between the Governments of
the United States and Israel, annexed hereto, remains in effect. A memorandum
of agreement shall be agreed upon and concluded to provide an oil supply
arrangement for a total of 15 years, including the 5 years provided in the Septem-
ber 1, 1975 arrangement.

The memorandum of agreement, including the commencement of this arrange-
ment and pricing provisions, will be mutually agreed upon by the parties within
sixty days following the entry into force of the Treaty of Peace between Egypt
and Israel.

It is the intention of the parties that prices paid by Israel for oil provided
by the United States hereunder shall be comparable to world market prices
current at the time of transfer, and that In any event the United States will be
reimbursed by Israel for the costs incurred by the United States in providing
oil to Israel hereunder.

Experts provided for in the September 1, 1975, arrangement will meet on
request to discuss matters arising under this relationship.

The United States administration undertakes to seek promptly additional
statutory authorization that may be necessary for full implementation of this
arrangement

M. DAYAN,
(For the Government of Irael.)

COIvs R. VANcr,
(For the Government of the United States.)

ANNEX

Israel will make its own independent arrangements for oil supply to meet
its requirements through normal procedures. In the event Israel is unable to
secure its needs in this way, the United States Government, upon notification of
this fct by the Government of Israel, will act as follows for five years, at the
end fit which period either side can terminate this arrangement on one-year's
notl,:e.

(a) If the oil Israel needs to meet all its normal requirements for domestic
consumption is unavailable for purchase in circumstances where no quantitative
iestrictlons exist on the ability of the United States to procure oil to meet its
normal requirements, the United States Government will promptly make oil
available for purchase by Israel to meet all of the aforementioned normal re-
quirements of Israel. If Israel is unable to secure the necessary means to trans-
port such oil to Israel, the United States Government will make every effort to
help Israel secure the necessary means of transport.

(b) If the oil Israel needs to meet all of its normal requirements for domestic
consumption is unavailable for purchase in clrcunmsances where quantitative
restrictions through embargo or oherwise also prevent the United States from
procuring oil to meet its normal requirements, the United States Government
will promptly make oil available for purchase by Israel in accordance with the
International Energy Agency conservation and allocation formula, as applied
by the United States Government, in order to meet Israel's essential require-
ments. If Israel Is unable to secure the necessary means to transport such oil
to Israel, the United States Government will make every effort to help Israel
secure the necessary means of transport.

Israeli and United States experts will meet annually or more frequently at
the request of either party, to review Israel's continuing oil requirement.



269

Juvln 22, 1979.
MEMORANDUM Or AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE GOVEBNMENTS OF ISEAZ AND THE

UNITED STATES

Pursuant to the Memorandum of Agreement between the Governments of the
United States and Israel signed March 26, 1979, Israel and the United States
have entered into the Oil Supply Arrangement set forth herein as follows:

1. Israel will make its own independent arrangements for oil supply to meet
its requirements through normal procedures. In the event Israel is unable to
secure its needs in this way, the United States Government, upon notification
of this fact by the Government of Israel will act as follows:

(a) If the oil Israel needs to meet all its normal domestic requirements is
unavailable for purchase in circumstances where no quantitative restrictions
exist on the ability of the United States to procure oil to meet Its normal require-
ments, the United States Government will promptly make oil available for pur-
chase by Israel to meet the shortfall in the aforementioned normal requirements
of Israel. Oil will be made available to Israel as soon as practicable after noti-
fication; the United States will make every effort to ensure this period is less
than 60 days.

(b) If the oil Israel needs to meet all of its normal requirements for domestic
consumption is unavailable for purchase in circumstances where quantitative
restrictions through embargo or otherwise also prevent the United States from
procuring oil to meet its normal requirements, the United States Government
will promptly make oil available for purchase by Israel in accordance with the
International Energy Agency conservation and allocation formula as applied by
the United States Government, In order to meet the shortfall in Israel's essential
requirements. Oil will be made available to Israel as soon as practicable after
notification; the United States will make every effort to ensure this period is
less than 60 days.

(c) If Israel is unable to secure the necessary means to transport to Israel oil
made available pursuant to this Agreement, the United States Government will
make every effort to help Israel secure the necessary means of transport.

2. Prices paid by Israel for oil provided by the United States hereunder shall
be comparable to world market prices current at the time of transfer. Israel
will, In any event, reimburse the United States for the costs Incurred by the
United States in providing oil to Israel hereunder.

3. Israeli and United States experts will meet annually or more frequently at
the request of either party, to review Israel's continuing oil requirement and
to develop and review any necessary contingency implementing arrangements.

4. This Memorandum of Agreement is subject to applicable United States law.
The United States administration may seek additional statutory authorization
that may be necessary for full implementation of this Memorandum of
Agreement.

5. This Memorandum of Agreement shall enter into force on November 25,
1979 and shall terminate on November 25, 1994. The oil supply arrangement of
September 1. 1975 between the Governments of Israel and the United States shall
be in force during the period from the date of this Memorandum of Agreement to
November 2.5, 1994 and shall be performed and Implemented in accordance with
the provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement.

HEBEaT J. HANSELL,
(For the Government of the United Stotes.)

JACOB IMECHUSHTAN,
(For the Government of Israel.)

JuNs 22, 1979.
In connection with the Memorandum of Agreement being entered into on this

date between the Government of Israel and the Government of the United
States, Israel and the United States understand that:

Because of the unique security situation of Israel its oil reserves are and
should be at the level equal to six months of Israel's oil consumption; and in this
connection U.S. oil supplies should be at such levels that U.S. ability to meet its
oil requirements will not be adversely affected.

HuasmT J. HANSELL,
(For the Government of the United States.)

JAOOB MCIUVSH TAN,
(For the Oovernment of Israel.)

SThis agreement supersedes the agreement on oil dated Mar. O6, 19t9.



H.R. 4035 (CLEAN BILL

APPENDIX 8

AS REPORTED OUT OF FULL COMMITTEE ON
FOREIGN AFFAIRS)

Union Calendar No. 86
96TH CONGRESS

1ST SESSION H. R. 4035
[Report No. 96-161]

To authorize supplemental international security assistance for the fiscal year
1979 in support of the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel, and for other
purposes.

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

MAY 10, 1979

Mr. ZABLOCKI (for himself, Mr. BROOMFIELD, Mr. FASCELL, Mr. ROSENTHAL,
Mr. HAMILTON, Mr. WOLFF, Mr. BINOHAM, Mr. SOLAR, Mr. BONKBB,
Mr. BARNES, Mr. HALL, Mr. WOLPE, Mr. DERWINSKI, Mr. FINDLEY, Mr.
BUCHANAN, Mr. WINN, Mr. OILMAN, Mr. PRITCHCARD, Mrs. FENWICK,
Mr. GRAY, and Mr. Dioos) introduced the following bill; which was referred
to the Committee on Foreign Affairs

MAY 15, 1979

Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State of the Union and
ordered to be printed

A BILL
To authorize supplemental international security assistance for

the fiscal year 1979 in support of the peace treaty between

Egypt and Israel, and for other purposes.

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa.

2 tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,

(0O0)



261

1 SHORT TITLE

2 - SECTION 1. This Act may be cited as the "Special In-

3 ternational Security Assistance Act of 1979".

4 STATEMENT OF POLICY AND FINDINGS

5 SEC. 2. (a) It is the policy of the United States to sup- ;*

6 port the peace treaty concluded between the Government of

7 Egypt and the Government of Israel on March 26, 1979. It

8 is a significant step toward a full and comprehensive peace in

9 the Middle East. The Congress urges the President to contin-

10 ue to exert every effort to bring about a comprehensive peace

11 and to seek an end by all parties to the violence which could

12 jeopardize this peace. The peace treaty between Egypt and

13 Israel having been ratified, the Congress finds that the na-

14 tional interests of the United States are served-

15 (1) by authorizing the President to construct air

16 bases in Israel to replace the Israeli air bases on the

17 Sinai peninsula that are to be evacuated;

18 (2) by authorizing additional funds to finance pro-

19 curements by Egypt and Israel through the fiscal year

20 1982 of defense articles and defense services for their

21 respective security requirements; and

22 (3) by authorizing additional funds for economic

23 assistance for Egypt in order to promote the economic

24 stability and development of that country and to sup-

25 port the peace process in the Middle East.



262

1 (b) The authorizations contained in section 4 do not con-

2 stitute congressional approval of the sale of any particular

3 weapons system to either Israel or Egypt. These sales will

4 be reviewed under the normal procedures set forth under sec-

5 tion 36(b) of the Arms Export Control Act.

6 (c) The authorities contained in this Act to implement

7 certain arrangements in support of the peace treaty between

8 Egypt and Israel do not signify approval by the Congress of

9 any other agreement, understanding, or commitment made by

10 the executive branch.

11 CONSTRUCTION OF AIR BASES IN ISRAEL

12 SEC. 3. Part II of the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961

13 is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new

14 chapter:

15 CHAPTERB 7-AIR BASE CONSTRUCTION IN ISRAEL

16 "SEC. 561. GENERAL AUTHORITY.-The President is

17 authorized-

18 "(1) to construct such air bases in Israel for the

19 Government of Israel as may be agreed upon between

20 the Government of Israel and the Government of the

21 United States to replace the Israeli air bases located at

22 Etzion and Etam on the Sinai peninsula that are to be

23 evacuated by the Government of Israel; and

24 "(2) for purposes of such construction, to furnish

25 as a grant to the Government of Israel, on such terms



263

1 and conditions as the President may determine, defense

2 articles and defense services, which he may acquire

3 from any source, of a value not to exceed the amount

4 appropriated pursuant to section 562(a).

5 "SEC. 562. AUTHORIZATION AND UTILIZATION OF

6 FUNDS.-(a) There is authorized to be appropriated to the

7 President to carry out this chapter not to exceed

8 $800,000,000, which may be made available until expended.

9 "(b) Upon agreement by the Government of Israel to

10 provide to the Government of the United States funds equal

11 to the difference between the amount required to complete

12 the agreed construction work and the amount appropriated

13 pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, and to make those

14 funds available, in advance of the time when payments are

15 due, in such amounts and at such times as may be required

16 by the Government of the United States to meet these addi-

17 tional costs of construction, the President may incur obliga-

18 tions and enter into contracts to the extent necessary to com-

19 plete the agreed construction work, except that this authority

20 shall be effective only to such extent or in such amounts as

21 are provided in advance in appropriation Acts.

22 "(c) Funds made available by the Government of Israel

23 pursuant to subsection (b) of this section may be credited to

24 the appropriation account established to carry out the pur-

25 poses of this section for the payment of obligations incurred



264

1 and for refund to the Government of Israel if they are unnec-

2 essary for this purpose, as determined by the President.

3 Credits and the proceeds of guaranteed loans made available

4 to the Government of Israel pursuant to the Arms Export

5 Control Act, as well as any other source of financing availa-

6 ble to it, may be used by Israel to carry out its undertaking

7 to provide such additional funds.

8 "SEC. 563. WAIVER AUTHORITIES.-(a) It is the sense

9 of the Congress that the President should take all necessary

10 measures consistent with law to insure the efficient and

11 timely completion of the construction authorized by this

12 chapter, including the exercise of authority vested in him by

13 section 633(a) of this Act.

14 "(b) The provisions of paragraph (3) of section 636(a) of

15 this Act shall be applicable to the use of funds available to

16 carry out this chapter, except that no more than sixty per-

17 sons may be engaged at any one time under that paragraph

18 for purposes of this chapter.".

19 SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORIZATION OF FOREIGN MILITARY

20 SALES LOAN GUARANTIES FOR EGYPT AND ISRAEL

21 SEC. 4. (a) In addition to amounts authorized to be ap-

22 propriated for the fiscal year 1979 by section 31(a) of the

23 Arms Export Control Act, there is authorized to be appropri-

24 ated to the President to carry out that Act $370,000,000 for

25 the fiscal year 1979.



265

1 (b) Funds made available pursuant to subsection (a) of

2 this section may be used only for guaranties for Egypt and

3 Israel pursuant to section 24(a) of the Arms Export Control

4 Act. The principal amount of loans guaranteed with such

5 funds shall not exceed $3,700,000,000 of which amount

6 $2,200,000,000 shall be available only for Israel and

7 $1,500,000,000 shall be available only for Egypt. The prin-

8 cipal amount of such guaranteed loans shall be in addition to

9 the aggregate ceiling authorized for the fiscal year 1979 by

10 section 31(b) of the Arms Export Control Act.

11 (c) Loans guaranteed with funds made available pursu-

12 ant to subsection (a) of this section shall be on terms calling

13 for repayment within a period of not less than thirty years,

14 including an initial grace period of ten years on repayment of

15 principal.

16 (d)(1) The Congress finds that the Governments of

17 Israel and Egypt each have an enormous external debt

18 burden which may be made more difficult by virtue of the

19 financing authorized by this section. The Congress further

20 finds that, as a consequence of the impact of the debt burdens

21 incurred by Israel and Egypt under such financing, it may

22 become necessary in future years to modify the terms of the

23 loans guaranteed with funds made available pursuant to this

24 section.



266

1 (2) In order to assist the Congress in determining

2 whether any such modification is warranted, the President

3 shall transmit to the Speaker of the House of Representa-

4 tives and to the chairman of the Committee on Foreign Rela-

5 tions of the Senate, by January 15 of each year, an annual

6 report regarding economic conditions prevailing in Israel and

7 Egypt which may affect their respective ability to meet their

8 obligations to make payments under the financing authorized

9 by this section. In addition to such annual report, the Presi-

10 dent shall transmit a report containing such information

11 within thirty days after receiving a request therefor from the

12 chairman of the Committee on Foreign Relations of the

13 Senate or from the chairman of the Committee on Foreign

14 Affairs of the House of Representatives.

15 SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORIZATION OF ECONOMIC SUPPORT

16 FOR EGYPT

17 SEC. 5. There is authorized to be appropriated to the

18 President to carry out chapter 4 of part II of the Foreign

19 Assistance Act of 1961, $300,000,000 for the fiscal year

20 1979 for Egypt, in addition to amounts otherwise authorized

21 to be appropriated for such chapter for the fiscal year 1979.

22 The amounts appropriated pursuant to this section may be

23 made available until expended.



267

1 TIANSFEB OF FACILITIES OF THE SINAI FIELD MISSION

2 TO EGYPT

3 SEC. 6. The President is authorized to transfer to

4 Egypt, under such terms and conditions as he may deter-

5 mine, such of the facilities and related property of the United

6 States Sinai Field Mission as he may determine, upon the

7 termination of the activities of the Sinai Field Mission in ac-

8 cordance with the ttrms of the peace treaty between Egypt

9 and Israel.

10 CONTRIBUTIONS BY OTHER COUNTRIES TO SUPPORT

11 PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST

12 SEC. 7. It is the sense of the Congress that other coun-

13 tries should give favorable consideration to providing finan-

14 cial assistance to support peace in the Middle East. There-

15 fore, it is the sense of the Congress that the President should

16 consult with other countries to develop a common program of

17 assistance to, and investments in, Israel and Egypt and other

18 countries in the region should they join in Middle East peace

19 agreements.

0


